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Preface

The History of Prophets and Kings (Ta’rikh al-rusul wa'l-muliik)
by Abd Ja‘far Muhammad b. Jarir al-Tabari (839-923), here
rendered as the History of al-Tabari, is by common consent the
most important universal history produced in the world of Islam.
It has been translated here in its entirety for the first time for
the benefit of non-Arabists, with historical and philological notes
for those interested in the particulars of the text.

Tabarl's monumental work explores the history of the ancient
nations, with special emphasis on biblical peoples and prophets,
the legendary and factual history of ancient Iran, and, in great
detail, the rise of Islam, the life of the Prophet Muhammad, and
the history of the Islamic world down to the year 915. The first
volume of this translation will contain a biography of Tabari
and a discussion of the method, scope, and value of his work,
and also provide information on some of the technical consid-
erations that have guided the work of the translators.

The History has been divided here into 38 volumes, each of
which covers about two hundred pages of the original Arabic text
in the Leiden edition. An attempt has been made to draw the
dividing lines between the individual volumes in such a way
that each is to some degree independent and can be read as such.
The page numbers of the original in the Leiden edition appear on
the margins of the translated volumes.

Each volume has an index of proper names. A general index
volume will follow the publication of the translation volumes.

Ehsan Yar-Shater
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Translator's Foreword

Tabari was some fifty years old when al-Mu‘tadid became caliph.
He was well past seventy in the year his History, as we know it, was
published. During the intervening years, he was a famous, if
somewhat controversial, personality. Among the figures of his
age, he had access to sources of information equal to anyone,
except, perhaps, those who were directly connected with decision-
making within the government. Most, if not all, the materials for
the histories of al-Mu‘tadid, al-Muktafi, and the early years of
al-Mugqtadir were collected by him about the time the reported
events took place. His accounts are as authentic as one can expect
from any pre-modern age.

Time and again, the author shows himself to be a true historian
by recognizing the paramount importance of documents and the
need to reproduce them exactly. His literary taste comes occasionally
to the fore as in the anecdote of the woman in search of her son
among the Qarmatians; it captures the flavor of the general
reaction to the Qarmatian danger better than anything else
would. On the whole, however, his presentation of historical
material is concise. It consists mostly of short notes written down
in contemporary language and without editorial comment. The
scope of the information provided by Tabari for this period is thus
limited, but its quality is unique.

The events chronicled in this volume concern the reigns of the
father and older brother of the teenage youth during whose reign
Tabari published his work. Many of the men involved in the
events, or members of their families, were still alive and active
and no doubt concerned with their reputations. Tabari seems to be
remarkably candid, but we also encounter some obvious reticence
dictated by prudence. His historical judgement may not always
have been colored merely by his closeness to events. We also do not
know how much he simply omitted, when he put together his
notes, in order to avoid giving offense or risking misinterpretation.

The long poem of Ibn al-Mu‘tazz on the reign of his cousin
al-Mu‘tadid is even closer to the sources and events than Tabari's
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work. Its poetical form naturally determined the character, and
limited the extent, of the information it conveys. The great
historical work of ‘Ubaydallah b. Ahmad b. Abi Tahir Tayfur,
who died only a few years after Tabar1,! is not preserved. What
little we know of it is based on sparse quotations in later authors
(which have yet to be collected). A biography of al-Mu‘tadid
transmitted in the family of Thabit b. Qurrah is also lost.2 Most of
the other historians writing on the events of al-Mu‘tadid’s reign
appear later in the tenth century. Among the earliest is Mas‘idi
who used sources other than those of Tabari. But the bulk of actual
information on al-Mu‘tadid’s caliphate was derived by some
tenth-century historians and practically all those later authors
who wrote works on general history from Tabari. The sketchy
picture he presents can, however, be supplemented by a large
amount of enormously valuable information to be found in other
kinds of sources. The situation is substantially the same with
respect to the reign of al-Muktafi. Beginning with the caliphate of
al-Mugtadir, the number of widely available, relevant historical
sources greatly increased, as was noted already by Mas'Gdi3.

The publication history of Tabari's work is significant for
understanding the section translated here. Until the year 294(906-7),
the author lectured on the material that ultimately became the
sections on Umayyad and ‘Abbiasid history. He discontinued
teaching and lecturing on this material when al-Mugqtadir became
caliph, but he seemingly worked on it for its eventual inclusion in
the work now before us.4 Further data available to us are essentially
as follows:

According to al-Farghani [b. 282(895-6), d. 362(972-3], Tabar's
work ended with the year 302. It was finished on Wednesday, Rab1’
II 26, 303 (Wednesday, November 8, 915).5 Thus, on that date, a
complete copy, or copies, of it were ready for publication. We do
not know the publication procedure that was adopted in this
particular case. Following known precedents, we can assume that
a large number of scribes, both private entrepreneurs and library

1See EI2, s. v. Ibn Ab1 Tahir Tayfir.

2See Rosenthal, “From Arabic Books and Manuscripts IV,” 138.
3Muraj, VI, 249, ed. Pellat, V, 193 f.

4See Yaqiit, Irshad, ed. Margoliouth, VI, 444f., ed. Rifaly, X VI, 70.
5Yaqat, Irshad, ed. Margoliouth, V1, 426, ed. Rifa'i, XVIII, 44.
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employees, prepared a number of copies simultaneously for sale
and distribution, as ordered by interested private and public figures
and, perhaps, booksellers. Al-Farghani, it may be noted, was the
author of a continuation of Tabari’s work.6 More important in this
connection, he also trarismitted a recension of the text.” It remains
to be investigated whether his recension is the one presented by
most of the manuscripts available to us, as seems likely.

Still from the tenth century, but from close to its end, we have
the information to be found in the Fihrist of Ibn al-Nadim.
According to him, Tabari's dictation of the History stopped in
302.8

Our next source is over two centuries later and thus has hardly
more authority than the preserved manuscripts. Ibn al-Athir
[555-630(1160-1233)] states that Tabari's work ends in 302, but
that in some manuscripts he had found it continuing to the
following year. However, this continuation, Ibn al-Athir informs
us, was said to be an addition not belonging to the work (and thus
not originating with Tabari).?

Ibn al-Athir's somewhat younger contemporary, (Ibn} al-Qifti
[568-646(1172-1248)], speaks of the year 309 as the final year of the
History.10 Perhaps this should not simply be discounted as a mere
slip of the pen or as speculation based upon the fact that Tabari's
death took place in 310. It may indicate that al-Qifti had a recension
at his disposal with additions down to the year 309.11

All the manuscripts consulted (see below) conclude with the
year 302. Strangely enough, Karatay's catalogue of the manuscripts
in the Topkapisaray1 Library in Istanbul, no. 5735, indicates that
the manuscript described (Revan Kosk 1555=our Ms. R} contained
events from 255 to 298. This is not correct. Ms. R continues
through the year 302. I have no explanation for the statement in
the catalogue.

Among the historians who wrote during the first century after
Tabari's death, ‘Arib used the History faithfully to the year 299,

6See Rosenthal, Muslim Historiography?, 82.

7 As stated in the beginning of Ms. Topkapisarayr Ahmet III 2929/1. See Ibrahim's
Cairo edition of Tabari, 1, Introduction, 31.

8Fihrist, 234, 1. 24 £,

9See 1bn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, VIil, 68.

10See al-Qift1, 110f., translated in Rosenthal, Muslim Historiography?, 81-3.

11See below, xvii f., on the addition concerning the death of al-Hallaj.

Xxv
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but the text at his disposal does not seem to extend beyond that
date. Hamadhant's continuation of Tabari shows no clear evidence
that he was familiar with the text beyond 295. This is somewhat
surprising, since some of the information from those years might
have greatly appealed to him. Similarly, Miskawayh abruptly
discontinues quoting from Tabari beginning with the reign of
al-Mugtadir, although he cites him consistently and almost
exclusively up to that point. He may have felt that the more
substantial sources at his disposal from the year 295 on deserved to
be followed as exclusively as Tabari was followed for earlier years.
Bal‘ami’s Persian translation has been said to stop with the year
295,12 but it is not certain that the preserved translation allows any
conclusion as to the breakoff date for the manuscripts of the
History available to him; further study of Bal‘ami’s work is called
for. The twelfth-century Ibn al-Jawzi was familiar with Tabari's
work down to the year 300, and possibly to 301,13, as we might
expect. But it may be noted that his first quotation from the history
of Thabit b. Sinan concerns the year 296,14 and that Tabari no
longer appears to have been an important source for him regarding
events of 295 and later.

The evidence cited allows of no certain conclusions. It may be
that there existed recensions of Tabari's work that ended before
the year 302. On the other hand, recensions that included
additions beyond the year 302 may have also circulated. The
problem of such additions deserves special attention.l5 At the
time his work was published Tabari may have looked forward to
making further additions, as authors often do. The colophon of
Ms. B(erlin),!6 which is in a poor state of preservation, somehow
seems to indicate this intention. It apparently refers to “later
events (muta’akhkhir)” and concludes with “if God postpones the
final term (death)” However, muta’akhkhir is likely to be a
corruption of min khabar, and the context of the statement

12See Massignon, Passion?, IV, 13 n. 1.

BMuntazam, VI, 115.

14 Muntazam, VI, 80. Thabit's work is, in fact, said to have started with the reign
of al-Mugqtadir, see Safadi, Wafi, X, 463.

15See Tabari, Introductio etc., X V1.

16Ms. Clonstantinople, Képrilii, I, 1042) breaks off shortly before the end of the
work and thus does not contain the colophon.
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referring to continued life is doubtful. It does not appear in R
which has preserved what seems to be the full text of the badly
mutilated version in B. The colophon in R reads:

“Abt Ja‘far Muhammad b. Jarir al-Tabari says: All the
information mentioned by us with an indication of trans-
mission and oral sources which we have included in this
book—1 mean the book entitled “A Short History of the
Messengers, Kings, and Caliphs”"—to this very day, month,
and year is as we have included it in the book. All the
information we have left without mentioning transmission
and referring to a transmission [its transmitters?] belongs
to information which is generally and widely known through
continuous transmission and is generally familiar to those
privy to it. You all should know this! {... ma dammanna
hadha al-kitab-a‘ni al-kitab al-musamma Mukhtasar ta’rikh
al-rusul wa-al-muliik wa-al-khulafa’-ila haythu intahayna
ilayhi min yawmina min shahrind min sanatind hadhihi
mimma kana fihi min khabar dhakarnahu bi-riwayah
wa-sama' fa-huwa ‘ala ma dammanna al-kitab wa-ma kana
min dhalika mimma akhlalna min dhikr al-riwayah wa-
nisbatihi ila riwayah [read: ruwatihi?] fa-huwa min
al-khabar al-mustafid al-muntashir alladhi tawatarat bihi
al-akhbar wa-istafadat bihi ‘inda ahlihi fa-i'lami dhalika).

Tabari thus alerts the reader that where the source situation is
explained, the source in question was faithfully followed by him.
The lack of any such indication of sources, on the other hand,
means that reference is made to events generally known, and in
these cases, the phrasing is apparently his own. Nothing is said
here about future additions. It is, however, likely that he continued
taking notes and including them in his personal copy. From there,
they found their way to the copyists who, by using them and other
minor variations in the text, created different “recensions” or, in
modern terms, successive editions slightly divergent from each
other but all, in some way, having the approval of the author.

The prime example of an addition beyond the year 302 is the
brief reference to the death of al-Hallaj which occurred in the year
preceding Tabari's death. The reference appears in only one

xvii
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manuscript sub anno 301.!7 Its terseness and patent lack of
sympathy with the great mystic gives the impression of its coming
from the hand of Tabari. Of course, it cannot be ruled out entirely
that someone else might have inserted it in a copy he possessed
about the time the event took place. But in the absence of any
indication to this effect, the preferred assumption is that Tabari
himself was the author of the account.

Hamzah al-Isfahani concludes his quotation of passages from
Tabari with an item dated 305.18 It describes the discovery of a
vault at the Wall of Marw. That vault contained baskets with a
thousand heads, each of which had in its ear a label giving the
name of the individual.!¥ Hamzah's story corresponds to a report
by ‘Arib given in connection with the year 304(916-7).20 The
differences are, however, rather considerable and cannot be
explained by the fact that the Tabari quotations of Hamzah are
usually quite free. It seems that Hamzah and ‘Arib used different
sources. In ‘Arib's case it is unlikely that his source was Tabari;
for if this were so, we would be confronted with the possibility
that ‘Arib’s information for the years 300 to 309 may include more
quotations from Tabari, and this we are not prepared to concede.
Hamzah, on the other hand, may in fact have found the infor-
mation in the Tabari recension used by him; yet, it is also possible
that he followed some other source and failed to indicate it.

The existence of various “recensions" signalized by differences
in the available manuscripts suggests that additions to and
divergences from Tabari’s work found in later authors who used it
extensively often go back to the manuscript tradition of the History.
Obviously, omissions in otherwise literal reproductions of Tabari's
text do not reflect in any way an original state. In some cases, it can
be argued that the additions of a later author who depended
heavily on Tabari were not derived from the latter's work. A major
example of this is Miskawayh's report on Abu Sa‘id al-Jannabi's
message to al-Mu‘tadid. The arguments that Miskawayh could

17See below, n. 952.

18Annales, 1, 192.

19For the custom of labeling an object by means of a piece of paper affixed to the
ear, see text above, 111, 1348,

20 Arib, 62f.
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not have derived it from Tabari are strong.2! Still, I am not fully
convinced that this important item escaped Tabari's attention
altogether and that it did not somehow find its way in some form
into his work. It must be admitted, though, that the only other
addition in Miskawayh, a lengthy story illustrating al-Mu‘tadid's
fairness,2? is very unlikely to go back to Tabari. Some of the
additional information found in later authors that appears to be of
Tabarian origin has been referred to in the notes accompanying
the translation. No attempt has been made, however, to speculate
about everything that could possibly be derived from the History.
Given the nature of the evidence, much of this sort of material is
highly problematic.

For the concluding portion of the work that is the subject of
translation here, only two manuscripts were available to the editor
of the Leiden text. In the tenth volume of his edition published in
Cairo (1969), Muhammad Abi al-Fadl Ibrahim reproduced the
Leiden text basically unchanged, as Ibrahim himself stated in his
foreword. The indispensable critical apparatus of the Leiden edition
was discarded by him, to the extent that he failed to note that a few
words in the Leiden text had no manuscript authority but were
taken from the quotation in a later author.23 Ibrahim nevertheless
deserves our special gratitude for adding the pagination of the
Leiden edition in the margin, something he unfortunately failed
to do when he republished the texts of ‘Arib, Hamadhani, and
Tabart's Dhayl al-Mudhayyal as Volume XI of his Tabari text.24 A
third printing of Volume X, which appeared in 1977, used no new
manuscript material.

The two manuscripts used in the Leiden edition are, moreover,
not entirely complete. Thus, C lacks one entire folio that belonged
between folios 337 and 338 of the manuscript.25 The insufficiency
of the manuscript material of the edition made it advisable to
collate Ms. R of the Topkapisaray1. The well-tested kindness and
courage of the Turkish librarians enabled me to accomplish this

2 See below, n. 444,

28ee Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 19-23, sub anno 289.
23See below, n. 774.

2Ppublished in Cairo, 1977.

25See text below, 95 (1. 20)-104 (1. 22).
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task during a brief stay in Istanbul in June of 1981. A little time
was left over for a quick look at Ms. C in the Képriilii Library, I,
1042. But I have had no microfilm to do the additional checking
which is necessary.

A microfilm of Ms. B (Mq 667, Catalogue Ahlwardt 9422} was
kindly provided for me by Dr. D. George and the Staatsbibliothek
Preussischer Kulturbesitz in Berlin. It has enabled me to check a
few passages in the Leiden edition where I thought that such
checking might be well advised. The collation of Ms. B with the
printed text has increased my admiration for the accuracy and
acumen of the editor and the fine work done by the printer. The
passages which contain errors with respect to the indication of the
manuscript situation are astonishingly few, and they are very
minor. Only a few had to be indicated in the notes to the translation.

While Ms. R has its measure of mistakes, it enlarges our
knowledge of Tabari's work. R appears to be closer to B than to C,
allowing the conclusion that wherever R and C agree against B,
RC may have preserved the more original wording. However, the
situation is by no means clear-cut. The three manuscripts may
have equally acceptable readings as the result of author’s variants.

R has a number of additions not to be found in C and B, and thus
they are not contained in the Leiden text. These additions appear
to go back to Tabari, although in most cases proof either positive
or negative is unavailable. As far as I can see, no decisive clues can
be derived from internal evidence. Alternative statements and
repetitiveness are no proof against Tabarian origin. Positive
evidence for it is provided by additions of the homoioteleuton
variety which mend scribal omissions and thus restore the more
original text. Positive evidence is also provided by quotations in
later authors, some of which support additions and textual
variants found in R. This makes it virtually certain that the
material goes back to some recension of Tabari’s text. Alto-
gether, then, at the present stage of our knowledge, we are
justified in considering additions that occur in any one of the

- manuscripts to be part of his work.

A new scholarly edition of the History is certainly needed, but,
regrettably, none may be published soon. Therefore, it has been
advisable, and even necessary, to indicate some of the textual
information found in R. This has been done as unobtrusively as



Translator's Foreword

possible. Words and passages enclosed by asterisks indicate
additions; those enclosed in raised half square brackets indicate
omissions. Not infrequently, additions and omissions in R agree
with what is found in C; here the apparatus of the Leiden edition
must be consulted. References to minor variations are usually
meant to call attention to readings that may go back to a recension
of the History or exhibit a preferable text. Exhaustiveness and
consistency have not been attempted, although even very small
and seemingly insignificant variants may illuminate the history
of Tabari's text and its historical importance.

The translation and annotation procedure followed in this
volume needs little comment. Brackets to mark names and nouns
supplied for Arabic pronouns have been avoided for the most part.
The Baghdad-centrism of the work has often called for the addition
of “Baghdad"” where the word itself is not expressly mentioned in
the text. No attention has been paid to the various ways in which
dates are expressed in the Arabic text. They have been rendered in
a uniform manner and occasionally expanded by the addition of
the year. One-day discrepancies in the indicated day of the week
have been left unchanged.26 All this has been done in order to
facilitate the task of the historian who may peruse these pages.

An historical commentary on subjects and events has not been
attempted because there is no room for it in this volume. Every one
of Tabar's brief items would require a lengthy discussion in order
to place it in even the most rudimentary historical context. The
available standard works have been preferred for reference. Those
dealing specifically with the period treated here have not been
referred to systematically on each occasion. This applies, for
instance, to Canard on the Byzantines (also Vasiliev, Vol. 11} and
the Hamdanids, and to Massignon and his struggle to unravel the
prevailing religious situation. Similarly, one should often refer to
Bowen, who attempts to encompass the political scene in Baghdad
during all these years in a work which remains entertaining and
worth reading, and to Glagow's careful biography of al-Mu‘tadid

2%See below, n. 979, for an example of the fact that dates given in one form were
at times converted into another. This could easily lead to mistakes, especially in
connection with dates referring to the remaining nights of months having twenty-
nine days.
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in which he discusses all the data provided by Tabari and parallel
sources, and so on.

A brief identification has been provided in the notes for each
individual at his first mention in this volume. With a very few
exceptions for the most prominent personalities, such as caliphs,
this has been done systematically and, alas, has required some
rather superfluous notes. I have not, however, succeeded in
identifying every single individual mentioned in the text. The
names of tribes have been left unannotated as a rule. The names of
places have rarely required annotation, the principal exceptions
being the names of towns in Byzantine territory and the stations
of the Mecca Road. References to earlier passages in the History
are meant to alert the reader to the likelihood that a fuller
annotation may be found in connection with the translation of
those passages.

In addition to the librarians in Istanbul and Berlin, I am obliged
to Professor E. Birnbaum of the University of Toronto for answering
my questions concerning problematic proper names suspected by
me to be of Turkish origin, to Professor E. Yar-Shater of Columbia
University for checking the Ta’rikh-e Sistan, not available to me,
and to Professor J. Lassner of Wayne State University for his
painstaking editing of my manuscript. I am very grateful to all of
them, as I am to the students in my Arabic Seminar with whom I
read part of the text translated here during the academic year
1978-79.
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The Caliphate of al-Mu‘tadid
@

In the morning following this night [Monday, Rajab 19, 279
(Monday, October 16, 892, to Tuesday, October 17)], the oath of
allegiance as caliph was given to Abi al-‘Abbas al-Mu‘tadid
bi-11ah. Al-Mu‘tadid then appointed his page Badr as chief of
police,l ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman b. Wahb as wazir2 and
Muhammad b. al-Shah b. Mikal as chief of the guard.3 He also
appointed Salih, who was known as ($alih) al-Amin, as chief
chamberlain (hajib) for both the inner circle of notables (khassah)
and the commoners (‘ammah).4 $alih took the place of Khafif
al-Samarqandi.5

1Upon his elevation to the caliphate, the new Caliph immediately filled the
positions most important for the safe assumption of his duties with old friends. This
was rarely, if ever, done on the spur of the moment. In one of the versions of
al-Mu‘tadid’s dream reported sub anno 282 (see below, n. 137}, we are told that the
dream made him so confident of becoming caliph soon that he drew up a list of his
first appointees. Only the names of Badr and {Ubaydallah b. Sulayman are mentioned
there. Badr was listed as the future chamberlain, the more prestigious office, but, as
it turned out, the new caliph felt that he needed a man with military experience
whom he trusted completely in the office of Chief of Security. See also text above, 11,
2122f. However, Badr remained at the top of the list, regardless of the normal ranking
of his office. On Badr, who was killed shortly after al-Mu‘tadid’s death, see text
below, 2209ff., and ER Suppl., s. v. Badr. ]

20n Wbaydallah [d. 288 (April 903)], see Sourdel, Vizirat, 326-45.

3There seems to be no further mention of him. His father, however, was an
important officer, first mentioned in the text above, III, 1532.

4The meanings of khassah and Gmmah are briefly discussed in Mottahedeh,
Loyalty, 115. There seems to be no information on $alih al-Amin beyond what is
mentioned here.

5He may be identical with the Khafif mentioned above. See text, I1], 1953. He was
close to al-Mu‘tadid and appears occasionally as an informant on events during his
reign. See, for instance, Tanuikhi, Nishwar, 111, 260; Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V,
134f.; Ibn Abi Usaybi‘ah, ‘Uyiin, 1, 231. On his relations with the two Ibn al-Furats,
see S$abi’, Wuzara’, index.
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On Sha‘ban 2, 279 (October 28, 892), the emissary of ‘Amr b.
al-Layth al-Saffar® came to al-Mu‘tadid bearing gifts’ and
requested that ‘Amr be appointed governor of Khurasan.
Al-Mu‘tadid sent ‘Isa al-Nushari8 back with the emissary,
carrying robes of honor and a standard for ‘Amr signifying
his (new) rank as governor of Khurasan. They reached ‘Amr in
Ramadan 279 (November 25-December 24, 892). The robes of
honor were bestowed upon him, and the standard was exhibited
in the courtyard of his house for three days.

In this year, the report of the death of Nasr b. Ahmad reached
Baghdad. Nasr's brother, Isma‘il b. Ahmad, took charge of his
administrative functions in Transoxania.?

On Tuesday, Shawwil 3, 279 (Wednesday, December 27, 892),
al-Husayn b. ‘Abdallah, who was known as Ibn al-Jassas,10
arrived from Egypt as the emissary of Khumarawayh b. Ahmad
b. Talan.!! He brought gifts among which were:

Twenty loads of gold specie on mules

Ten eunuchs

Two boxes containing textiles with ornamental borders (tirdz)12

6 For the Saffarids, see the brief entry in Bosworth, Islamic Dynasties, 103-6.

7 The gifts offered on this occasion are listed in Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha'’ir, 41.
Further gifts from (Amr to al-Mu‘tadid in the years 280, 281, 283, and 286 are listed
in Dhakha’ir, 39-45. ]

8 One of the most important figures of his time, ‘isa al-Nushari died as governor of
Egypt in the spring of 297 (910). See ‘Arib, 33f.; Ibn al-Athir, sub anno 297; Ibn
Taghribirdi, Nujam, 111, 145ff. The origin of his nisbah, meaning “New Town" in
Persian, appears undetermined; Sam‘ani, Ansab, has no further information on its
likely origin.

9 The Samanid brothers Nasr and Isma‘il ruled, respectively, from 864 to 892 and
from 892 to 907.

10See ER, s.v. Ibn al-Djassas. His career as a selfmade, enormously wealthy jeweler
and wit with powerful connections fascinated his contemporaries so that he is much
discussed by historians and littérateurs.

11 See ER, s. v. Khumarawayh.

120ne of the glories of Muslim craftsmanship, usually produced in government
factories. R has tara’if “curios,” and Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 138, 1. 13, found the
same reading in the manuscript he used. Mas‘adi, Murij, VIII, 117£., ed. Pellat, V,
139, does not have a detailed list of gifts but refers to tiraz. Both readings are possible,
but tiraz seems slightly preferable. Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha’ir, 41, speaks of “two
boxes filled with fine material {diqq).”
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Twenty / / men upon twenty noble camels, with saddles richly
ornamented with silver, carrying silver lances and wearing
brocade gowns and ornamented belts

Seventeen horses with saddles and bridles, five decorated with
gold, and the rest with silver

Thirty-seven horses with saddle cloths ornamented with
borders of different colorsi3

Five mules with saddles and bridles

A giraffel4

Ibn al-Jassas went to al-Mu‘tadid who bestowed robes of honor
upon him and upon seven individuals with him. The purpose
of his trip was to arrange a marriage between the daughter
of Khumarawayh and al-Mu‘tadid's son ‘Ali.l5 However,
al-Mu‘tadid said that he himself would marry her, and so he did.16

In this year, word reached Baghdad that Ahmad b. Tsa b.
al-Shaykh!? had seized the fortress of Mardin from Muhammad
b. Ishaq b. Kunda;j.18

13 See Tabari, Introductio etc., CCCXVIII; Busse, “Hofbudget,” 24, n. 104.

14 The list appears in Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha'’ir, 41, in substantially the same form,
with slight differences mainly in the wording. The fourth item appears as “twenty
ornamented donkeys,” and the giraffe is omitted, probably merely by oversight;
giraffes were not uncommon in gifts from Africa. It would be difficult to assume that
Ibn al-Zubayr used Tabarl and changed the wording arbitrarily. 1bn al-Zubayr has
many other detailed reports on gifts not found in Tabari. It is also unlikely that Ibn
al-Zubayr used an intermediary that somehow depended on Tabari. In all likeli-
hood both Tabari and Ibn al-Zubayr {or his source} depended upon a common
source, possibly an original document, and Tabari may have preserved the more
accurate text. Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 138, quotes Tabari.

151t can be assumed that Khumarawayh's daughter Qatr al-Nada “Dewdrop” was
very young when the match with the prince, the future Caliph al-Muktafi, was
proposed. ‘Ali was only about fifteen years old then, and, since her father was born
in 250 {864}, she cannot have been older and was probably somewhat younger. She
died on Rajab 7 (9), 287 [July 8 {10), 900], see text below, 2195; Ibn al-Jawzi,
Muntazam, V1, 26; Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, II, 250.

16 The way in which al-Mu‘tadid handled the dynastic marriage struck historians
as noteworthy and, probably, as a bit peculiar. It was rarely left unreported. See also
Taniikhi, Nishwar, 11, 315; Glagow, 63-67. For the brideprice paid by al-Mu‘tadid to
Khumarawayh, see Mastadi, Murij, VI, 118£.; ed. Pellat, V, 139.

17 See ER, s. v. {Isa b. al-Shaykh. He died in 285 (898), see text below, 2185. The name
of his father al-Shaykh was (Abd al-Razzaq.

18Or 1bn Kundajiq, d. 304 (916-17). See ‘Arib, 63f.; Eclipse, I, 33 {n. 1). For his
father, see text above, 111, 1877, 2112.

[111,2134]
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In this year, Ibrahim b. Muhammad b. al-Mudabbir!® died on
Wednesday, Shawwal 16 or 17, 279 (Tuesday or Wednesday, January
9 or 10, 893). He had been in charge of the Office of Estates.20
Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Hamid?! was appointed in his place.

In this year, Rashid, the mawla of al-Muwaffaq,22 was con-
firmed as governor of al-Dinawar. Robes of honor were bestowed
upon him on Saturday, Shawwal 20,23 279 (Saturday, January 13,
893). Then, on Thursday, Dha al-Qa‘dah 10, 279 (Thursday,
February 1, 893), Rashid left to assume his administrative duties.

On the Day of Slaughtering (Dhu al-Hijjah 10), 279 (March 3,
893),%4 al-Mu‘tadid, accompanied by the officers and troops, rode
to the oratory he had chosen for himself near the Hasani Palace?s
in order to lead the public prayer. He reportedly said “God is Great
(Allahu Akbar)" six times during the first rak‘ah, and once
during the second.26 // He then ascended the pulpit, but his
sermon was inaudible. The Old Oratory was left vacant and was
no longer used for prayer.2’

In this year, a dispatch was sent to Ahmad b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Ab1
Dulaf, 28 ordering him into combat against Rafi‘ b. Harthamah,?

19 See text above, 111, 1384; EI, s. v. Ibn al-Mudabbir.

20 The diwan al-diya® was the government department charged with the adminis-
tration of the caliphal landholdings.

21 D, 287 (900}, see text below, 2192. See also n. 423.

22 D. 280 (893), see text below, 2139. See also text above, 111, 1988; Busse, “Hofbudget,”
18, n. 60.

23 According to the edition, the date was Shawwal 22, which was a Monday. Thus
“seven’ must be corrected to “nine,” i. e. Shawwal 20.

24 R had merely Dhii al-Hijjah, but it is clear that the Gd al-adha festival is meant.
According to Mas‘iadi, Muriij, VIII, 117, ed. Pellat, V, 139, the incident occurred on
the day of the breaking of the fast, that is, the day of the minor id, Monday, Shawwal
1, 279 (Monday, December 25, 892). The correct indication of the day of the week may
favor this earlier date.

25 See Lassner, Topography, 84f., 97, 265{.

26 The number and sequence of takbirat during the prayer on the festival could hold
political significance, as is indicated above, 11, 1955f. This may also be the case here.

27 The active is not excluded: “no longer used by the Caliph. If the Old Oratory was
no longer used, it nevertheless remained a landmark on the East Side of Baghdad, see
text below, 2244.

28 Ahmad died the following year. See text below, 2137; also above, 111, 1929; Canard,
Hamdanides, 3111f.; Zambaur, 199.

29 Rafi¢ was killed in 283, See text below, 2160; also above, 111, 2039.
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who was in al-Rayy. Ahmad advanced against him, and they met
in battle on Thursday, Dhi al-Qa‘dah 23, 279 (Wednesday,
February 14, 893). Rafi‘ was routed and left al-Rayy, whereupon
Ibn ‘Abd al-‘Aziz entered the city.30

Leading the pilgrimage this year was Harun b. Muhammad
al-Hashimi.3! It was his last pilgrimage. He had led the pilgrim-
age sixteen times, from 264 (878) to this year.

2 See Mas'iidl, Muruj, VIII, 139f., ed. Pellat, V, 147f. _
31 Hariin b. Muhammad b. Ishdq b. Miisa [who led the pilgrimage in 182 (799]1b. Isa
[d. 167 (783-84)] b. Miisa b. Muhammad b. ‘Ali was a great-great-grandson of {sa b.
Miisa, the nephew of al-Saffah and al-Mansir. According to Mas‘tidi, Murij, 1X, 74,
ed. Pellat, V, 299, Harlin led the pilgrimage fifteen consecutive times, the last time in
278; in 279, Ab@i ‘Abdallah Muhammad b. (Abdallah b. Dawtd b. Isa b. Masa led
the pilgrimage for the first of nine times ending in 287. MasGdi appears to be in
error. For Muhammad b. (Abdallih, see below, n. 357. Note that Tabari does not
report the leader of the pilgrimage for 281, 282, and 283; he lists Muhammad b.
(Abdallah for the years 284-87. Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 147, 1. 20, and 151, 1. 13,
lists Muhammad b. Hardin (see below, n. 71) as the leader of the pilgrimage in 281
and 282 but, like Tabari, gives no name for 283.
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The
Events of the Year

280

(MARCH 23, 893 - MARCH 12, 894)

Q@

One of the events was al-Mu‘tadid’s seizure of ‘Abdallah b.
al-Muhtadi2 and Muhammad b. al-Hasan b. Sahl, who was
known as Shaylamah.33 This Shaylamah had stayed with the
master of the Zanj34 until his last days. He then joined
al-Muwaffaq under a guarantee of safe-conduct and subsequently
received his protection. Al-Mu‘tadid seized the two men because
Shaylamah was denounced to him by one of those who had
obtained a guarantee of safe-conduct. The informer told the
Caliph that Shaylamah was propagandizing for a person of
unknown name and that he had already sought to corrupt a
number of military men and others. A pharmacist and a
nephew of Shaylamah from al-Madinah were seized with him.
Al-Mu‘tadid tried to make Shaylamah confess, but he admitted
nothing. When asked by al-Mu‘tadid // about the man for
whom he was propagandizing, he again admitted nothing but
said, "If he were underneath my feet, [ would not lift them, and
if you were to make minced meat35 out of me, I would not tell

32 The name of the (Abbasid prince is also transmitted as ‘Ubaydallah, but nothing
further, it seems, is known about him. An Abi al-Husayn Ibn al-Muhtadi appears in
Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V1, 194, 348. See also below, n. 39.

33 Mas'Gidi states expressly that he was a nephew of the great wazir al-Fadl b. Sahl [d.
202 (818}]. Al-Fadl's brother al-Hasan b. Sahl died in the early summer of 235 (850).
For Shaylamah at al-Muwaffaq's court, see Abu Hayyan al-Tawhidi, Basa'ir, ed.
1. al-Kaylani, 111,2, 505 {Damascus, n. d.}. No information is available on the phar-
macist and Shaylamah's nephew.

3 The leader of the Zanj revolt, which lasted fourteen years, did not survive his
defeat in August 883. See text above, I, 2098. According to Mas‘tidi, Muriij, VIII,
140, ed. Pellat, V, 148; Ibn al-Nadim, Fihrist, 127, Shaylamah wrote a biography of
the Zanj leader.

35 R: kardanaj, the expected spelling with final j. Steingass, Persian-English Dic-
tionary, explains gardana, gardanaj as meat boiled and roasted {with spices). The
translation "minced meat” was chosen for its idiomatic flavor.
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you about him!" At this, al-Mu‘tadid gave orders to make a fire.
Shaylamah was tied upon a wooden tent plank and rotated over
the fire till his skin peeled. He was then decapitated, and his
corpse was hung at the Lower Bridge on the West Side.3 Ibn
al-Muhtadi was detained until his innocence was ascertained,
whereupon he was released. The hanging of Shaylamah took
place on al-Muharram 9,37 280 (March 31, 893).

Al-Mu‘tadid reportedly said to Shaylamah, “I have heard that
you are propagandizing for Ibn al-Muhtadi” Shaylamah replied,
“The real story is different. I am friendly to the cause of the
family of the son of Abi Talib!'3 Al-Mu'tadid had tried to make
his nephew confess, and he did. When he told Shaylamah that
his nephew had confessed, he replied, “He is a mere lad who
said what he did because he is afraid of being killed. His
statement is unacceptable! After a long time, his nephew and
the pharmacist were released.®

On Sunday, Safar 1, 280 (Sunday, April 22, 893), al-Mu‘tadid
marched from Baghdad against the Bant Shayban. He encamped
at the Garden (Bustin) of Bishr b. Hartin,%0 and then left on
Wednesday, having appointed his chamberlain (hajib) Salih
al-Amin to take his place in the caliphal palace and in the city.

3% See Lassner, Topography, 280.

37 Text: “seven,” but both R and B seem to have “nine!" The reading of C remains to
be checked.

38 Apparently, any descendant of Abi Talib through his most famous son, ‘Alj,
could be meant.

¥ Tabarl combines two reports which most likely came to him from different
sources. Other reports, not depending on Tabari, appear in Mas‘adi, Muraj, VIII,
140-42, ed. Pellat, V, 148f., and Tanukhil, Nishwar, 1, 144ff. See also Ibn al-Nadim,
Fihrist, 127.

Taniikhi speaks of an unnamed descendant of al-Wathigq {the father of al-Muhtadi)
who aspired to the caliphate and made Shaylamah his wazir. In Shaylamah’s house,
lists of names of the co-conspirators were discovered, and the prince fled. Shaylamah's
denial that an ‘Abbasid prince was involved, and his insistence that it was an ‘Alid,
may have been a coverup for a dynastic intrigue. In view of Shaylamah’s antecedents
this may seem unlikely, but we should be aware that contemporaries, like modern
scholars, were always inclined to suspect sectarian motives.

40 The precise location of the Garden of Bishr b. Harun is not known. It was
evidently a large park suitable as a staging area for military expeditions. It is not
impossible that Bishr b. Hartin was the brother of Jabir and Ibrahim, mentioned as
Christian secretaries of Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b. Tahir; see text above, 111, 1511,
1524,
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Al-Mu‘tadid marched toward the place in the Jazirah that the
Shayban had chosen as a stronghold. When they heard that he
was marching against them, they gathered their possessions and
families in one place. A letter from al-Mu‘tadid then reached
Baghdad stating that he had marched at night from al-Sinn4! to
engage the Arab tribesmen and that he had attacked them. He
had killed a great number of them, and a good many* of them
had drowned in the two Zabs. He had seized // women and
children, and the soldiers had gained more booty than they
could carry. Moreover, so many small cattle and camels of the
Shayban had fallen into their hands that a sheep sold for (only)
a dirham and a camel for five dirhams.

Al-Mu‘tadid ordered their women and children guarded until
they could be sent down to Baghdad. He then went to Mosul
and from there to Balad,* before he returned to Baghdad. The
Shayban came to meet him and asked his pardon, and they gave
him numerous hostages. He reportedly accepted five hundred of
their men.

When al-Mu‘tadid was on his way back to Madinat al-Salam,#
Ahmad b. Abi al-Asbagh45 joined him, bringing along the
amount of money which he had received for the release of
Ahmad b. Isa b. al-Shaykh—money which the latter had taken
from Ishaq b. Kundaj. He also brought presents, horses, and
mules. This was on Wednesday, Rabi‘ II 7,4 280 (Wednesday,
June 26, 893).

41 At the confluence of the Lesser Zab and the Tigris. Ibn al-Athir has “at,” instead of
“from.” Mas‘adi, Murgj, VIII, 142f., ed. Pellat, V, 149, locates the battle at Wadi
al-Dhi'ab, for which see text below, 2293,

42 R omits kathir.

43 North of Mosul on the Tigris.

4 By this time, Madinat al-Salam was fully synonymous with Baghdad, but the
expression has been retained here wherever it occurs.
45See text above, III, 1927. Ibn Ab1 al-Asbagh was in charge of the Office of
Taxation. According to $dbi’, Wuzara’, 50, 87, 152, he was Abii al-‘Abbas Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. Abi al-Asbagh. His identification with Abt ‘Abdallah Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. Badr b. al-Asbagh, assumed by the editor of Taniuikhi, Nishwar, VIII,
116 (see the translation of Margoliouth, Table-Talk, 54), appears to be unfounded.
Badr b. al-Agbagh is mentioned in the text above, 111, 1137, sub anno 250 {864}, as the
chief tax official in al-Kifah. For Ishdq b. Kundaj, see above, n. 18.
460n the page following.
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In Rabi‘ I (May 21-June 19, 893),4 word reached Baghdad that
Muhammad b. Abi al-53j*8 had conquered al-Maraghah after a
difficult siege and a fierce battle between himself and the
inhabitants of the city. He had granted safe-conduct to ‘Abdallah
b. al-Husayn *al-Hamadhani*4 and his men but then seized
him. He put him in fetters and imprisoned him. He made him
confess where all his property was, then killed him. *He was
buried in Zanjan.*

In Rabi® II, 280 (June 20-July 18,893),5% word concerning the
death of Ahmad b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf reached Baghdad.
His death had occurred at the end of Rabi‘ I. The troops now
demanded their allotments and looted the residence of Isma‘il b.
Muhammad al-Munshi’.5! Two (other) sons of ‘Abd al-‘Aziz,
‘Umar and Bakr,52 competed for the position of leadership.
‘Umar took control of the administration, although al-Mu‘tadid
had not sent him a letter of appointment as governor./ /

46 Here, and in the following two items, there seems to be some confusion as to
whether it was Rabi’ 1 or Rabi® II. The confusion probably goes back to Tabari
himself. Rabi 1 7 _!as in Tabari) fell upon 2 Monday and is thus ruled out. R,
however, reads Rabi 19 {May 29), which was indeed a Wednesday (as was Rabi‘ 11 7).
Since the date appears to refer to the time when al-Mu‘tadid was on his way back to
Baghdad (which Tabari reports as having taken place in Rabi® II), the later date
seems preferable. The expedition presumably lasted longer than just one month. If
the reference to Rabi® 1 in the following item (see below, n. 47) is correct, it merely
means that the author resumed the chronological sequence after reporting events
connected with al-Mu‘tadid's campaign.

47 RB: Rabi* 11

48 See text above, I11, 1937. His surname was Afshin. He died in 288 (901}, as reported
below, 2202f. For his brother Yiisuf, see below, n. 57; for his son Déwdad, see below,
n. 471.

49 He is also mentioned by Mas'fidi in connection with this episode, but there
seems to be no more information on him. R: al-Hamdani.

50 RBC: Rabi{. Although this was no doubt found in the original, the later reference
to the end of Rabt' I shows it to be wrong.

51 Al-Munshi’ may indicate that he was a draftsman of documents, but information
on him appears to be lacking.

52 The rivalry of ‘Umar and Bakr and the role of their brothers is the subject of
attention in the following pages. On their celebrated grandfather Abi Dulaf, see
Sezgin, GAS, 11, 632. On Bakr {d. 285 {898)] in his capacity as poet, see Sezgin, GAS,
11, 633. 1 have no information on the date of (Umar’s death. On Abii Dulaf and the
family, see also EI, s. v. al-Kasim b. (isa.
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In this year, Muhammad b. Thawr53 conquered ‘Umian and
sent the heads of a number of its inhabitants to Baghdad.

Ja'far b. al-Mu‘tamid® reportedly died on Sunday, Rabi II
12, 280 (Sunday, July 1, 893). He had resided in the palace of
al-Mu‘tadid and had not left it or made any public appearances;
on occasion, al-Mu‘tadid used to invite him as a boon
companion.55

In this (month},5 al-Mu‘tadid returned to Baghdad from his
expedition against the Arab tribesmen.

In Jumada II, 280 (August 18-September 15, 893), word reached
Baghdad that ‘Amr b. al-Layth had entered Naysabiir in Jumada I.

In this year, Yasuf b. Abi al-S3j% sent thirty-two Kharijitess
from the Mosul Road to Baghdad. Twenty-five of them were
decapitated and their corpses hung. Seven® were imprisoned in
the New Prison.®0

53 Mas'Gidi, Mur@j, VIII, 143, ed. Pellat, V, 149, has Ahmad, apparently corrected in

Pellat’s edition to Muhammad on the basis of Tabari. Mas'adi tells us that he
marched from al-Bahrayn against the Ibidi Kharijites whose Imam, al-Salt b. Malik,
resided in Nazwa. However, T. Lewicki, in ER, s.v. al-Ibadiyya (IlI, 652a), states that
al-Salt ruled until 273 (887); if this is correct, Mas'iid’s information on the Ibadi
leadership in (Uman was out of date. No futher information on Ibn Thawr seems
available.

54 Al-Mu‘tadid’s cousin, Abu al-‘Abbas Ja‘far was appointed first successor, before
al-Mu‘tadid, and received the surname al-Mufawwid (scil. amrahi rather than al-
Mufawwad amruhii) ila Allah in 278. He was deposed from this position on
al-Muharram 22, 279 (April 24, 892), see text above, 111, 2123, 2131.

55 Of the known regular boon companions of al-Mu‘tadid, only Ibn Hamdiin was
mentioned by Tabari (see below, n. 233). The historian had, of course, no particular
interest in these aspects of al-Mu‘tadid’s life. He also tells us nothing about the
Caliph’s literary and scholarly interests. The reference here was intended to show
al-Mu‘tadid in a good light.

56 The feminine pronoun refers here to the name of the month, and not to the year.

57 See text above, 1l1, 2107. He is repeatedly mentioned in ‘Arib, Hamadhani, and
Miskawayh (Eclipse, 1 1724f.) down to the year 315 (927) in which he was killed.

58 They may have been followers of the Kharijite Harun, mentioned sub annis 281
and 283.

%9 R and Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 142, 1. 20: “the rest of them.”

60 See Lassner, Topography, 70.
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On Rajab 5, 280 (September 20, 893}, Muhammad b. Abbas!
entered Tarsiis for the summer campaign on behalf of
Khumarawayh. He was followed there by Badr al-Hammami, 62
and together with al-‘Ujayfi, the amir of Tarsus, they raided as
far as al-Balaqsiin.&4

In this year, word reached Baghdad that Isma‘il b. Ahmad
had raided the land of the Turks and reportedly conquered their
capital.5 He had captured their king and his wife Khatun% as
well as about ten thousand people, many of whom he killed.
The booty included an uncounted number of horses. Upon
division of the booty, every Muslim horseman received a thousand
dirhams.67 / /

On Ramadin 28, 280 (December 11, 893), Rashid, the mawla
of al-Muwaffaq, died in al-Dinawar. He was carried in a casket
to Baghdad. *He had repented and recanted.*

On Shawwail 13, 280 (December 26, 893), Masrur al-Balkhi8
died.

61 Text: Ahmad; R: Muhammad. R thus makes the identification with Abu Ja'far
Muhammad b. Abba virtually certain. Muhammad b. Abba enjoyed his greatest
prominence during the reign of Hariin b. Khumarawayh. See Kindi, Wulah, 251;
Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujam, I, 99, 101 ff., 139. Canard, Sources arabes, 11, in his
translation of the Tabari passage, has "“Muhammad” without explanation, but see
Sources arabes, 265, and Canard, in Vasiliev, 11, 123.

62 The powerful Egyptian general who is often mentioned in the following pages
and who died in 311 {923).

63 For Ahmad b. Tughan al-‘Ujayfi, the military commander in Tarsiis, see text
above, 111, 2130, and below, n. 172.

& Final n also appears in R. The apparatus of the Leiden edition also notes final n
and suggests an identification with Telmissos, for which see Pauly-Wissowa, s. v.
Telmessos, and, for more recent efforts to identify the Carian and Lycian Telmessos,
Der Kleine Pauly, V, 375f. Canard, Sources arabes, 11, appears to accept this identifi-
cation. It is, however, extremely difficult to reconcile the Arabic consonants with
Telmessos/n, and Tabari does not give the slightest hint where the place might be
located.

65 The capital of the Kharlug/Khalug/Khallukh Turks, raided by the Samanid
IsmaCil, was Talas (Taraz). See ER, s. v. Karluk. Mas'idi, Muriyj, VIII, 144f., ed.
Pellat, V, 150, has some more details on the episode.

6 Khatun was a title, not a proper name.

67 Miskawayh: “a thousand dindrs, or rather a thousand dirhams,” see Tabari,
Introductio etc., DCCXCVII. Although “dinars’ is patently preposterous, the reading
was no doubt found originally in Tabari.

68 Masriir al-Balkhi was one of the Turks who helped to make al-Mu‘tamid caliph.
See text above, I1I, 1820, etc.
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In Dhd al-Hijjah, 280 (February 11-March 12, 894), a letter
reportedly reached Baghdad from Dabil®® with the information
that a lunar eclipse had occurred on Shawwal 14, 280 (December
27, 893). At the end of the night the moon had reappeared, but
when the populace arose in the morning, it was dark, and the
darkness continued. In the afternoon a heavy black wind began
to blow. It lasted into the first third of the night. When that time
had passed, there was an earthquake. In the morning the city had
disappeared. Only a few of the houses had been spared —about a
hundred. Up to the time the letter was written, the people of
Dabil had buried thirty thousand dead recovered from the ruins.
Following the destruction, they suffered five (additional) earth-
quakes.’0 As reported by some{one) of them, the dead recovered
from the ruins totaled one hundred and fifty thousand.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was Abii Bakr Muhammad
b. Harin, who was known as Ibn Turunjah.”!

69 For Dvin {Dabil), the capital of Armenia, see ER, s. v. Dwin.

70 That is, aftershocks.

'That is, Abu Bakr Muhammad b. Hariin b. al‘Abbas b. ‘isa b. Abi Ja'far
al-Manstir, a great-great-grandson of the second (Abbasid caliph. He was the imam
and preacher of the Great Mosque in the city of al-Mansur for fifty years. He died at
the age of seventy-five in 308 (920-21). See Khatib, Ta’rikh Baghdad, 111, 356. The
nickname Ibn Turunjah, referring to a citrus fruit (?) (also Utrujjah, see below, n.
357), is not mentioned in Ta'rikh Baghdad. For Utrunjah as a female proper name,
see text above, 111, 1300.



The
Events of the Year

281

(MARCH 13, 894 - MARCH 1, 895)

®

One of the events was the arrival in Madinat al-Salam of Turk”2
b. al-‘Abbas, the governor representing the central authorities in
Diyar Mudar. 1bn al-‘Abbas arrived on al-Muharram 9,73 281
(March 21, 894). He brought some // forty of the men of Abu
al-Agharr,74 the master of Sumaysat, on camels. They wore
hoods and silken cloaks.”s The men were brought to al-Mu‘tadid’s
palace. They were then remanded to the New Prison where they
were incarcerated. Turk was given a robe of honor, and he then
returned to his residence.

In this year, word reached Baghdad that a battle had taken
place between Wagsif,76 the eunuch of Ibn Abi al-S3j, and ¢ Umar
b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf, and that ‘Umar had been routed.
Wasif then returned to his master Muhammad b. Abi al-S3j in
Rabi‘ II, 281 (June 10-July 8, 894).

72R: “Zirak,"” in both cases. Since there is no more information on this individual,
his actual name remains doubtful. It is unlikely that the reading Zirak resulted from
a confusion with Zirak al-Turki, d. 269; see below, n. 171.

3R: “seven.”

74 Abii al-Agharr Khalifah b. al-Mubarak (b. ‘Abd al-A13; see text below, 2191}
al-Sulami died on Dhi al-Hijjah 7, 303 (June 12, 916). See ‘Arib, 59. The essential
information on him is contained in the following pages of Tabari.

75 The costume, mentioned frequently in connection with captured rebels, mainly
heretics, who were displayed in triumph, appears to have the significance of branding
them as effeminate and, in particular, as dressed in a manner not proper for
Muslims. It seemed important for Ibn al-Mu‘tazz to mention in his poem {verse 190}
in connection with the Kharijite Harin. According to Ibn al-Athir, sub anno, Harin
objected to wearing brocade because it was illegal, and he had to be forced to wear it.

76 See text above, II1, 2117f. His death in 288 (901) is reported below, 2205.

77 Tughj, the father of Muhammad, the founder of the Ikhshidid dynasty, died in
prison in Baghdad in 294 (906-7). On his brothers, who were military men like him,
see nn. 155 and 742. This important contemporary leader appears first in Tabari, text
above, II, 2132. See also Bacharach, “The career of ... al-khshid"; Kashif, Ikhshidiyytin,
57-61.
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On Thursday, Jumada II 15, 281 (Thursday, August 22, 894),
Tughj b. Juff’? reportedly entered Tarsts for the summer campaign
on behalf of Khumarawayh. On this campaign, he reached
Tarayan and conquered Maliriyah.”8

On Jumada (1) 24, 281 (August 31, 894), Ahmad b. Muhammad
al-Ta'79 died in al-Kufah and was buried there in a place called
Masjid al-Sahlah.8o

In this year, the springs and brooks in al-Rayy and Tabaristan
dried up. *Afterwards, people were afflicted by a terrible famine,
so that people ate each other and someone would even eat his
own daughter.*8]

On Rajab 2, 281 (September 7, 894}, al-Mu‘tadid left for
al-Jabal82 and marched toward the district (nahiyah) of al-
Dinawar. He put AbG Muhammad ‘Ali b. al-Mu‘tadid in charge
of al-Rayy, Qazwin, Zanjan, Abhar, Qumm, Hamadhan, and
al-Dinawar.83 Ahmad b. Abi al-Asbagh was entrusted with ‘Ali’s

78 The identification of TaraylGn with Tyriaeon in Pisidia (see Pauly-Wissowa, s. v.
Tyraion; Naour, Tyriaion) seems acceptable. See Canard, Sources arabes, 11. Among
later distortions of the name, the reading Tarabziin (Ibn al-Athir; al-‘Ayni, ‘Uqd
al-juman, as quoted in a footnote of the edition of 1bn Taghribirdi, Nujum, IiI, 86)
apparently came about through an absurd identification with Trebizond/Trabzon
on the Black Sea.

The vocalization Maliiriyah is uncertain. The name also occurs in Mas‘adi,
Muruj, V111, 146, ed. Pellat, V, 151. Canard, Sources arabes, 11, 42, was unable to
suggest an identification. It could be the same place as Migwbyh mentioned in the
text above, 111, 709, 1. 11, that is, Greek Malakopea; see Honigmann, Ostgrenze, 47.
An easy and natural identification, however, would seem to be Balboura near
Tyriaeon. See Naour, map on p. 6.

79 See text above, 1II, 2127; Halm, Kosmologie, 1. See also Guest, Ibn er Rumi, 28;
Busse, “Hofbudget,” 14f.

8 Massignon, “Plan de Kufa,” 353, refers to this mosque with reference to Tabari
and places it on his map (fig. 1) at the site of Masjid ‘Abd al-Qays; reprinted in
Massignon, Opera Minora, 111, 52. See also EI2, s. v. al-Kufa (V, 348b).

81 This addition in R also appears in Ibn al-Jawz1, Muntazam , V, 147. Ibn al-Athir,
sub anno, does not have it, but his entry for the year 280 adds: “Eventually three
liters (ratl) of water cost a dirham, and prices rose greatly” Ibn Taghribirdl, Nujam,
111, 86, includes both additions in his narrative.

82 That is, Northern Iraq, with the alternative form al-Jibal. See Le Strange, Lands,
185-231.

8 When al-Muktafi, who was at the time seventeen years old, returned to Baghdad
four years later, his father expressed great satisfaction with his accomplishments in
al-Rayy: “You left a son and returned a colleague” See Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI, 3.
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secretariat, and al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nasrani® // was put in
charge of his military expenditures and the estates of al-Rayy.
‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf was given charge of
Isbahan, Nahiawand, and al-Karaj. Returning hurriedly because of
high prices and lack of provisions, the Caliph reached Baghdad
on Wednesday, Ramadan 3, 28] (Wednesday, November 6, 894).

In this year, al-Hasan b. ‘Al1 Kiirah,8 Rafi"s agent in al-Rayy,
asked ‘Ali b. al-Mu‘tadid for a guarantee of safe-conduct together
with a thousand men. ‘Al1 sent him to his father al-Mu‘tadid.

In Dhi al-Qa‘dah (January 2-February 1, 895), the Arab
tribesmen entered Samarra, took Ibn Sima Unuf$ captive, and
looted the city.

On Dhii al-Qa‘dah 24, 281 (January 25, 895), al-Mu‘tadid left
for Mosul for the second time in order to pursue Hamdan b.
Hamdiin.% He did this because word reached him that Hamdan
was leaning toward Hartn al-Shari al-Wiaziqi®8 and was propa-

84 He is not heard from after his exile to Wasit in 290 (903). See text below, 2230.

85 [bn al-Athir, sub anno 282, in relating al-Hasan’s appointment as successor to
Buktamir (see text below, n. 121), referred to him as al-Khurasani. Nothing signifi-
cant seems to be known about him after Tabari.

8 The vocalization Unuf is conjectural. He may quite possibly be a son of Sima
al-Sharabi (see text above, ITI, 1550). Since he presumably disappeared in connection
with the reported incident, he could not be identical with the later-mentioned
al-Qasim b. Sima. The slave name Sima “Silver"” is, of course, common.

8’ Hamdan, after whom the Hamdanid dynasty came to be named, was the father of
Abu al-Hayja’', who was in turn the father of Nasir al-Dawlah and Sayf al-Dawlah.
For the first report on his connection with the Kharijite Haran in the year 272
(885-6), see text above, I1I, 2108f. See also Canard, Hamdanides, 298ff.

88 See Ibn al-Mu‘tazz, verses 185-97. Harun al-Shari survived his surrender in 283
{see text below, 2150f.; Mas'@adi, Muriij, VIII, 168¢., ed. Pellat, V, 157f.) and died in
prison in 304 (916-7) (see Eclipse, 1, 40, referred to by Massignon, Passion?, 1, 472;
Sabi’, Wuzara’, 35). A treatise by Dawdd b. (Ali, the founder of the Zahirite school,
who died earlier in 270 (884), is assumed to deal with this Har{in al-Shari. See Ibn
al-Nadim, Fihrist, 217, 1. 16.

The term shari is well known as a preferred self-designation of the Kharijites based
on Qur. 2:207 and 4:74. Waziqi may refer to a Kharijite subsect to which Hartin
belonged. If Ibn al-Athir is correct in assigning Harn to the Sufriyyah, the term
widzigi may more precisely refer to a subsect of the latter. A Syriac fragment (referred
to by the editor of the Leiden edition in a note to this passage) deals with the
Kharijites in this area and is preserved in Elias Bar Shinaya, Chronography, text,
186, trans. 88, quoted from Baethgen, Fragmente, text, 66, trans., 132, sub anno 266.
It mentions the W’zygayé. The Taghlib, to which the Hamdanids belonged, are
listed there together with the Kurds as Yaqiibite/Wizigite Kharijites.
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gandizing for him. The following dispatch from al-Muftadid in
Karkh Juddan® reached the eunuch Najah al-Hurami® con-
cerning a battle between al-Mu‘tadid and the Arab tribesmen
and Kurds that had taken place on Friday, Dhu al-Qa‘dah 30,
281 (Friday, January 31, 895):

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate

This dispatch of mine is being written early on the night
of Saturday. God—Praised be He!—has given us victory
over the Kurds and the Arab tribesmen and enabled us to
capture a large number of them and their families. You
could have seen us driving away their cattle and sheep as
we did last year. The spears and swords were getting at
them without interruption, until the night intervened
between us. Fires were lit on the mountain tops. The
following morning, the operation will be wound up, and
my troops will follow me to al-Karkh.9! We attacked®? and
killed them // over a distance of fifty miles (mil)9, and
not one of them remained to tell the tale. God be praised
very much! It is now our duty to be grateful "to Godl.
Praised be God, the Lord of the worlds, and may God's
prayers and ample blessings be upon the Prophet Mu-
hammad and his family!

When the Arab tribesmen and Kurds had learned that
al-Mu'tadid was leaving Baghdad, they had made a solemn
compact with each other, swearing under oath that they all were
ready to die together. They gathered and arranged troops in three

89 Also known as Karkh Samarra. See Le Strange, Lands, 52, 54f.

% According to Mas‘lidi, Muriij, V111, 116, ed. Pellat, V, 138, he was in charge of the
dungeons and of torture. It is nat evident why he should have been the recipient of
the dispatch.

91 That is, the previously mentioned Karkh Juddian/Samarra.

2 R: iga‘una.

93 One mil corresponds to 2 km. That they were pursued and slaughtered along a
route that extended over a hundred kilometers seems exaggerated.
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squadrons,? one behind the other. They placed their households
*and possessions* at the rear of the squadron. Al-Mu‘tadid, with
a cavalry detachment, advanced ahead of his troops and attacked
the Arab tribesmen and Kurds, killing some of them. A large
number of them drowned% in the Zab.

Al-Mu'‘tadid then left for Mosul, marching toward the fortress
of Mardin which was in the hands of Hamdan b. Hamdun.
When word reached Hamdin of al-Mu‘tadid’s approach, he
fled, leaving his son% behind. The troops of al-Mu‘tadid stationed
themselves opposite the fortress. Those within it fought them all
that day. The next morning, al-Mu‘tadid mounted and went up
to the fortress. When he reached the gate, he called out, “O Ibn
Hamdun,"” and (someone) replied, “At your service!"” Al-Mu‘tadid
told him, “Woe unto you! Open the gate!,” and he did. Al-Mu‘tadid

“now seated himself in the gate and ordered people to go in and
bring out all the property and furniture that was in the fortress.
He then ordered the fortress destroyed, and this was done.
Following this, he sought Hamdan b. Hamdun, and the most
strenuous search was undertaken. Property that was on deposit
with him was seized, and all of it was brought to al-Mu‘tadid.
Hamdain was captured later.98

Al-Mu‘tadid then went to a city called al-Hasaniyyah.9? A
man called Shaddadl® was there with a substantial army,
reportedly ten // thousand men. He had a stronghold in the
city. Al-Mu‘tadid defeated him, then seized him and had his
stronghold destroyed.

In this year, word was received from the Mecca Road that a
severe cold, torrential rains, and hail had been encountered by

9 On the difference between fighting in rows (saff) and in squadrons (kurdis), see
text above, 111, 312.

95 R: “was caused by him to drown.”

9 Apparently, al-Husayn, about whom much is said in the following pages.

97+0O |bn Hamdiin" appears to be the original reading. It may indicate that
al-Mu‘tadid was under the impression that Hamdan was still there.

98 This anticipates later events. R, however, reads incorrectly: “captured and brought
to al-Mu‘tadid to a city”"

% According to Yaqiit, Mu'jam, 1I, 270, al-Hasaniyyah was a place east of Mosul
named after al-Hasan (b. ‘Umar al-Taghlibi), at a distance of two days travel between
Mosul and Jazirat Ibn (Umar (al-Taghlibi).

100 There is no further information about him.
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people undertaking the pilgrimage (fi al-mus‘ad).!0! More than
five hundred people were affected.

In Shawwal, 281 (December 4, 894-January 1, 895), the
Muslims raided the Byzantines. The fighting between them
lasted twelve days. The Muslims were victorious and gained
much booty. Then they returned.102

101 This is the common meaning of mus‘ad, also vocalized incorrectly as mas‘ad. The
suggestion in Tabari, Introductio etc., CCCXXIV, with reference to earlier passages,
that the word refers to ‘Arafah does not apply here. Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 147,
11. 20-23, gives a different account of the episode.

12 See Canard, Sources arabes, 11. The concluding reference to the leader of the
pilgrimage is missing here, see text above, n. 31.



The
Events of the Year

282

(MARCH 2, 895 - FEBRUARY 18, 896)

@

One of the events was al-Mu‘tadid’s order, in al-Muharram,
282 (March 2-31, 895), that dispatches be drafted and sent to all
government agents in the various districts and provincial centers
stating that the collection of the land tax should not begin on
New Year's Day—the Persian nayriiz—but that it should be
postponed to Haziran 11 (June 11). This (new date) was called
the Mu‘tadidi New Year.19 Dispatches were drafted to this effect
and sent out from Mosul where al-Mu‘tadid was at the time. In
a dispatch concerning this sent to Yasuf b. Ya'qubl04 in
Baghdad, al-Mu‘tadid informed Yusuf that he wanted to help
the people and show kindness to them. He also ordered that his
dispatch be read105 in public, and this was done.

In this year, Ibn al-Jassas arrived from Egypt with the
daughter of Abi al-Jaysh Khumarawayh b. Ahmad b. Tilin
whom al-Mu‘tadid had married.106 She was accompanied by

103 With the end of the Sassanian Empire, the intercalary day of the Persian solar year
came to be disregarded, with the result that New Year's Day moved back in the year
by sixty days. It now fell so early in the year that the collection of the land tax started
long before harvest time and caused great hardship to farmers. This fiscal reform was
one of the most significant events of al-Mu‘tadid’s reign. It was considered as such
already by Ibn al-Mu‘tazz, who devoted many verses to it {224-47), and was always
mentioned in connection with al-Mu‘tadid. See Glagow, 140-42. For the precedent
set by al-Mutawakkil, see text above, 111, 1448,

104 The qadi Abih Muhammad Yiisuf b. Ya‘q@ib was born in 208 (823-4) and died on
Monday, Ramadan 9, 297 (Tuesday, May 22, 910). He was appointed judge of the
mazalim court in 277 (890-1) (see text above, III, 2118}. See Khatib, Tu’rikh Baghdad,
X1V, 310-12; EP Suppl., s. v. Ibn Dirham VIIL See also text above, 111, 1942, For his
son, Abd ‘Umar Muhammad, see below, n. 217.

105 R: “he ordered him to read his dispatch”

105 See above, n. 16; Glagow, 63-67. For Qatr al-Nada's gifts to al-Mu‘tadid on New
Year's Day 282, see Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha'ir, 38f. They may have been brought with
her on this trip.
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one of her paternal uncles.1” They entered Baghdad on Sunday,
al-Muharram 2, 292 (Monday, March 3, 895), and the lady was
brought to (her residence) // that night.1% She settled in the
(former) house of $a‘id b. Makhlad,!? as al-Mu‘tadid was away
in Mosul.

In this year, people were forbidden to pour water (upon
passersby), raise bonfires,!110 *parade grotesque figures,*!11 and
do other things they used to do on the Persian New Year's Day.

In this year, al-Mu‘tadid wrote from Mosul to Ishiq b.
Ayyub!12 and Hamdan b. Hamdin ordering them to come to
him. Ishaq b. Ayyub complied speedily *and came to al-Mu‘tadid,*
but Hamdan b. Hamdun ensconced himself in his fortresses
and sent his possessions and women away. Al-Mu‘tadid sent the
army against him with Wasif Mishgir,!13 Nasr al-Qushiiri, 14

107 He was Abu al-Karadis b. Ahmad b. TulGn. See Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha'ir, 43.
Qatr al-Nada had also been accompanied to the borders of Egypt by her aunt
al-‘Abbasah.

108 Instead of “lady” (al-hurrah)} as in R and C, the text has al-haram “she was
brought into the harem,” no doubt a mistake. The party seems to have arrived in
Baghdad late on Sunday, during the night of Sunday to Monday, and Qatr al-Nada
was immediately taken to her temporary residence. Mas'adi, Murij, VIII, 207, ed.
Pellat, V, 173, wrongly indicates that her arrival took place in Dhi al-Hijjah, 281.

109 A convert to Islam, $a‘id b. Makhlad was appointed secretary in 265 (879} (see text
above, IIl, 1930). He served as a wazir of al-Mu‘tamid and al-Muwaffaq (Sourdel,
Vizirat, 316ff.}). His property was confiscated in 272 (885}, and he died in 276 (889-90)
{Ibn al-fawzi, Muntazam, V, 101). His residence was used as a guest house after his
death.

110 Or “fireworks” (?).

111 R adds wa-ikhraj al-samahat (read samajat). For samajah, see text above, 111, 1318.
For further references, see also the editor’s footnote in Shabushti, Diyarat, 26. Given
their popularity, the New Year's customs mentioned could not be eliminated and
continued to be observed on the Mu‘tadidi New Year. See text below, 2163; Biriini,
Chronology, ed. Sachau, 266.

112 He was in charge of security in Diyar Rabi‘ah. See text above, 1iI, 1942. For his
death, see text below, 2193f.

13 He appears first as a page of Abi al-‘Abbas {al-Mu‘tadid) before he became caliph.
See text above, III, 2121. He died on Thursday, Ramadan 16, 299 {Thursday, May 7,
912). See ‘Arib, 37f. Miishgir means “mouse catcher” in Persian and refers to a bird of
prey that feeds on mice.

114 Nasr al-Qushiiri appears here for the first time in Tabari. As 1bn al-Athir reports
sub anno 282, he wrote a threatening letter to the Kharijite Harin and received a
defiant reply. Al-Mu‘tadid was thus determined to take energetic measures (see year
283). He sent al-Hasan b. ‘Al1 Kiirah against Harin on an expedition which was less
than decisive. Under al-Muqtadir, Nasr then played a great role as chamberlain. See,
for instance, Massignon, Passion?, I, 471-75.
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and others. They encountered al-Hasan b. ‘Ali Kurah and his
men who had stopped ( to attack) one of Hamdan's fortresses in a
place called Dayr al-Za'faran!!s in the territory of Mosul.
Al-Husayn b. Hamdan!ié was there, and when he saw the first
troops coming, he sought a guarantee of safe-conduct and was
granted it. At this, he went to al-Mu‘tadid and handed the
fortress over to him. Al-Mu‘tadid ordered it to be destroyed.
Wasif Mushgir went off in hot pursuit of Hamdan who had
reached a place known as Bastrin!!7 between the Tigris and a
large river where the water was high. Wasif's men crossed over
to Hamdan. When he became aware of them, he and his men
mounted and defended themselves, until most of them were
killed. Hamdan then jumped into // a skiff that lay prepared
for him in the Tigris, together with a Christian secretary of his
called Zakariyya' b. Yahya.!l8 He carried money along. He
crossed over to the western bank of the Tigris in Diyar Rabi‘ah,
counting upon joining the Arab tribesmen, as he was separated
from his Kurds on the eastern!!9 bank. A small number of troops
crossed over to pursue him. Eventually, they came within view
of a monastery where he had halted. Upon seeing them, he fled
from the monastery together with his secretary. The two then
jumped into a skiff and left the money behind in the monastery,
from where it was taken to al-Mu‘tadid. The government troops
went down in pursuit of Hamdan, (on land) on horseback and
(in boats) on the water. When they caught up with him, he left
the skiff unarmedi20 and went to an estate of his on the eastern
bank of the Tigris. He mounted a horse belonging to his estate
agent and traveled all night, until he reached the tent of Ishag
b. Ayyub in the camp of al-Mu‘tadid who gave orders that he
be guarded and sent cavalry in pursuit of his associates. His

115 The monastery has remained important to this day.

116 He died in 306 (918-9). See ‘Arib, 76f. See text above, n. 96.

117 Yaqiit mentions Basiirin referring to the history of Hamdan, possibly relying on
Tabari. He indicates that it is in the administrative district of Mosul, east of the
Tigris (Muljam, 1, 467). See also Mas'Gdi, Tanbih, 52, 54; Canard, Hamdanides, 301.
Basiirin, beginning with the abbreviated form of bet, may be an Aramaic place-
name. However, its second element may refer to the Persian Stirén.

118 No further information is available for him.

9 R: “western!’

120 Text: khasiran, read hasiran as in R. Hasir is commonly used with approximately
the indicated meaning. See, for instance, text above, 11, 1906.
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secretary and a number of his relatives and pages were captured.
At this, the chieftains of the Kurds and others, one after the
other, asked for guarantees of safe-conduct. This took place at
the end of al-Muharram, 282 (March 31, 895).

In Rab11, 282 (April 30-May 29, 895), Buktamir b. Tashtamiri2!
was seized, put in fetters, and incarcerated. His property, estates,
and residences were also seized.

On Rab1' II 4, 282 (June 2, 895), the daughter of Khumarawayh
b. Ahmad was taken to al-Mu‘tadid. It had been announced on
both sides of Baghdad that on Sunday (June 1), nobody should
cross the Tigris. The gates of the alleys adjacent to the river were
locked. On *each of* the streets leading to the Tigris, police
barricades made of canvass!22 were set up, and on both banks of
the Tigris, deputies were stationed // to prevent anyone from
appearing outside their houses on the river bank. After the night
prayer, a barge arrived from the palace of al-Mu‘tadid, carrying
eunuchs with candles. They stopped in front of the house
of Sa‘id. Four fast boats tied to the house of $Sa‘id had been made
ready, and when the barge came, they were lowered, and the
barge then proceeded in front of the people (in the fast boats).123
On Monday (June 2}, the lady stayed in the palace of al-Mu‘tadid.
She was unveiled 'to hind on Tuesday, Rabi‘ 11124 5, 282 (Tuesday,
June 3, 895).

In this year, al-Mu‘tadid went to al-Jabal. Reaching al-Karaj he
seized property belonging to Ibn Abi Dulaf and wrote to ‘Umar
b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf asking him for jewels!25 that were
in his possession. ‘Umar sent them to him but kept away from
the Caliph.

121 Regarding him, see text above, III, 1885.

122 See Tabari, Introductio etc., CCCIX and DCCXCVIL R: shira‘ “sails” Sails strung
up would have blocked the view of the river, but shara’ij “sacks made of palm leaves”
would serve well as barricades.

123 This could mean that the fast boats pulled up alongside the barge, and Qatr
al-Nada was transferred from a fast boat to it.

124 Text: Rabi® I. Although this is wrong, it is also found in Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam,
V, 150; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, 111, 27. R has the correct Rabi II.

125 The plural is more likely here than one specific jewel. Jawhar could mean both
singular and plural.
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In this year, after al-Mu‘tadid had left Baghdad, Lu'lu’,1% the
page of Ibn Tuluin, was released and given horses and mules to ride.

In this year, Yasuf b. Abi al-Saj was sent to al-Saymarah to
reinforce Fath al-Qalanisi, 27 *the page of al-Muwaffaqg, with a
number of officers and about two thousand men attached to
al-Qalanisi.* However, he fled with those loyal to him to his
brother Muhammad in al-Maraghah. On his way, he came
upon property belonging to the government and seized it.
‘Ubaydallah b. ‘Abdallah b. Tahir!28 said concerning this:

O rightly guided Imam! Your supporters, the family!? of
Tabhir,
Have been treated harshly over the years.

They have constantly combined steadfastness with gratitude,
Whereas someone else, who has been given many gifts,
absconds./ /

In this year, al-Mu‘tadid sent the wazir ‘Ubaydall h b.
Sulayman to al-Rayy to his son Abii Muhammad. *Ubaydallah
and Badr arrived and stayed, and al-Muktafi left. Badr and
‘Ubaydallah then went after Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz. They stayed
for a while in some of the regions of al-Rayy, but when Takin
did not come to them, they went toward Tabaristan.*130

126 Lu'lu’, who had controlled northern and northeastern Syria for Ibn Talun,
defected to Abu Ahmad al-Muwaffaq in 269 (882-3) (see text above, III, 2028f.}. On
Dhii al-Qa‘dah 22, 273 (April 20, 887), he was imprisoned by al-Muwaffaq, and his
property, amounting reportedly to four hundred thousand dinars, was confiscated.
According to him, the only reason for the treatment meted out to him was his great
wealth (see text above, 111, 2112). He died in 304 (916-7). See ‘Arib, 63.

127 | have not succeded in locating further information on him.

128 The well-known Tahirid died in his eighties on Saturday, Shawwal 12, 300
{Saturday, May 22, 913). See ‘Arib, 40; Khatib, Ta’rikh Baghdad, X1, 340-4; Ibn
al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI, 117-9. On his poetical and literary activities, see Sezgin,
GAS, 1, 375, 11, 612.

129 R: “and the son.”

10 Although “al-Muktafi” replaces the more appropriate *“Abii Muhammad,” there is
no reason to assume that this addition of R did not originate somewhere in Tabari's
notes. However, since Badr is not mentioned before, it may be misplaced (see text
below, 2178). The reference to Takin (the same as text below, 2291 ?} derives from an
uncertain reading of the manuscript and may be in error.
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In this year, Muhammad b. Zayd al-‘Alawi!3! sent thirty-two
thousand dinars from Tabaristain to Muhammad b. Ward
al-‘Attar12 for distribution to his followers!3 in Baghdad and
al-Kufah as well as in Mecca and al-Madinah. Muhammad b.
Ward was denounced and taken to the house of Badr and
questioned about the matter. He mentioned that Muhammad b.
Zayd had been sending him the like amount of money every
year, and he had subsequently distributed it among his followers
in the way he had been ordered. Badr then informed al-Mu‘tadid
about this. He told him that the man and the money were in his
hands, and asked him what he should do with him.

As mentioned on the authority of Abu ‘Abdallah al-Hasani,13¢
al-Mu‘tadid asked Badr whether he did not remember the
dream he once related to him. When Badr replied, “No, O
Commander of the Faithful,” al-Mu‘tadid said, “Don't you
remember that I told you that al-Nasir!35 called me and said to
me, ‘Know that the caliphate will be yours! Now (when you are
caliph), be circumspect in your dealingsi3% with the family of
‘All b. Abi Talib!" " Al-Mu‘tadid continued, "I saw myself in
a dream leaving Baghdad with my army for the district of
al-Nahrawan. Many onlookers were watching me. I passed by a
man standing upon a hill. He was praying and paid me no
attention. I wondered about him and his lack of interest in my
troops when all those people were watching them. I approached
and stopped in front of him. When he finished his prayer, he
asked me to come forward, and I did. He asked me whether I
recognized him, and when I replied that I did not, he said, ‘I am
‘Ali b. Abi Talib. Take this spade’—pointing to a spade in front

131 Al-Qa'im bi-1-Haqq {referred to, it seems, as al-Da‘i ila al-Haqq, in text below,
2151) was the ruler of the Caspian Zaydis from 270-87 (883-900) and apparently the
brother of the founder of Zaydi rule there, al-Hasan b. Zayd b. Muhammad b.
Isma‘il b. Yahya b. Zayd b. al-Hasan b. ‘Ali b. Abi Talib. Mas'adi, Mur@j, VIII,
205f., ed. Pellat, V, 172, briefly refers to this episode and to a dream in which
al-Mu‘taqid saw ‘Ali, as proof of al-Mu‘tadid’s pro-(Alid leanings.

132 There is no further information on him.

133 Here and below, R has “the ‘Alawis,” which appears also in Ibn al-Jawzi,
Muntazam, V, 150.

134 Unidentified.

135 That is, al-Mu‘tadid’s father al-Muwaffaq.

13 Lit., “look out how you will be,” which need not always be as positive as it
appears to be meant here.
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of him—‘and hit the ground with it!' I took it and hit the
ground with it several times. Then he said to me, ‘The number
of your descendants who will successively become caliphs will
- correspond to the number of times you have hit the ground.
Exhort them to be good to my descendants!’ "' / / Badr said, “Yes,
O Commander of the Faithful, now I remember” Al-Mu‘tadid
continued, “So release the money and release the man, and tell
him to write to his master in Tabaristin that anything he sends
him he should send to him openly. Muhammad b. Ward shall
distribute whatever he does openly. Also, help Muhammad to do
as he wishes in this connection!"137

On Sha‘ban 18, 282 (October 12, 895), Abi Talhah Manstr b.
Muslim!38 died in al-Mu‘tadid’s prison.

On Ramadan 8, 282 (October 31, 895), the wazir ‘Ubaydallah
b. Sulaymin reached Baghdad from al-Rayy. Al-Mu‘tadid
bestowed a robe of honor upon him.

On Ramadain 22, 282 (November 14, 895), Na‘im, a slave girl
of Umm al-Qdsim bt. Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah,13 gave birth to
a son of al-Mu‘tadid whom he named Ja‘far.140 Al-Mu‘tadid
called this slave girl Shaghab.

137 For another version, see Tanukhi, Faraj, 1, 132£., and for a different dream of the
same meaning, see Mas‘Gdi (above, n. 131}. For al-Mu‘tadid’s attitude toward the
Daylam of Tabaristan, see Tanukhi, Nishwar, 1, 319if.

As this is a contemporary report, we cannot dismiss the dream as a literary
convention. The story was circulated for political purposes, and for all we know, the
Caliph himself, or his advisers, circulated it. It indicates the policy line which
al-Mu‘tadid adopted, or was forced to adopt, toward the ‘Alid Shi'ites, that is,
tolerance wherever possible and to the extent possible. In this particular case, it was
apparently assumed that the propaganda of the Caspian Zaydis constituted no
immediate threat to Iraq and the Holy Cities, which were always politically trouble-
some. This might have been the case, even though the political problem posed by the
Daylam at the northern border was great and required constant vigilance and action.
Already in the following year, the Caspian Zaydis took over Naysabir for a while.

138 See text above, 111, 2121.

19 Safadi, Wafi, XI, 95, confirms that Muhammad b. ‘Abdalldh was the well-known
Tahirid {d. 253 (867); see text above, 11, 1291] and the brother of the above mentioned
(Ubaydallah {see n. 128). Nothing more is known about his daughter Umm al-Qasim.

140 That is, the future al-Mugqtadir. His mother Shaghab played an important role
during his reign. She died in 320 {932). See, for instance, (Arib, 186; Ibn al-Jawzi,
Muntazam, V1, 253f., sub anno 321; Massignon, Passion?, 1, 446-53.
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On Dhu al-Hijjah 18, 282 (February 7, 896), Ibrahim b.
Ahmad al-Madhara'1,}4! arrived in Baghdad from Damascus by
way of the desert. He had reached Baghdad in eleven days. He
informed al-Mu‘tadid that Khumarawayh had been murdered
in his bed by one of the eunuchs attached to his inner circle. He
was reportedly killed on Dha al-Hijjah 3, 282 (January 23, 896).
According to another report, Ibrihim reached Baghdad from
Damascus in seven days. Some twenty of Khumarawayh's
eunuchs who were suspected of his murder were put to death.142

Al-Mu‘tadid had sent gifts to Khumarawayh with Ibn al-Jassas
and had entrusted him with a message to Khumarawayh.143
Ibn al-Jassas had already left on his mission and reached //
Samarra when al-Mu‘tadid learned of Khumarawayh's death. He
therefore wrote to Ibn al-Jassas and ordered him to return, which
he did. Ibn al-Jassas entered Baghdad on Dhi al-Hijjah 23, 282
(February 12, 896).

141 See Gottschalk, Madara’ijjan, 51; Safadi, Wafi, V, 306. A secretary of
Khumarawayh, he was there when the latter was killed. He died in 313 (925-6),
at the age of sixty-six.

142 According to Eutychius, Annales, text, 72, he was killed on the night of Sunday,
Dhii al-Qa‘dah 27 (Saturday, January 17). Eutychius also mentions the names of six
eunuchs involved in the assassination.

143 The robes of honor which al-Mu‘tadid sent to Khumarawayh and his brothers
and which were worth fifty-three thousand dinars may have been part of these gifts.
See Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha’ir, 39.
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283

(FEBRUARY 19, 896 - FEBRUARY 7, 897)

Q

One of the events was al-Mu‘tadid's departure, on al-Muharram
17, 283 (March 6, 896), for the district of Mosul on account of
the Kharijite Harin, whom he subsequently defeated. His
dispatch announcing the victory reached Madinat al-Salam on
Tuesday, Rabi‘ I 9, 283 (Monday, April 26, 896). The reason for
his victory over him was as follows:

When al-Mu‘tadid sent al-Husayn b. Hamdan with horsemen
and foot soldiers from his household and others of his men
against the Kharijite, al-Husayn b. Hamdan reportedly said to
him, “If I bring the Kharijite to the Commander of the Faithful,
I have three wishes for the Commander of the Faithful!
Al-Mu‘tadid told him to mention the wishes, and he said, “My
first wish is for the release of my father. The other two I shall
ask for after I have brought (the Kharijite) back” Al-Mu‘tadid
replied, “I grant you that, and now go!”

Al-Husayn said that he required three hundred horsemen to be
selected by himself, whereupon al-Mu‘tadid sent three hundred
horsemen with him together with (Wasif) Mushgir. Al-Husayn
then requested that the Commander of the Faithful order
Mishgir not to oppose any of his commands, and al-Mu‘tadid
ordered Mishgir to do so.

Al-Husayn went as far as the Tigris Ford,!4 and then ordered
Wasif and those with him to stay there, telling him, “Hartin
will have to pass through here // while fleeing. Don't leave the
place, until he passes by you, then prevent him from crossing! I
shall come to you, unless you receive word that I have been
killed” Al-Husayn then went in search of Hariin, and upon

144 Apparently, a particular ford known as the Tigris Ford in the region of Mosul.
Note, however, that B has “a ford in the Tigris."
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finding him, he attacked. Both sides suffered losses, but the
Kharijite Harin was routed. Meanwhile, Wasif had remained
three days at the Ford when his companions said to him, “We have
stayed too long in this desolate place; this has been harmful to us.
We cannot be sure that Husayn will not himself seize the Kharijite
and get credit for the victory instead of us. The right thing to do
is to follow them.” Wasif listened to them and left.

Now the fleeing Kharijite arrived at the location of the Ford
and crossed the river. Husayn, coming in pursuit of him, did not
see Wasif and his men in the place where he had left them,
and he had no information about Hartin and saw no trace of
him. He started to ask for information about Hartin and
eventually learned about his having crossed *the Tigris*. He
crossed the river in pursuit of him and came to one of the Arab
tribes. When he asked them about the Kharijite, they concealed
his whereabouts from him. As a result he intended to attack
them, and he informed them that al-Mu‘tadid was coming in
his wake. They now informed him that the Kharijite had passed
through their territory. Al-Husayn left them his own horses,
which had become weak and tired, and took some of theirs. He
pursued the Kharijite, and, after several days, he made contact
with him and about one hundred men with him.145 The
Kharijite implored him (not to fight) and made promises to
him.146 But Husayn b. Hamdan insisted upon fighting, and a
battle took place. Husayn reportedly threw himself at the
Kharijite, but his men quickly got to him and seized him.
Husayn took him to al-Mu‘tadid as someone who had peace-
fully surrendered without any preconditions. (In fulfilment of
al-Husayn's wish), al-Mu‘tadid ordered that Hamdan b.
Hamdun's fetters be removed and that he be given generous gifts
and shown kindness, until hel4 could come and release him
and bestow a robe of honor upon him.

M5 R omits wa-al-Shari, giving the mistaken impression that “about one hundred
men” were with al-Husayn.

146 The normal meaning of tawaada, “to threaten,” is unlikely here.

147 Apparently, al-Mu‘tadid. However, Miskawayh has * his son,” which is possibly
the better reading. See Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCXCVIL. In any case, the subject
of “release,” etc., would be the Caliph.



The Events of the Year 283

When the Kharijite was captured and // in al-Mu‘tadid’s
hands, the Caliph returned to Madinat al-Salam. Arriving there
on Rabi 1 22, 283 (May 9, 896), he encamped at Bib
al-Shammasiyyah where he mustered the army. Al-Mu‘tadid
bestowed a robe of honor and a gold necklace upon al-Husayn b.
Hamdin. The elephant!48 was adorned with cloth of brocade,
and something like a woman's litter was set up on it for the
Kharijite. He was seated in it, dressed in a cloak of brocade with
a silken hood over his head.149

On Jumada I 20, 283 (July 5, 896), al-Mu‘tadid sent a written
order to all the districts indicating that the surplus of inheri-
tance shares be returned to the blood relatives (of the deceased),
that the Office of Inheritances (Diwan al-Mawarith) be abolished,
and that the officials in charge of the inheritances be dismissed.150
Letters to this effect were dispatched and read from the pulpits.

In this year, ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar left Naysabtar. Rafi‘ b.
Harthamah went there while ‘Amr was away. He entered the
city and included mention of the Talibids Muhammad b. Zayd
and his father Zayd in the Friday sermon in the following
manner: "O God! Give success to him who calls to the truth
(al-da‘i ila al-haqq)’"5! ‘Amr later returned to Naysabtir and
encamped outside the city, digging a trench around his camp.
This was on Rabt' II 10, 283 (May 18, 896). He remained there,
keeping the inhabitants of Naysabiir under siege.

148 The definite article may indicate that the special elephant customarily used on

such occasions is meant. In reporting this episode, however, Mas‘adi, Muraj, VI,
169f., ed. Pellat, V, 157f., does not have the definite article. See, in particular, text
above, III, 1303.

149 For Harun's alleged objection to this treatment, see above, n. 75.

150 The mawarith dealt with estates for which there were not enough legal heirs to
claim inheritance shares covering the entire estate. The question was whether the
surplus was to go to the state or to the more remote agnates. Al-Mu‘tadid's decision
in favor of the second option must have been widely popular. The Caliph solicited
legal opinions from his judges and followed the views expressed by Aba Khazim (see
below, n. 506} and Ibn Abi al-Shawarib (see below, n. 209) against Yaisuf b. Ya‘qib.
See Ibn al-Jawzl, Muntazam, V, 161f. In 311 (923), it proved necessary to reaffirm
al-Mu‘tadid’s {and al-Muktafi's) practice. On this occasion, the secretary Muhammad
b. Ja‘far b. Thawabah (d. the following year; see ER, s. v. Ibn Thawaba) drafted a
document restating the earlier arguments, and the original letter from Abt Khazim
addressed to Badr was reproduced. See $abi’, Wuzara’, 268-75.

151 See above, n. 131.
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On Monday, Jumada II 4, 283 (Monday, july 19, 896),
Muhammad b. Ishag b. Kundaj, 152 Khagan al-Muflihi,!53
Muhammad b. Kumushjir, who was known as Bundugqah,!54
Badr b. Juff,155 the brother of Tughj, and Ibn Hasanaj!% arrived
in Baghdad from Egypt together with a number of officers to
seek guarantees of safe-conduct. // Their reason for going to
al-Mu'‘tadid to seek guarantees of safe-conduct was their attempted
assassination of Jaysh b. Khumarawayh b. Ahmad b. Tulan.157
They were denounced to him while Jaysh was out riding, and they
were in his cortége. Thus they realized that he was aware of their
plan. So they left the very same day and went into the desert,
leaving their property and families behind. For several days, they
wandered around and a number of them died of thirst. They
emerged on the Mecca Road at a distance of a two or three days’
journey above al-Kiifah.158 The central authorities sent Muham-
mad b. Sulayman,159 the commander of the army, to al-Kiifah to
register their names (in the military roll), and rationsi¢0 were
made ready for them at al-Kafah. When they approached Baghdad,
rations, tents, and food were sent out to them. They went to
al-Mu‘tadid on the day of their arrival. Robes of honor were
bestowed upon them, and each officer was given a horse complete

152 RC: “Kundaj,” an alternative of Kundajik.

153 Khaqgan al-Muflihi is not heard from after 304-5 (916-7). See text below; ‘Arib, 19,
67; Hamadhani, Takmilah, 18.

154 Ibn Taghribirdl, Nujiim, 111, 90, mentions a Muhammad b. Lamijtr (sic} as the
brother of Bunduqah b. Lamijiir, but this seems to be an error. “Bunduqah” means
“pellet” and the like; “Kumushgur” is Turkish/Persian “silver ass.”

155 As is true of the other brothers of Tughj (see above, n. 77), practically nothing is
known about Badr. See below, n. 742.

15% See text above, 111, 2027, where he is identified as Rimi b. Hasanaj.

157 Jaysh did not last much longer as ruler. He was deposed on Jumada 11 10, 283 {July
25, 896}, and he was killed in prison a few days later. See Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujam, III,
94,

158 “Above" appears to be used here in the sense of “south of” (in keeping with the
orientation of medieval maps?).

159 He is identical with the person identified as a secretary of al-Muwaffaq. See text
above, 111, 2122. Before he defected with his master to al-Muwaffaq, he was known as
the secretary of the eunuch Lu'lu’ al-Tilini. He died in 304 (916-7). See text below;
(Arib; Eclipse, 1, 51f. (with biographical footnote). Ahmad b. Taliin allegedly had
forebodings concerning the role that Muhammad b. Sulayman would play in the
downfall of his dynasty. See Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujim, 111, 111, quoting al-Quda‘i.
160 Wazifah is the per diem requirements of an official, noted on his employment
record. For the word in this sense, see, for instance, Mas'adi, Muriij, VIII, 226, ed.
Pellat, V, 182.
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with reins and bridle. Robes of honor were bestowed upon the
rest. They numbered *altogether* sixty men.161

On Saturday, Jumada II 16, 283 (Saturday, July 31, 896), the
wazir ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman went to al-Jabal to wage war
against Ibn Abi Dulaf in Isbahan.

In this year, a dispatch reportedly arrived at Baghdad from
Tarsus stating that a large number of Slavs!62 had raided the
Byzantines. They had killed some of them, and, laying waste
many villages, they had eventually reached Constantinople,
where the Byzantines sought refuge and locked the gates of their
capital. The Byzantine tyrant!é3 then sent a message to the king
of the Slavs stating, “Our religion and your religion are one and
the same, so why do we kill each other?” The king of the Slavs
replied, “This is the realm of my forefathers. I am not leaving
unless one of us defeats the other” When the king of the
Byzantines found he was unable to get rid of the ruler of
the Slavs, he gathered the Muslims who were around, // gave
them weapons, and asked them to help him against the Slavs.
They did so and routed the Slavs. Seeing that, however, the king
of the Byzantines now feared for his own safety. Thus he sent (a
military contingent) against them. He turned them back and
took their weapons. Then he dispersed them all over the
country, as a precaution against their rising up against him.164

In the middle of Rajab, 283 (August 28, 896), word reached
Baghdad from Egypt that the Maghribi and Berber troops (in
the Egyptian Army) had revolted against Jaysh b. Khumarawayh.
They told him that they were not content with him as amir and

161 Mas‘Gdi, Muriij, VIII, 178, ed. Pellat, V, 160, adds that they went via Wadi
al-Qura (al-‘Ula, the ancient Dedan), thus taking a very southern route before
reaching the safety of the Mecca Road.

162 That is, the Bulghars.

163 That is, Leon VI (886-912).

164 See Vasiliev, 11, 129f.; Canard, Sources arabes, 5, 13. The Bulghars under Symeon
were provoked by Stylianos who exercised power under Leon VI, until he died in 896
and was succeeded by Leon’s favorite, Samonas, an Arab convert. See Bréhier, Monde
byzantin, 11, 147ff.; L. Rydén, “The Portrait of the Arab Samonas in Byzantine
Literature,” Graeco-Arabica, 3 (Athens 1984), 101-108.
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that he should remove himself so they could appoint his
paternal uncle.165 Jaysh's secretary, ‘Ali b. Ahmad al-Madhara'i, 166
talked to them, asking them to leave Jaysh alone for the day. They
left, but they returned the following day. Jaysh proceeded against
the paternal uncle whom they had mentioned as their choice for
amir. He had him decapitated along with a another paternal
uncle of his'¢’ and had their heads!68 hurled at the (rebellious)
troops. The latter now assaulted Jaysh b. Khumarawayh, killing
him and killing his mother.169 They also looted his palace, and
looted and set fires in the Egyptian capital. They replaced Jaysh
with his brother Harun b. Khumarawayh.170

In Rajab, 283 (August 14-September 12, 896), al-Mu‘tadid gave
orders that the Dujayl Canal be cleared out, regardless of effort
and expense, and that a rock in the Canal's mouth which was
preventing the flow of water be removed. For that purpose, a
levy of some four thousand dinirs was reportedly collected from
the owners of estates and fiefs and spent on the project. The
secretary of Zirak!’! and one of al-Mu'tadid’s eunuchs were
placed in charge of it.

In Sha‘ban, 283 (September 13-October 11, 896), ransom
negotiations organized by Ahmad b. Tughan!72 took place between
the Muslims and the Byzantines. The dispatch reaching Baghdad
from Tarsus about it reportedly read / / as follows:

165 He was Abii al-‘Asha‘ir Nagr. See Kindi, Wulah, 242; al-Uyiin wa-1-hadad’ig, ed.
Dawiid, I, 146; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujum, 111, 93f. In Balawi, Sirat Ahmad b. Tultn,
349, his name appears as Mudar, which is very similar to Nagr in the Arabic script.

166 He was killed in this connection. See Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujum, 111, 93f.; Gottschalk
Madara’ijjun, 37-40.

167 For Jaysh’s treatment of his uncles Rabi‘ah, Mudar (see above n. 165}, and Shayban,
see Ibn al-Dayah, Mukafa’ah, 102f. (see Rosenthal, Freedom, 57); 1bn Taghribirdi,
Nujam, 111, 93f.

168 R: bi-ra’sayhima.

169 Her name is apparently not recorded in the histories.

170 The last of the Tuliinids (except for a few days of the rule of his uncle Shayban},
he lost his life in 292 (904), as recorded in the following pages.

1711 have not succeeded in identifying him. On Zirak, see above, n. 72.

172 For Ahmad b. Tughan al-‘Ujayfi, the governor of Tarsus, see text above, 111, 2130.
He also appears in the list of ransom negotiations compiled by Mas'Gdi, Tanbih, 192,
see Canard, Sources arabes, 12, 405; and he is mentioned in connection with the fate
of Jaysh in Kindi, Wulah, 243.

’
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In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate

I hereby inform you that Ahmad b. Tughan publicly
announced attendance at the ransom negotiations!’3 on
Thursday, Sha‘ban 4, 283 (Thursday, September 16, 896).
On Friday, Sha‘ban 5, he went to Lamis, 74 the Muslim
encampment, having ordered the people to come out with
him on that day. He led the Friday prayers and rode from
the Friday Mosque in the company of Raghibl’5 and his
mawlas. The notables of the town, the mawlas, the officers,
and the volunteers, all in their finest raiment, left with him.
People left for Lamis in a steady stream until Monday,
Sha‘ban 8, 283 (Monday, September 20, 896). *The ransom
negotiations took place the day after Monday, Sha‘ban 9
(September 21).* The ransom negotiations between the two
parties lasted twelve days. A total of 2,504176 Muslim men,
women, and children were ransomed. On Tuesday, Sha‘ban
22, 283 (Tuesday, October 5, 896), the Muslims released
Samyiin,!”7 the emissary of the king of the Byzantines,
while the Byzantines simultaneously released Yahya b.
‘Abd al-Baqi,!78 the Muslim emissary who had been dis-
patched to the ransom negotiations. The amir (Ahmad b.
Tughan) and those with him then returned.!??

173 All those who were called upon to attend were no doubt expected to make
contributions toward the redemption of the prisoners.

174 Also al-Lamis. The Lamos, a river in Cilicia, flows into the Mediterranean
between ancient Soloi and Elaiusa, according to Pauly-Wissowa, s. v. Lamos.
Apparently there was also a town of that name, located on the river near the
Mediterranean coast. According to Mas‘@idi, Tanbih, 177f. (Canard, Sources arabes,
401), the location of the ransom negotiations was thirty-five mil (seventy km) from
Tarsiis. See Honigmann, Ostgrenze, 44, and text below, n. 835; ER, s. v. Lamas-su.

175 A mawla of al-Muwaffaq. See text above, 111, 2132; for his death in 286 (899), see
text below, 2190.

176 R; *2,534,” which may be correct against all the contrary evidence {Sibt 1bn
al-Jawzi; Ibn al-Athir; Canard, Sources arabes, 167).

177 Both R and C indicate n instead of y, but Symeon is the name that immediately
suggests itself. Samonas (see above, n. 164) is hardly a possibility,

178 Yahya b. {Abd al-Baqi al-Thaghri or al-Adhani, a Baghdadi hadith scholar, who
died in Adana or Tarsis in Dhii al-Qa‘dah, 292 (August-September, 905). See
Khatib, Ta'rikh Baghdad, XIV, 227f. He was no doubt a member of the Adana family
to which the prominent (Ad1 b. Ahmad b. {Abd al-Baqi belonged (see below, n. 965).

179 The foregoing does not seem to be a literal quotation of the dispatch which
apparently ends at this point.
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In this month, after his return from the ransom negotiations,
Ahmad b. Tughidn reportedly left (Tarsiis) by sea. He left
Damyanah!8 behind to take care of his administrative func-
tions there. He then sent Ydsuf b. al-Bighmardii8! to take
charge of Tarsts after him. Ahmad himself did not return to
Tarsts.

On Friday, Ramadan 10, 283 (Thursday, October 21, 896), a
dispatch was read from the pulpit of the Friday Mosque of
Madinat al-Salam indicating that on Saturday, Sha‘ban 26, 283
(Saturday, October 9, 896), ‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf
had come to Badr and ¢ Ubaydallah b. // Sulaymain to ask for a
guarantee of safe-conduct. He had come declaring his complete
obedience, submissiveness, and loyalty to the Commander of the
Faithful, and expressing his willingness to go with them to the
Caliph’s court. ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulaymin had gone to him and
having met him, had taken him to Badr's tent where he had
exacted the oath of allegiance to the Commander of the Faithful
from him and from his household and his men. Badr had
bestowed robes of honor upon ‘Umar and the chiefs of his
household, whereupon they all had gone to the tent that had
been prepared for them.182

Earlier, Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz had gone to Badr and ‘Ubaydallah
. Sulayman! to ask for a guarantee of safe-conduct. They had
turned the administrative functions of his brother ‘Umar over
to him, on condition that he go out against ‘Umar and fight
him. Now, when ‘Umar came to ask for a guarantee of safe-
conduct, Badr and ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman told Bakr, “Your
brother has now become loyal to the central authorities. We

180 The vocalization is based on Greek Damianos. He was the page of the eunuch
Yazman who had switched allegiance to Khumarawayh in 277 {890) and died on
Friday, Rajab 14, 278 (Friday, October 22, 891). See text above, 111, 2130.

181 Yasuf (b. Ibrahim) b. Baighmardi was not to replace Damyanah but to strengthen
his hand (see text below, 2160f.). “After him” therefore refers to Ibn Tughian whose
position Yiisuf was to take over as military chief, while Damyanah retained political
control. Instead of al-Baghmardi, Bughamardi appears in the text below, 2257.
However, this may be a different individual. What relationship, if any existed
between him and Ja'far b. al-Baghmardi (see text above, III, 2084} is not clear. See
also Balawi, Sirat Ahmad b. Tiiliin, 298.

182 The contents of the dispatch most likely ends here.
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turned his administrative functions over to you, assuming that
he was disloyal. Now, it is up to the Commander of the Faithful
to decide about your status. Therefore, both of you go to his court!”

isa al-Nushari was appointed governor of Isbahan, ostensibly
on behalf of ‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz. Consequently, Bakr fled
with his men. Al-Mu‘tadid was informed!83 about this by letter,
and he wrote to Badr ordering him to stay put, until Bakr's story
and situation could be clarified. Badr remained where he was,
while the wazir ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman went to AbG Muham-
mad ‘Ali b. al-Mu‘tadid in al-Rayy.

Bakr b. ‘Abd al-Aziz b. Abi Dulaf had reached al-Ahwiz, and
al-Mu‘tadid sent Wasif Mushgir in search of him. Wasif left
Baghdad on this assignment, going as far as the border of Fars.
He reportedly caught up with Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz, but he did
not attack him. They camped the night near one another.
However, Bakr left during the night, and Wasif did not pursue him.
/ / Bakr went on to Isbahan, while Wasif returned to Baghdad.

Al-Mu‘tadid then wrote to Badr and ordered him to search for
Bakr and his Arab tribesmen, 18 and Badr passed the order on to
‘Isa al-Nushari. Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz composed the following
poem:185

(1) Keep your blame away from me! This is no time for blaming.
Begone! The scout of blamers has come upon infertile
ground.186
(2) The shades!®’ (of the dark hair) of youth have flown from
my temples.
My time of quarrelsomeness and impetuosity is gone.

183 R; “Badr informed al-Mu‘tadid”

184 Text: wa-‘arabihi; RB: wa-harbihi. C remains to be checked.

185 The poem appears in the edition of Bakr's collected poems, ed. Muhammad Yisuf
al-Suirati, 1-3 (Delhi 1937). Al-Surati’'s publication, it may be noted, consists of two
parts with separate pagination, the first being Shi‘r al-Nu‘man b. Bashir al-Ansari
and the second Shi‘r Bakr....

The sequence of the verses in the Diwan as compared to Tabari's text is 1-2, 4, 3,
5-7,9, 8, 14-17, 10-13, and 18-21. The Diwan inserts one verse between verses 2 and 4,
one between verses 6 and 7, two after versus 9/8, two or three between verses 16 and
17, two after verse 13, and one between verses 19-20. Only some of the textual
variants have been noted here.

186 See the Diwan and Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCXCVII. Noldeke’s reading is
supported by R and C.

187 Text: ‘inayat; RC: ghayabat.
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(3) The friends have thrown their sticks down188 in the Iraq,
And I have remained the target of events.189
(4) The breaking of family ties has thrown rocks at the remote
mani%
And shot him far so as to be far away.
(5) The Arab tribesmen who fled have become distant, 19!
Although I have defended their honor with my sword,
(6) Which holds together their weakened condition,
And with spears, when people were clashing.192
(7} 1shall crush the rock of a time which has befallen them!93
In a forceful way that breaks firmly grounded mountains.
(8) 1shall hit the pates in defense of their womenfolk,
As a cook hits an animal destined to be slaughtered. / /
(9) And I shall leave those who come to their cisterns
At a place in which to plant their feet.194
(10) O Badr! Were you to witness the place where I stand,
While death looks on arid the sides of the swords are dripping
blood,
(11) You would find it blameworthy to cause me, as you do,
the loss of dignity,
And you would be unable1% to cast off my honor.
(12) You have set me in motion after I was still—You have
succeeded only
In setting in motion something as strong as the mountains
familiar to the inhabitants of the Tihamah.1%

188 That is, they stay put.

189 This half-verse is transferred in the Diwan to verse 6, where it takes the place of
the second half-verse. The Diwan has: “They have stopped in a house to halt and stay!”

19 That is, the poet himself who is now in the unhappy situation of the stranger far
away from his home and friends.

191 Text: tasha‘‘aba; Diwan: takhadhala “abandoned each other” The easier reading
of the Diwan is possibly less correct.

192 See above, n. 189.

193 R: haddahum "“crushed them.

194 Text: li-mawati’i, but a wrong connection with the root wtn (for wt’) is indicated
in all three Tabarl manuscripts and is presumably the mistake of Tabari himself.

195 Text: dhir‘uka. All three Tabari manuscripts read ‘udhruka, which seems
incorrect.

196 By setting in motion my fortress, you have only succeeded in setting in motion
something as powerful as the mountains familiar from the Tihamah. However, the
Diwan has the easier and probably more correct reading harrakta min qadafi jibala
shamami. By setting in motion my hillock, you have succeeded only in setting in
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(13) You have tried me, and found me strong,
Tough on every battle day.
(14) Tell the amir Abu Muhammad!¥” who
Illumines with his splendor the darkest darkness:
(15) You have enabled me to dwell in the shade on top,
and I did
In luxurious living and growing power,
(16) Until, when I was debarred from it, there happened to me
What happened, and my days changed for the worse.
(17) 1 shall indeed be grateful to you for the good things you
have done for me,
As long as the grey pigeons coo in the woods./ / [2158]
(18) This Abti Hafs!%® is my support and my treasure
In all untoward happenings and my armament and my chief.
(19) I called him, and he answered me. I shook him
And thereby shook the edge of a cutting sword.
{(20) He who wants to close the eyelids when there is a2 mote in
the eye,
Or wants to be humble desires what must not be desired.
(21) He recoils cowardly when he sees the spear pointing
And the swords drawn to hit the pates.

motion the mountain range Shamam(i), located in the territory of the Banii Qushayr
or the Banii Hanifah and often mentioned in ancient poetry, as indicated in al-Bakrl
and Yaqit ( s. v. Shamami).

157 The future al-Muktafi, who was mentioned in the text above as being in al-Rayy
at the time.

198 For yadi “my support,” the Diwan has akhi “my brother! However this need not
mean that “Abu Hafs" refers to a brother of the poet; it could be a friend. Abi Hafs is
replaced in the Diwdn by Abl Nasr. So far, the individual meant here has not been
identified.
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Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz mentioned!% al-Nashari's flight before
him, and he slandered Wasif for drawing back in fear of him,
and he threatened Badr, in these verses:20

(1) The fair-skinned maidens say: Bakr has changed.
He was together (with us); now he keeps away.20!
(2) There is no friend like the sword when
A distressing event occurs and there are problems.

(3) They kindled war among us—and he got hot from it.
They then turned away,22 but where can one flee from it?
(4) They have meant to do evil unto us. This, therefore, is a time
Whose evil has become apparent and is followed by more
evil.
(5) Al-Nushari has seen, when we met in battle,
Who is the one who flees when the spears are pointed.
(6) He came with a large army, but we undertook
An assault which would make heroes whine.
(7) The standard of Mushgir has come to us,
While the swords and lances were becoming moist (with
blood).203 / /
(8) My kindness and excessive patience204 and forbearance
Have deceived Badr. They are deceptive attitudes.
(9} Tough,205 slender, lean, intensely colored
Reddish brown horses will come to him.
(10) Aggressive lions of the Banui Wa'il
Will compete on them which are like demons.206

19 Text: yadhkur; R: hina.

20 In the edition of al-Siiratl, 5f., the verse order is the same as in Tabari, but the
Diwan has more verses between verses 1 and 2 (two), 4 and 5 {one), 6 and 7(one), 7
and 8 (three), and 10 and 11 (one}.

0t Lovers like to be together. They fear most to be separated or to be shunned by their
partners. The circumstances in which Bakr finds himself leave him no time for love.
Attentive as he was before to girls, he must now perforce keep away from them.

202 Text: hasii; Diwan and RC: khamii. The meaning is essentially the same.

203 The reading of the Diwan: wa-bilalun rawina bidun wa-sumru appears also in R
(and B). It was possibly substituted for Tabari's original reading (preserved in C) by
someone acquainted with the poem.

204 The reading anati, suggested by Néldeke, is confirmed by R and C and, in fact, is
also suggested by B.

205 Shawazib, as in the Diwan and all three manuscripts.

206 Sa‘ali was used for horses according to a verse quoted in Lisan al-{Arab, s. v.
s'I. The 4jl, to whom Ab@ Dulaf al-‘Ijli belonged, were part of the Bakr b, Wa'il.
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(11) 1 would not be Bakr if I do not leave them talked about,207
As long as a star travels and time revolves.

On Friday, Shawwal 7, 283 (Wednesday, November 17, 896),208
‘Al1 b. Muhammad b. Abi al-Shawarib2 died and was carried
in a casket tp Samarra the very same day. He had held the post
of chief judge in Madinat Abi Ja'far for six months.

On Monday, Shawwal 25(26), 283 (Monday, December 6, 896),
‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Dulaf entered Baghdad coming from
Isbahan. Al-Mu‘tadid reportedly ordered the high officers to
receive him, and he was received by al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah210
as well as the officers. Al-Mu‘tadid granted him an audience,
and presented him with gifts. He bestowed a robe of honor upon
him and gave him a horse to ride with a saddle and bridle adorned
with gold. At the same time, he bestowed robes of honor upon his
two sons and upon the son of his brother Ahmad b. ‘Abd
al-‘Aziz2!! as well as two of his officers. He was lodged in the
house that had belonged to ‘Ubaydallah b. ‘Abdallah212 at the
head of the bridge. The residence was refurnished for him.

In this year, a letter which arrived in Baghdad from ‘Amr b.

al-Layth al-Saffar was read to the officers in al-Mu‘tadid'’s palace.
It indicated that ‘Amr had attacked Rifi‘ b. Harthamah and
routed him, and that Rafi' was continuing his flight with
‘Amr in pursuit. The battle had taken place on Ramadan 25,
283 (September 17, 896). The letter was read on Tuesday, Dhu
al-Qa‘dah 12, 283 (Tuesday, December 21, 896}/ /

27 That is, his people will become “a story,” the subject of conversation, because of
his bravery and heroic deeds.

208 The discrepancy in the days of the week shows that something is amiss here, and,
in fact, Ibn Abi al-Shawarib's death occurred on the night of Saturday, Shawwal 10,
283 (Sunday, November 20, 896). See Khatib, Ta'rikh Baghdad, XII, 59f.

209 Ibn Abi al-Shawarib's appointment to the judgeship is mentioned in the text above,
111, 1907, sub anno 262 (875-6). Regarding him see, for instance, Ta’rikh Baghdad
{preceding note); Dhahabi, {Ibar, 11, 71, quoted by 1bn al-‘Imad, Shadharat, 11, 185.

210 Abii al-Husayn al-Qasim, d. 291 (904), see text below, 2250; ibn al-Jawzi,
Muntazam, V1, 46f.; Sourdel, Vizirat, 345-57.

211 | have no further information on the sons of Ahmad and ‘Umar.

212 That is, Ibn Tahir.
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On Sunday, Dhu al-Qa‘dah 17, 283 (Sunday, December 25,
896), a mail pouch from ‘Amr b. al-Layth reportedly reached
al-Mu‘tadid when he was in the hippodrome. He returned to the
Dar al-“Ammah,213 and the letter from ‘Amr b. al-Layth! was
read to the officers. In it ‘Amir stated that he had sent Muhammad
b. ‘Amr al-Balkhi2!4 and another of his officers in pursuit of Rafi
after he was routed. Rafi' had reached Tus when they
attacked him. He was routed (again), and they pursued him. He
reached Khuwarizm, where he was killed. Together with the
letter, ‘Amr b. al-Layth sent Rafi“s signet. He also mentioned
that he had given the courier a message for the central authori-
ties concerning Rafi“s head.

On Friday, Dhii al-Qa‘dah 22, 283 (Friday, December 31, 896),
the letters about the killing of Rafi‘ b. Harthamah were read
from the pulpits.

213 The Dar al-‘Ammabh, the outer compound of the great palace complex which was
known as the Dar al- Khllafah entered through the Bab al-‘Ammabh. See Le Strange,
Baghdad, 275; Busse, “Hofbudget,” 30f.

214 | have not found further information about him.
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(FEBRUARY 8, 897 - JANUARY 27, 898)

9

One of the events was the arrival of the courier of ‘Amr b.
al-Layth al-Saffair with the head of Rafi' b. Harthamah. He
arrived in Baghdad on Thursday, al-Muharram 4, 284 (Friday,
February 11, 897). Al-Mu‘tadid ordered the head exhibited at
the Police Station on the East Side until noon; it was then to be
transferred to the West Side and exhibited there until night when
it was to be returned2!s to the Caliph's palace. When the courier
came to al-Mu‘tadid with the head, a robe of honor was be-
stowed upon him.

On Thursday, Safar 7, 284 (Wednesday, March 16, 897), fighting
took place in Tarsis between Raghib and Damyanah. The
reason for the conflict was reported to have been as follows: Raghib,
the mawla of al-Muwaffaq, had omitted the prayer for Khumara-
wayh b. Ahmad and instead prayed for Badr, the mawla of
al-Mu‘tadid, thereby causing dissension between himself and
Ahmad b. Tughan. When Ahmad b. Tughan returned // from
the ransom negotiations which took place in the year 283 (896),
he went by sea and did not re-enter Tarsis. Continuing on, he
left Damyanah behind to administer affairs in the city. Then, in
Safar of this year (March 10-April 7, 897), he sent Yasuf b.
al-Baghmardi to take his place in Tarsis. When the latter
entered the city and Damyédnah was strengthened by his presence,
people expressed disapproval for Raghib’s praying for Badr, and
trouble started among them. Raghib defeated them and sent
Damyanah, Ibn al-Bighmardi, and Ibn al-Yatim2i6 to al-
Mu‘tadid in fetters.

25 R: “then it was returned”

216 Presumably, a son (?) of Ibrahim b. ‘Abd al-Wahhab al-Yatim who is mentioned
by Ibn Sa‘id, Mughrib, ed. Vollers, 70, 1. 21, in connection with events in Tarsiis in
269 (882-3). Al-Kindi, Wulah, 317, does not have “al-Yatim.'

[2161]
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On Monday, Safar 19, 284 (Monday, March 28, 897), a mail
pouch arrived in Baghdad from al-Jabal with the information
that al-Nushar1 had attacked Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf
within the borders of Isbahan. He had killed his men and
permitted the looting of his camp. Bakr had escaped with a few
people.

On Thursday, Rabi I 14, 284, (Thursday, April 21, 897), a robe
of honor was bestowed upon Abt ‘Umar Yiisuf b. Ya'qib on the
occasion of his appointment as qadi of Madinat Abi Ja‘far
al-Mansur replacing ‘Ali b. Muhammad b. Abi al-Shawirib. His
jurisdiction included Qutrabbul, Maskin, Buzurjsabir, and the
two Radhan.27 On the very same day, he heard lawsuits in the
Friday Mosque. Madinat Abi Ja'far had been without a judge
between the death of Ibn Abi al-Shawarib and the appointment
of Abii ‘Umar, that is, a period of five months and four days.

On Wednesday, Rabi‘I 13, 284 (Wednesday, April 20, 897),// a
Christian eunuch fcalled Wasif ! belonging to Ghalib al-Nas-
rani,218 the Caliph's physician, was seized and remanded to

217 Abi ‘Umar Muhammad, the son of Abi Muhammad Yisuf b. Ya‘qiib, is meant
here. He was born on Rajab 9, 243 (November 1, 857), and died on Wednesday,
Ramadan 23, 320 (Thursday, September 27, 932). See Khatib, Ta’rikh Baghdad, 111,
401-5; EP Suppl., s. v. Ibn Dirham IX; above, n. 104.

All the places mentioned here formed part of the larger surburban area to the
north of Baghdad in the Dujayl region between Baghdad and Samarri. For Qutrabbul,
see Le Strange, Lands, 50f.; for Maskin, Lassner, Topography, 279, n. 11. Buzurjsabiir
is identified with ‘Ukbara, see Yaqit, Muljam, 1, 604, and 1II, 705. For the two
Radhan, op. cit., II, 729. See also Eclipse, 1, 193: Sabi', Wuzara’, 15; Busse, “Hof-
budget,” 15.

28 Ghalib al-Nagrani had been a physician of al-Muwaffaq since the days of
al-Mutawakkil. He gained great wealth as a physician of al-Mutawakkil's family,
and his reputation grew when he cured al-Muwaffaq of an arrow-wound. He became
one of the prominent members of al-Mu‘tadid’s large corps of physicians. According
to Thabit b. Sinan b. Thabit, he died in Amid during al-Mu‘tadid's stay there
between May and early June 286 (see text below, 2186f.). On the occasion of Ghalib's
death, al-Mu'‘tadid showed extraordinary consideration for his son, Sa‘id, who also
served as L.is physician. Sa‘id died on Sunday, Jumada 11 24, 307 {Sunday, November
21, 919). See Ibn Abi Usaybi‘ah, ‘Uytn, I, 230f.

In view of Ghalib's close relationship to the Caliph, the event, which caused a
considerable stir (see below, n. 222), was obviously most embarrassing to al-Mu‘tadid,
and it is no wonder that every attempt was made to cover it up.
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prison. Witnesses testified that he had slandered the Prophet.
The day after the eunuch was incarcerated, some of the general
populace gathered on his account. They shouted at al-Qasim b.
‘Ubaydallah and demanded of al-Qasim that in view of the
testimony against the eunuch, he should apply the legal pun-
ishment to him. On Sunday, Rabi‘ I 17, 284 (Sunday, April 24,
897), the people of Bab al-Tiq gathered at the Baradan Bridge2!?
and the adjacent bazaars. They consulted with one another and
agreed to go to the Caliph's palace,20 where they were met by
Abu al-Husayn, the wazir's son. They shouted at him, and he
informed them that he had already passed on the eunuch’s story
to al-Mu‘tadid *in al-Thurayya.*22! Considering him a liar, they
called him names and then assaulted his bodyguards and men,
who eventually fled before them. They went to al-Mu‘tadid’s
Thurayya palace, but having passed through the first and
second gates, they were prevented from entering (into al-Mu‘ta-
did's presence}. They now assaulted those who were preventing
them from entering. Someone came out to inquire about them,
and they told him their story. Al-Mu‘tadid was informed about
it in writing, and a number of them were then allowed to enter
into his presence. He asked them about the story, and they
recounted it to him, whereupon he sent Khafif al-Samarqandi
with them to the qadi Yusuf. He charged Khafif with ordering
the qadi to look into the eunuch's case and report the result to
him. Khafif thus went with them to Yasuf. When they were
about to enter the house (of the gadi)}, there was such a turmoil
that they almost killed both Khafif and Ydsuf. Passing through
a door and locking them out, Yisuf managed to escape from
them. *In this connection, Ibn Bassam22? said:

219 See Le Strange, Lands, 206; Lassner, Topography, index (Qantarat al-Baradan).

20 Text: bab; RC: dar. Abu al-Husayn is al-Qasim.

221 The Thurayya was one palace in the great complex known as the Dar al-Khilafah,
see Lassner, Topography, index.

222 Ibn Bassam is the well-known poet and perennial satirist Ibn Bassam al-Bassami,
d. 302 or 303 (914-5). See Sezgin, GAS, 11, 589. While the wazir's family was of
Christian origin, the reference to al-Qasim’s father ‘Ubaydallah as a Christian
merely shows the prejudice of the satirist and his environment.
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Al-Qasim’s concern for the eunuch
Shows the religion of the father of al-Qasim.

If the person slandered had been ‘Isa, one would not have
Been satisfied with anything but killing the slanderer.*

After that, the eunuch was no longer mentioned, and the
populace no longer gathered in connection with his case. / /

Also in Rabi‘ I 284 (April 9-May 7, 897), some inhabitants of
TarsGs reportedly went to the central authorities with the
request that a governor be appointed for them, mentioning that
their city was without one. Tarsis had earlier been in the hands
of Ibn Tilun, but he treated them badly, so that they drove his
agent out of the city.22 Ibn Tulin corresponded with them
about the matter and promised them better treatment, but they
refused to let any page of his enter their city. They said that they
would fight anyone coming on his behalf. He therefore left
them alone.

On Thursday, Rabi II 26, 284 (Thursday, June 2, 897),
darkness reportedly fell upon Egypt, and there was a redness on
the sky which was so strong that when someone looked someone
else in the face, the face looked red to him. It was the same with
walls and other things. This lasted from the afternoon prayer to
the second evening prayer. Leaving their residences, people
prayed to God and beseeched Him.224

223 See Canard, Sources arabes, 13.

224 The same event is described in more detail by Eutychius, Annales, 72f. He dates it
“on the night of Thursday, Rabi‘ I 28, 284 (Thursday, May 5, 897), on the Christian
holiday of the ascension of our Lord Christ into Heaven!' May 5 of that year was in
fact Ascension Day, and the Christian Egyptian historian can be trusted to have
preserved the correct date. Note that Tabari indicates the correct day of the week. He
possibly noted down the date of the event and the date when the news of it reached
Baghdad, and the error occurred when the work was made ready for publication.

After his reference to this event, Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujum, 111, 113, adds: "“In this
year, ‘Amr b. al-Layth sent a million dirhams for improvements on the Mecca Road,
as stated by Ibn Jarir al-Tabarl” The reference to Tabari is either misplaced and
belongs to the statement on the atmospheric phenomenon in Egypt, or galahtu
should be gala and introduces the following brief summary of al-Mu‘tadid’s planned
action against supporters of the Umayyads. The statement probably does not go back
to a recension of Tabari's work.
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On Wednesday, Jumada 1225 3, 284 (Wednesday, June 8, 897),
corresponding to Haziran 11 (June 11),226 it was announced in
the quarters and bazaars of Baghdad that it was forbidden to
kindle bonfires on New Year's eve and to pour water {upon
passersby) on New Year's Day. The announcement was repeated
on Thursday (June 9}, but on Friday2? evening, it was announced
at the office (bab) of Sa‘id b. Yaksin,228 the chief of police on the
East Side of Madinat al-Salam, that the Commander of the
Faithful had given permission for people to kindle bonfires and
pour water. At this, the populace exceeded the bounds of
propriety and reportedly?9 poured water even upon the policemen
at the Police Station at the Bridge. *This was one of Islam’s
greatest troubles ever and was most reminiscent of the Antichrist
and his companions. Moreover, it was an open show of despica-
ble disloyalty.*230

In this year, the populace, whenever they saw a black eunuch,
became fond23! of shouting, “O // ‘aqiq!'?2 That made the
eunuchs angry. Now, on a Friday evening, al-Mu'‘tadid sent a
black eunuch with a note to Ibn Hamdin al-Nadim.233 When
the eunuch reached the head of the Bridge on the East Side,

25 R: “Jumada I1," which is in error.

226 This should be Haziran 8 (June 8). The error was caused by the fact that the New
Year's Day itself fell on Haziran 11.

227 RC: “Thursday"

28 RC: “Taksin!” For Ibn Yaksin, see text above, 111, 1838. He was governor of
al-Ahwiz in 256 (870).

229 It seems that R had “reportedly” after the following addition.

20 R: wa-kana dhalika min a‘zam fitan al-Islam wa-ashbah shay’ bi-al-dajjal
wa-ashabihi ma'a izhar al-munkar wa-al-ma'asi. The first five words are also found
in Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 171, 11. 6f. The statement seems a gross exaggeration.
Perhaps Tabari himself toned it down during his lifetime.

231 Text: ughribat; R clearly indicates ughriyat.

232 Mas'udi, Muraj, V1ii, 180, ed. Pellat, V, 161, refers to an alleged extension of the
taunt, which is clear in its sexual innuendo. However, as far as I know, the signifi-
cance of ‘aqiq is still unexplained. Even if ‘aqig could have the same meaning as
(aqq “disobedient son," it is quite uncertain whether this could mean that a eunuch
cannot fulfill his father’s desire for grandchildren. Perhaps, ‘aqiq is to be understood
in its ordinary meaning of “ruby” (a dark red) and refers to the physical deformity or
scar caused by castration, or it is a slave name like Yaqut. See Mez, Renaissance, 335.

233(Abdallah b. Ahmad b. Ibrahim b. Dawiid b. Hamd{in belonged to a well-known
family (see EI2, s. v. Ibn Hamdiin) of boon-companions and is often mentioned in the
literature about this period. See also Rosenthal, Sarakhsi, 24, 26, 28. (Abdallih died
in 309 (921-2) (Ibn Kathir, Bidayah, XI, 144).
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someone in the crowd taunted him, “O ‘aqiq!” The eunuch
cursed the man and whipped him. A crowd gathered, and knocked
the eunuch off his feet, and beat him. The note he had with
him was lost. Returning to the Caliph, the eunuch told him
how he had been treated, whereupon al-Mu‘tadid ordered the
eunuch Tarif al-Makhlad?% to ride out and arrest and flog
anybody who would take liberties with the eunuchs. On Saturday,
Jumada I 13, 284 (Saturday, June 18, 897), Tarif rode out with
a number of horsemen and foot soldiers. He had a black eunuch
walk in front of him. Under orders to arrest anyone who would
shout at a eunuch, “O ‘aqiq!,” he reached Bab al-Taq, where
he reportedly arrested seven persons; one of them was reportedly
innocent.235 They were flogged in the Police Station on the East
Side. Tarif then crossed the Tigris and went to al-Karkh, where
he did the same thing. He seized eight23 persons and had them
beaten in the Police Station in al-Sharqiyyah.237 All those people
were paraded on camels, and it was announced that this was
the punishment for those who took liberties with the Caliph’s
eunuchs and taunted them, “O ‘aqiq!” They were detained for the
day and released at night.

In this year, al-Mu‘tadid bi-llah planned to have Mu‘awiyah
b. Abi Sufyan cursed from the pulpits. He ordered the drafting of
a document to this effect, to be read in public. ‘Ubaydallih b.
Sulayman b. Wahb warned him that the populace might be
disturbed and that he could not be sure that there would not be
trouble. Al-Mu‘tadid, however, paid no attention to what
‘Ubaydallih said.238

234 No further information about him could be found.

235 Bari'an "“innocent” offers a plausible reading. Other readings are bazziyan or
badhi’an “lewd" (the latter suggested by von Kremer). It seems highly dubious that
*bazziyan could be equated with bazzaz and mean “cloth merchant” At any rate, it
is not clear why either “cloth merchant” or “lewd” should be mentioned in the
context. The former might indicate that even respectable individuals of good social
standing were involved, but the latter should have some specific meaning here to
warrant reference to it.

23 Text: “five”; RC: “eight”

237 For al-Sharqiyyah, see Lassner, Topography, index.

238 Although ‘Ubaydallah eventually signed the document, it is doubtful whether he
had much of a say in drafting it.
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Reportedly, the first thing / / al-Mu‘tadid did in this connec-
tion was to give orders that the populace be told to stick to their
business and not to gather nor cause dissension?® nor give
testimony before the central authorities, unless20 they were
asked to testify as witnesses (regarding some matter). The story-
tellers, too, were to be prevented from sitting in the roads.24
Documents were produced to be read on both sides of Madinat
al-Salam in the quarters, neighborhoods, and bazaars. They
were read on Wednesday, Jumada I 24, 284 (Wednesday, June 29,
897). Then, on Friday, Jumada I 26, 284 (Friday, july 1, 897}, the
storytellers were prevented from sitting in the two Friday
Mosques. 242 Groups studying legal opinions and other people
were also prevented from sitting in the two Friday Mosques, and
vendors were prevented from sitting in their stalls. In Jumada 1I,
284 (July 6-August 3, 897), it was announced in the Friday
Mosque that people were forbidden to gather around storytellers
and other people, and the storytellers and study groups were
prevented from holding sessions (there). On Jumada II 11, 284
(July 16, 897), which was a Friday,3 it was announced in the
two Friday Mosques2#4 that people who gather for discussion or
disputation no longer enjoy legal protection, and whoever does
so makes it legally permissible for him to be beaten. Drinkers
and waterboys in the two Friday Mosques were told not to use
the formula “May God have mercy upon Mu‘awiyah!” nor to say
anything "good! about him.%s

2% Text: al-qadiyyah. Read al-‘asabiyyah “the unchecked partisan spirit leading to
conspiracy against the government and dissension among the contending groups.’
Al-'asabiyyah appears in all the sources including manuscripts R and C. Al-
gadiyyah—in the sense of “going to court (?)"— is dubious in any case. The following
remark about “testimony” perhaps means making demarches to the authorities.

240 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 2, suggests: “and not to testify!"

%1 The streets served as gathering places for the audiences of storytellers (qussas). See
also text above, 111, 2131. R has “road” in the singular.

242 Text: jami‘ayn; R: janibayn “both sides (of Baghdad)!” which has some support in
al-‘Uyiin wa-al-hada’iq, ed. Dawiid, I, 152, 1. 3, ed. Sa‘idi, 1, 87.

243 That is, July 15.

244 R again has “both sides,” while Miskawayh, Tajarib, v, 3, has “on both sides and
in the two Friday Mosques.’

25 We are told that (Abdallah, the son of Ahmad b. Hanbal, as a small child, heard
servants in the mosque of al-Rusafah offering people iced water to drink with the
words, “Drink for the love of Mu‘awiyah b. Abi Sufyan!” See Zayyat, “Tashayyu'”
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People reported the rumor that the document cursing Mu'a-
wiyah, which al-Mu‘tadid had ordered to be drafted, would be
read from the pulpit after the Friday prayer. When they had
performed the Friday prayer, they hastened to the prayer enclo-
sure to hear the document read. However, it was not read.

Al-Mu‘tadid had reportedly ordered that the document cursing
Mu‘awiyah which had been drafted on orders of al-Ma'miin be
taken out of the archive for him, and this was done.246 // A
synopsis of it was used for preparing the copy of the following
document drafted for al-Mu‘tadid bi-11ah:247

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate

Praised be God, exalted, great, kind, wise, 28 powerful,
and compassionate, Who stands alone in uniqueness, Who
is resplendent24 in His power, Who creates by His will and
wisdom, Who knows the designs?® of the breast and the
secrets of the heart! Nothing seen is concealed from Him.251
No speck of dust escapes Him in the heavens high above and
the earths deep below.252 “He knows everything,’253 “has the

Zayyat quotes as his source Ibn al-Najjar's Dhay! of the History of Baghdad. 1t
appears there in the biography of a certain ‘Ali b. Muhammad b. al-Kayyis [which is
expected to be included in the forthcoming second volume of the Dhayl published in
Hyderabad 1398ff. (1978£f.)]. I owe this reference to Glagow, 191, who discusses the
possible significance of the story. It would seem that these activities in the mosques
are indicative of the skill and financial capability of the pro-Umayyad faction that
sponsored them, and if they continued to the time of al-Mu‘tadid, they may explain
his desire to do something about them (see below, n. 333).

26 For the likelihood of the existence of such a document, see Glagow, 187, and text
above, 1II, 1098; Mas'adi, Mur@ij, VII, 90-93, ed. Pellat, IV, 338f. See also Pellat,
“Culte de Mu‘awiya,” 53-66.

247 As stated above, n. 238, ‘Ubaydallah presumably did not draft the document
himself. In his History of al-Mu‘tadid, ‘Ubaydallah b. Ahmad b. Abi Tahir Tayfir
states that Ahmad b. al-Tayyib al-Sarakhsi was connected with the drafting of the
document. See Rosenthal, Sarakhsi, 53. A complete annotated translation of the
document may be found in Glagow, 166-80.

248 R: “great, noble, kind."

249 R: al-qahir “overwhelming!

20 R: sara’ir “secrets,” similar, it seems, to the reading al-asrar in C.

251 See Qur. 69:18. The allusions to Qur'anic phraseology are more extensive than is
indicated here in the notes.

252 See Qur. 34:22.

253 Qur. 65:12.
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number of everything,'?54 and has set a term for everything.
He is “all-knowing and all-informed 255

Praised be God Who has produced His creatures for the
purpose of worshiping Him and has created His servants for
the purpose of knowing Him on the basis of His previous
knowledge of who will obey Him, and of his past command
about who will disobey Him! Thus He had made it clear
what they could attempt and what they were to fear. He has
laid out for them the ways of salvation and warned them
against the paths of perdition. He put proof behind them
and excuse in front of them.2% He chose for them His
religion f'which He approved for them and with which He
honored them. He has made those who seek their support
and strength in Him His loyal and obedient friends and
those who turn away from Him and oppose Him His disloyal
and sinful enemies, “so that those who perish perish on the
basis of clear evidence, and those who live live on the basis
of clear evidence. God hears and knows.'"257

Praised be God Who singled out His Messenger Muham-
mad from all creatures. He chose him to bring His message
and sent him with right guidance and the approved religion
to all His servants. He revealed the // clear and distinct [2167]
Book to him and announced to him victory and success. He
strengthened him with might and firm258 evidence. He thus
guided through him those whom He guided, saved from
blindness those who responded to him, and led astray
“anyone who turns backward.’259 Eventually God made his
position manifest and his victory mighty. He subdued those
who opposed him. He fulfilled His promise to him, made
him the seal of His messengers, and had him die as the
transmitter of His command, the conveyor of His message
and the advisor of His community, accepted and guided to

254 Qur. 72:28.

255 Qur. 66:3. R substitutes “all-wise” for “all informed,” thus quoting Qur. 66:2.
2% In keeping with the Qur'anic usage of hujjah and ma‘dhirah, this, 1 believe,
means that Muslims have proof of the divine truth to back them up and must defend
it in order to have an excuse in the case of failure.

257 Qur. 8:42.

258 R: al-mubin “clear”

259 Qur. 70:17.
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the noblest point of return for those who turn back (to
Paradise),200 and the highest station of His prophets who
were sent as messengers, and of His blessed servants. God's
best and most perfect, greatest and mightiest, most sincere
and purest prayer upon him and upon his good family!

Praised be God Who made the Commander of the Faithful
and his rightly guided and directed forebears the heirs of
the Seal of the prophets and Lord of the messengers! He has
put them in charge of the religion of Islam, charged them
with setting straight God's believing servants, and entrusted
them with the preservation of the pledges of wisdom and the
heritage of prophethood. He has made them vicegerents in
the community and helped them with might and protec-
tion, inspired support and superiority, until God gives victory
to His religion over all others, even though the polytheists
disapprove.

The Commander of the Faithful has learned that a number
of ordinary people have been beset by doubt in their reli-
gious beliefs and have been affected by corruption in their
faith. Their religious views2! have become dominated by a
bias which they express verbally without any knowledge
and reflection, and with respect to which they follow false
leaders without evidence and insight and set innovative
religious views against established rules. God says: “Who
is in greater error than he who follows his desire262 without
right guidance from God? Indeed, God does not guide aright

[2168] people who do wrong!?63 // In doing so, they have left
the community and rushed headlong into rebellion. They
prefer discord and break up the Muslim cause. They show
open friendship for one2* whom God cut off from friendship,
severed from divine protection, drove out of the religious
community, and made it necessary to curse. They declare

260 R: al-muttaqin “those who fear God"

26! Ahwa’ "desires” lead away from true belief to sectarian views.

262 See the preceding note.

263 Qur. 28:50.

264 It is not always clear whether the singular or the plural is intended. The reference
here is to Mu‘awiyah rather than the Umayyads in general. The ambiguity serves the
purpose of suggesting that there is no real distinction between the individual and
the group.
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reverence for “the accursed tree,’265 the Umayyads whose
right God has diminished, whose position He has weakened,
and whose support He has softened. They thereby oppose
one26 from the people of the house of blessing and mercy26’
through whom God has saved them from perdition and
showered them with favors. God says: “He singles out for
His mercy whomever He wishes. God possesses great ex-
cellence."268

The Commander of the Faithful takes a very serious view
of what he has learned. He considers a failure to express his
disapproval as harmful to himself regarding the religion of
Islam, as detrimental to the Muslims whose affairs God has
entrusted to him, and as a neglect of the duty imposed upon
him by God to set straight opponents, inform the ignorant,
establish proofs against doubters, and control the obstinate.

The Commander of the Faithful refers you, good people, to
the fact that when God sent Muhammad with His religion
and ordered him to come forth with His command, Muham-
mad began with his own family and tribe. He called them to
his Lord, warned them and gave them glad tidings, advised
them and guided them. Those who responded to him,
believed what he said, and followed his command were a
few persons from his own immediate family. Some of them
believed in the message he brought from his Lord, while
others supported him, even if they did not follow his religion,
because they thought highly of him and had compassion for
him. This happened because of God's past knowledge of
those of them whom He chose and whom it was His will to
invest with His vicegerency. He educated his family, and
there were those of them who were believers eager to fight

265 Qur. 17:60. See also below, nn. 277 and 283, and text above, III, 706. Tabart's
Tafsir, XV, 73f., as well as other Qur'an commentaries such Ibn Kathir, Tafsir, IV,
323f., makes no reference whatever to the Umayyads in connection with this verse. It
deserves notice that Tabari rejected all these Qur'anic interpretations given here. If
he had been asked (and he was, after all, famous for his Qur'anic commentary
published many years earlier}, he would, as a scholar, have had to contest vigorously
most of the interpretations offered here. This would not have endeared him to the

government.

266 See above, n. 264. Here the allusion is to the Prophet and the ‘Abbasids.
27 R: al-hikmah “wisdom.

268 Qur. 3:74.
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vigorously, and those who were unbelievers eagerly giving

[2169] him zealous support.26? They repelled / / those who thwarted
him, and subdued those who were hostile to him?0 and
opposed him. They secured for him those who assisted and
supported him, and asked those who generously aided him
to give allegiance to him. They acted as spies for him among
his enemies and intrigued for him in secret as well as in the
.open.?’! Eventually, the goal was reached and the time of
right guidance arrived. Then they accepted the religion of
God and obedience to Him, while believing in his Messen-
ger and having faith in him with the most assured insight
and the best guidance and desire. As a consequence, God
made them the people of the house of mercy and the people
of the house of the religion of Islam, whom He has cleansed
thoroughly of all filth. He has made them the mine of
wisdom, the heirs of prophecy, and the proper place for
the caliphate. He made virtue necessarily theirs and made
loyalty to them incumbent upon all human beings.

The large majority of the Prophet's tribe rebelled against
him. They were hostile to him, considered him a liar, and
fought him. They met him with criticism and the accusa-
tion of being a liar. They went to him in order to Tharm and?
frighten him, manifested hostility toward him, and insti-
tuted warfare against him. They kept away from those who
wished to join him and inflicted punishment upon those
who followed him. His most hostile opponent among those
people and the first among them in every war and conflict,
who, whenever a banner was raised against Islam, was its
master, leader, and chief in every locale where there was
war—Badr, Uhud, the Trench, and the Conquest of Mecca—
was Abu Sufyan b. Harb and his Umayyad partisans.2’2

269 R: wa-addaba banihi fa-mu’'minuhum mujahid bi-basiratihi wa-kafir mujahid
bi-nusratihi wa-hamiyatihl. See also Tabari, Introductio etc.,, DCCXCVIIL.

270 Text: wa-yanhariina man ‘arahii “repelled those who injured him” (?). Read as in
R: wa-yaqhariina (also in BC) man ‘adahu.

271 Glagow, 170, n. 1, cites as an example the report in Waqidi, Maghazi, 1, 203 §.,
that al-‘Abbas informed the Prophet about the expedition that led to the battle of
Uhud.

272 That is, the Umayyad Shiah. Abt Sufyin died at a very advanced age about the
year 32 (652).
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They were cursed in the Book of God and then by the
Prophet expressly in a number of places and passages,
because of God’s past knowledge of their position, their
hypocrisy, and their unbelieving masterminds.2’3 Abu Sufyan
fought eagerly, resisted vehemently, and continued acting
hostile, // until he was subdued by the sword and God's
cause was triumphant to their displeasure.274 He professed
Islam without caring for it, concealing unbelief that he did
not give up. The Messenger of God as well as the Muslims
knew him to be such a person and clarified?’s for him the
category of “those whose hearts are won,"276 and thus accepted
him and his children in full knowledge (of their worth-
lessness).

The statement in which God cursed the Umayyads through
His Prophet orally and by way of revealed scripture is:
“... The tree accursed in the Qur'an. We shall frighten them,
but it only greatly increases their rebelliousness."2”7 Nobody
denies that the Umayyads are meant here.

Then there is the statement of the Messenger when he saw
Abt Sufyan coming upon a donkey,?’8 with Mu‘awiyah and
his son Yazid?’9 driving it: “May God curse the leader, the
rider, and the driver!”

There is also the statement of Aba Sufyan reported by the
transmitters: “O Banu ‘Abd Manaf, catch it like a ball, for
there is no Paradise or Hell!”280 This is pure unbelief. On

273 In connection with “masterminds” (ahlam), a footnote in the Leiden edition of the
text refers to Qur. 52:32, where ahlam is explained as ‘uqiil with reference to the
Qurayshite leaders. See the commentaries such as Tabari, Tafsir, XXVII, 17f., or Ibn
al-Jawzl, Zad, VIII, 54.

274 See Qur. 9:48.

275 RC: bayyana.

276 Qur. 9:60. The expression, which the commentators apparently no longer under-
stood fully, was taken to refer to a mixed bag of Muslims and non-Muslims, among
them, in the first place, Abu Sufyan, See, for instance, Tabari, Tafsir, X, 98f.

277 Qur. 17:60 (see above, n. 265}.

278 R: rakiban “riding” {for “upon a donkey").

2% Arabic syntax strongly suggests that the Yazid meant here is the son of Mu‘awiyah,
although Yazid b. Mu‘awiyah was born long after the Prophet's death. The well-
known son of Abu Sufyan, Yazid al-Khayr, seems totally out of place in this context.
He appears often together with his father Abu Sufyan, and this may somehow have
produced the story mentioned here. The possibility that the son of Mu‘awiyah was
meant here with little regard for history, cannot be completely ruled out. The
solution to the problem depends on locating further references to the story.

280 “I¢t” refers to this world or to rulership. See Glagow, 171.
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account of it, God's curse will befall him as it did “the
Israelites who were unbelievers through the mouth of David
and ‘Isa b. Maryam. That is because they were sinners and
transgressors.”’281

There is also the reported fact that Abu Sufyan, after he
had gone blind, stood at the mountain road of Uhud and
said to his guide, “Here we trampled upon Muhammad and
his companions.'282

There is also the dream seen by the Prophet which worried
him so much that he was never seen laughing afterwards.
God revealed: “We have made the dream which we have let
you see but a temptation for the people!’283 In his dream, he
reportedly saw some Umayyads jumping on his pulpit.2s4

Then there is the fact that the Messenger of God banished
// al-Hakam b. Abi al-‘As because he imitated him. By
virtue of the Prophet's prayer, God made al-Hakam a lasting
sign, for when the Prophet saw him making his contortions,
he said to him, “Be as you are!,” and he remained that way
for the rest of his life.285

And so it went (with the Umayyads), until Marwan later
started the first civil war that happened in Islam and
became responsible for all the forbidden blood that was shed
during it or spilled afterwards.286

281 Qur. 5:78.

282 Read dusna, as in R, no doubt the correct reading. AbG Sufyan lost one eye at
al-Ta'if, and the other in the battle of the Yarmik. See Dhahabi, Ta'rikh, 11, 97, sub
anno 31.

283 This is the beginning of the verse on the “accursed tree,” Qur. 17:60. In the
commentaries, the dream is reported as being concerned with people on pulpits, but
not necessarily the Umayyads. See, for instance, Ibn al-Jawzi, Zad, V, 54.

284 “L jke monkeys,"” as one report has it. See Dhahabi, Ta’rikh, 11, 96; Maqrizi, Niza’,
trans. Bosworth, 76.

285 According to Baladhuri, Ansab, ed. Ihsan (Abbas, 1V, 513f., al-Hakam, a cousin of
Abii Sufyan and the father of the later Caliph Marwin, distorted his nose and mouth
in order to ridicule the Prophet. Elsewhere, it is said that he imitated the manner in
which the Prophet swayed in walking. See Dhahabi, Ta'rikh, 11, 95ff.; idem, {Ubar, 1,
32; Maqrizi, Niza', trans. Bosworth, 52f.; Glagow, 172, n. 4.

286 The reference is to the civil war with (Abdallah b. al-Zubayr.
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There is also the statement in the stirah “al-Qadr” revealed
by God to His Prophet: “The night of destiny is better than a
thousand months"—of Umayyad rule.287

There is also the report that the Messenger of God called
for Mu‘awiyah to take dictation, but Mu‘awiyah refused to
do so, because he was eating. The Prophet then said, “May
God never sate his stomach!” As a result, Mu‘awiyah was
always hungry and said, “By God, I do not stop eating
because I have enough, but because 1 am unable (to eat
any longer.)""288

There is also the report that the Messenger of God said,
“From this mountain pass, a man from my community is
coming up who will be resurrected separate from my reli-
gious group! It was Mu‘awiyah who was coming up.28?

There is also the report that the Messenger of God said,
“When you see Mu‘awiyah on my pulpit, kill him!"2%

Then there is the famous hadith traced to the Prophet who
said, “Mu‘awiyah is in a casket of fire in the lowest layer of
Hell, calling out: ‘O Clement One, O Generous One! *He is
given the answer:* ‘Now (you believe), but before you sinned
and caused corruption! "291

287 Qur. 97:3. The ninety years of Umayyad rule corresponded to about a thousand
months. This coincidence was reportedly already figured out by the hadith scholar
al-Qasim b. al-Fadl [d. 167 {783-4)]. He transmitted a statement made to al-Hasan b.
(Ali b. Abi Talib to the effect that the Prophet dreamed of the Umayyads upon his
pulpit in a succession of caliphs; it brought about the revelation of surahs 108 and
97, in order to dispel the great worry the dream caused the Prophet. See Tabari,
Tafsir, XXX, 143. For Tabari, all this was worthless speculation. Understandably,
later scholars found it fascinating. Ibn Kathir, Tafsir, VII, 331f., begins his commen-
tary on Qur. 97:3 with a heated refutation of it. He also quotes the obvious observa-
tion that it would not mean anything if Umayyad rule was inferior to the Night of
al-Qadr. This was only to be expected, since the Night of al-Qadr is something so
incomparably great and wonderful. See also Mas'iidi, Muriij, VI, 51f., ed. Pellat,
IV, 74.

288 For Mu‘awiyah as a secretary of the Prophet, see, for example, Dhahabi, Ta'rikh,
11, 318. Glagow, 173, n. 1, refers to Muslim's $ahih (see Concordance, 111, 59b64). The
Prophet sent ‘Abdallih b. al-‘Abbas, who was playing with his playmates, to call
Mulawiyah. (Abdallah came back twice to say that Mu‘awiyah was eating (and not
willing to come]). In his revaluation of the relationship between the Prophet and Abli
Sufyan, Kister, “Mudar,” 265, refers briefly to Mu‘awiyah'’s appointment as secretary.

289 | have found no parallel to this report so far.

2% See Dhahabi, Ta'rikh, 11, 231.

291 Qur. 10:91. The addition of fa-yujabu in R has no doubt preserved Tabari’s
original text. See also Rosenthal, Sarakhsi, 53.
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There is also his going to war against the most outstand-
ing, oldest, and most famous of Muslims, ‘Ali b. Abi Talib.
With his false claim, Mu‘awiyah contested ‘Ali's rightful
claim. He fought ‘Ali’s helpers with his own erring scoun-

[2172] drels. He attempted what he and his father never ceased / /
attempting, namely, to “extinguish the light of God” and
deny God’s religion, but “God has no other wish but to make
His light perfect, even though the polytheists disapprove.’22
Mu‘awiyah tried to seduce foolish men and confuse the
ignorant with his trickery and injustice. The Messenger of
God had mentioned the story of the two293 earlier when he
said to ‘Ammar, “The unjust party will kill you. You call
them to Paradise while they call you to the Fire!'294
Mu‘awiyah preferred this fleeting world and denied the
lasting other world. He left the ties of Islam and declared
forbidden blood permissible to be shed, until in his rebel-
lion and on behalf of his deviation, the blood of an uncount-
able number of the best Muslims was shed, those who were
defending the religion of God and supporting His right. He
fought against God and strove that God be disobeyed and
not obeyed, that His laws be invalidated and not upheld,
that His religion be opposed and not practiced, and that the
word of deviation triumph and the call of falsehood be
raised. But “God’'s word is the highest."295 His religion is
victorious. His wisdom is followed and is effective. His
command is powerful, and the trickery of those who work
against Him is defeated and voided. Mu‘awiyah eventually
had to shoulder the burden of those wars and their conse-
quences and to take the responsibility for the blood spilled
then and the blood spilled afterwards. He followed the ways

292 Qur. 9:32, which has “unbelievers”” “Polytheists” is found in 9:33.

293 That is, ‘Ali and Mu‘awiyah.

294 (Ammar b. Yasir died, supposedly ninety- three years old, at Siffin in 37 (957). See
Dhahabi, Ta'rikh, 11, 176-82. It was much debated whether the two sentences quoted
here really belonged together. See 1bn Hajar, Fath, 11, 88f. (Concordance, 1, 203a29-32).
The two sentences together as here but in the third person appear in Dhahabi,
Ta'rikh, 11, 179f. In R, the first sentence uses the second person, and the second
sentence the third person. See, further, Ibn Hisham, Sirah, 1, 338, trans. Guillaume,
299 (the second sentence only}.

295 Qur. 9:40.
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of corruption. The resulting guilt, as well as the guilt of
those who practice that corruption, will be upon him to Fthe
Day of Resurrection'. He declared forbidden matters permis-
sible and deprived people of their rights. He was deceived by
(God's) forbearance and cheated by (His) delaying, but God
lies in wait for him.2%

God made it necessary to curse him for killing, while they
could offer no resistance, the best of the men around
Muhammad and the men of the second generation and
excellent and religious people, such as ‘Amr b. al-Hamiq
and Hujr b. ‘Adi2” and their like. His intention was to gain
might, royalty, and power. However, might, royalty, and
power belong to God. God / / says: “He who kills a believer
intentionally will have Hell as his reward and remain in it
eternally. God is angry at him and has cursed him and has
prepared a severe punishment for him."2%8

He also deserved God’s curse and that of His Messenger by
claiming (Abu Sufyan's paternity) for Ziyad b. Sumayyah?%
in defiance of God, for God says: “Call them after their
fathers! This is most fair in the eyes of God!"30 The Messen-
ger of God says: “Accursed is he who claims paternity other
than that of his father or aligns himself with others than his
masters.'3! He also says: “The child belongs to the bed, and

296 See Qur. 89:14.

297 Of these two ‘Alid partisans, Hujr was the more important. He appears in all the
histories of the period and all reference works. See also Baladhuri, Ansab, ed. Kister,
IVA, 211-36, ed. Thsan ‘Abbas, 1V, 1, 242-71; for ‘Amr, see op. cit., ed. Kister, 236f., ed.
(Abbis, 242f. ‘Amr was on Hujr's staff. He was killed in 50 {670), or 51 (see text
above, 11, 118ff.). The date of 51 (671) apparently goes back to Khalifah b. Khayyit,
Tabagqat, ed. ‘Umari, 107, 136, ed. Zakkar, 1, 235, 306. However, in his Ta'rikh, 197,
Khalifah places ‘Amr's death in the year 50. See, further, Ibn ‘Abd al-Barr, Istiab,
1173f.; Dhahabi, Ta'rikh, 11, 234 £.; Ibn Hajar, Tahdhib, VIII, 23f. Since decapitating
defeated enemies and sending the severed heads to the caliph as proof of their death
is mentioned so much here, it may be noted that ‘Amr's head was supposedly the
first in Islam to be sent from one place to another (a detail apparently passed over in
silence by Tabari).

298 Qur. 4:93.

299 Ziyad's father supposedly was a certain (Ubayd. Sumayyah was the name of his
mother. The famous istilhaq of Ziyad b. Mu‘awiyah took place in 44 (664-5), see text
above, 11, 69f. Ziyad died in 53 (673). On the ‘Abbasid attitude toward him, see also
text above, 111, 4774f.

300 Qur. 33:5.

301 This is not one of the traditions to be found in the canonical collections.
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to the fornicator the stone!’302 Mu‘awiyah openly opposed
the law of God and the practice of His Prophet by making
the child not belonging to the bed and the fornicator not
being harmed by his fornication. By thus making a claim
for something forbidden by God and His Messenger, he
exposed the Prophet's wife Umm Habibah303 and others to
shame3 forbidden by God, establishing a relationship ruled
out by God and thus opening up a source of defect and
alteration for the religion of Islam without equal, which
was outlawed by God.305

Furthermore, there is Mu‘awiyah’s disdainful attitude
toward the religion of God, manifested by his calling God’s
servants to (acknowledge the succession of) his son Yazid,
that arrogant drunken sot, that owner of cocks, cheetahs, and
monkeys.306 With furious threats and frightful intimidation,
he forced the best of Muslims to give the oath of allegiance to
Yazid, although he was aware of Yazid's stupidity and was
acquainted with his ugliness and viciousness. He had
occasion to observe with his own eyes his drunkenness,
immorality, and unbelief. In disobedience to God and His
Messenger, Mu‘awiyah had paved the way for Yazid to take
over, and when Yazid was firmly in control, he sought
revenge and retaliation for the polytheists against the Mus-

302 One of the most quoted and discussed traditions, the second part of which has not
yet been satisfactorily explained. See Concordance, 1, 425b.

303 Umm Habibah supposedly died in the year of the istilhdq or before that event.
She was a daughter of Abli Sufyan. We are told that she resented the introduction of a
stranger, possibly a bastard, into the family and, above all, the intimation that her
father was an adulterer, so much so that she refused to receive Ziyad. A natural
brother of Ziyad is also said to have been bitter in his resentment. See Ibn ‘Abd
al-Barr, Isti‘ab, 526. This picture of the event is approximately the one reflected in
al-Mu‘tadid’s document. The true historical situation may have been quite different.

304 “Sharne” (lit. “unveiling of faces") does not apear in RC.

205 On the ‘Abbasid attitude, see also text above, 111, 477ff.

306 The cocks were for cock fights, the cheetahs for hunting (see ER, s. v. fahd), and
the monkeys for amusement {see EI, s.v. kird). No characterization of this sort is
found in B, and R has merely “that accursed, filthy person” (al-lain al-rijs). 1t is
difficult to decide what the original reading of the document may have been. It could
have been Tabari, or perhaps someone else involved in the transmission of his work,
who did some editorial work here, considering one of the readings more suitable as a
defamation of Yazid than the other.
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lims. He forced the men of the Harrah37 to fight a battle
more loathsome than any in the history of Islam // and
more evil than any with respect to crimes committed against
good men,38* crimes consisting of bloodshed and the viola-
tion of women and property. He then permitted al-Madinah
to be plundered for three days.* He thereby quenched his
raging anger. He thought that he had taken revenge on the
friends of God and achieved his intention3® with respect to
the enemies of God. He publicly announced and manifested
his unbelief and polytheism in the following verses:310

(1) Would that my elders (who fought and died) at Badr
had witnessed
(At Uhud) the lack of steadfastness of the Khazraj when
the spears fell.
(2) We have now killed their leading3!! lords
And successfully adjusted the inequality of Badr.312
(3) They would have broken into shouts of joy,
And then they would have said, “O Yazid,
don't ask!"313

%7 See ER, s. v. Harra; M. |. Kister, “Harra.”

38 The text suggests rather “on the part of good men” (?).

39 R: al-tha’r, another word for “revenge.

310 According to the reports on Yazid's scandalous behavior, he quoted on this
occasion verses by ‘Abdallah b. al-Ziba‘ra celebrating the Muslim defeat at Uhud.
For 1bn al-Ziba'ra, see ER, s. v. Ibn al-Ziba'ra; Sezgin, GAS, 11, 275f. The first two
verses were taken from his poem. See the study of him by Minganti, 354, 340 (n. 2),
no. XIII. Among the various authors who cite the poem in this connection are
al-Jahiz, Nabitah, in Rasa’il al-Jahiz, ed. Harun, II, 14f. (verses 1, 3, 2); Ibn ‘Abd
Rabbih, ‘Iqd, 1V, 390 (1, 3), V, 86 (1), VI, 153 (1); text above, III, 436 (1, 2); al-Biruni,
Chronology, 331, trans., 328; Dinawari, al-Akhbar al-tiwal, 236 (1).

The sequence of the verses in R is 1, 3, 2; B has only verses 1 and 3. Verses 4 and 5
are missing in RB and were added in C in the margin. Thus, they are unlikely to
have been part of Tabari's original text and were probably added by someone
familiar with and fond of the poem.

311 The readings differ considerably. Ibn al-Ziba‘ra: al-di‘f “twice as many"; al-Jahiz:
al-ghurr; al-Birani: al-garn; Diwan Hassan b. Thabit, ed. ‘Azafat, |, 68: al-garm; text
above, 111, 436: al-di'f. The text of the Leiden edition {al-garm) seems to be Tabart's
original reading in this passage. Al-qawm “people” in the Cairo text may be a
misprint. R has al-nisf “half,” apparently a corruption of al-di‘f, a correction by
someone of Tabarl's text on the basis of the original poem.

312 See Qal1, Amali, 1, 140f.

313 That is, everything is all right and needs no further probing.
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(4) 1 shall not be a descendant of Khindif, if I
do not take revenge
On the Banta Ahmad for what he did.3!4
(5) The Hashim coveted3!s royalty, although no
News had come and no revelation sent down.316

FThis is straying from the religion of Islam. 13! It is the
statement of one who does not care for God, His religion,
His Book, and His Messenger. It is the statement of one who
does not believe in God and the revelation that has come
from God.

Then there is the greatest and grossest turpitude commit-
ted by Yazid: the shedding of the blood of al-Husayn, the son
of ‘Ali and the Prophet's daughter Fatimah. He slew al-
Husayn in spite of the Prophet's great esteem for him and his
position as a man of religion and excellence / / and in spite
of the testimony of the Prophet that he and his brother
(al-Hasan) were the lords of the young men in Paradise.318
Yazid was motivated by defiance of God, non-belief in His
religion, hostility toward His Messenger, aggression against
the family of (the Prophet), and contempt for his dignity. It
was as if his killing of al-Husayn and the people of his house
was no more than killing Turkish and Daylam unbelievers,
so that he did not have to fear revenge from God or watch
out for God striking back. But God cut short his life, elimi-
nated him root and branch, deprived him of what he pos-

314 The woman named Khindif figured as a remote tribal ancestor in the genealogy
of the Quraysh and the Umayyads. See Caskel, Das genealogische Werk, tables 1, 3, 4,
and 8, also 11, 347a. See also text above, 11, 1929; Maqrizi, Niza{, trans. Bosworth, 55,
126. Ahmad refers to the Prophet, and the Bani Ahmad are the family of the
Prophet, as is the Hashim tribe of the following verse. This reference to the
Hashimites/{Abbasids was naturally particularly galling for the ‘Abbasid caliphs.

315 Text: la-‘anat, understanding ‘anatin the sense of ‘uniyat, “were concerned
with”; Néldeke and van Vloten thought of la'ibat“played with!” See Tabari,
Introductio etc., CCCLXXXI, DCCXCVIIl. Wali‘at, in the Cairo text, meaning
“coveted,” may be just a simplification, if not a freehand correction, but it represents
a kind of neutral rendering of the intended meaning and was therefore adopted here;
yet, laibat is perhaps the correct reading.

316 That is, the descendants of the Prophets were not indicated as the rulers of Islam
by either tradition or the divine revelation of the Qur'an.

317 This sentence is missing in R and was added by a later hand in C.

318 See Concordance, 111, 57b36f.



The Events of the Year 284 61

sessed, and prepared him for the torture and punishment he
deserved from God for his sin.

So it went, until the Marwanids changed the Book of God,
invalidated His laws, and appropriated God’s property and
distributed it among themselves.They destroyed His house,
declared permissible what God had forbidden3!9, and set up
mangonels to hurl fire upon it, burning and destroying it
without letup. They violated His house, permitting all that
God had declared forbidden, killing and harming those who
took refuge in it, and frightening away those to whom God
had given protection in it. Finally, when the word of pun-
ishment came true for them320—they truly deserved God's
revenge, as they had filled the earth with injustice and
hostility and had wronged and oppressed one and all of His
servants—God allowed the family of His Prophet and his
heirs whom He had destined for His vicegerency to mete out
to them what He had allowed their ancestors and forebears,
who believed and fought for the faith, to mete out to the
early nonbelievers among them. Through them, God shed
the blood of those apostates, just as through their forefathers
He had shed the blood of the earlier unbelievers and
polytheists. God eliminated the root of the wrongdoers.
Praised be God, the Lord of the worlds! God gave power to
those who had become weak and oppressed and returned / / [2176]
to the deserving people their rights, as Almighty God says:
“And we want to show favor to those who became weak and
oppressed on earth and make them leaders and make them
heirs.'321

Know, O people, that Almighty God has given commands
for no other purpose than to be obeyed. He has set up
examples to be imitated, pronounced judgements to be
accepted, and made it obligatory to hold on to the tradition
(sunnah) of the Prophet so that it may be followed. Indeed,

319 Istihlal haramihi appears here to refer specifically to the desecration of the House.
R: haramihi “its sacred precinct” may be an incorrect simplification.
For the dramatic events of 64 (683}, see text above, sub anno 64.
320 See Qur. 39:19.
32! Qur. 28:5.
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many of those ignorant and wretched322 people who go astray
and then fold up and move on, belong to those whose
“rabbis and monks have taken for themselves lords other
than God,"33 although Almighty God has said: “Fight the
leaders of unbelief!"324

Good people! Get away from what makes God angry at
you and turn to what makes Him pleased with you! Be
satisfied with what God has chosen for you and adhere to
what He has commanded you to do and refrain from what
He has forbidden to you! Follow the straight path, the
manifest road,3% and the people of the house of mercy,
through whom God guided you in the beginning and saved
you from injustice and hostility in the end and through
whose dynastic succession He has given you ease, safety,
and might and in whose days He has provided for you
success in your religious attitudes and in your livelihood!
Curse whom God and His Messenger have cursed! Keep away
from whom you must keep away, if you want to attain
nearness to God!

O God! Curse Abii Sufyan b. Harb, his son, Mu'awiyah,
Mu‘awiyah's son Yazid, and Marwan b. al-Hakam and his
children!

O God! Curse the leaders of unbelief, the leaders of error,
the enemies of the religion of Islam, those who fight against
the Prophet, those who change the Laws, those who alter the
Book, and those who shed forbidden blood!

O God! We say to You that we have nothing to do with

[2177] befriending Your enemies // and winking at those who
disobey You, as You say: “You will not find people who
believe in God and the Last Day showing friendship to those
who act against God and His Messenger.'3%

O people! Recognize the truth, and you will recognize
those who are truthful. Consider the roads of error, and you
will recognize those who travel them. For only their deeds

322 Read, as in R: wa-al-shaqa’. The text of the Leiden edition wa-al-safa’/h (?) (see
also the Cairo text) seems to assume a dubious connection with the root sfh “stupid.’
323 Qur. 9:31.

324 Qur. 9:12.

325 CB: "“roads”

326 Qur. 58:22.
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distinguish men, and only their forefathers3’ connect them
to either error or righteousness. Thus let nobody's censure
affect your attitude toward God! Let yourselves not be turned
away from the religion of God by anybody’s blandishments
or anybody's trickery, or by loyalty328 to those whose loyalty
will lead you to disloyalty toward God!

O people! It is through us that God has guided you aright.
We are the ones appointed to preserve God's concerns among
you. We are the heirs of the Messenger of God and the ones
who are in charge of the religion of God. Thus stay where we
put you, and execute what we command you to do! For as
long as you obey the vicegerents of God and leaders toward
right guidance along the path of faith and the fear of God,
you will be all right.329 The Commander of the Faithful is
the one who seeks God's protection for you, and he asks Him
to give you success. He prays to God to lead you toward right
guidance and to preserve your religion for you3¥®, until you
meet Him with it, deserving His loyalty and enlisting His
mercy.33t

God suffices for the Commander of the Faithful as your
(ruler). In Him he places his trust. He asks God for help in
your affairs with which He has entrusted him. "The Com-
mander of the Faithful ? has no power and strength except
through God.

And peace be upon you!
Written by

Abu al-Qasim ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulaymian
in the year 284/897.

‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman reportedly called in the qadi Yasuf b.
Ya'qub and ordered him to try everything possible to get al-Mu‘tadid
to give up his plan. Yusuf went to al-Mu‘tadid and talked to him
/ / about it, saying, “O Commander of the Faithful! I fear that the [2178]

327 R: atharuhum “their accomplishments.

28 R: wa-janibi ta‘ata “and avoid loyalty!

39 R (also C ?) adds wa before the following amir, justifying the translation given.
3% Read, with RC: dinikum ‘alaykum.

31 R: “deserving His mercy through loyalty to Him."
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populace will be disturbed and that, when they hear this
document, a commotion will take place” Al-Mu‘tadid replied
that if there was a commotion among the populace or if they
expressed {opposition by gossip and rumors), he would use force
against them. Yasuf b. Ya‘qub then asked him in effect what he
would do with the Talibids who were ready everywhere to rebel
and who were favored by many because of their relationship to
the Messenger and their inherited authority.3%2 For them this
document meant praise. It would make people, when they heard
it, still more favorably disposed toward them and make them talk
about them and become more and more convinced (of the
righteousness of their cause) than they are already. Al-Mu‘tadid
remained silent and made no reply. Afterwards, he gave no more
orders with respect to the document.333

On Friday, Rajab 16, 284 (Friday, August 19, 897), Ja'far b.
Baghlaghaz33 went to ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar, who was in
Naysabiir, with robes of honor, a standard signifying ‘Amr’s rank
as governor of al-Rayy, and presents from al-Mu‘tadid.

In this year, Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf joined Muham-
mad b. Zayd al-‘Alawi in Tabaristan. Badr and ‘Ubaydallah
stayed *in al-Jabal* waiting to see how Bakr's situation would
develop3% and trying to improve conditions in the province.

332 See Noldeke, Belegworterbuch, 7b.

333 The meaning of the intended action by al-Mu‘tadid has been much discussed, see
Glagow, 165-201. It must have been clear to the Caliph that, in effect, anti-Umayyad
feeling went hand in hand with pro-‘Alid sentiments and that the (Alid movement
was more powerful and dangerous than any pro-Umayyad activities. Those activi-
ties, however, may have offended ‘Abbisid pride so greatly that al-Mu‘tadid threw
caution to the wind and felt that he had to restate the {Abbasid cause without regard
to the possible political repercussions. See also above, n. 245.

On attitudes toward the Umayyads in the ruling circles of the times, a different
point of view is provided by Bellamy, “Pro-Umayyad propaganda!’ For a brief
analysis of the event, see Sourdel, “Appels,” 124f.

334 See text above, 111, 1987.

335 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 4, anticipates here the news of Bakr’s death in the follow-
ing year.
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In this year, Qurrah,3% which is in Byzantine territory, was
reportedly conquered by Raghib, the mawla of al-Muwaffaq, and
Ibn Kallab.3% This was on Friday, Rajab...338

During the night of Tuesday, Sha'ban 12, 284 (Wednesday,
September 14, 897) —or, as reported (from another source), during
Wednesday night — a specter like a human being with a sword in
his hand appeared in al-Mu‘tadid’'s Thurayya palace. One of the
eunuchs went after the specter to see what33¥ it was. The specter
struck him // with a blow of the sword, cutting his belt and
making contact with the eunuch's body. The eunuch turned
away from the specter and fled as it entered a sown plot in the
garden and hid there. The specter was sought all night and the
next morning, but no trace of it was found.

Al-Mu‘tadid was worried about it. People hazarded many a
guess about what it was, even saying that it was one of the jinn.
The specter continued to appear later on many occasions. Al-
Mu‘tadid went so far as to put persons in charge of the wall of the
palace. He had it Tand its top! put in good shape and placed a
protective railing340 on it, so that scaling hooks34! thrown upon it
would not fall upon it (and catch hold). Burglars were brought
from prison, and the matter was discussed with them. They were
asked whether anyone would be able to enter through a hole or by
scaling the wall.322

On Saturday, Sha'ban 22, 284 (Saturday, September 24, 897),
Karamah b. Murr3® sent people in fetters from al-Kiifah, report-

33 Greek Koron. See Honigmann, Ostgrenze, 45. For the passage, see Canard, Sources
arabes, 13.

337 | have not succeeded in obtaining further information about him.

338 The date is left incomplete. R: “on a Friday in Rajab."

339 Text: ma; RB: man “who!"

30 See Tabari, Introductio etc., CXXX. The reading barabikh is confirmed by R.
“Pipes” or “tubing” may be a more exact rendering. It was intended to make it
impossible for a hook at the end of a rope to be thrown upon the wall and by securing
the rope enable a person to scale the wall.

1 R has the plural kalalib.

342 Mas'di's report, in Muriij, VIII, 181f., ed. Pellat, V, 161£., is much less precise but
dwells on the various disguises of the specter.

33 No further information about this individual seems available. The reading Murr
does not appear to be well established here.
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edly Qarmatians. They confessed that Abt Hashim b. Sadaqah
al-Katib3 was in correspondence with them and that he was one
of their leaders. Abu Hashim was arrested, put in fetters, and
incarcerated in the dungeons.345

On Saturday, Ramadan 7, 284 (Saturday, October 8, 897),
lunatics and exorcists were assembled and brought to al-Mu‘tadid’s
Thurayya palace, because of the specter that was appearing to
him. When they were brought in, al-Mu'tadid went up to a
chamber on the upper floor and observed them. While he was
looking at them, an insane woman had an epileptic fit, became
disturbed, and uncovered herself. Al-Mu‘tadid turned away from
them in disgust. Reportedly, he had five dirhams given to each of
them, following which they were sent back. Before he observed
them, he had sent / / someone to ask the exorcists whether it was
possible for them to find out about the specter that had appeared
to him. One of them mentioned that they might cast a spell upon
one of the lunatics and, when he fell down, ask the jinni what
the specter was. However, when al-Mu‘tadid saw the woman have
the epileptic fit, he ordered them sent home.6

344 As a suspected inside agent of the Qarmatians, this obscure government official
(katib) was naturally deemed very dangerous.

35 No doubt, the dungeons that had been constructed by al-Mu‘tadid and were
demolished by al-Muktafi when he came to power (see text below, 2208).

36 Al-Mu‘tadid, usually described as cruel and brave, appears here as sensitive and
fearful of the unknown. This fear may have been based upon very realistic security
considerations as well as the danger resulting from rumors circulating widely
among the population. Interest in the mystery lasted well into the reign of al-Muqtadir,
when the alleged solution came to light. See Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 172; Ibn
Kathir, Bidayah, X1, 77; 1bn Taghribirdi, Nujum, 11 114. In the words of Ibn
Taghribirdi: “It was a eunuch who was attracted to one of the slave girls in the
residences. Now it was al-Mu‘tadid’s custom to forbid eunuchs when they reached
puberty to enter the harem. Outside the residences of the harem, there was a large
garden. The eunuch used a white beard. Sometimes he appeared in the form of a
monk, and sometimes in a soldier’s dress with a sword in his hand. He used a number
of beards of different shapes and colors. When he appeared, the slave girl came out
with the other slave girls in order to see him, and he would be alone with her among
the trees. Whenever a search was made for him, he entered among the trees, took off
beard, hood, and so on, hid them, but left the sword unsheathed in his hand to give
the impression that he was one of those searching for the specter. Eventually, after
al-Muqtadir became caliph and the eunuch was sent out to Tarsus {Ibn al-Jawzi:
Tus?), the slave girl revealed his story””
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In Dhu al-Qa‘dah, 284 (November 30-December 29, 897), news
arrived at Baghdad from Isbahan that al-Harith b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz
b. Abi Dulaf, who was known as Abu Layla,347 had attacked and
killed the eunuch Shafi‘,348 who had charge of him. Al-Harith's
brother, ‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf, had seized Abu
Layla. He then put him in fetters and took him to a fortress
belonging to the family of Abti Dulaf in al-Zazz34 and detained
him there. All property, valuable furnishings, and jewels belong-
ing to the family of Abi Dulaf were in the fortress. Their mawla
Shafi' was in charge of guarding it, as well as the fortress itself,
together with a number of ‘Umar's pages and intimates. When
‘Umar sought a guarantee of safe-conduct from the central gov-
ernment and Bakr rebelled against them and fled,350 the fortress
with all it contained remained in the hands of Shafi’. Abu Layla
talked to Shafi‘ about releasing him, but he refused, saying that
‘he would do nothing with him or anything he controlled except
that which ‘Umar would order him to do.

A slave girl35! of Abu Layla reportedly told the following story:
A little page was in prison with Abu Layla to serve him, and
another page was there who would go to and from prison to serve
Abu Layla's needs, but he did not spend the night with him as
the little page did. Abu Layla asked the page who went out to
serve his needs, to find a way to smuggle a file in. This the page
did, by bringing it in with some of Abu Layla’s food. The eunuch
Shafi', when he was ready to go to sleep, used to come every night
to see Abl Layla in his apartment. Then Shafi‘ would lock / / the
door Yof the apartment ? with his own hand and go to sleep, with
an unsheathed sword under his bed. Now Abu Layla asked for a
slave girl to be brought to him, and a young slave girl was
brought in. It is from this slave girl that Dalfa’, the slave girl of
Abt Layla, got this report: Abu Layla filed through the pin of the
fetter, until he was able to get it off his feet whenever he wanted.

37 See text above, 111, 2122.

38 Probably not identical with one of the eunuchs of the same name mentioned in
the sources, as, for instance, in the text above, 111, 1459, 1684.

#9 This reading, suggested in Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCXCVIII, appears clearly
in Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 4. R: “al-Rayy,” is clearly a mistake. For al-Zazz, see Yaqiit,
Mu'jam, 11, 929f.

350 See text above, 111, 2154f.

351 Probably Dalfa’ who is mentioned later on.
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She continued: One evening, "the eunuch! Shafi‘ came to Abi
Layla and sat down to talk to him. Abu Layla asked him to have a
few cups with him, and he did so.The eunuch then got up to
relieve himself.352 She continued: Abu Layla ordered me to make
up his bed. He put clothing in the place where a man would
ordinarily lie in the bed, and covered it with sheets. He ordered
me to sit at the foot of the bed and said, “When Shafi comes to
look after me and lock the door and asks you about me, say, ‘He is
asleep! " Abu Layla left the room and hid amid bedding and
furnishings in a recessed alcove at the door of the apartment.
Shafi’ came, looked at the bed, and asked the slave girl about
Abi Layla. She told him that he was already asleep, and he
locked the door. When the eunuch and those with him were
asleep in the house at the fortress, Abii Layla went out, took the
sword from underneath Shafi's bed, and attacked and killed
him.

The pages who were asleep around him jumped up frightened.
Abu Layla extricated himself from them, with the sword in his
hand, and said to them, I am Aba Layla. I have just killed Shafi'.
You are safe, but I shall kill anyone of you who advances toward
me.” They opened the gate of the fortress and went out. He went
to seat himself / / at the gate of the fortress. Some people in the
fortress gathered. He talked to them, and promised to treat them
well and placed them under oath. In the morning, he went down
from the fortress, sent for the Kurds and the native Kurdish
inhabitants.353 Bringing them together, he gave them gifts. He
then went out against the central authorities. His killing of the
eunuch reportedly took place on the night of Saturday, Dha
al-Qa‘dah 18, 284 (Saturday, December 17, 897).

According to another version, he slaughtered the eunuch with
a knife his page had brought in to him, and he then took the
sword from underneath the eunuch’s bed and confronted the
pages with it.

352 Ljt., “to take care of his needs.”

353 For zumiim, see Ibn Khaldun, Mugaddimah, trans. Rosenthal, I, 135, n. 130. The
distinction between “Kurds” and ahl al-zumiim may refer, in a way, to soldiers and
civilians, but this is not certain. V. Minorsky suggested reading rumtm for zumum;
see ER, s. v. Kurds, Kurdistan (IV, 450b).
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In this year, that is, 284 (897), the astrologers threatened the
people by predicting that most climes of the earth would be
flooded and that only a small section of the clime of Babylonia
would be safe. This would result from a heavy rainfall and rising
water in rivers, springs, and wells. It was, however, a rainless
year. People saw little rain, and the water in rivers, springs, and
wells dwindled to such a degree that people had to pray for rain.
They prayed for rain in Baghdad several 3% times. *God proved
false the story, the trickery, and the deception of the astrologers as
well as the trickery of those who believed them.*355

On a Thursday, on Dhi al-Hijjah 29, 284 (Thursday, January
26, 898), a battle reportedly took place between ‘Isa al-Nushari
and Abu Layla b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf two farsakhs (twelve
km) from Isbahan. An arrow reportedly hit Aba Layla, piercing
his throat. 3% He fell from his horse, and his men fled. His head
was taken and brought to Igbahan.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah
b. Dawiid al-Hashimi, who was known as Utrujjah.357 / /

34 R: “many.’

355 The first few words of the addition of R appear also in Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam,
V, 172, 11. 21f,; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, U1, 115, 1. 1. The occurrence was interesting
enough to Hamzah al-Igfahani to quote (Annales, 191).

35 According to Mas‘idi, Murizj, VI, 183, ed. Pellat, V, 162, he was killed acciden-
tally by his own sword.

357 See text above, n. 31; for his nickname, see above, n. 71. His grandfather, Dawud
b. {isa b. Miisa, played an important role in early ninth-century politics. His father
(Abdallah is mentioned in the text above, 11I, 1684, sub anno 252 (866). See also
Safadi, Wafi, XVII, 473.
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(JANUARY 28, 898 - JANUARY 16, 899)

@

One of the events was a holdup of the pilgrims in al-Ajfur.358
They were attacked by Salih b. Mudrik al-Ta'i3% and a group of
the Tayyi’ on Wednesday, al-Muharram 18, 285 (Thursday,
February 16, 898). The military leader of the caravan, al-Jinni the
Elder,30 fought Salil, but the Arab tribesmen defeated the caravan,
seizing all the property and merchandise in it as well as a
number of free women and slaves.3%! The loot they got from the
people was reportedly worth two million dinars.

On al-Muharram 23, 285 (February 21, 898),*a document*
announcing the installation of ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar as
governor of Transoxania and the removal of Isma‘il b. Ahmad3s2
from this position was read to a group of Khurasanian pilgrims in
the palace of al-Mu‘tadid.

On Safar 5, 285 (March 3, 898), Wasif Kamah363 and a number
of officers came to Madinat al-Salam from al-Jabal. They came
from Badr, the mawla of al-Mu‘tadid, and ‘Ubaydallah b. Su-
layman, carrying with them the head of al-Harith b. ‘Abd al-‘Az1z

358 One of the locations on the Mecca Road, between Fayd and al-Khuzaymiyyah. It
was situated 216 km from Fayd, coming from al-Kiifah after al-Tha‘labiyyah, and 64
km before Fayd, according to Yaqit, Mu'jam, 1, 925 (al-Tha‘labiyyah): II, 440
{al-Khuzaymiyyah); 111, 96 (Fayd).

359 For his capture and death, see text below, 2191f. Mas'Gdi, Muraj, VIII, 1914,. ed,
Pellat, V, 165f., adds the detail that he committed suicide with a knife. Ibn al-Mu‘tazz
{verses 299-318) deals with this episode and gives a remarkably vivid description of
the troubles that were caused for the pilgrims by marauding bedouins.

30 See text below, 2241. He is identical with Jinni al-Safwani (see below, n. 789). The
form of his name cannot be considered certain.

361 R: wa-al-mamalik.

362 That is, the Samanid (see above, n. 9).

%3 Wasif Kaimah al-Daylami is occasionally mentioned in the sources, as, for
instance, Tanukhi, Nishwar, VIi1, 121, but little is known about him.
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b. Abi Dulaf who was known as Abt Layla. They brought it to
al-Mu‘tadid’s Thurayya palace. Abu Layla's brother {{Umar) asked
al-Mu'‘tadid to give it to him, and he did so. He also asked him for
permission to bury it, and he granted that permission . On the
same day, robes of honor were bestowed upon ‘Umar b. ‘Abd
al-‘Az1z and a number of officers who had arrived in Baghdad.

In this year, the postmaster wrote from al-Kafah, noting that on
the night of Sunday, Rabi‘ I 20, 285 (Sunday, April 16, 898), a
yellowish364 wind // had risen in the region of al-Kiifah. It
continued to blow until the time of the evening prayer. Then it
turned black. All the while, the people humbly beseeched God.
Immediately thereafter, it rained heavily with frightening thun-
derbolts and continuous flashes of lightning. Then, after a while,
black and white stones with various shades of coloring,3%5 and
with a compression in the middle similar to stone-pestles used by
perfumers,36 fell in a village called Ahmadabadh3’ and the
region around it. The postmaster sent along one of the stones. It
was sent to the government offices for the people to look at.

On Rabi' 1 21, 285 (April 17, 898), Ibn al-Ikhshad®8 set out
from Baghdad as amir of Tarsas, together with the persons who
had come to Baghdad from Tarsiis with the request that a governor
be appointed for them.369

34 For the color asfar, commonly translated as yellow but tending toward light
brown, see Fischer, Farb- und Formbezeichnungen, 358ff. The atmospheric events
here and a few days later in al-Bagrah seem related and appear to have been no
ordinary dust storms. They may have been triggered by a great volcanic eruption in a
remote place.

365 “Colors” could also refer to kinds and shapes. The word is simplified to
al-awzan "weights” in Hamzah al-Isfahani, Annales, 146. This reading also appears
in the manuscript tradition of Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, V11, 339.

36 An actual specimen of the perfumers' pestle is needed to understand the word
translated as “compression!” In Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, VII, 339, it is
replaced by an equally opaque tabaq. Most later authors chose to omit it, for
instance, Hamzah al-Isfahani, loc. cit.; Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V1, 2; Hamawi,
al-Tu'rikh al-Mansuri, fol. 55b.

367 See text above, 111, 1518. The places called Ahmadabadh mentioned by Yaqut,
MuSjam, 1, 156, are not identical with the one referred to here.

38 His death is mentioned in the text below, 2193. Ikhshad {also text above, 11, 1242,
etc.) is a variant of Ikhshid; both forms reflect Ikhshéd. See Meier, “Aussprachefragen,”
101£., and, in particular, 105.

39 As mentioned among the events of the preceding year. See text above, 111, 2163. For
this and the following paragraph, see Canard, Sources arabes, 13.
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On the same day, Fatik,370 the mawla of al-Mu‘tadid, left
Baghdad to inspect the situation concerning the officials in Mosul,
Diyar Rabi‘ah, and the border regions of Syria and al-Jazirah,
and to make improvements with respect to it. This task was in
addition to the duties he was responsible for after being put in
charge of postal matters?! in these districts.

In this year, the news reportedly arrived in Baghdad from
al-Basrah that after the Friday prayer on Rabi' I, 25, 285 (Friday,
April 21, 898), a yellowish wind arose there. It then turned color,
first greenish¥2 and then black. Following this, there was con-
tinuous rain, the like of which had never been seen before. Then
large hail stones fell—a single one weighed (as much as) one
hundred and fifty dirhams.373 The wind uprooted more than five
hundred palm trees from Nahr al-Husayn,34 and a hundred from
Nahr Ma‘qil.375 / /

In this year, al-Khalil b. Raymald¢ died in Hulwan.

On Jumada II 5,377 285 (June 29, 898), word reached the central
authorities that Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf had died of
some disease in Tabaristain and had been buried there. The
person who brought the news was reportedly given one thousand
dinars.

In this year, al-Mu‘tadid appointed Muhammad b. Abi al-Saj
to take over the administration in Adharbayjan and Armenia. He

30 Fatik was killed together with the wazir al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan in connection with
the affair of Ibn al-Mu‘tazz. See Hamadhani, Takmilah, 5, and the other sources.
371 The head of the postal (intelligence) service was particularly well qualified to
investigate official misconduct, which was apparently suspected here.

372 See Fischer, Farb- und Formbezeichnungen, 237. What is described here, is a
gradual change in color from light to dark.

373 That is, assuming a weight of 2.97 gram for the dirham, about 445.5 gram or one
(American) pound, but, of course, no exact figure was intended, and the weight
standard assumed here cannot be ascertained.

374 1bn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI, 3, 1. 2, reads Nahr al-Hasan.

375 Nahr Ma'qil is often mentioned in the text. See Yaqiit, Mu‘jam, IV, 468.

376 See text above, 111, 2018, for his appointment as governor of Hulwan in the year
268 (881-2). The vocalization of Raymal seems somewhat uncertain.

377 R: “Jumada II 24," which is incorrect.
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had seized power (in these regions) earlier and then defied (the
central authorities). Robes of honor and gift horses?’8 were sent to
him.

On Sha‘ban 3, 285 (August 25, 898), word reached Baghdad
that the eunuch Righib, the mawla of al-Muwaffaq, had under-
taken a sea raid (against the Byzantines). God gave him victory
over many ships and all the Byzantines aboard. He decapitated
three thousand of the Byzantines who had been in the ships, Tand
burned the ships1. He conquered many Byzantine fortresses. The
raiders returned safely.37?

In Dha al-Hijjah, 285 {(December 19, 898-January 16, 899),
word arrived in Baghdad that Ahmad b. ‘Isa b. Shaykh had died
and that after a power struggle his son, Muhammad b. Ahmad b.
§s3,3% had taken charge of Amid and its environs, areas which
had been controlled by his father.

On Dhi al-Hijjah 19, 285 (January 6, 899), al-Mu‘tadid left
Baghdad for Amid. He was accompanied by his son Abti Muham-
mad and the officers and pages. He left the chamberlain, $alih
al-Amin, behind to take his place in Baghdad. He put him in
charge of the mazalim courts, the two bridges, and other matters.

In this year, Hartin b. Khumarawayh b. Ahmad b. Ttlin and
the Egyptian officers with him sent Wasif Qatarmiz3#! to al-
Mu‘tadid to ask that he peacefully cede to them the areas of Egypt
and Syria in their possession, and that the Caliph bestow upon
Hariin the executive powers that had been his father's. Wasif
came to Baghdad, and al-Mu‘tadid sent him back accompanied

78 Or, “gifts carried by animals.”

379 See Canard, Sources arabes, 13. N

30 See text below, 2190f. According to ER, s. v. Isa b. al-Shaykh {IV, 90b), Muhammad
b. Ahmad disappears from view in 297/300.

181 In the final months of the Tulunids, at the end of 291 (October-November, 504),
Wasif Qitarmiz attempted to flee from Damyanah at Tinnis but was eventually
captured. See Kindi, Wulah, 245f.; Ibn Taghribirdl, Nujum, 111, 146, 1. 15. Slightly
different spellings of the name are used there, in addition to the final n that appears
in RC.
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by ‘Abdallah // b. al-Fath3? who was to transmit messages to
them orally and impose certain conditions upon them.33 Wasif
and Ibn al-Fath left Baghdad on their mission at the end of *Dha
al-Hijjah of* this year (mid-January, 899).

In Dhi al-Hijjah, 285 {December 19, 898-January 16, 899), Ibn
al-Ikhshad led the people of Tarstus and others on a campaign
(against the Byzantines). He got as far as Salandii3%4 and conquered
it. He returned to Tarsas in the year 286 (899).

Leading the pilgrimage this year was Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah
b. Dawd al-Hashimi.

382 In addition to the information in Tabari, the house of ‘Abdallah b. al-Fath is
mentioned by Hamadhani, Takmilah, 78, sub anno 321 (933). He appears to be
identical with the person mentioned by Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha’ir, 44, who brought
gifts from Khumarawayh to al-Mu‘tadid.

383 As specified in the text below, 2187.

384 See text above, 111, 2130, and below, 2269. Canard, Sources arabes, 10, 13, has no
comment, but Vasiliev, 122, maintains the old and questionable identification with
a locality now called Selindi/Selinti. R: “Samandii” Salandud may, in fact, be a
dissimilated form of Samandii which has been identified with Tsamandos on the
upper reaches of the Zamanti-su, a tributary of the Sayhan, see E Hild, Das byzan-
tinische Strassensystem in Kappadokien, 90 f. (Vienna, 1977}. See also text above, I1I,
2130.
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One of the events was that Muhammad b. Abi al-S3j dispatched
his son who was known as Aba al-Musafir35 to Baghdad as a
hostage. This was to assure the loyalty and sincerity which he
pledged to the central authorities. Abt al-Musafir reportedly
arrived in Baghdad on Tuesday, al-Muharram 7, 286 (Tuesday,
January 26, 899), with gifts of horses, furnishings, and so on. At
the time, al-Mu‘tadid was absent from Baghdad.

In Rabi‘ 11, 286 (April 16-May 14, 899},38 al-Mu‘tadid bi-llah
had reached Amid and encamped with his soldiers to lay siege to
the city. Muhammad b. Ahmad b. ‘Isa b. Shaykh had locked the
gates of the city of Amid against him and against his partisans in
it. Al-Mu‘tadid had distributed his armies around the city and
laid siege to the inhabitants. This took place late in the second
half of Rabi‘ 1, 286 (first half of April, 899). Following that, battles
broke out between them. Mangonels were set up against the
inhabitants of Amid who in turn set up mangonels on their wall,
and they bombarded each other.

On Saturday, Jumada I 19, 286 (Saturday, June 2, 899). Muham-
mad b. Ahmad b. / / ‘Isa sent word to al-Mu‘tadid seeking guar-
antees of safe-conduct for himself, his family, and the inhabitants
of Amid. Al-Mu‘tadid granted that to him. On the same day,
Muhammad b. Ahmad b. Isa with his men and allies left and
went to al-Mu‘tadid. The Caliph bestowed robes of honor upon
him and his ranking men. They then departed for a tent which

385 Abii al-Musafir Fath was killed in al-Maraghah in 317 (929). See ‘Arib, 145; ER, s.
v. Sadjids.

386 If Rabi 11 is correct, the first half of this paragraph was presumably taken from
some dispatch speaking of earlier events.
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had been prepared for them, while al-Mu‘tadid moved from his
camp to the mansions and houses of Ibn ‘Isa b. Shaykh. Al-
Mu‘tadid reported that in a dispatch to Madinat al-Salam, dated
Sunday, Jumada I 20, 286 (Sunday, June 3, 899). On Jumada I 25,
286 (June 8, 899), al-Mu‘tadid's dispatch reporting his conquest
reached Madinat al-Salam, whereupon it was read from the
pulpit in the Friday Mosque.

In this year, ‘Abdallah b. al-Fath returned from Egypt to
al-Mu‘tadid, who was staying in Amid, with replies to al-
Mu‘tadid’s letters to Harin b. Khumirawayh. He informed the
Caliph that Harun promised to hand over administrative control
of Qinnasrin and the fortified cities3¥” and to send four hundred
and fifty thousand dinars annually to the treasury in Madinat
al-Salam. He was asking that his rule over Egypt and Syria be
reconfirmed and that al-Mu‘tadid send him one of his eunuchs
for the purpose. Al-Mu‘tadid granted his request and dispatched
Badr al-Qudami®8 and ‘Abdallah b. al-Fath with the (letter of)
appointment and robes of honor. They left Amid for Egypt on this
assignment. Al-Mu'‘tadid’s officials took over the administrative
control of Qinnasrin and the fortified cities from Hardn's men in
Jumada II, 296 (May 15-June 13, 899). Al-Mu‘tadid stayed on in
Amid for the remainder of Jumada I and through twenty-three
days of Jumada II. On Saturday, Jumada II 22, 286 (Thursday, July
5, 899),3% he traveled from Amid to al-Raqqah. In his place at
Amid, he left his son ‘Ali with troops that he had attached to him
in order to secure the region and establish administrative control
of Qinnasrin and the fortified cities / / as well as Diyar Rabi‘ah
and Diyar Mudar. The secretary of ‘Alil b. al-Mu‘tadid at that
time was al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nasrani. (Al-Mu‘tadid)3® put
al-Husayn b. ‘Amr in charge of affairs concerning the region and
of the correspondence with the administrative officials there.

387 On ‘awasim and thughiir, see ER, s. v. ‘awasim. »

388 The vocalization is based upon the assumption that al-Qudam1 was named after
a Qudamabh. I have not found further information about him.

389 [f al-Mu'tadid stayed in Amid for twenty-three days, he probably left on jumada
II 24, which would be Saturday, July 7.

30 The subject of the verb (which is unlikely to be a passive) could be ‘Ali, but
presumably it was al-Mu‘tadid who made the appointment of the person in charge
of supervising the transition from Tiilénid to (Abbasid control.
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Al-Mu‘tadid ordered the destruction of the wall of Amid, and *a
portion of* it was destroyed, *while the rest could not be destroyed
and was left intact.*

In this year, gifts from ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar reached
Baghdad from Naysabiir. The money he sent amounted to four
million dirhams. There were twenty horses with ornamented
saddles and bridles inlaid (with silver),3! one hundred and fifty
horses with embroidered saddle cloths, garments,32 perfume, and
falcons. This was on Thursday, Jumada II 21, 286 (Wednesday,
July 4, 899).

In this year, a Qarmatian known as Aba Sa‘id al-Jannabi3%3
appeared in al-Bahrayn. A group of Arab tribesmen and Qar-
matians had gathered around him, and he emerged as a rebel in
the beginning of the year. In Jumada II, 286 (June 14-July 13,
899), his men grew in number, and he gained strengh. He killed
some villagers in the neighborhood, and then went to a place
called al-Qatif,3* located at a distance of several days' journey
from al-Basrah. There he killed the inhabitants. He reportedly
wanted to march on al-Basrah. Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Yahya
al-Waithiqi,3% who was in charge of security in al-Basrah and the
Tigris districts at the time, informed the Caliph in writing about
what he had heard concerning the plans of the Qarmatians. The
Caliph wrote back, ordering him and Muhammad b. Hisham3%
who was in charge of administering the charitable foundations,
the land tax, and the estates3%? there, to construct a (protective)
wall around al-Basrah. Expenses for it were estimated at fourteen
thousand dinirs. The expenditures were authorized, and the
wall was built.

®1 The list in Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakhd’ir, 41, omits this item and the preceding one
but has the rest as in Tabari.

32 Kuswah or kiswah is often used as a collective and also has the approximate
meaning of complete wardrobe.

%3 One of the important and much discussed leaders of the Qarmatian movement,
d. 301 (913). See the brief note in ER, s. v. al-Djannabi; also text below, 2291.

%4 See ER, s. v. Katif.

35 For his activities as chief of police in Baghdad in 291, see text below, 2245; (Arib, 4.
6 No further information about him seems available.

37 That is, the estates belonging to the Caliph.
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In Rajab, 286 (July 13-August 11, 899), a group of Arab tribesmen
[2189] of the Bana // Shayban reached al-Anbar. They raided the
villages, killed the people whom the encountered, and drove
away the cattle. Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Kumushjiir,3% who
was in charge of security there, went out against them, but he
was unable to subdue them. He wrote the Caliph concerning
them, and the latter sent Nafis al-Muwalladi,3® Ahmad b.
Muhammad al-Zaranji,4® and al-Muzaffar b. H3jj#! with about
a thousand men to aid him. They reached the location of the
Arab tribesmen and attacked them in a place known as al-Man-
qabah4® in the administrative district of al-Anbar, but the Arab
tribesmen routed them and killed their men. Most of them
drowned in the Euphrates, and they were dispersed.The dispatch
from Ibn Hajj reporting the battle and the rout of the government
force by the Arab tribesmen arrived at Baghdad on Monday,
Rajab 24, 286 (Sunday, August 5, 899). The Arab tribesmen stayed
on to harass the region and to extort protection money from the
villages. When al-Mu‘tadid was informed in writing about their
story, he sent al-‘Abbas b. ‘Amr al-Ghanawi403 and Khafif al-
Adhkiitakini4® and a number of (other) officers from al-Ragqah
to engage them in combat. At the end of Sha‘ban, 286 (September

8 R: “Kushmard,” which is apparently the correct form, as in the text below, 2238.
According to ‘Arib, 119, sub anno 312 (924), Ibn Kushmard (spelled Qushmard)
was captured by the Qarmatians and presumably killed. See also Sabi’, Wuzara’, 57.
This makes any speculation as to whether he might be a son of the aforementioned
Muhammad b. Kumushjir (see above, n. 154) superfluous. But see also below,
n. 526.

39 See text below, 2274, quoted by ‘Arib, 16; Mas'udi, Tanbih, 375, 1. 12. During the
struggle with the Qarmatians, many military leaders on both sides played important
but fleeting roles, and there is understandably little information available for them.

400 See text above, 111, 1996, sub anno 267 (881). All three Tabari manuscripts have
something like al-Zarniji.

401 Al-Muzaffar was governor of Tarsiis for a while (see text below, 2222} He was
posted to the Yemen in 293 (906) (see text below, 2267, 2280; ‘Arib, 13, 19). He
supposedly died there in Rajab, 298 (March, 911). See Hamadhini, Takmilah, 9 (who
has Hamid ?); Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, sub anno. Note that when his brother (Ajj ((Ujj)
died in 306 (918), a brother of his was appointed to succeed him. See (Arib, 76. For
(Ajj, see below, n. 483. The precise form of the name of their father remains
somewhat uncertain, as it is pointed in various ways in the manuscripts.

2 The reading appears quite uncertain. I have not succeeded in identifying this
locality.

483 Al-Ghanawi d. Rabi‘ I, 305 (September-October 917). See (Arib, 68f.

441 have found no information concerning him other than this text. The
Adhkutakin with whom he was connected is presumably the one mentioned in the
text above, 11, 1936.
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9, 899), those officers reached Hit. The Arab tribesmen learned
about them and left their location in the countryside of al-Anbar.
They moved toward ‘Ayn al-Tamr where they set up camp. The
officers entered al-Anbar4s and remained there, while the Arab
tribesmen harassed ‘Ayn al-Tamr and the region of al-Kiifah as
they had the region of al-Anbar. This situation continued through
the rest of Sha‘ban and all through Ramadan (ending October
9,899).//

In this year, al-Mu‘tadid sent word to Raghib, the mawla of
Abu Ahmad (al-Muwaffaq), who was in Tarsiis, ordering him to
come to him in al-Ragqah. He came while al-Mu‘tadid was there.
When Righib arrived, al-Mu‘tadid left him alone in his camp
for a day, then, seizing him the next day, he incarcerated him
and seized everything he had with him. Word concerning this
reached Madinat al-Salam on Monday, Sha‘ban 9,47 286 {(Monday,
August 20, 899). Several days later, Raghib died. Maknuin, 8
the page of Raghib, was arrested as were Raghib's men. Raghib's
property in Tarsus was seized on Tuesday, Sha‘ban 23, 286
{(Monday, September 3, 899).49 The person in charge of seizing
them410 was Ibn al-Ikhshad.

On Ramadan 20, 286 (September 29, 899), al-Mu‘tadid sent
Mu'nis al-Khazin4l! against the Arab tribesmen in the region of
al-Kiifah and ‘Ayn al-Tamr. He attached to him al-Abbas b. ‘Amr,
Khafif al-Adhkiitakini, and other officers. Mu'nis and those with
him traveled as far as a place called Ninawa, 12 where he found

405 R: “‘traveled to al-Anbar”

405 R: “Rajab and Sha‘bin”

407 R: “seven.’

408 See text above, 111, 2132.

409 The text has Rajab. This is unlikely because it would mean that the property was
con{iscnted before Raghib's arrest. Moreover, the indicated day of the week fits only
Sha'ban.

410 R: akhdhahii “seizing it,” referring to the property.

41 R : “Mu'nis al-Khiadim" Such a confusion with the later much more prominent
Mu’nis al-Khadim al-Mugzaffar (see below, n. 449) could easily happen. Mu'nis
al-Khizin, also known as Mu'nis al-Fahl (see below, n. 559), died on Sunday,
Ramadan 22, 301 (April 21, 914, which, however, was a Thursday). See ‘Arib, 45
{where the manuscript reads al-Khadim).

412 Not the biblical Niniveh but a district in the region of al-Kifah, see Yaqiit,
Muljam, 1V, 870.
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that the Arab tribesmen had left their location. Some of them had
entered the desert of the Mecca Road, and others the Syrian
desert. He remained where he was for several days and then went
to Madinat al-Salam.

In Shawwail, 286 (October 10-November 7, 899), al-Mu‘tadid
and ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman put Muhammad b. Dawiad b.
al-Jarrah43 in charge of the Diwan of the East,44 from which
Ahmad b. Muhammad b. al-Furat415 was dismissed. ‘Al1 b. ‘Isa b.
Dawiid b. al-Jarrah416 was put in charge of the Diwan of the West,
from which Ibn al-Furat was also dismissed.

*Leading the pilgrimage this year was Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah
al-Hashimi.*

4131bn al-Jarrdh, b. 243 (857- 8) (see $abi', Wuzara’, 390}, d. 296 (908}). He was the
uncle of the following ‘Ali b. {Isa and a son-in- law of the wazir ‘Ubaydallah b.
Sulayman. He served Tabari as an important source of historical information, see
text above, I1I, 2198, and below. See ER, s. v. Ibn al-Djarrah, and the work of H.
Bowen on his nephew, The Life and Times of ‘AlT b. Usa.

414 The Diwan(s) of the East and the West were the government departments in
charge of the tax income from the provinces to the east and the west of the Iraq. The
passage is quoted (via Ibn Khaldun) by Talbi, Emirat, 328, in connection with his
attempt to define the jurisdiction of the Diwan al-Maghrib. See also above, n. 21,
and below, n. 423.
415D, 291 (904). See EI, s. v. Ibn al-Furat. )

416 For (Ali b. Usa [245-334 (859-946)], see ER, s. v. (Ali b. {is3, and above, n. 413.
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287

(JANUARY 7 - DECEMBER 25, 900)

@

One of the events was al-Mu‘tadid's arrest of Muhammad b.
Ahmad b. // Isa b. Shaykh and some members of his family. He
had them put in chains and imprisoned in the house of Ibn
Tahir.417 The reason reported for this was that one of Muhammad's
relatives had gone to ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman and informed him
that Muhammad was about to flee with a number of his men and
his family. ‘Ubaydallah wrote al-Mu‘tadid about this, and the
Caliph replied, ordering ‘Ubaydallah to arrest him. ‘Ubaydallah
did that on Wednesday, al-Muharram 4, 287 (Thursday, January
10, 900).

In al-Muharram, 287 (January 7-February 5, 900), a letter
reached the central authorities in Baghdad from Abu al-Agharr.
It reported that the Tayyi’ had gathered against him, enlisting the
help of the Arab tribesmen that they were able to, and had struck
the pilgrim caravan. They attacked the pilgrims some ten mil
(20 ki) beyond al-Ma‘din,#8 while they were returning from Mecca
to Madinat al-Salam. The horsemen and foot soldiers of the Arab
tribesmen, with their tents, womenfolk, and camels, advanced
toward them. The foot soldiers numbered more than three thousand
men. A battle broke out between them and lasted all day long.

417 The house of Muhammad b. {Abdallah b. Tahir [d. 253 (867)] served for a while as
a prison. See text above, III, 2111. The Caliphs al-Mu‘tadid and al-Muktafi were
buried there.

418 Among the many “Mines,” this one was known as Ma'din al-Nuqrah or al-Nagqirah.
Mas{Gdi speaks in this context of some location between Ma‘din al-Qurashi and
al-Hajir, a place before Ma'din al-Nugrah (see Yaqiit, Muljam, 11, 182). Yaqdt,
Muljam, 1V, 804, also speaks of Ma'din al-Nugqrah as a Kifan pilgrim station
between Udah and Mawan, or as a station on the Mecca Road which was reached
from al-Hajir, where the roads to Mecca and to al-Madinah divide. The commenta-
tors on Labid, ed. Thsan ‘Abbas, 237, refer to a location “between al-Nibaj and
al-Nugrah”

[2191]
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That was Thursday, Dhu al-Hijjah 27, 286 (Thursday, January 3,
900). When night fell, the two sides separated. The following
morning, Friday, they again engaged in battle, this time from
early morning to midday. God then gave victory to His friends.
The Arab tribesmen turned back and fled, and did not reassemble
after having dispersed. Abi al-Agharr and all the pilgrims then
traveled on safely. He dispatched his letter with Sa‘id b. al-Asfar
b. ‘Abd al-A‘13,419 one of his distinguished cousins; he was the
one who had managed the arrest of Salih b. Mudrik. On Saturday,
al-Muharram 27, 287 (Saturday, February 2, 900), Abu al-Agharr
arrived in Madinat / / al-Salam, parading before him the heads
of $alih b. Mudrik, Jahnash,420 and a black page of Salih as well
as four captured cousins of Salih. Abu al-Agharr went to al-
Mu‘tadid’s palace where a robe of honor and a gold necklace were
bestowed upon him. The heads were displayed at the head of the
Upper Bridge on the East Side. The captives were put into the
dungeons.

On Safar 25, 287 (March 1, 900), al-Mu‘tadid came to Baghdad
from his pleasure resort in Baraz al-Raz#2! and ordered the con-
struction of a castle in Bardz al-Riz in a place chosen by him.
Implements were taken there, and construction was begun.

In Rabi‘I, 287 (March 6-April 4, 900), the Qarmatian problem
in al-Bahrayn became grave. They raided the region of Hajar,42
with some of them coming close to the Basrah region. Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. Yahya al-Wathiqi wrote asking for reinforcements,
and, at the end of the month, eight barges carrying three hundred
men were sent to him. Al-Mu'‘tadid also ordered the muster of an
army to be dispatched to al-Basrah.

On Sunday, Rabi' II 10, 287 (Monday, April 14, 900), Badr, the
mawla of al-Mu‘tadid, held a meeting in his house and looked

4191 have found no further information about him.

420 The form of the name does not appear to be certain. R and others read Juhaysh,
which is a better known name.

421 See text above, 11, 906, 909.

42 See ER, s. v. al-Hasa, the contemporary name of Hajar.
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into the affairs of the inner circle and the commoners, the land
tax, the estates, and matters of security.

On Monday, Rabi* I 11, 287 (Tuesday, April 15, 900), Muhammad
b. ‘Abd al-Hamid al-Kitib died. He had been in charge of the
comptroller's office for the tax revenues of the East and the
West.423 'On Wednesday, Rabi‘ II 13, 287 (Thursday, April 17,
900,) ! Ja‘far b. Muhammad b. Hafs* was put in charge of this
office. He went there the very same day and held a meeting. //

In Rabi‘ II 287 (April 5-May 3, 900), al-Mu‘tadid put ‘Abbas b.
‘Amr al-Ghanawi in charge of al-Yamamah and al-Bahrayn. He
also put him in charge of the campaign against Abt Sa‘id
al-Jannabi and the Qarmatians with him. The Caliph attached
about two thousand men to al-‘Abbas. Al-‘Abbas encamped in
al-Firks? for several days, until he was joined by his men. He
then went to al-Basrah and from there proceeded to al-Bahrayn
and al-Yamamabh.

In this year, the enemy reportedly arrived at the Qalamyah
Gate of Tarsts. *This was on Thursday, Rabi‘ I 23, 287 (Friday,
March 28, 900).* After the death of 1bn al-Ikhshad, Abt Thabit426
became amir of Tarsts. Ibn al-Ikhshad had left Aba Thabit
behind to take his place there when he went on a raid and died.
Abi Thabit marched in pursuit of the enemy as far as Nahr
al-Rayhan.427 He was captured, and the people with him suffered
severe losses. At the time Ibn Kallib was on a raid in Darb
al-Salamah.428 When he returned from it, he gathered the elders
of the border towns in order to have them agree upon an amir to
take charge of their affairs. They agreed upon ‘Ali b. al-A‘rabis29

423 See above, n. 21, and Talbi, Emirat, 328 (above, n. 414).

424 He was no doubt the official of the wazir ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman mentioned in
Sabi', Wuzara’, 12f.

425 Near Kalwadha. See ER, s. v. Kalwadha.

426 | have no further information about him.

427 | have not succeeded in identifying the location of this river.

428 See Honigmann, Ostgrenze, 86f., who indicates that Darb al-Salamah is identical
with Darb al-Hadath. See also Canard, Sources arabes, 14, who translates “Pyles
Ciliciennes."

429 ] have no further information about him.
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and put him in charge after some opposition from Abd Thabit's
son. The latter mentioned43 that his father had appointed him to
take his place. He gathered a number of people to fight the local
population, until Ibn Kallab intervened. The son of Aba Thabit
then declared himself satisfied. This was in Rabi II 287 (April
5-May 3, 900). At the time, al-Nughayl43! was on a raid in
Byzantine territory; he then returned to Tarsts. It was reported
that Abu Thabit and a number of Muslims had been taken from
the fortress of Quniyah432 to Constantinople.

In Rabi‘ II, 287 (April 5-May 3, 900), Ishaq b. Ayyub died. He
had been // in charge of security in Diyar Rabi‘ah. ‘Abdallah b.
al-Haytham b. ‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tamir was given charge of
his official functions.

On Wednesday, Jumada I 25, 287 (Wednesday, May 28, 900}, a
dispatch reportedly reached the central authorities in Baghdad
stating that Isma‘il b. Ahmad had captured ‘Amr al-Saffar and
allowed his camp to be looted. The story of ‘Amr and Isma‘il was
as follows: ‘Amr had asked the Caliph to appoint him governor of
Transoxania, and al-Mu‘tadid had done so. While ‘Amr was
staying in Naysabiir, al-Mu‘tadid sent him robes of honor and the
standard indicating his new rank as governor. When ‘Amr left to
fight Isma‘il b. Ahmad, the latter wrote him, *You are already in
control of a wide area, whereas I am in a border region and have
only Transoxania. Thus, be satisfied with what you have, and let
me stay in this border region!” ‘Amr refused to give in. When
the Oxus and the difficulty of crossing it were mentioned to him, he
said, “If I wanted to dam the Oxus with money bags and cross it, I
would do it.”

Seeing no hope that ‘Amr would turn back and leave him
alone, Isma‘il gathered his men and the small landowners and
village chiefs and crossed the river to the west bank. ‘Amr then

430 The active seems preferable here to the usual passive “reportedly” See Canard,
Sources arabes, 14.

431 See Ibn al-Mu'tazz (verses 355-59) and his contemptuous statement that Nughayl
is a misspelling of bughayl “little mule”

432 That is, modern Konya. R: ma‘a man hadara nawbatahi, for min Hisn Quniyah.
433 RB: “Mu‘ammar’ 1 have no further information about him.
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came and encamped at Balkh. Isma‘l cut off the surrounding
region to ‘Amr, so that he was, in effect, under siege. ‘Amr now
regretted what he had done, and reportedly#4 sought to prevent
the outbreak of fighting, but (now) Isma‘l did not want that.
After just a little fighting, ‘Amr was routed. Turning back, he
fled and came to a swamp along the road. Informed that it was a
shortcut, he told the rank and file with him to follow the well-
marked road, while he himself went with a few people and
entered the swamp. His horse became mired in it and fell down.
‘Amr was now at a loss as to what to do. Those who were with
him did not remain but left him. Isma‘il’s men came and captured
him. When // the story of ‘Amr and Isma‘il was reported to
al-Mu‘tadid, he reportedly praised Isma‘il and criticized ‘Amr.43

On Jumada I 29, 287 (June 1, 900), word reached the central
authorities in Baghdad that Wasif, the eunuch of Ibn Abi al-Saj,
had broken with Ibn Abi al-Saj and his men and that he had fled
from Bardha‘ah to Malatyah. He wrote to al-Mu‘tadid asking
him for an appointment as governor of the border regions.
Al-Mu‘tadid wrote to him and ordered him to come to him.4% (So
al-Mu‘tadid) sent Rashiq al-Hurami®¥ to him.

On Rajab 7, 287 (July 8, 900}, al-Mu‘tadid’s wife, the daughter
of Khumarawayh b. Ahmad b. Ttltin, died and was buried in the
castle of al-Rusafah.

On Rajab 10, 287 {July 11, 900), three persons sent by Wasif, the
eunuch of Ibn Abi al-Sij, came to the central authorities in
Baghdad. He had sent them to al-Mu‘tadid in order to ask the
Caliph that he (Wasif) be made governor of the border regions

434 Text: dhukira; R: dhakarii; B: dhukira Ii.

435 The passage was quoted by Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, V1, 426f., under Ya‘qub
al-Saffar. Ibn Khallikan, op. cit., VI, 431, also refers briefly to the paragraph in the
text below, 2196f.

4% Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 11, adds, probably from a recension of Tabari: “but he
took his time.”

437 R: “a]-Khadim” Rashiq al-Aysar al-Hurami is mentioned in ‘Arib, 184, sub anno
320 (932). Rashiq al-Hurami can thus be assumed to be identical with Rashiq
al-Aysar. See ‘Arib, 56, 181; Eclipse, 1, 229, sub anno 319. According to ‘Arib, 56, he
was related by marriage to Nasr al-Qushiiri, who was presumably his father-in-law.
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and that robes of honor be sent to him. Al-Mu‘tadid reportedly
gave orders that the emissaries be made to confess the reason why
Wasif had separated from his master Ibn Abi al-S3j and gone to
the border regions. Beaten until they confessed, they admittted
that the separation was based on an understanding between
Wasif and his master. That is, when Wasif reached the place
where he was now, his master would join him, and together they
would move against Egypt438 and subdue it. This became common
knowledge, and people talked about it.

On Rajab 11, 287 (July 12, 900), Hamid b. al-‘Abbas#¥ was put
in charge of the land tax and the estates of Fars, which had been
under the control of ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar. His letters of
appointment were handed over to his brother Ahmad b. al-
‘Abbas.#0 Hamid had been / / staying in Wasit, because he was
governor of the city and the Tigris counties. He wrote to ‘Isa
al-Nashari, who was in Isbahan, asking him to come to Fars to
take charge of security.

In this year, al-‘Abbas b. ‘Amr al-Ghanawi and the troops
attached to him reportedly left al-Basrah together with the Basran
volunteers, who were ready to fight with him, in order to march
against AbQi Said al-Jannabi and the Qarmatians who made
common cause with him. When Abt Sa‘id’s vanguards met them,
al-‘Abbas left his train behind and moved toward them. He
encountered Abti Sa‘id and the men with him in the evening.
They engaged in combat, until night interrupted contact between
them, and both parties returned to their respective locations.
During the night, the Arab tribesmen of the Bant Dabbah who
were with al-‘Abbas went to al-Basrah; they numbered about
three hundred. They were followed by the Basran volunteers.
Early in the morning, al-‘Abbas started to engage the Qarmatians

438 Text: Mudar, but see Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCXCIX, as well as R where the
vocalization is clearly Misr. See also Canard, Sources arabes, 15. “Mudar” is quite
unlikely, but if Egypt is meant, it would seem to have been an unreasonable plan. At
any rate, the enterprise constituted a considerable threat to the government in
Baghdad; thus, the rumors circulating there had political significance.

439 For Ibn al-{Abbas [233-311 (837-923)}, see ER, s. v. Hamid b. al{Abbas.

440 Ahmad b. al-{Abbas died in Sha‘ban, 304 (January-February, 917). See ‘Arib, 63.
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in combat, and the fighting was fierce. The commander of
al-‘Abbas’s left wing, Najah,#! the page of Ahmad b. ‘Isa b.
Shaykh, attacked the right wing of Abt Sa‘id with a number442 of
his men—about a hundred strong. They broke through the right
wing, but Najah and all those with him were killed. Al-Jannabi
and his men now attacked al-‘Abbas's men, and the latter were
routed. Al-‘Abbas surrendered, and about seven hundred of his
men were captured. Al-Jannabi took possession of what was in
al-‘Abbas's camp. The day after the battle, al-Jannabi had
al-‘Abbias's men who had been captured brought before him, and
then had them all killed. Following that, he ordered firewood
thrown upon the corpses and had them burned. This battle
reportedly took place at the end of Rajab, 287 {July 31, 900).
Word concerning it reached Baghdad on Sha‘ban 4, 287 (August
4, 900).

In this year, al-Jannabi reportedly reached Hajar. He entered it
and granted guarantees of safe-conduct / / to its inhabitants. This
was after his return from the battle with al-‘Abbas. He routed the
remnant of 43 the men of al-‘Abbis b. ‘Amr who were on their
way to al-Basrah. Only a small number of them managed to
escape, and without provisions and clothing. A group of about
four hundred pack animals carrying food, clothing, and water
left al-Basrah to meet them. The Bant Asad reportedly went out
against them. They seized the pack animals and their loads and
killed a number of the men who were with those animals, as well
as the men of al-‘Abbas who had escaped. This was in Ramadan,
287 (August 30-September 28, 900). Al-Basrah was greatly dis-
turbed by this event, and the inhabitants thought of moving
away. But Ahmad b. Muhammad al-Wathiqgi, who was in charge
of security there, forbade them to leave. They feared that the
Qarmatians would assault them.

On Ramadan 8, 287 (September 6, 900), a mail pouch from
al-Ubullah reportedly reached the central authorities with the
information that Abu Sa‘ld al-Jannabi had released al-‘Abbas b.
‘Amr and one of his eunuchs and that al-‘Abbas was arriving on

4411 have no further information concerning him.
442 R: mtw'h “volunteers from” (7).
443 R: “people from!”
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a seagoing vessel. On Ramadan 11, 287 (September 9, 900), al-
‘Abbas b. ‘Amr arrived at Madinat al-Salam and went to al-
Mu‘tadid’s Thurayya palace. It is reported that he had remained
with al-Jannabi for several days after the battle. Then al-Jannabi
summoned al-‘Abbas and asked him whether he would like to be
released. When al-‘Abbas replied, *yes,” al-Jannabi said, “Then
go and tell the one who sent you Fagainst me! what you have
seen!”#4 He gave him animals to ride on and attached some of his
men to him. He had them outfitted with the needed provisions
and water, and ordered the men whom he sent with al-‘Abbas to
bring him to a place where he would be safe. They traveled with
him until they reached one of the places along the coast. There he
found a boat to carry him to al-Ubullah. Al-Mu‘tadid bestowed a
robe of honor upon him and gave him leave to return to his
residence.

On Thursday, Shawwal 11, 287 (Thursday, October 9, 900),
al-Mu'tadid left // his tent at Bab al-Shammasiyyah to go in
pursuit of Wasif, the eunuch of Ibn Abi al-S3j. He kept his
intention concealed, stating (officially) that he was going toward
Diyar Mudar.

On Friday, Shawwal 12, 287 (Friday, October 10, 900), news
reportedly reached the central authorities that the Qarmatians in
the Sawad from among the inhabitants of Junbula'#5 had attacked

44 The Qarmatian's message and al-Mu‘tadid’s reaction to it are reported in
al-Ghanawi's name by Taniikhi, Fargj, 1, 98f., see de Goeje, Carmathes, Appendix,
IX-XI; Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 13-16; Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V, 133f.; al-Uyun
wa-al-hada’iq, ed. Dawiid, 1, 161-64, ed. Sa‘idi, I, 94f. Since Miskawayh systemati-
cally quotes Tabari, it might be suspected that he also derived this most interesting
report from a recension of the History. This, however, does not seem to be the case.
The source for this report from al-Ghanawi (as well as for the other addition in
Miskawayh, see above, Foreword, xviii f.) was the qadi Abd al-Hasan Muhammad b.
¢Abd al-Wihid who was still alive in 356 (967) as indicated in Tanukhi, Nishwar, 11,
157, ed. Margoliouth, Table-Talk, text, 185 (Oriental Translation Fund, N. S. 27-28).
He cannot be assumed to have had contact with Tabarl; moreover, the chain of
transmitters leads back to the Taniikhis. If Mas'Gdt's Kitab al-Awsat were preserved,
we would probably know more about the transmission of al-Jannabi's message, since
it contained a lengthy treatment of the episode. See Mas'iidi, Muriij, VIII, 193f., ed.
Pellat, V, 166f. A different version is found in Magqrizi, Ittiaz, 110f.

445 Located between Waisit and al-Kifah. See Yaqat, Mu'jam, 11, 126.
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their governor Badr,46 the page of al-Ta"1, killed a number of
Muslims, including women and children, and burned the
residences.

On Dhi al-Qa‘dah 14, 287 (November 10, 900), al-Mu‘tadid
encamped at Kanisat al-Sawda'# while searching for the eunuch
Wasif. He remained there, Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday
(November 12-14), until the men caught up with him. The
Caliph wanted to travel in the direction of al-Massisah, but the
spies came to him with the information that the eunuch was
going to ‘Ayn Zarbah. So he ordered the border-region couriers
and knowledgeable people brought to him and asked them about
the most direct road to ‘Ayn Zarbah. In the morning of Thursday,
Dhi al-Qa‘dah 17, 287 (Thursday, November 13, 900}, they crossed
the Jayhan with him. He sent his son ‘Ali together with al-Hasan
b. ‘Ali Kurah in the vanguard. Following ‘Ali in order were Ja‘far
b. Si'r,48 Muhammad b. Kumushjir, Khagan al-Muflihi, "Mu'nis
al-Khadim'49 and Mu'nis al-Khazin. Following them, al-
Mu'‘tadid came with the chamber pages.450 Passing by ‘Ayn Zarbah,
the Caliph had a tent set up for himself there. He left Khafif
al-Samarqandi behind there with his train, while he himself
marched behind the officers after the eunuch. After the afternoon
prayer, he received the good news that the eunuch had been
captured. The eunuch was brought // to al-Mu‘tadid who
turned him over to Mu’nis al-Khazin, 4! chief of the military police
at the time. He further ordered that guarantees of safe-conduct be

445 He is first mentioned in the text above, 111, 2107, sub anno 271 {885), as attached

to Yusuf b. Ab1 al-Saj. He appears once more below, 2202. His master al-Ta" is the
individual mentioned above, n. 79.

447 As described by Yaqiit, Mu'jam, 1V, 314, the place was named thus because of its
church (kanisah) built of black {sawda’} stone, and it was located in the region of
al-Massigah.

448 R; Sa'd. I have no further information about him.

49 Mu'nis al-Khadim, called al-Muzaffar “The Victorious One” after his successes,
particularly in Egypt. He died, after a glorious career, in 321 (933) at the age of about
ninety. See Dhahabi, {Ibar, I, 188. He is, of course, mentioned in all the histories of
al-Muqtadir. See Eclipse, Index, 95f.

450 On the chamber pages (ghilman al-hujar or al-hujariyyah), see ER, s. v. ghulam
{11, 1080a). .

451 Text: al-Khadim; read al-Khazin as in RC. Note that al-Khadim also appears in
the somewhat different description of this episode in Mas‘Gdi, Muriij, VIII, 198, ed.
Pellat, V, 168. The position indicated here does not, it seems, make it possible for us
to determine with certainty which Mu'nis is meant.
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granted to the eunuch’s men and that it be announced in the
camp that those whose saddles contained anything looted from
the eunuch’s camp and who did not return it to his men would be
outside the protection of the law. Therefore, the loot from the
camp was returned to many of the eunuch’s men. The battle and
the capture of the eunuch Wasif reportedly took place on Thursday,
Dh al-Qa‘dah 17, 287 (Thursday, November 13, 900). Thirty-six
days had elapsed from the day al-Mu‘tadid left his tent at Bab
al-Shammasiyyah to the day the eunuch was apprehended.

After the eunuch was apprehended, al-Mu'tadid reportedly
went back to ‘Ayn Zarbah and stayed there two days. On the morn-
ing of the third day, the inhabitants of ‘Ayn Zarbah gathered and
asked him to leave because of the shortage of food in town.
Therefore he left on the third day. He encamped at al-Massisah
with all his troops, except for Abd al-Agharr Khalifah b. al-
Mubarak whom he had sent to block the eunuch'’s way, so that he
would not get to Mar‘ash and the Malatyah region, as he had
already sent off his family and the families of his men to Mar‘ash.
The eunuch’s men who had fled learned about al-Mu‘tadid’s
guarantees of safe-conduct and his order to return their belong-
ings to them. They therefore joined the camp of al-Mu‘tadid
and accepted his guarantee of safe-conduct.

Al-Mu‘taqdid reportedly encamped at al-Massisah on Sunday,
Dhii al-Qa‘dah 20, 287 (Sunday, November 16, 900). He remained
there until the following Sunday. He wrote to the dignitaries of
Tarsts asking them to join him there. Coming to him452 were
al-Nughayl, one of the chieftains of the two border regions,453
and a son of his*4 as well as a man called Ibn al-Muhandis4s5
and a number of others with them. Al-Mu‘tadid detained them
/ /7 and others. He released most of them, but those whom he had
detained, he took with him to Baghdad.4% He was angry at them
because they had reportedly corresponded with the eunuch Wasif.

452 RB: ilayhi, for (the misprint ?) ilayhim.

43R: wujith al-thaghrayn {see also C). Apparently the ‘awasim and thughiir are
meant.

454 See Ibn al-Mu'tazz, verse 357.

455 No further information concerning him seems to be available.

456 The Caliph arrived in Baghdad on Safar 7, 288 (January 31, 901). During his
festive entry he paraded Wasif, al-Nughayl, al-Nughayl's son, and Ibn al-Muhandis
through the streets, dressed in the manner usual on these occasions and seated on
camels. See Mas(iidi, Murij, VIII, 198f., ed. Pellat, V, 129.
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Al-Mu‘tadid ordered the burning of all the seagoing vessels
which the Muslims used for raids, together with all their equip-
ment. Damyanah, the page of Yazman, 457 reportedly was the one
who had advised him to do that because he held a grudge against
the inhabitants of Tarsus. Everything was burned. Among the
ships, there were about fifty old ones, on which a large amount of
money had been spent and the like of which are no longer built.
The burning of these ships proved harmful to the Muslims and
diminished their military potential, while it strengthened the
Byzantines who were now safe from being raided by sea.

Al-Mu‘tadid put al-Hasan b. ‘Ali Kurah in charge of the Syrian
Border regions in response to a request of their inhabitants who
agreed to his appointment.

Al-Mu‘tadid reportedly left al-Massisah, and during the course
of his journey he camped at the following places: Fundugq
al-Husayn, 458 al-Iskandariyyah,#9 Baghras, and, finally, Antakiyah
where he arrived on Dhu al-Hijjah 2, 287 (November 28, 900). He
stayed in Antikiyah until Dha al-Hijjah 10, 287 (December 6,
900), and left early the following day. His itinerary went via
Artah, al-Atharib, Aleppo, where he stayed two days, al-Na‘arah,
Khusaf, with Siffin on the Jazirah side and the Treasury of the
Commander of the Faithful ‘Ali b. Abi Talib on the other side,460
Balis, Dawsar, and Batn Damain.%! From there he went to al-
Raqqgah; he entered the city on Dhii al-Hijjah 21, 287 {December
17, 900), and remained there until Dha al-Hijjah 27, 287 (De-
cember 23, 900).

On Shawwal 24, 287 (October 22, 900), word reached the central
authorities that Muhammad b. Zayd al-‘Alawi had been killed.462
/ / The reason why he was killed reportedly was this: When news
of the capture of ‘Amr b. al-Layth by Isma‘il b. Ahmad reached
Muhammad b. Zayd, Ibn Zayd left with a large army for

457 See above, n. 180.

4581 have no further information on this locality.

459 That is, al-Iskandarinah, Alexandrette.

460 Siffin is assumed to be located after Balis on this itinerary. See Canard, Sources
arabes, 17, and idem, Hamdanides, map between pp. 240 and 241.

461 See Yaqit, Mu'jam, 11, 538f.

462 Those interested in al-Mu'tadid’s supposed pro-‘Alid stance maintained that he
was grieved to hear the news. See Mas‘Gdi, Muriij, V111, 209, ed. Pellat, V, 173.
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Khurasan43 which he had great hopes of conquering. He thought
that the administrative authority that had accrued to Isma‘il b.
Ahmad when ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar was governor of Khurasan
would not expand, and thus nobody would keep him from
Khurasian now that ‘Amr had been captured and no agent of the
central authorities was there. When he reached Jurjan and stayed
there, Isma‘il wrote to him and asked that he return to Tabaristan
and leave Jurjan to him, but Ibn Zayd refused. As has been
mentioned to me, Isma‘l therefore urged a man called Muham-
mad b. Hariin,%4 a lieutenant of Rifi‘ b. Harthamah in the days
when Rafi‘ was in control of Khurasan, to fight Muhammad b.
Zayd. Muhammad b. Harlin accepted, and Isma‘il attached many
of his men and troops to him, sending him off to fight Ibn Zayd.
Muhammad b. Harin marched against Ibn Zayd; the two met at
the Gate of Jurjan#5 and fought a fierce battle in which Muham-
mad b. Harun's force was routed. Later Muhammad b. Hirtn
returned when the ranks of the ‘Alid (Ibn Zayd) had broken up.
Now, the ‘Alid’s force was routed. They turned back and fled, and
many were reportedly killed. Ibn Zayd was wounded several
times, his son Zayd46 was captured, and Muhammad b. Harin
took possession of his camp and all it contained. Several days
after the battle, Muhammad b. Zayd died of the blows which he
had sustained. He was buried at the Gate of Jurjan. His son Zayd
was brought to Isma‘il b. Ahmad. Muhammad b. Harun marched
on Tabaristan./ /

On Saturday, Dhii al-Qa‘dah 12, 287 (Saturday, November 8,
900), Badr, the page of al-Ta'i, made a surprise attack on the
Qarmatians in the region of Rudhmastin%’ and elsewhere. He
reportedly killed a great many of them but then withdrew, because

463 R: “Jurjan,” also Mas'idi, Muraj, VIII, 194, ed. Pellat, V, 167. The other later
sources read Khurasan.

464 According to Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, V11, 365, Muhammad b. Harun
was captured after his defeat and flight (see text below, 2220f.). He died near the end
of 290 {903). Supposedly he had started out as a tailor and then became a highway
robber with a gang of low-class people he had gathered around himself in the desert
of Sarakhs. Following that he entered the service of Rafi¢ b. Harthamah.

465 Here, the capital of the region. See ER, s. v. Gurgan.

466 1 have not found any further information about him.

467 See Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCXCIX. R: Dwrmst'n, which is almost correct.
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he feared that the Sawad might be ruined, since they were the
peasants and laborers there. He searched for their leaders in
various locations and killed those whom he came upon. The
Caliph had previously reinforced Badr with a number of his
soldiers and pages on account of the Qarmatians and the events
caused by them.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah
b. Dawad.
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The
Events of the Year

288

(DECEMBER 26, 900 - DECEMBER 15, 901)

?

One of the events was that a report reached the central authori-
ties in Baghdad mentioning the outbreak of pestilence#8 in
Adharbayjan. A large number of people died, so that there were
not enough shrouds in which to bury the dead. They were buried
in garments and felt blankets. Conditions then became so bad
that they could no longer find anybody to bury the dead, and they
were left lying in the streets. *Muhammad b. Abi al-Saj died
during this pestilence.*469

In this year, the men of Tahir b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b.

al-Layth470 entered Fars and ejected the officials of the central
authorities. This happened on Safar 17, 288 (February 10, 901).

In this year, Muhammad b. Ab1i al-S3j, who was called Afshin,
died in Adharbayjan. // His pages and a number of his men
gathered and made *his son* Déwdad b. Muhammad4! their
amir, against the opposition of Yasuf b. Abi al-Saj who dissoci-
ated himself from them.

On Rabi‘ 11, 27, 288 (April 20, 901), a dispatch from the post-
master in al-Ahwaz arrived at Baghdad. He mentioned in it that
the men of Tahir b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b. al-Layth had reached
Sanbil4’2 on their way toward al-Ahwaz.

468 Waba’ could refer more specifically to the plague, but it is a general term for
pestilence or epidemic. See Dols, Black Death.

469 1bn al-Athir also refers to the death of Muhammadb. Abi al-S3j in this
connection.

470 His capture is reported in 297 (910). See text below, 2285; ‘Arib, 32.

471 Déwdad was named after his grandfather, Aba al-Saj Déwdad. The last mention
of him occurs sub anno 307 (919-20). See Eclipse, 1, 74.

472 Sanb1l was located on the border of Khizistan and Fars. See Le Strange, Lands,
244, 269.
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On Jumada I 1, 288 (April 23, 901),473 ‘Amr b. al-Layth was
brought to Baghdad+4 by ‘Abdallah b. al-Fath, who had been sent
by Isma‘il b. Ahmad, and by Ashnas, 4’5 a page of Isma‘l b.
Ahmad. It has been mentioned to me that Isma‘ll b. Ahmad gave
‘Amr the choice of remaining with him as a prisoner or being
sent to the court of the Commander of the Faithful, and he chose
the latter.

On Jumada II 2, 288 (May 24, 901), a dispatch from the post-
master of al-Ahwaz reportedly arrived at Baghdad from al-Ahwaz.
The postmaster mentioned in it that a dispatch from Isma‘l b.
Ahmad had reached Tahir b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr, informing
him that the central authorities had appointed him476 governor of
Sijistan and ordered him to go there. Isma‘il was coming to Fars to
attack Tahir, and he would then return to Sijistan. Tahir had
rebelled4?7 on this account. He had written to his cousin, who
was staying in Arrajan with his army, and ordered him to come
back to Fars along with those with him.478

In this year, al-Mu'‘tadid, having learned that Tahir b. Muham-
mad had gained control *of affairs* in Fars, appointed his mawla
Badr governor of that province 479 and ordered him to go there.
On Jumada II 7(9),480 288 [May 29 (31), 901}, // he bestowed a
robe of honor upon him and attached a number of officers to him.
Badr then proceeded with a large force of soldiers and pages.

On Jumada 11 2, 288 (June 1, 901}, ‘Abdallah b. al-Fath and
Ashnas, the page of Isma‘il, left Baghdad to go to Isma‘il b.

473 Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, V1, 427, in quoting this passage, adds the correct day of
the week, Thursday, no doubt from a Tabarl manuscript.

474 Mas‘Gdi, Murgj, VIIL, 200f., ed. Pellat, V, 170 (also VIII, 208f.; V, 173), adds that
he was dressed in the fashion customary on such occasions.

4751 have no further information about him.

476 That is, Isma‘ll b. Ahmad. It could hardly mean that Tahir was given that
appointment to draw him away from Fars.

477 RB: jazi‘a *had become afraid,” which is possibly the more correct text.

478 The text seems to suggest that this was Tahir'’s cousin (R: “uncle”) who was in
Arrajan in the Province of Fars, but no name of another son of ‘Amr except
Muhammad seems to be attested.

479 From here to p. 104, 1. 22, C is missing. See Foreward, xix.

480 R: “seven”’; B: “nine.’
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Ahmad 'b. Saman! with letters®! from al-Mu‘tadid and a corselet,
a crown,%?2 and a sword of gold, completely encrusted with jewels.
He also sent gifts and three million dirhams for distribution
among Khurasanian soldiers to be sent to Sijistan to fight the
men of Tahir b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr there. According to another
report, the amount sent to him by al-Mu‘tadid was ten million
dirhams. Part of it was sent by al-Mu‘tadid from Baghdad. He
wrote to the officials of al-Jabal, ordering them to give the rest of
it to the emissaries.

In Rajab, 288 (June 21-July 20, 901), Badr, the mawla of
al-Mu‘tadid, drew close to Fars. The associates of Tahir b.
Muhammad who were there withdrew. Badr's men entered Fars,
and his officials collected the land tax there.

On Ramadan 2, 288 (August 20, 901), a dispatch from ‘Ajj b.
Hajj,483 the governor of Mecca, reportedly arrived at Baghdad. ‘Ajj
mentioned in it that the Banu Ya'fur# had attacked a man who
had seized control of San‘a’. He suggested4ss that he was an ‘Alid
and that they had routed him.48 He had then taken refuge in a
city, fortifying himself there. When they got to him, they attacked
him and routed him again, capturing a son of his;#7 he escaped

48t Read bi-rasa’il as in R. The text has bi-khila‘ “with robes of honors,” following
the text of Ibn al-Athir.

482 Corselets and crowns were expensive gifts also sent on occasion to ‘Amr b.
al-Layth. See Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha'ir, 40, 45. Mas‘Qidi, Murij, V11, 201, ed. Pellat,
V, 170, describes the gifts as “a corselet of brocade woven with gold and studded with
jewels, a gold belt studded with jewels, and other jewels, as well as three hundred
thousand dinars (!}

483 He was amir of Mecca in 281 (894-5). See Wiistenfeld, Chroniken, 1, 342. He died
in 306 (918). See above, n. 401.

484 On the Banu Ya‘fur in the Yemen, see Zambaur, 116. For this particular episode,
see also Ibn al-Mu‘tazz (verses 377-86). The Arabic lexicographers suggest different
vocalizations for Ya'fur. Yu'fir is the one adopted in ER, Suppl., s. v. al-Hadi ila
'I-Hakk.

485 R: wa-za‘ama; B: “mentioned”

48 R; “routed his men

487 presumably, the ‘Alid was the Qarmatian ‘Ali b. al-Fadl [d. 303 (915}]. See Kay,
Yaman, 207, and below, nn. 751 and 818. It seems, however, that Tabari's statement
cannot be fully clarified by means of the ample information we have about the
turbulent events that took place in $ana’ in 288-9. In these events, Yahya al-Hadi ila
al-Haqq, the founder of Zaydi rule in the Yemen, also played a prominent role. See
van Arendonk, Opkomst, 191£f.; ER, Suppl., s. v. al-Had1 ila '1-Hakk.
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with about fifty persons. The Banti Ya‘fur entered San‘a’ and
mentioned al-Mu‘tadid in the Friday sermon there.

In this year, Yusuf b. Abi al-Saj with a few men attacked his
nephew // Déwdad b. Muhammad, who had the army of his
father Muhammad b. Abi al-S3j with him. Yusuf routed4s
Déwdad's army, leaving the latter with only a small number of
people. He suggested to him that he stay with him, but Déwdad
refused, *saying that he would go to the Caliph’s court. (Yasuf)
started to go along with him for a while and to ask him to stay
with him, but he refused*4 and took the Mosul Road. He reached
Baghdad on Thursday, Ramadan 23, 288 (Thursday, September
10, 901). The battle between the two had taken place in the region
of Adharbayjan.

In this year, Nizar b. Muhammad,*%0 the agent of al-Hasan b.
‘Ali Kurah, went on the summer campaign, conquering many
Byzantine fortresses. He brought into Tarsus some one hundred
and sixty non-Muslims, 491 abbots,42 and deacons as well as
many of their crosses and banners. Kirah sent them on to Baghdad.

On Dhi al-Hijjah 12, 288 {November 27, 901), letters of the
merchants reached Baghdad from al-Raqqah stating that the

Byzantines had arrived in many vessels. Some Byzantiries had-

also come on (horse)back to the region of Kaysiim.43 They had
driven off more than fifteen thousand Muslims, men, women,
and children. They had left with them, including some protected
non-Muslims they had seized.

488 R: fa-hazama, also Miskawayh, Tajarib V, 18.

489 The addition in R is also found in Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 18.

490 Apparently, the individual who was removed from the administration of the
Haramayn in 310 {923) (Hamadhani, Takmilah, 31) and died in 317 {929-30) (‘Arib,
146, where he is called AbG Ma‘add al-I3abbi). See below, n. 713.

491 The contemptous term ('ilj}, referring to the native non-Muslim population, is
translated “Barbares chrétiens” by Canard, Sources arabes, 17.

492 The context refers to church dignitaries, and R has the expected al-gamamisah,
from Greek hégoumenos.

493 See Honigmann, Ostgrenze, index, s. v. Kaésoun.

97

[2205]



98

[2206]

The Return of the Caliphate to Baghdad

In this year, the men of Abu Sa‘id al-Jannabi came close to
al-Basrah. The inhabitants were so afraid of them that they thought
of fleeing and moving away. However, their governor forbade
them to do that.

At the end of Dhu al-Hijjah, 288 {December 15, 901), 494 Wasif,
the eunuch of Ibn Abi al-Saj, was killed. His corpse was taken
and hung on the East Side. According to another report, he was
not killed but died (of natural causes), and after he had died, his
head was cut off.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was Abda Bakr Hardn b.
Muhammad.45 / /

49 In his more detailed report, Mas‘adi, Murij, VI, 202f., ed. Pellat, V, 170f., gives
the date of Thursday, al-Muharram 1, 289 (Wednesday, December 16, 901).

495 According to Mas'iidi, Muritj, IX, 75, ed. Pellat, V, 299, he was Hariin b.
Muhammad (Muhammad b. Hariin ?} b. al-{Abbas b. Ibrahim b. {sa b. Ja‘far b. Abi
Ja'far al-Mansur, a great-great-great-grandson of the Caliph al-Mansir. If the
pedigree is correct, Harin b. Muhammad could not have been a son of the leader of
the pilgrimage in 280. The latter's son and successor, moreover, was called Abd Ja'far
{see Khatib, Ta’rikh Baghdad, 111, 356).



The
*Important* Events of4% the Year

289

(DECEMBER 16, 901 - DECEMBER 4, 902)

?

One of the events was the spread of the Qarmatian movement
in the Kiifan countryside. Shibl,497 a page of Ahmad b. Muham-
mad al-Ta'i, was sent against them. He was ordered to search for
them, seize all of them that he might come upon, and bring
them?%8 to the Caliph's court. He came upon a leader of theirs,
known as Ibn Abi al-Qaws.#? He was sent with the others to
Baghdad. On al-Muharram 22, 289, (January 8, 902}, al-Mu'tadid
summoned him and interrogated him. He then ordered his teeth
knocked out. Thereafter, his (limbs) were dislocated by stretching
one of his hands with a pulley while a rock was attached to the
other hand.50 He was left in this state from midday to evening.501
The next day, his hands and feet were cut off, and he was decapi-
tated. His corpse was hung on the East Side. After several days, it
was carried to al-Yasiriyyah,52 where it was hung together with
the Qarmatians who had been hung there.

496 R: al-ahdath al-jalilah; B: "matters.”

497 | have not succeeded in finding any further information about him.

498 Both manuscripts, R and B, have wa-hamlihi. Hamlihim in the Leiden edition
may be a misprint. The meaning is the same.

4% The reading al-Fawaris adopted in the Leiden edition has very little authority. It
is not found in either of the Tabarl manuscripts. R has al-Faws. In Mas'tdi, Muriij,
VI, 204¢., 422, ed. Pellat, V, 171£,, it is merely an editorial choice. It does appear in
Ibn al-Athir and in al-Uyiin wa-al-Hada’iq, ed. Dawad, 1, 169, ed. Sa‘idi, 1, 100.
Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 18, has al-Qaws, and, above all, Ibn al-Mu'tazz, verse 413,
also has al-Qaws. It would seem that the reading al-Fawaris is merely a substitution
of a more common name for an unfamiliar one (which, moreover, could be Faws or
Qaws). Not surprisingly, no further information about the individual seems to be
available.

500 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 18; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujum, iil, 126, make the procedure
a little clearer. A rock was attached to one hand, and a pulley string to the other.

501 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 18: “three hours.”

502 See Lassner, Topography, 259, n. 62.
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On Rab1' I 2, 289 (February 14, 902), those whose houses and
shops were at Bab al-Shammasiyyah were evicted from them.
They were told to take what they could salvages03 and leave. This
was because al-Mu'tadid thought of building himself a palace
*there* to live in. He had the foundation lines traced at the place
where the wall was to be built and excavated part of the area. He
began with the construction of a pavillion5 along the Tigris. He
had ordered its construction so that he could move into it,
remaining there until the construction of the palace and castle
was completed.

On Monday5 night [Rabi‘ II 289 (Monday, April 5, 902)],
al-Mu‘tadid died. // The following morning, Yusuf b. Ya‘qiib,
Abu Khazim ‘Abd al-Hamid b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz,506 and Abi ‘Umar
Muhammad b. Yasuf b. Ya'qub507 were brought to the Caliph's
palace58 The funeral prayer was attended by the wazir al-Qasim

503 Text: agfasakum; read anqadakum, as in R and Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI, 30,
1. 14. Anqad refers to things that were still usable or saleable after a building was
torn down. See, for instance, text above, III, 320, 385; Magqrizi, Khitat, 1, 325, 327;
Dozy, 11, 714. Aqfasakum, as in the Leiden edition, may not even have been intended
in B; if it constitutes an acceptable reading, it may mean "your cages” in the sense of
containers in which the merchandise (and other belongings) were kept. See text
above, 111, 193 (ashab al-aqfas), and 279 (darb al-aqfas).

504 For dakkah meaning “raised platform,” see text below, 2244f. Here, an inhabitable
construction is meant.

55 Al-ithnayn is indeed found in R as expected. The night from Sunday to Monday
is meant. Al-Mu'tadid thus died on Sunday, April 4. See also Mas‘iidi, Murqj, VIII,
113, ed. Pellat, V, 137. Ibn Abi Usaybi‘ah, (Uyiin, [, 231, 1. 31, mentions “the night of
{Monday to) Tuesday”

506 According to Waki', Akhbar al-qudah, 111, 198, Abii Khazim succeeded Ibrahim
b. Ishaq b. Ab1 al-{Anbas as qadi of al-Kiifah when Ibn Abi al-‘Anbas died in 275-6
(888-9) [in fact, he died on Tuesday, Rabi Il 26, 277 (Monday, August 17, 890), as
indicated in Khatib, Ta'rikh Baghdad, V1, 25f.]. Abu Khdzim was then named qadi
of al-Sharqiyyah in Baghdad and continued at the same time as qadi of al-Kiifah
until his death in 272 [sic, read 292 {905), see the obituary notice in lbn al-Jawzi,
Muntazam, VI, 52-56; Mas‘adi, Muriij, V111, 236, ed. Pellat, V, 187, gives the exact
date, although the day of the month must be corrected from seventh to ninth, that is,
Thursday, Jumada II 9, 292 (Thursday, April 18, 905)]. Instead of Abii Khazim, one
often finds Abl Hazim, but the former seems to be the preferred form of the name.
507 See above, n. 217. The task of the three judges was the preparation of the death
certificate.

508 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 24, 11. 1f,, supplies here what is no doubt a homoio-
teleuton omission in the manuscript tradition of Tabari: “The washing of al-
Mu‘tadid was supervised by Muhammad b. Yiisuf, and the funeral prayer for him by
Yasuf b. Ya'qib.”
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b. ‘Ubaydallah b. Sulaymin, AbG Khazim, Abt ‘Umar,50% the
eunuchs,510 and the inner circle of notables. Al-Mu‘tadid had
stipulated in his last will that he wished to be buried in the
house of Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b. Tahir.5!! A grave was dug for
him there. He was carried from his palace which was known as
al-Hasani, during the night and buried in his grave there.

On Rabi‘ II 22, 289 (April 6, 902), al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah b.
Sulayman sat in the Caliph's Hasani Palace and permitted people
to come in to express to him their condolences on the death of
al-Mu‘tadid and to congratulate him on his new ruler, al-Muktafi.
He ordered the civilian and military officials to renew the oath of
allegiance to al-Muktafi, and they did so.512

509 Both Muhammad and his father Yusuf probably attended.

510 Text: al-haram “the harem"; read al-khadam as in R. The latter reading appears
to be preferable. The two words are frequently paired.

511 See above, n. 417. Khatib, Ta’rikh Baghdad, 1V, 407, 1. 8, specifies " the marble
chamber” of the house. See also verse 3 of the elegy of Ibn al-Mu'tazz, Diwan, 1V,
133.

512 As indicated in the Leiden edition, Ibn Abil Usaybi‘ah, ‘Uyun, 1, 231, 11. 19-30,
quotes a medical anecdote in connection with the death of al-Mu‘tadid on the
authority of the History of Tabari. There is no real reason to doubt that it belonged to
a recension of the work. It may, at some stage, have been omitted by Tabari himself,
or the compiler of a recension, as too anecdotal and irrelevant:

“As the story goes, the physicians Dawud b. Daylam [d. Saturday, al-Muharram 5,
329 (Saturday, October 10, 940), see Ibn Abi ‘Usaybi‘ah, ‘Uyiin, 1, 234] and (Abdis (in

whose biography the quotation from Tabari appears; see Ullmann, Die Medizin imr

Islam, 302) have said: When al-Mu‘tadid’s illness became grave—it was a sort of
dropsy and corrupt temper, from which he was getting away (?) —and he feared for
his life, we and all the other physicians were brought into his presence. He said to us,
‘Don't you say that when a disease is known, the remedy is known, and when a
patient is given that remedy, he gets better?” When we gave an affirmative answer, he
continued, ‘So, do you know my illness and the remedy for it, or don't you?' We said
we knew it, and he said, ‘So, why am 1 not getting better under your treatment?* We
thought that he was about to attack us, and our strength ebbed. ‘Abdis said to him,
‘O Commander of the Faithful, we do have the right idea just as stated, but there is a
problem. We do not know the quantity of the parts of the illness so as to be able to
match them with like parts of the remedy. We are just guessing at it. We try at the
start and see what comes closest, and then we look what effect it has upon the illness,
if God wills! Al-Mu‘tadid let us be, and when we were alone, we held a conference
and concluded that we should put him in a ghabah, i. e., an oven. We heated it up
and placed him into it (see text above, 111, 1363}. He sweated, and he felt some relief,
because the illness withdrew inside his body. Then, however, it went up to his heart.
After several days, he died, and we escaped from our dangerous predicament.’
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The Caliphate of al-Muktafi bi-llahss
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When al-Mu‘tadid died, al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah immediately
sent off dispatches with the information to al-Muktafi who was
staying in al-Raqqah. Upon receiving the news, al-Muktafi ordered
his secretary al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nasrani the very same day to
exact the oath of allegiance from all those in his camp and to pay
them a bonus. Al-Husayn did that. Al-Muktafi sent men to the
regions of Diyar Rabi‘ah, Diyar Mudar, and the west to maintain
order and then left al-Raqqgah for Baghdad. On Tuesday, Jumada I
// 8, 289 (Tuesday, April 20, 902), al-Muktafi entered his Hasani
Palace. When he arrived at his residence, he ordered the destruc-
tion of the dungeons for criminals which his father had constructed
for himself.514 The very same day, al-Muktafi addressed al-Qasim
b. ‘Ubaydallah by his patronymic (Aba al-Husayn, as a sign of
intimacy) and bestowed a robe of honor upon him.

The very same day,515 ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffir died. He was
buried the next morning near the Hasani Palace. When he was
dying and could no longer speak, al-Mu‘tadid reportedly ordered
Safi al-Hurami5!é through signs and gestures to kill ‘Amr; he did
this by putting his hand upon his neck and his eye517 to indicate
that he should slaughter5i8 the one-eyed man. But $afi, knowing

513 Rubric supplied in the Leiden edition. It is not found in R.

514 See text above, n. 345. Quoting this text, Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, VI, 429, has
“dug for himself (ihtafaraha)”

515 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 24: “On the second day after his arrival”

516 $afi al-Hurami d. Sha‘ban, 298 {April-May, 911). See Hamadhani, Takmilah, 9;
Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V1, 108. The vocalization Hurami is expressly indicated in
Dhahabi, Mushtabih, 1, 159.

517 R: “ his eyes,” which is a wrong reading.

518R (and similarly Miskawayh and Ibn al-Athir): an idhbah, for arada dhabh.
Quoting this text, Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, V1, 4291., adds that “‘Amr was one-eyed,"
but this fact does not seem to be stated elsewhere.

[2208]
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that al-Mu‘tadid was near death, was unwilling to kill ‘Amr and
did not do it. When al-Muktafi entered Baghdad, he reportedly
asked al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah whether ‘Amr was still alive, and
was happy when al-Qasim replied that he was. The Caliph
mentioned that he wanted to treat ‘Amr well, since ‘Amr had
given him presents and shown much kindness to him when he
stayed in al-Raqqah. Al-Muktafi now wanted to recompense him.
Al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah reportedly disliked that5!9 and clandes-
tinely sent someone to kill ‘Amr.

On Rajab 26, 289 (July 6, 902), word arrived at Baghdad that a
number of inhabitants of al-Rayy had entered into correspon-
dence with Muhammad b. Harun. He had been appointed
governor of Tabaristan by Isma‘il b. Ahmad, after he had killed
Muhammad b. Zayd al-‘Alawi, but he had then seceded and
chosen the color white.520 Now, those people asked him to come to
al-Rayy, so that they might bring him into the city (to take charge
of it). This was because Ukratmush al-Turki,52! who was in
charge of the city, reportedly behaved badly toward them.
Ukratmush fought against Muhammad b. Haran,52 but Muham-
mad routed and killed him, / / two sons of his, and an officer of
the central authorities called Abriin,523 a brother of Kayghalagh.
Muhammad b. Hartin entered al-Rayy and took control of it.

In Rajab, 289 (June 11-july 10, 902), Baghdad was shaken by
earthquakes which lasted many days and nights.

In this year, Badr, the page of al-Mu‘tadid, was killed. This was
the reason why he was killed: al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah had
thought of transferring the caliphate, after al-Mu‘tadid’s death,

519 Ibn Khallikan: “his asking about him.”

520 For the color white (here to indicate pro-Shi‘ah sentiment) as against the ‘Abbasid
black, in connection with Muhammad b. Hartin, see also Mas‘adi, Murij, VIII,
194f£., ed. Pellat, V, 167. For white used by the Qarmatians, see text below, 2264. See
also Ibn Khaldin, Mugaddimah, 11, 51.

2t That is, Ogretmis, see Spuler, Iran in frih-islamischer Zeit, 82; Massignon,
Passion?, |, 472.

522 Or, “M. fought against U.”

523 See text above, 111, 1936, where Abrin was in charge of Qazwin in 266 (879-80);
Massignon, Passion?, I, 472. For the sons of Kayghalagh, see below, n. 677. For
Kayghalagh, see text above, 111, 1819, sub anno 256 (870}.
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to someone who was not one of al-Mu'‘tadid's sons. He had dis-
cussed the matter with Badr,524 and Badr had refused, saying, “I
am not willing to take the caliphate away from the sons of my
master to whom I owe my success!” Al-Qasim realized that he
would be unable to oppose Badr, since Badr was the commander
of al-Mu‘tadid's army and controlled his affairs, while enjoying
the loyalty of his eunuchs and pages. Thus, when he saw Badr’s
attitude, he came to fear and hate him.

Now, when death came to al-Mu‘tadid, Badr was in Fars.525
Al-Qasim took all the official steps necessary for al-Muktafi in
al-Raqqgah to become caliph. He did so because of the estrange-
ment that existed between Badr and al-Muktafi, when his father
al-Mu‘tadid was alive. From al-Mu‘tadid’s pages he exacted the
oath of allegiance to al-Muktafi as caliph and informed al-Muktafi
by letter about his action. When al-Muktafi arrived in Baghdad,
Badr was still in Fars, and al-Qasim worked toward Badr's destruc-
tion. He did this reportedly in order to protect himself lest Badr
approach al-Muktafi and inform him about al-Qasim’s idea,
while al-Mu‘tadid was alive, of diverting the caliphate from
al-Mu‘tadid’s sons / / upon his death.

Al-Muktafi reportedly sent Muhammad b. Kumushjiir52 and a
number of officers with messages and dispatches for the officers
who were with Badr, ordering them to break away from Badr and
come to him. The dispatches were transmitted to the officers in
question. Yanis,5?7 the eunuch of al-Muwaffaq, was sent against
Badr with ten million dirhams to be distributed as bonuses to
Badr's men, so that they would give the oath of allegiance to
al-Muktafi. Yanis left with the money, but when he reached
al-Ahwiz, Badr reportedly sent someone who seized the money
from him, whereupon Yanis returned to Madinat al-Salam. When

54 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 25, adds, no doubt following a Tabari recension, “after he
had sworn him to secrecy!

525 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 25, mentions here for the first time the reason why Badr
was in Fars, as stated in the text above, III, 2203: “because he had been sent out to
fight Tahir b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b. al-Layth who had usurped control over Fars.
This statement may go back to a homoioteleuton omission in the text of Tabari,
rather than an attempt by Miskawayh to make up for his earlier omission.

526 R: “Kushmard. See above, n. 398.

527 Yanis al-Muwaffaqi, d. 311 (923-4). See (Arib, 115f. His mausoleum is mentioned
by Hamadhani, Takmilah, 146, sub anno 344 (945-6}. See, further, for instance,
Eclipse, 1, 74; 1bn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI, 187; Mottahedeh, Loyalty, 87.
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al-Muktafi's dispatches reached the officers attached to Badr, a
number of them left Badr and departed for Madinat al-Salam,
among them al-‘Abbas b. ‘Amr al-Ghanawi, Khaqan al-Muflihj,
Muhammad b. Ishiq b. Kundaj, Khafif al-Adhkitakini, and a
number of others. When they reached Madinat al-Salam, they
went to al-Muktaft who reportedly bestowed robes of honor upon
some eighty528 of them and gave each of their leaders one hundred
thousand dirhams. He gave less to others; he bestowed robes of
honor upon some officers but did not give them any money.

In Rajab, 289 (June 11-July 10, 902}, Badr departed intending
to go to Wisit. When al-Muktafi learned that Badr was going to
Wasit, he sequestered Badr's house and arrested a number of his
pages and officers, whom he incarcerated, among them Nihrir
the Elder,529 Gharib al-Jabali,530 and Mansur,53! a son of the sister
of ‘Isa al-Nushari. Al-Muktafi had the officers532 brought to him
and told them that he would not appoint anyone as their amir
and that whoever needed something should meet with the wazir,
as he had already ordered him to take care of their needs. // He
ordered Badr's name erased from shields and banners which bore
the inscription “Abu al-Najm, the mawla of al-Mu‘tadid bi-11ah.'s33

Badr wrote a letter to al-Muktafi. He entrusted it to Rundaq
al-Sa‘idi53 and dispatched him on swift camels. When the letter
reached al-Muktafi, he took it, put someone in charge of that
Rundiq, and had al-Hasan b. ‘Ali KGrah march with an army on
Wasit. Al-Muktafi reportedly sent him ahead and then sent
Muhammad b. Yisuf down on the evening of Sha‘ban 28, 289
(August 7, 902), with a message for Badr.

528 Text: “thirty!’ Read “eighty” as in RC, also Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 26.

529 Perhaps the Nihrir mentioned above, 111, 1709f., sub anno 255 {869). Note, however,
that the events are some thirty-five years removed.

53 The form of the name of this otherwise unknown individual is uncertain.

531 1 have no further information about him.

532 Apparently, those mentioned earlier who had defected.

533 For this practice, see text above, 111, 2115. Badr's kunyah Abi al-Najm is not often
mentioned. See $abi’, Wuzara’, 199, 201. Note that Badr “Full Moon” had a son
Hilal “New Moon" and a patronymic containing a word for “star” (najm). This was
not uncommon.

53 Text: Zaydan; read Rundagq as in RC as well as Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCXCIX.
Nothing further is known about him.
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Al-Muktafi had sent a message53 to Badr when he left the
administration of Fars, offering him the governorship of any
region he wanted, be it Isbahan or al-Rayy or al-Jibal. He ordered
him to go wherever he desired in these regions with whatever
horsemen and foot soldiers he desired, and to stay there with
them as governor. Badr refused saying, “It is absolutely necessary
for me to go to the court of my master!’s% Al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah
found an occasion to speak to al-Muktafi about him and said to
him, “O Commander of the Faithful, we have offered to appoint
Badr governor wherever he would want to go, but he refuses,
wanting only to come to your court!” He made al-Muktafi afraid
of an attack by Badr upon him and urged the Caliph to meet Badr
and fight him.5%

When it was reported to Badr that his house had been seques-
tered and that his pages and associates had been incarcerated, he
was certain that there was evil afoot. He sent someone to attempt
to free his son Hilal53® and have him brought down to him.
Al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah became aware of the attempt and ordered
Hilal guarded. He summoned Abu Khazim, // the qadi of
al-Shargiyyah, and ordered him to go to Badr. He was to meet
with him, make him feel secure, and grant him a guarantee of
safe-conduct from the Commander of the Faithful. The guarantee
would be for himself and his son and would cover his property.
Abi Khazim reportedly told al-Qasim that he needed to hear this
directly from the Commander of the Faithful, so that he could
transmit it to Badr on the Caliph’s authority. Al-Qasim told him
to go back and wait until he could obtain permission for him to

535 If the date just indicated is correct, it gives the date of the departure from Baghdad
of the qadi Aba ‘Umar Muhammad b. Yasuf, which is described later in much
detail, and the message must be one sent earlier to Badr. Tabari here clearly
combines different reports on the sad event which at the time as well as later touched
people deeply.

53 The use of the word mawla “master” recalls Badr's status under al-Mu‘tadid, an
implication that would not have escaped the men around the new Caliph.

537 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 26, adds, no doubt from a Tabari recension: “saying that
he has openly shown his disloyalty”

538 Hilal b. Badr was not an uncommon name at the time, but if Ibn al-{Adim is
correct in speaking of “Hilal b. Badr, Abi al-Fath, the page of al-Mu‘tadid” {Zubdat
al-halab, ed. al-Dahhan, I, 96), Badr’s son survived and became amir of Damascus,
then governor of Aleppo, in 316 (928) and, following that, governor of Qutrabbul and
Samarri in 317 (929). The sources which would allow checking this information are
not available to me.
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go and see the Commander of the Faithful on this matter. However,
he then summoned Abt ‘Umar Muhammad b. Yasuf and gave
him the same order that he had given to Aba Khazim. Abi
‘Umar accepted right away, and al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah gave
him a letter of safe-conduct for Badr from al-Muktafi. Abt ‘Umar
left with it for Badr.5%

When Badr left Wasit, he was deserted by his men and by most
of his pages, such as ‘Isa al-Niishari, his son-in-law Yanis
al-Musta'min,5¥0 Ahmad b. Sim‘an,%! and Nihrir the Younger.542
They went to al-Muktafi's tent to ask for guarantees of safe-
conduct. On Ramadan 2, 289 (August 10, 902), al-Muktafi left
Baghdad for his tent on the Diyala River, accompanied by his
entire army. He encamped there and bestowed robes of honor
upon the group of men I have named, who had come to his tent,
as well as a number of officers and troops. He placed a number of
others in custody. Following this he had nine of them put in
fetters and ordered them taken in fetters to the New Prison.

Abu ‘Umar Muhammad b. Yasuf reportedly met Badr near
Wasit. He handed the letter of safe-conduct to him and informed
him, on al-Muktafi's authority, about what al-Qasim b. ‘Ubayd-
allah had told him. He then went up with Badr (toward Baghdad)
in the latter's skiff. He had him travel hugging the east bank (of
the Tigris),543 while those of his pages who had remained with
him, together with a number of troops and a large number of
Kurds and people of al-Jabal, accompanied him along // the
bank of the Tigris. There was an understanding between Badr
and Abu ‘Umar that Badr would enter Baghdad willingly and
obediently. Badr crossed the Tigris and reached al-Nu‘maniyyah,
where he ordered those of his pages and men who had remained

53 As a judge, Abli ‘Umar was not likely to become knowingly involved in this sort
of illegal politicking. Through his and his father's long association with al-Mu‘tadid,
and his awareness of Badr’s position, he may have felt that Badr was in no danger,
and he thus had no suspicions as Abi Khazim did.

540 The relationship by marriage apparently existed between Yanis and al-Nushari,
and not between Yanis and Badr. There does not seem to be any further information
about this Yanis, and it is not clear whether al-Musta'min is a nickname or
descriptive.

541 Ahmad b. Sim‘an is mentioned in $abi’, Wuzara’, 190.

542 Nihrir the Younger died in 318 (930) holding the position of chief of security in
Mosul. See (Arib, 146.

543 See text above, 111, 1893, where essentially the same localities are named as here.
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with him to give up their weapons and abstain from any fighting;
he also informed them about the letter of safe-conduct which
Abt ‘Umar had brought him. While he was moving along,
Muhammad b. Ishaq b. Kundaj$ arrived in a barge with a
number of pages. Having transferred to the skiff, he was asked by
Badr what was going on. He calmed Badr and talked kindly to
him, and all the while everybody addressed Badr as amir. It was,
however, al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah who had sent Ibn Kundaj,
telling him to let him know when he got together with Badr in
one place. He now did so, whereupon al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah
summoned Lu'lu’,54 one of the Caliph's pages, and told him that
he had selected him for a job. When Lu'lu’ replied that he was
ready and willing, al-Qasim said to him, “Go and take Badr from
Ibn Kundajiq and bring his head to me!” Lu'lu’ sailed in a flyer54
until he caught up with Badr and those with him between Sib
Bani Ktima and Adtarbad.547 He transferred from the flyer to the
skiff and told Badr to get up. When Badr asked what was going
on, Lu'lu’ replied that no harm would come to him. He had him
transferred to the flyer and traveled along with him until they
came to an island at al-Safiyah. He took him out to the island
and disembarked with him. He then called for a sword which he
had with him, and unsheathed it. Now Badr was certain that he
would be killed. He asked Lu'lu’ to give him time to pray two
rak‘ahs. Lu'lu’ granted him the delay, and Badr prayed two
rak‘ahs. Then Lu'lu’ had him step forward and decapitated him.
This / / was before noon on Friday, Ramadan 6, 289 (Saturday,
August 14, 902).548 Lu'lu’ took Badr's head, returned to the flyer,
and went back with the head to the encampment of al-Muktafi at
the Diyala River.

54 R and Miskawayh (Tajarib, V, 28): “Kundajiq.”

545 He appears to be known only from this report, unless he was identical with the
Lu'lu’ mentioned in the text below, 2241. Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 28, speaks of him as
one of the noble (nujaba’} pages. As a newcomer, he had little choice but to accept
what was clearly an unsavory and potentially risky assignment.

546 Another type of boat, commonly translated as above,

547 Described in text above, 111, 1893, as located between al-Sib and Dayr al-‘Aqiil.
The vocalization is uncertain and is seemingly not indicated in the sources. The text
in B reads: wa-man-ma‘ahii fa-lagiyahum bayn...” and those who were with him.
Then he met them...”

548 The poem which follows this account confirms that the killing took place on
Friday.
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Badr's corpse was left where it was and remained there. Later
his family sent someone secretly to get his corpse. They placed it
in a casket and concealed it in their house. During the pilgrim-
age season, they reportedly carried it to Mecca and buried it there,
as he had stipulated in his last will. Before he was killed, he had
manumitted all his slaves. After his death, the central authorities
took over his estates, farms, houses, and all that he owned.

On Ramadan 7, 289 (August 15, 902), the killing of Badr was
reported to al-Muktafi. He rode back to Madinat al-Salam accom-
panied by the troops that were with him. Badr's head had been
brought to him and had reached him before he left his place
of encampment. He ordered it cleansed and placeds in the
treasury.550

On Monday, Ramadan 8, 289 (Monday, August 16, 902), the
qadi Abt ‘Umar went back to his house saddened and grieved by
his role in the affair. People talked about him and said that it was
he who had caused Badr's death. They composed poems about
Abu ‘Umar such as:

(1) Ask the qadi of the City of al-Manstr:
On what grounds did you allow the taking of the amir's
head,
(2) After he was given solemn assurances and
Declarations under o0ath55! in an official patent?
(3) Where are your oaths—which God attests
Are the oaths of a wicked man—
(4) That your hands would not let go
His, until he sees the occupant of the throne? / /
(5) You shameless person and greatest liar
In the community, you perjurer!

549 R: fa-ja‘alitha” and they placed it

55 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 29, specifies “treasury of heads! For this term, see, for
instance, Safadi, Wafi, X, 378, 1. 19.

551 Aman “safe conduct” appears in authors quoting the verses but may be a simplifi-
cation. At any rate, Tabarl can be assumed to have had ayman “oaths."
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(6) This is not what judges do and the like of it is just
Not done by those in charge of the bridges.552
(7) What did you do on that splendid
Friday in the best of all months!
(8) The one whom you have killed went in Ramadan
Fasting after prostration in the dust.553
(9) O Bani Yusuf b. Ya'qub! The people of
Baghdad have been deceived by you.
(10} May God confound you and may He let me see
You humiliated during the lifetime of this wazir!55
(11) Thus prepare for your reply to the Just
Judge after Munkar and Nakir!555
(12) All of you be ransom for Abu
Khizim who is straight in every respect.

On Ramadan 9,556 289 {August 17, 902}, Rundaq al-Sa‘idi, who
had earlier been sent as a messenger by Badr to al-Muktafi,
together with the nine officers who had been put in fetters, and
seven others of Badr's men who had been seized after them, was
carried in a ship’s holdss to al-Basrah, where they all were
detained in the Basrah prison.

Lu'lu’, who was charged with Badr's killing, was reportedly a
page of Muhammad b. Harin who had killed Muhammad b.

552 Wulat al-jusiir is meant to be parallel to “judges”’ and refers to the high ranking
officials in charge of the maintenance of the bridges and the supervision of the
bridge traffic. See text above, III, 1727, 2185 (appointment of Salih al-Amin to the
position); text above, III, 2027, and Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, VII, 345
{speaking of Abii al-‘Abbias Muhbammad b. {Ubaydallih b. ‘Abdallah b. Tahir);
Mas'adi, Muriij, VIII, 259, ed. Pellat, V, 197 ( in a verse of a poem by Ibn Bassam
al-Bassami which has tawalla al-jusiira, quoted, howevey, by other authors as tawalla
al-{Iraga). The plural “bridges” may, in fact, be poetical license for the dual indicat-
ing the two main bridges of Baghdad usually referred to in this connection.

553 Sajdat al-ta‘firis an allusion to a hadith, see Concordance, IV, 282b60ff. In
Mas'adi, Muriij, verse 8 precedes verse 7.

554 “A frer the humiliation of the wazir” in Mas‘adi, Muriij, may be a simplification.
In fact, the poet suggests that the wazir's life will come to a speedy end, and Aba
(Umar will be humiliated as speedily.

555 Abd Umar will have to justify his action before God on the Last Day, after having
undergone in the grave the painful inquisition by the two angels, Munkar and
Nakir.

55 Text: “seven”; read “nine” as in R, since the event is likely to have taken place after
Badr’s execution. “This year (289),” omitted in the edition, is found in BR.

557 Safinah mutabba/iqah or mutba/iqah (see $abi’, Wuzara’, 295, 359) seems to
refer to a covered boat with a hold suitable for transporting prisoners (as in mutbi/aq
“prison" ?).

111



112

[2216]

The Return of the Caliphate to Baghdad

Zayd in Tabaristan and Ukratmush in al-Rayy. He had come to
the central authorities in Baghdad to ask for a guarantee of
safe-conduct together with a number of Muhammad b. Harun's

pages.

On Monday night, Ramadan 16, 289 (Tuesday, August 24, 902),
/ / ‘Abd al-Wihid b. Abi Ahmad al-Muwaffaq58 was reportedly
killed. When he was arrested, his mother reportedly sent a nurse
of his with him to the house of Mu'nis.55 He was separated from
the nurse, while she remained there for two or three days and was
then sent back to the residence of her mistress, the mother of ‘Abd
al-Wahid. The latter was told, whenever she asked about him,
that he was in the palace of al-Muktafi and in good health. She
hoped that he would stay alive; but when al-Muktafi died, she
gave up and held a wake for him.

T'The Rest of the Important Developments that took
Place during the Year 289 (902) 560

One of the events was a dispatch which reached the central
authorities in Baghdad from Isma‘Gl b. Ahmad, the ruler of
Khurasian, on Sha‘ban 20, 289 (June 30, 902). The dispatch con-
tained the information that a battle had taken place in Tabaristan
between the men of Isma‘il b. Ahmad and Ibn Justan al-
Daylami.56! In the battle, Isma‘il's men routed Ibn Justin. The
dispatch of Isma‘il b. Ahmad was read in the two Friday Mosques
of Baghdad.

55 According to Mas'@idi, Murdyj, VIII, 227ff., ed. Pellat, V, 183f., ‘Abd al-Wahid was
a rather unimportant and immoral young man. His pension, as well as that of his
sisters, is mentioned by Sabi', Wuzara’, 25; Busse, “Hofbudget,” 27.

59 According to Mas‘Gd1, Murnj, V111, 227f., ed. Pellat, V, 183, it was the house of
Mu'nis al-Fahl, that is, Mu'nis al-Khazin. He was named al-fahl in order to distin-
guish him from all those many eunuchs named Mu’nis, see Mas'iidi, Tanbih, 374,
11. 8f.

560 The rubric is found in neither R nor C. It owes its existence in B to the fact that at
this point a new part of the parts into which the History was divided had its
beginning.

561 See text above, 111, 1285f.
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In this year, after Badr had been killed, one of his men called
Ishaq al-Farghani%2 went to the desert region together with a
number of his men to oppose the central authorities. A battle
took place there between him and Abu al-Agharr in which Aba
al-Agharr was routed and a number of his men and officers were
killed. Thereafter Mu'nis al-Khazin was sent with a large army to
al-Kufah to fight Ishaq al-Farghani. //

At the end of Dhu al-Qa‘dah, 289 (November 5, 902), a robe of
honor was bestowed upon Khagian al-Muflihi, and he was put in
charge of security in al-Rayy. Five thousand men were attached to
him.

In this year, a man who had gathered an army of Arab tribesmen
and others appeared in Syria. He went with his men to Damascus
where Tughj b. Juff was in charge of security on behalf of Hartin
b. Khumairawayh b. Ahmad b. Tultin. This was at the end of the
year 289 (December 4, 902). Many people were reportedly killed
in the numerous battles that took place between Tughj and him.

A report on the man who appeared in Syria and on the reason for
his appearance there

Zikrawayh b. Mihrawayh was, as we have mentioned, the da‘1 of
Qarmat.53 When al-Mu‘tadid constantly sent armies against the
Qarmatians in the Kiifan countryside and persevered in their
pursuit, causing them severe losses, Zikrawayh saw that the
Qarmatians would not be able to defend themselves or find help
from the inhabitants of the Sawad. He therefore worked hard at
inveigling the Asad, Tayyi’, Tamim, and other Arab tribes who
lived near al-Kufah. He tried to convert them to his views and
suggested to them that if they were to respond to his call, the
Qarmatians in the Sawad would join them in his cause. However,
they did not respond to his efforts. A number of the Kalb were

562 No further information about him seems to be available.

63 See EI?, s. v. Karmati. Tabari refers the reader back to 1il, 2127f. For a revaluation
of Tabari's information on the sons of Zikrawayh and their relation to Egyptian
Fatimid history, see Halm, “S6hne Zikrawaihs!
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protecting%64 the desert road at al-Samawah, which was located
between al-Kufah and Damascus on the Palmyra Road, and at
other places. Their occupation was to move messengers and
merchant goods on their camels. Zikrawayh now sent his sons to
them. They pledged allegiance to them and mingled among
them, / / claiming descent from Ali b. Abi Talib and Muhammad
b. Ismal b. Ja‘far.565 They mentioned that they were afraid of the
central authorities and were seeking refuge with them. The Kalb
accepted them on this basis.

The sons of Zikrawayh then made surreptitious propaganda for
the views of the Qarmatians among them, but none of the Kalbites
accepted their views, except a subtribe known as the Bani
al-‘Ullays b. Damdam b. ‘Adi b. Janab,%6 and especially their
mawlas. At the end of the year 289 (December 4, 902), they
declared allegiance to a son of Zikrawayh named Abi al-Qasim
Yahya in the region of al-Samawah. They nicknamed him al-
Shaykh, a nickname he had given himself because of something
he had attempted to do among them.57 He asserted to them that
he was Abu568 ‘Abdallah b. Muhammad b. Isma‘l b. Ja‘'far b.
Muhammad. FAccording to another report, he asserted that he
was Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b. Yahya,59 and again, that he was
Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b. Muhammad? b. Isma‘l b. Ja'ar b.
Muhammad b. ‘Al1 b. al-Husayn b. ‘Ali b. Abi Talib—although
Muhammad b. Isma‘il reportedly had no son called ‘Abdallah.570
He asserted to them that his father, who was known as Aba
Mahmiud, was a da‘7 of his’! and that he had one hundred

54 That is, they extorted money from those using the road, as in the text above, III,
2190, and as explained in I1I, 1010.

565 The abstruse ‘Alid pedigrees claimed by the Qarmatian leaders tend to connect
them with the Isma‘ili (Sevener) Shi‘ah and the Egyptian Fatimids. See also Halm,
“S6hne Zikrawaihs,” 34.

566 For the ‘Ullays, a subdivision of the ‘Abdallah b. Kinanah/Kalb, see Caskel, Das
genealogische Werk, table 282; 11, 567b.

567 | do not know of any explanation of this statement.

568 R: “Ibn.’

569 Was this Yahya the son of the fifth imam Zayd, or the grandson of Yahya b. Zayd
who was killed in al-Kiifah in 250 (864) and had once attempted a minor, abortive
uprising in 235 (849-50)?

s70{Abdallah, however, also figures in the pedigree of the Egyptian Fatimids.
5711t is not clear whether “his” refers to Abu al-Qasim Yahya or ‘Abdallah b.
Muhammad b. Isma‘il.
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thousand followers in the Sawad and in the East and West.572 He
also asserted that the she-camel he was riding was blessed5’3 and
that if they followed her wherever she went, they would be
victorious. He acted as a soothsayer among them. He also
exhibited // a shortened arm he had and mentioned that this
was his sign. A number of the Bani al-Asbagh574 flocked to him.
They showed sincere devotion to him, called themselves
Fatimids, and adopted his religion.

Subuk al-Daylami,’’5 the mawla of al-Mu‘tadid bi-llah,
pursued them in the region of al-Rusafah576 in Diyar Mudar west
of the Euphrates, but they launched a surprise attack, killing him
and burning down the mosque of al-Rusafah. Attacking every
village they passed, they eventually reached the administrative
territory of Syria which had been ceded peacefully to Harin b.
Khumarawayh57 and which Hirun had entrusted to Tughj b.
Juff. Yahya b. Zikrawayh now laid siege to Syria. He routed every
army of Tughj he encountered and eventually pinned him down
in the city of Damascus. The Egyptians then dispatched Badr the
Elder,578 the page ! IL': Tulin, against Yahya b. Zikrawayh.
Badr joined forces ' th . g.1j against Yahya, and he attacked
them579 near Damascis. od killed the enemy of God, Yahya
b. Zikrawayh. He was reportedly killed, because a Berber struck
him with a short spear and then a flame thrower sprayed him
with fire, burning him. This was in the midst of the battle at
its fiercest point. Then, however, the tide turned against the
Egyptians, and they fled.

572 That is, the provinces east and west of the Iraq.

s73uBlessed (ma'miirah)” refers to the hadith of the “prolific filly (muhrah
ma’'miirah),” see Tabari, Introductio etc., CXIX; Concordance, 1, 100a25; and the
dictionaries.

574 See Caskel, Das genealogische Werk, table 282; II, 202a, with the genealogy
al-Asbagh —(Amr—Thalabah —al-Harith— Hisn—Damdam.

575 Nothing further seems to be known about him. See below, nn. 590 and 644. The
vocalization of the name adopted here follows that in the well-known name
Sebuktegin. See A. S. Halkin's translation of Baghdadi, Farg, 125, n. 5.

576 That is, the Rusafah of Hisham b. ‘Abd al-Malik.

577 See text above, III, 2185f.

578 That is, Badr al-Hammam1.

579 Or, “they attacked him.”
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The mawlas of the Banii al-‘Ullays Vjoined the Band al-Ul-
lays % and the Asbaghites and others who were with them "and?
agreed to install al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh,58! the brother of the one
nicknamed al-Shaykh, as their leader, which they did. Al-Husayn
asserted to them that he was Ahmad b. ‘Abdallah b. Muhammad
b. Isma‘l b. Ja'far b. Muhammad and that he was some twenty
years old. The one nicknamed al-Shaykh had abetted the mawlas
of the Banii // al-‘Ullays against them, and they had killed a
number of them and humiliated them. They now declared
allegiance to al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh, who was named Ahmad b.
‘Abdallah b. Muhammad b. Isma‘il b. Ja'far, after the death of his
brother. He exhibited a mole on his face and mentioned that it
was his sign. He had been joined recently by the son of his
paternal uncle ‘Isa b. Mihrawayh, who was named ‘Abdallah.582
He asserted that he was ‘Abdallah b. Ahmad b. Muhammad b.
Isma‘il b. Ja‘far b. Muhammad. Al-Husayn gave ‘Abdallah the
nickname of al-Muddaththir and made a covenant with him. He
mentioned that he was the one meant in the siirah in which
al-muddaththir is mentioned.583 He nicknamed a servant of his
family al-Mutawwaq5 and put him in charge of killing captured
Muslims. He defeated the Egyptians and the troops of Hims and
other Syrian cities, and had himself designated from the pulpits
as the commander of the faithful. All this took place during *the
rest of*385 289 and in 290 (902-3).

580 The bracketed passage is not found in RB and Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 32, and
should probably be omitted.

581 His history to his death in 291 is known from the following pages. He was
nicknamed “Man of the Mole” after the mole on his face, and is commonly referred
to by this designation,.

582 (Abdallah died together with his cousin al-Husayn. See text below, 2245f. There
seems to be no additional information about {Isa. Maqrizi, Itti'az, 118f., speaks of
al-Muddaththir as “Usa, the son of Mihrawayh's sister” See also Halm, “Séhne
Zikrawaihs,"” 33.

583 Qur. 74:1.

584 A number of vocalizations and explanations of the nickname are possible, but
al-Mutawwaq may be intended to mean “charged with an onerous and difficult
duty!” Considering his alleged assignment, this seems quite appropriate. Note, however,
that the verb as it appears in the Qur'an and the hadith always appears in a negative
context and that he is described as a young boy in the text below, 2343. It is not
certain whether ghulam is, in fact, meant here to be a servant.

585 The addition is from RC.
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On Dhi al-Hijjah 9, 280 (December 14, 902), when people
were praying in summer clothing in Baghdad, the northwind
started to blow at the time of the afternoon prayer. It turned so cold
that people had to kindle fires to warm themselves and put on
padded clothes and overcoats. It became colder and colder until
the water froze.

In this year, a battle took place between Isma‘ll b. Ahmad in
al-Rayy and Muhammad b. Hartin who at the time reportedly
had about eight thousand men under his command. Muhammad
b. Harlin was routed, and his men separated from him58 He was
followed // by about a thousand of his men to the Daylam
country, and when he arrived there, he asked the Daylam for
protection. Isma‘il b. Ahmad entered al-Rayy. After the rout about
a thousand of Muhammad b. Hartin's men reportedly went to the
Caliph's court in Baghdad.

TOn Jumada II 4, 289 {(May 16, 902), al-Qasim b. SIma5¢’ was
put in charge of the summer campaign in the border towns of
al-Jazirah. Thirty-two thousand dinars were allocated to him. 588

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
al-Hashimi.589

586 R completes the lacuna in the text: wa-tafarraga Canhu.

587 Al-Qasim b. Sima al-Farghani died Friday, Dhu al-Hijjah 22, 305 (Friday, June 5,
918). See ‘Arib, 68. See also Eclipse, I, 15; Hamadhani, Takmilah, 6.

588 For this entry, see Canard, Sources arabes, 17. It is not found in either Ror C, a
somewhat unusual agreement between these two manuscripts.

589 Al-Fadl was the leader of the pilgrimage from 289 through 304. See also Mas‘tdi,
Muriij, 1X, 75, ed. Pellat, V, 299f. His son led the pilgrimage in 305, but he
participated in it. He died in Safar, 307 (July, 919). See Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujtim, III,
197. (Arib, 118, 124, erred when he said that he led the pilgrimage in 311 and 312;
Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, 211, 1. 12, names al-Hasan b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz al-Hashimi for
the year 312.

Al-Faql's full pedigree was al-Faql b. (Abd al-Malik b. (Abdallah b. {Ubaydallah b.
al-{Abbas b. Muhammad. ‘Ubaydallah is usually not included but is likely to be
correct; he led the pilgrimage in 187 (803) (see text above, III, 701). Al-‘Abbas b.
Muhammad b. ¢Ali, a much younger brother of al-Saffah and al-Mansir, was born
about four years before the death of his father. He was an important figure during the
reign of Hartin al-Rashid. He died, at the age of sixty-five, in Rajab, 186 (July-
August, 802) (Ibn al-Athir mentions the death of (Ali b. al‘Abbas, a nephew of
al-Saffah and al-Mangsiir, sub anno 186, but this may be an error). Khatib, Ta'rikh
Baghdad, X1, 124f£., tells us that descendants of al-Fadl were still living in Baghdad
in his time, around the middle of the eleventh century.
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The
Events of the Year

290

(DECEMBER 5, 902 - NOVEMBER 23, 903)

?

One of the events that took place this year was that al-Muktafi
dispatched an emissary to Isma‘il b. Ahmad on al-Muharram 2,
290 (December 6, 902). He was accompanied by ‘Abdallah b.
al-Fath, and he carried robes of honor and Isma‘l's letter of
appointment as governor of al-Rayy as well as gifts.

On al-Muharram 25, 290 (December 29, 902), a dispatch from
‘Ali b. Isa *b. al-Jarrah* reportedly arrived at Baghdad from
al-Raqqah. In it ‘Ali b. ‘Isa mentioned that the Qarmatian Ibn
Zikrawayh, known as al-Shaykh, had reached al-Raqqah with
many troops. A number of the Caliph’s men headed by Subuk,5%
the page of al-Muktafi, went out and attacked him. Subuk was
killed, and the Caliph’s men were routed.

On Rabit* II 6, 290 (March 9, 903), word reached Baghdad that
Tughj b. Juff // had led an army out of Damascus against the
Qarmatian. It was commanded by a page of his named Bashir.59!
The Qarmatian attacked them, routed the army, and killed Bashir.

On Rabi* 11 16, 280 (March 19, 903), a robe of honor was
bestowed upon Abd al-Agharr, and he was sent to fight the
Qarmatian in the Syrian region. He went to Aleppo with ten
thousand men.

590 It would seem that he is identical with Subuk al-Daylami, the mawla of
al-Mu‘tadid, mentioned in the preceding year (see above, n. 575). Note that the
previous report came from west of the desert, and the one here from east of it.

591 There is no further information about him.
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On Rabt* 11 18, 290 (March 21, 903), a robe of honor was
bestowed upon Abu al-‘Asha’ir Ahmad b. Nasr,52 and he was
appointed governor of Tarsiis. Muzaffar b. Hajj9 had been
removed from the governorship because of complaints from the
inhabitants of the border region against him.

On Jumada I5% 15, 290 (April 16, 903), letters from merchants,
dated Rabit* II 22 (March 25), arrived at Baghdad from Damascus
with the information that the Qarmatian nicknamed al-Shaykh
had routed Tughj more than once and killed all but a few of his
men. Tughj had remained in Damascus with a small group and
refused to go out. The populace would gather and go out to fight.
They55 were close to ruin. A number of *them and of the*
Baghdadi merchants gathered the very same day to go to *the
qad1* Yasuf b. Ya‘qiib. They had him read their letters and asked
him to go to the wazir and inform him about the inhabitants of
Damascus. He promised them that he would do that.

On Jumada I 23, 290 (April 24, 903), Abi Khazim, Yasuf, and
Yisuf's son Muhammad were brought to the Caliph's palace
simultaneously with the close associate5% of Tahir b. Muhammad
b. ‘Amr b. al-Layth. Peace was made with (Tahir) on condition
that he remit the (tax) revenues of Fars (to the central authori-
ties). Al-Muktafi then appointed Tahir to administrate / / Fars and
bestowed a robe of honor upon his close associate. Robes of honor
were taken to Tahir together with the letter of appointment.

In Jumada I, 290 (April 2-May 1, 903), an officer who had
sought and obtained a guarantee of safe-conduct, Abu Sa‘id
al-Khuwarizmi,5% fled from Madinat al-Salim and took the Mosul

52 Abii al-‘Ashd'ir al-\Uqayl1 was killed in 294 {906). See text below, 2271f. For this
and the following item on him, see Canard, Sources arabes, 18.

53 See above, n. 401.

5%4R: “Jumada I1”

595 The merchants may be meant rather than the Damascenes in general. The
addition in R in the following sentence referring to “them” probably indicates that
some of the Damascene merchants had come to Baghdad.

596 The identity of this sahib (approximately translated *close associate”’) remains to
be established.

571 have no further information about him.
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Road. Orders that he be confronted and seized were sent to
‘Abdallah who was known as Ghulam Nin,5%8 who was in charge
of security in Takrit and adjoining administrative districts to the
borders of Samarra; (similar orders were also sent) to Mosul.
‘Abdallah supposedly confronted Abi Sa‘id, but Aba Sa‘id
deceived him, so that the two came together peacefully. Abi Said
then assaulted ‘Abdallah, killing him. He then went on to
Shahrazir. He joined up with Ibn Abi al-Rabi‘ al-Kurdi and
married into his family.5% The two agreed to rebel against the
central authorities. Abl Sa‘id was killed afterwards, and those
who had gathered around him dispersed.

On Jumada II 10, 290 (May 11 903), Aba al-‘Asha’ir left for his
administrative post in Tarsus, and a number of volunteers left
with him to undertake raids. He carried with him gifts for the
Byzantine ruler from al-Muktafi.

After the afternoon prayer on Jumada II, 19, 290 (May 20, 903),
al-Muktafi left Baghdad for Samarra with the intention of under-
taking construction and moving there. He entered Simarra on
Thursday, Jumada II 24, 290 (Wednesday, May 25, 903), and then
departed for tents which had been set up for him in al-Jawsaq.60
He summoned al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah and the men in charge of
construction, and they gave him an estimate of its cost. They
made it a high estimate and said that it would take a long time to
finish construction of what he wanted to build. Al-Qasim under-
took to change al-Muktafi’'s mind by describing the expenditures
as too great. The estimated amount of money // deterred al-
Muktafi, 60! and he gave up his plan. He called for lunch and after
eating went to sleep. When he woke up, he rode to the bank of the
river and took a seat in a flyer. Al-Qasim b. “Ubaydallah ordered
*the people* to go back down to Baghdad. Most people turned

598 The final letter is r or d in CR, instead of n. Further information would be needed
to establish the correct form of the name and the identity of the individual.

99 Ibn Abi al-Rabi‘ al-Kurdi, about whom I have no further information, probably
made Abu Sa‘id his son-in-law, but other relationships are possible.

600, That is, the famous palace in Samarra.

60t R: fa-naqalahu, instead of fa-thanahu in the edition.
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back before reaching Samarra when they were met by those who
were on their way back down.

On Rajabs®2 9, 290 (June 8, 903), robes of honor were bestowed
upon the two sons of al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah.6% The older son
was put in charge of the estates of the (Caliph's) offspring and
wives as well as expenditures, while the younger son was
appointed secretary to Abd Ahmad,64 the son of al-Muktafi.
These offices had belonged to al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nasrani, who
was removed from them. Al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah had suspected
that al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nagrani had been approaching al-
Muktafi to intrigue against him, and he was showing open hostil-
ity to him in the presence of the Caliph. As a result, al-Qasim
continuously intrigued against al-Husayn and hardened al-Muk-
tafi’s heart against him, until he accomplished what he wished
would happen to al-Husayn 605

On Friday, Sha‘ban 16, 290 (Friday, July 15, 903), two dispatches
were read in the two Friday Mosques of Madinat al-Salam. They
announced that Yahya b. Zikrawayh, nicknamed al-Shaykh, had
been killed by the Egyptians at the gate of Damascus. There
had been continuous battles between him and the inhabitants of
Damascus, their soldiers, and the Egyptian reinforcements. He
had broken their forces, killing many of them in the process

That Yahya b. Zikrawayh used to ride a camel saddled for
himé% and wear wide garments, an Arab tribal / / head covering,
and a veil. From the time he first appeared he never rode on
horseback until the day he was killed. He had given orders to his
men not to engage anyone in combat, even of they were attacked,
until the camel would move by itself. He told them that if they
did that, they would never be defeated. He mentioned®” that if he

602 Text: “seven’’; read “nine” as in RC.

603 The two sons were al-Husayn and Muhammad. The date of al-Husayn's death is
not securely attested; it probably was 322 (934). See Sourdel, Vizirat, 11, 745, 463ff.
Muhammad died in 321 (933). See Sourdel, II, 476-78.

604 Aba Ahmad Muhammad b. al-Muktafi was involved in conspiracies in 318 (930)
(‘Arib, 152) and 320-1 (932-3) {‘Arib, 185; Hamadhini, Takmilah, 77; lbn Kathir,
Bidayah, X1, 172£.). He died in 321 (933). See also below, n. 707.

605 As described in the text below, 2230.

606 R: yurhalu lahii.

607 The active here seems preferable to the passive.
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should point his hand in the direction of those fighting him, the
people there would be routed. In this way, he deceived the Arab
tribesmen 608

On the day Yahya b. Zikrawayh, nicknamed al-Shaykh, was
killed, his men rallied around his brother al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh;
al-Husayn searched for his brother among those killed, and having
found his corpse, he concealed it. He had himself acknowledged
as leader and called himself Abu al-Abbas Ahmad b. ‘Abdallah.
Badr'sé® men later realized that al-Shaykh had been killed, and
searched for his corpse among those killed but could not find it.

Al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh propagandized as his brother had
done. Most of the tribesmen and others from among all the
people (in the region) responded to his call. He gained great
strength, came out in the open, and marched on Damascus. The
inhabitants of Damascus reportedly concluded a truce with him
in return for the payment of tax money. Following this he left
them. He then moved on the environs of Hims and seized control
of the city. His name was mentioned from the pulpits during the
Friday service. He called himself al-Mahdi.610 He then moved
on the city of Hims. Fearing for their lives, its inhabitants
declared their loyalty and opened the city gate to him. He entered
Hims, and then moved from there on Hamah, Ma‘arrat al-
Nu‘man, and other cities, killing their inhabitants, including
women, *children,* and infants. Then he moved on Ba‘labakk
and killed most of its inhabitants, until only a few Mreportedly?
were left. From there he moved on // Salamyah,!! but its
inhabitants fought and prevented him from entering. He there-
upon made promises to them, granting them a guarantee of safe-
conduct. As a result, they opened the city gate to him, and he
entered Salamyah. First he began killing the Hashimites, a num-
ber of whom lived there. Then, he killed all the inhabitants.

608 Miskawayh, in his quotation (Tajarib, V, 33), summarized this paragraph in the
words: *He used to claim to be a prophet and soothsayer.”

609 That is, Badr al-Hammami.

610 That is, he claimed to be the expected redeemer (mahdi). See also the prominent
position accorded to this claim in the protocol of the Qarmatian leader (see below,
2232).

611 The reputed home of the Egyptian Fatimids and, as we see here, a preferred place
of residence for the ‘Abbasid/Hashimite aristocracy in Syria.
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He slaughtered the animals and afterwards the school children.
Following this he departed, reportedly leaving not a living soul
there. He then moved on the surrounding villages, killing, taking
captives, burning, and making the roads unsafe.

The following story is told on the authority of a physician from
Bab al-Muhawwal,$12 called Abiu al-Hasan:

After the Qarmatian Man of the Mole and his men had been
brought to Baghdad,$13 a woman came to me and said that she
had a problem with her shoulder which she wanted me to treat.
When I asked her what it was, she replied that it was a wound. I
said that I was an eye doctor, but that there was a woman here
who treated women and also wounds; she should wait for her to
come. She sat down, and I saw that she was sad and crying. 1
asked her what was the matter with her and what had caused her
wound? She replied that hers was a long story. I told her to tell me
as she would a friend, now that the people who were in my
homes!4 had gone.

She said: I had a son who had been away for a long time. He
had left sisters of his for me to take care of. I was in tight
circumstances and in need, and I longed for him. He had gone to
the region of al-Raqqah. I therefore left for Mosul, Balad, and
al-Raqqah, all the while searching for him and asking about
him, but I was unable to find him.

Having left al-Raqqah in search of him, I came upon the
Qarmatian camp. I began to walk around, looking for him.
While doing that, I saw him. I clung to him and said, “Son!,” and
he said, “(You are) my mother?" I answered, “Yes,” and he said,
“How are my sisters doing?” I replied, “They are well! I com-
plained *to him* / / about the tight circumstances we had gotten
into after he had left. He took me to his residence and sat in front

612 For Bab al-Muhawwal, see Lassner, Topography, 247. 1 have not succeeded in
identifying Abi al-Hasan.

The following story, which in contrast to the frequent documents is pure fiction, is
nevertheless most illuminating with respect to the Qarmatian phenomenon. It is
also an extraordinary specimen of the art of storytelling hardly matched elsewhere
in Arabic literature with its genius for the genre. Carefully constructed for maximum
suspense and effect, it contains subtle descriptions of human character and skillfully
intermingles personal experiences with highly tendentious and inflammable polit-
ical propaganda.

613 For al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh’s humiliating end in Baghdad, see text below, 2245.
614 That is, the patients in his waiting room.
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of me. He started *talking to me*, asking for news about us, and I
told him. Then he said, “Don't tell me anymore about that! Tell
me what is your religion?” I replied, “Why are you asking me
about my religion when you know me and you know what my
religion is?"" He replied, “All the beliefs we once held are wrong.
The {true) religion is the beliefs we are holding now!" I thought
this exceedingly strange. When he noticed my reaction, he went
out and left me. Then he sent me bread and meat and things good
for himsé!5 and told me to cook, but I left it all untouched. He
came back later, cooked the food, and cleansed his place.

Someone knocked at the door. He went out, and there was a
man there who asked him whether that woman who had come to
him knew how to take care of certain matters pertaining to
women. My son asked me, and [ said that I did. The man then
told me to come with him. I went with him, and he brought me
into a house where there was a woman about to give birth. I
seated myself in front of her and started to talk to her, but she did
not respond. The man who brought me to her then said to me,
“You don't have to talk to her. Take good care of her business and
don't talk to her!” I stayed until she gave birth to_a boy, and I took
care of him. I started to talk to her kindly and said, “Woman!
Don't be bashful with me! You are obligated to me. Let me hear
your story and tell me who is the father of this child!” She said,
“Are you asking me about his father, so that you can go to him
and ask him for a gift?” I replied, “No! I just want to know your
story.’

She told me, “I am a Hashimite women. She raised her head,
and I saw the most beautiful // face. “Those people came to us
and slaughtered my father, my mother, my brothers, and my
entire family. Their leader then seized me, and I stayed with him
five days. He then took me out and handed me over to his men,
saying to them, ‘Cleanse her!'616 They meant to kill me, and I
cried. One of his officers present said, ‘Give her to me!', to which
he responded, ‘Take her! So he took me. But three of his men were
standing in his presence. They drew their swords and said,
‘We shall not hand her over to you. Hand her over to us, or

615 Text: “good for me”; read as in RC,
616 That is, “kill her!’ See Tabari, Introductio etc., CCCXLIII.



The Events of the Year 290

we shall kill you! They meant to kill me and caused a stir.
Their Qarmatian leader called and asked them what was the
matter, and they told him. He said, ‘She shall belong to all four of
you! They took me, and I stayed with the four of them. By God, I
do not know which of them is the father of this boy”

(The woman in Baghdad) continued: After the evening prayer,
a man came, and she told me to congratulate him. I congratu-
lated him on the newborn child, and he gave me a silver ingot.
Another man, and still another came. I congratulated each one,
and each gave me a silver ingot. At dawn, a group of people came
with a man. A torch was carried before him. He wore silk clothes,
and the smell of musk emanated from him. She told me to
congratulate him. I rose and went to him and said, *May God
gladden your face! Praised be God who has given you this son!" I
blessed him, and he gave me an ingot weighing a thousand
dirhams.617 The man spent the night in one room, and I spent the
night with the woman in another.

In the morning, I said to her , “Woman! You are obligated to
me. For God’s sake, set me free!” When she asked me from what
she should set me free, I told her about my son, saying, “I came
because I wanted him. He told me such // and such things. I
cannot do anything with him.618 I have *little* daughters, unable
to take care of themselves, whom I left behind in the worst
possible condition. Therefore set me free, so that I can leave here
and rejoin my daughters!” She said to me, “You have to ask the
man who was the last to come. Ask him for it, and he will set you
free! 1 stayed all day until evening, When he came back, I
approached him, kissed his hand and foot, and said, "My lord,
you are obligated to me. God has enriched me through you and
your gift. I have poor daughters unable to take care of themselves.
If you allow me to go, I shall bring my daughters, and they shall
be before you and serve you! He said, “Will you do that?” When I
said I would, he called some of his pages and told them to escort
me to such and such a place and then leave me and come back.
They had me mount a horse and escorted me *to the place.*

617 Roughly three thousand grams.
618 That is, probably, 1 cannot get any help from him.
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She continued: While we were traveling, suddenly here was my
son galloping along. We had already traveled ten farsakhs (sixty
km), or so the people who were with me told me. He came up to
me *where we were* and said, “You whore! You plan to go and
bring your daughters?”” He drew his sword to strike me. The
people *who were with me* restrained him, but the edge of his
sword touched me and entered my shoulder. The people drew
their swords, intending to get at him. He therefore drew away
from me.619 They took me to the place which their master had
designated, and then left me and went away. When I arrived here,
I made the rounds *of the physicians in Baghdad* in order to find
someone to treat my wound. This place was described to me, and
so I have come here. .

FShe continued: YWhen the Commander of the Faithful arrived
with the captured Qarmatian and his men, I went out to look at
them. Among them I saw / / my son upon a camel wearing a hood
and crying; he was a young man. I said to him, “May God not
grant you relief and escape!”

The physician said: When the woman doctor came, I took her
to her and commended her to her care. She treated her wound and
gave her a salve. After she had left, I asked the woman doctor
about her. She said, "I had my hand placed upon the wound and
told her to exhale. She did, and the breath came out through the
wound underneath my hand. I do not think she will recover!’ She
went off and did not return to us.

On Shawwal 18, 290 (September 14, 903), al-Qasim b. ‘Ubayd-
allah had al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nagrani arrested and incarcer-
ated. That was because al-Husayn had constantly intrigued against
him and slandered him in the presence of al-Muktafi. Eventually
(the Caliph) ordered (al-Qasim) to arrest him. When al-Husayn b.
(Amr was arrested, his secretary who was known as al-Shirazi62
fled. He was sought, the residences of his neighbors were raided,
and a certain sum was announced as a reward for finding him,
but he was not found. On Shawwal 22, 290 (September 18, 903),
al-Husayn b. ‘Amr was returned to his residence on condition that

619 R: “them.
6201 have no further information about him.
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he leave Baghdad. On the following Friday (September 23, 903), he
left, going toward Wasit into exile. His secretary al-Shirazi was
found on Dhi al-Qa‘dahé2! 3, 290 (September 28, 903).

On Ramadan 2, 290 (July 30, 903), al-Muktafi gave orders that
the army be given its allotments and made ready to go to war
with the Qarmatian in Syria. One hundred thousand dinars were
allocated to the army all at once. This was because // the
Egyptianss22 had written to al-Muktafi and complained about
their suffering at the hands of Zikrawayh's son known as the
Man of the Mole. He was devastating the country and killing the
people. They had also suffered earlier at the hands of his brother;
the two had killed their men, and only a few were now left.

TOn Ramadan 5, 290 (August 2, 903), al-Muktafi's tents were
taken out and set up at Bab al-Shammasiyyah. 1 At dawn on
Ramadan 7,623 (August 4, 903), al-Muktafi went to his tent at Bab
al-Shammasiyyah accompanied by his officers, pages, and troops.
On Ramadin 12 (August 9), he left his tent at dawn and took to
the Mosul Road. On Ramadan 15 (August 12}, Abta al-Agharr
went to Aleppo. He encamped at Wadi Butnan near Aleppo
together with all his men. A number of his men took off.
their clothes and went into the rivers# to cool off in the water,
because it was a very hot day. While they were thus engaged, the
army of the Qarmatian known as the Man of the Mole came
*upon them*, preceded by$? the man known as al-Mutawwagq.
He surprised them in this condition and killed a large number of
them and looted their camp. Abi al-Agharr fled with a number
of his men and entered Aleppo; about a thousand men escaped
with him. He had had about ten thousand horsemen and foot
soldiers, since a number of officers and men of the Farghanah
contingent from the Caliph's court had been attached to him.
Only a few of them escaped. The Qarmatian’s men arrived at

621 R: “Ramadan.’

622 “Egyptians” refers to the armed forces in Syria under Egyptian control. Under-
standably, R reads “Syrians,” and Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 35, has “Egyptians and
Syrians!

63 C: "“six"; R: “nine!

624 Wadi Butnan was located east of Aleppo. The river (wadi) meant here is the Nahr
al-Dhahab. See Yaqut, Mu'jam, IV, 389.

625 R: “with their leader,” for “preceded by!"
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the gate of Aleppo where Abtu al-Agharr and his remaining men
fought him along with local people. After a battle between them,
the Qarmatians left (Abt al-Agharr), taking with them the
horses, weapons, money "and goods ! that they had taken from the
camp. Al-Muktafi moved on with the troops who were with him
// and eventually reached al-Raqqah. He encamped there and
sent one army after the other against the Qarmatian.

‘On Shawwal 72, 290 (August 29, 903) !, a dispatch from al-Qasim
b. ‘Ubaydallah arrived at Madinat al-Salam. In it, al-Qasim report-
ed that a dispatch had reached him from Damascus from Badr
al-Hammamj, the close associate of Ibn Tulan, with the informa-
tion that he had attacked the Qarmatian Man of the Mole; he
had routed him and put his men to the sword. Those who escaped
had fled toward the desert. The dispatch went on to indicate that
the Commander of the Faithful had sent al-Husayn b. Hamdan
b. Hamdiin! and other officers in pursuit of him.

In these days, Fanother Vdispatch reportedly arrived at Baghdad
from the amir of al-Bahrayn, Ibn Bianu.6% In it, he mentioned
that he had made a surprise attack upon a stronghold of the
Qarmatians and overcome its occupants.

On Dhi al-Qa‘dah ''13, 290 (October 8, 903), another ! dispatch
reportedly arrived at Baghdad from flbn Band in! al-Bahrayn. In
it, he mentioned that he had attacked relatives of Abid Sa‘id
al-Jannabi as well as the person al-Jannabi had appointed to lead
his loyal followers after his death,527 and he had routed him. That
person was installed in al-Qatif. After his men were routed, he
was found dead among those killed. Ibn Bana then had his head
cut off. The dispatch went on to indicate that he then conquered
and entered al-Qatif.

626 1bn Bani's position appears to have been that of the government’s military
representative in a very troubled region. It is possible that Khalaf b. Ahmad b. Bana,
who is mentioned in 354 (965) (Hamadhani, Takmilah, 190; Eclipse, Index), was
related to him, perhaps his son. However, there is no supporting evidence for this
assumption.

627 | have not succeeded in determining the identity of this “crown prince (wali
al-‘ahd)!" The title may, or may not, be germane to the Qarmatians.
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A letter of the Man of the Mole to one of his officials:628

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate

From the servant of God Ahmad b. ‘Abdallah, the Mahdi, the
One Supported by God, the Supporter of the Religion of God,
the Executor of the Command of God, the Administrator
according to the Judgment of God,62 the Missionary for the
Book of God, the Defender of the Sacred Territorys® of God,
the Chosen One of the Children of the Messenger of God,
the Commander // of the Faithful and the Imam of the
Muslims, the Humbler of the Hypocrites, the Lieutenant of
God in charge of the Worlds, the Reaper of the Wrongdoers,
the Breaker of the Transgressors, the Vanquisher of the
Heretics, the Slayer of the Evildoers, the Destroyer of the
Wicked, the Lamp of those who can see and the Light of
those who wish to see light, the Scatterer of the Opponents,
the Administrator of the Tradition (sunnah) of Those Sent as
Messengers,$3! the Descendant of the Best of Legatees, 632 God
bless him and the goodly people of his house and make them
prosper mightily!

To Ja'far b. Humayd al-Kurdi:633 Greetings to you! I praise
in your behalf God, but Whom there is no other God, and
ask Him to pray for my ancestor Muhammad, the Messenger
of God *and his family*.

Information has reached us about the events caused in
your parts by the unbelieving enemies of God, the things
they have done in your region, and the wrongdoing, harass-

628 The complete authenticity of the following two documents is virtually certain. It
is confirmed by the fact that they have apparently little direct bearing upon the
events of the year but are used to convey the flavor of the way in which the
Qarmatian organization was run. Both indicate the independence of local command-
ers, in spite of their expressions of subservience to the leader of the sect. Cf. Halm,
“Sphne Zikrawaihs,” 42-44, for a discussion and translation of the letters.

629 It may be noted that the preceding titles reappear later among the throne names
of the Egyptian Fatimids. See Halm, “Séhne Zikrawaihs,” 42f.

630 This seems to be the intended meaning of harim Allah. 1bn Taghribirdi has, in
fact, haram Allah (Nujum, 111, 206f.}, but this seems to be a simplification, or rather
an error.

631 The addition in the Cairo edition: “...Tradition of (the Lord of)...” appears to have
no manuscript authority.

632 That is, ‘Ali b. Abi Talib.

633 There is no further information about him.
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ment,$34 and corruption fon earth! they have manifested. We
have found it outrageous and consider it appropriate to
dispatch our troops there. Through them, God will take
revenge on His wrongdoing enemies who “eagerly cause
corruption on earth 635 We have dispatched our da‘i ‘Utayrs3s
and a number of the Faithful to the city of Hims and have
reinforced them with troops. We are following behind them.
We have suggested to them that they march toward your
region and seek out the enemies of God wherever they are.
We do hope that God will let us proceed with respect to them
in the best fashion we are accustomed to from Him with
respect to the likes of them. It is necessary for you to fortify
your heart and the hearts of your associates who are with
you, and to trust in God and in His support, which He has
always and customarily given us with respect to everybody
who has deviated from obeying Him // and has strayed
from the faith.

God willing, let us quickly have reports about news in
your region and do not conceal anything from us!

“Glory to you, O God! Their greeting in Paradise is
"Welcome!' and the end of their call is that 'Praise is due to
God, the Lord of the Worlds. ' 67 May God bless my ancestor
Muhammad, the Messenger of God, and the people of his
house and make them prosper mightily!

A copy of a letter of one of his officials to him:

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate

To the Servant of God Ahmad, the Imdm, the Mahdi, the
One Supported by God—followed by all the titles as in the
copy of his letter to his official just quoted by us to “Descen-
dant of the Best Legatees, may God bless him and the goodly
people of his house and make them prosper mightily,”
continuing:

634 Text: {abath "nonsense”’; read ‘ayth, as in R and the Cairo edition.

635 Qur. 5:33, 64.

636 See text below, 2287 (‘Arib, 36). For da‘iyatana, R clearly reads ra‘iyana.
637 Qur. 10:10.
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From ‘Amir b. Isa al-‘Anqa"i:63 Greetings to the Commander
of the Faithful Tand the mercy and blessings of God upon
him!

May God give ! the Commander of the Faithful a long life,
and may He make his power, aid, help, well-being, nobility,
Fgrace, 1 and happiness last! May He pour His favors upon
him and increase His kindness and generosity to him!

The letter of my lord, the Commander of the Faithful —
May God give him a long life!—has arrived. In it, he informs
me that some victorious troops together with one of his
officers have been dispatched to our region for the holy war
against the enemies of God, the Banii al-Fusays,63 and the
traitor Ibn Duhaym, and that they are to seek them out
wherever they are and attack them and their associates and
their estates. He—May God make his power last!—is ordering
me, upon seeing / / this letter, to set out to meet them64 with [2235]
all the men and tribesmen of mine that I can muster, to aid
and support the army, to march with them, and to do all
they indicate$4! and command. I have understood his letter.

No sooner had this letter reached me—may God give
power to the Commander of the Faithful —than the victori-
ous 1 troops arrived. They reached an area within the region
controlled by Ibn Duhaym and turned back with the letter
that had reached them from the da‘i Masrir b. Ahmade®
(asking them) to meet him in the city of Afamiyah.

Then, about the same time as the letter whose contents I
have reported in the beginning of the letter reached me, a
letter Tfrom Masriir b. Ahmad¥%4 reached me. In it, Masrar
ordered me to gather my available men and tribesmen and
set out and come to him. He warned me not to stay away. His
letter reached me when it had become clear to us that the

638 There is no further information on him, and the reading ‘Anqa‘ is conjectural. A
locality ‘Anga’ existed in Arabia, see Bakri, Mu'jam, 881.

63 See text below, 2239. For their presence in Lidhigiyyah in 319 (931), see Ibn
al-{Adim, Zubdat al-halab, I, 97. I have not succeeded in identifying Ibn Duhaym.
640 Probably, the support troops. The pronoun might, however, refer to the enemy.

641 R: wa-al-‘amal (?) bi-kull ma yakiin mim-ma yum(i’)iina bihi. See C.

642 There seems to be no further information on him.

643 This is another letter from Masrur different from the one mentioned in the
preceding paragraph.
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deviator Subuk,$4 the slave of Muflih, had come to the city
of Irqah6% with about a thousand men, horsemen and foot
soldiers, and was within sight of our region and location.
Now, Ahmad b. al-Walid, 8% the slave of the Commander of
the Faithful—May God give him a long life!—has sent
messengers to all his men, and I have sent messengers to all
my men. We have gathered them around us and have sent
spies to the region of ‘Irqah, in order to obtain reports about
that traitor and where he wants to go, so that we can proceed
accordingly. "We hope that God in His kindness and might
will overpower and subdue him. Had that deviator not come
to this region! and were he not close to our location, I would
not have postponed setting out with all my men for the city

[2236] of Afamiyah to join forces with the people$4’ // who are
staying there, in order to fight the holy war against Tthose
who are in! that region, until God, the Best of Judges, passes
judgment between us.648

This is to inform my lord, the Commander of the Faithful —
May God give him a long life! —why I have stayed away from
Masrar b. Ahmad, so that he will know my reason. If
he—May God make his power last!—later orders me to pro-
ceed to Afamiyah, I shall proceed, God willing, in accor-
dance with his view and obey his command.

May God's favors materialize for the Commander of the
Faithful! May He make his power and well-being last! May
He let him enjoy His generosity, and may He clothe him in
His beneficent care! 1 Peace be upon the Commander of the
Faithful and the mercy and blessings of God! Praise be to
God, the Lord of the Worlds! May God bless "the Prophet !
Muhammad and the pures* and chosen people of his house!

64 Apparently, Subuk al-Muflihi who was governor of al-Basrah when he was killed
in 311 {923). See ‘Arib, 111; Hamadhani, Takmilah, 40; see also $abi’, Wuzara’, 300.
The Muflih in question was killed in 258 (872). See text above, 111, 1862. Although
the time frame of the letters is uncertain, an identification with the aforemen-
tioned Subuk al-Daylami (see above nn. 575 and 590} may be ruled out.

645 About twenty-four km east of Tarabulus, according to Yaqiit, Mujam, 111, 653.
See also Dussaud, Topographie historique, 80ff. {'Arqa).

64 There is no further information about him.

647 Text: al-quwwad “the officers”; read al-qawm “(army) people” as in RC.

648 See Qur. 10:109, 12:80.

6‘9 R: “gmd'"
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In this year, al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah sent troops against the
Man of the Mole, putting Muhammad b. Sulayman al-Katib,
who headed the Diwan of the Army, in charge of the campaign.
Al-Qasim attached all the officers to him and commanded them
to obey him loyally. Muhammad proceeded from al-Ragqah with
a substantial army and wrote the officers in advance of him that
they were to obey him loyally.

In this year, two emissaries of the Byzantine ruler, one of
them a eunuch and the other not, arrived in Baghdad. They came
to ask (al-Muktafi) to enter into ransom negotiations for the
Muslims whom the Byzantine ruler was holding captive. They
brought presents from the Byzantine ruler as well as several
Muslim captives he was sending to the Caliph. Their request was
granted, and robes of honor were bestowed upon them.65

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
™. ‘Abdallah b. al-‘Abbas b. Muhammad. 1/ /

650 See Canard, Sources arabes, 18. It may be noted that this passage does not occur in
either R or C. Although it is found only in B, there is no reason to doubt that it
belonged to some recension of the History.
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The
"Important ' Events of the Year

291

(NOVEMBER 24, 903 - NOVEMBER 12, 904)

@

One of the events was the battle between the government forces
and the Man of the Mole *and his men*.

The Report on this Battle

Abu Ja'far (al-Tabari) says: As has already been mentioned,
al-Muktafi had marched from Madinat al-Salam to war against
the Man of the Mole. He had reached al-Raqqgah and deployed his
troops between Aleppo and Hims. He had put Muhammad b.
Sulayman Mal-Katib! in charge of the campaign against the Man
of the Mole and given him command of his troops and officers.
Now, at the beginning of this year, al-Muktaft's wazir al-Qasim
b. ‘Ubaydallah wrote to Muhammad b. Sulayman and the gov-
ernment officers ordering them to take a stand against the Man of
the Mole and his men. They marched "against hinl and eventually
reached a location that was reportedly twelve mil (twenty-four
km) from Hamah.65! There, 'on Tuesday, ! al-Muharram 6, 291
(Tuesday, November 29, 903), they encountered the Qarmatian’s
men. He had sent them in advance, while he himself remained
behind with a number of others; he had with him money that he
had accumulated. His train was placed by him in the rear. A
battle broke out between the government forces and those of the
Qarmatian, and the fighting became fierce. The Qarmatian's
men were routed, and many of them were killed or captured. The
rest dispersed in the desert. They were pursued by the govern-

651 This place is apparently the same as the one later described as the camp of the
Qarmatians, see below, n. 661.
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ment forces during Wednesday night,652 al-Muharram 7, 291
(Wednesday, November 30, 903). When the Qarmatian saw how
his men had been defeated and routed, he reportedly had / / Abua
al-Fadl,653 a brother of his, transport money, ordering him to stay
in the desert until he himself would appear at a certain location,
and then he should come to him. The Qarmatian himself, his
cousin al-Muddaththir, his close associate al-Mutawwagq, and a
Byzantine page of his mounted, and, taking a guide, they rode off
straight across the desert in the direction of al-Kiifah. When he
eventually reached a place known as al-Daliyah654 in the admin-
istrative district of the Euphrates Road, their provisions and
fodder had run out. He sent one of the men who were with him to
obtain for him655 whatever was needed. The man entered al-
Diliyah, which was known as Daliyat Ibn Tawq, to buy what he
needed. People did not recognize the dress he was wearing, and,
when asked about his business, he fumbled. A report was then
made to the man in charge of the regional armory, a man known
as Abt Khubzah,s5% the lieutenant of Ahmad b. Muhammad b.
Kushmard,s57 the official of the Commander of the Faithful
al-Muktafi in charge of the security of al-Rahbah and the
Euphrates Road. Abii Khubzah rode out with a number of people
and asked the man about his story. He informed him that the
Man of the Mole was behind a hill there with three persons. Abu
Khubzah went and seized them and brought them to his master,
Ibn Kushmard, who, with Abu Khubzah, took them to al-Muktafi
in al-Ragqah. The troops returned from pursuing the enemy after
killing or capturing all the allies and partisans of the Qarmatian
that they could.

652 That is, immediately after the Tuesday battle on the night from Tuesday to
Wednesday.

653 For Aba al-Fadl's activities two years later, see text below, 2255f. (‘Arib, 9}.
Although no name is mentioned there, the same individual is likely to be meant. R:
“Abii al-‘Abbas”

654 The waterwheel (daliyah) of Malik b. Tawq was located on the western bank of
the Euphrates between ‘Anah and al-Rahbah (=Rahbat Malik b. Tawgq). Its claim to
historical fame is the event described here. See Yaqiit, Mu'jam, II, 538. On Malik b.
Tawgq and the suspected confusion with his father Tawgq b. Malik, see text above, I,
117; Azdi, Ta'rikh al-Mawsil, 407, n. 2. For the equation of al-Daliyah with
al-Salihiyyah/Dura-Europos, see Halm, “Sohne Zikrawaihs,” 49, n. 96.

655 R; "for them.”

65 No further information about him is available.

657 See above, n. 398.
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Muhammad b. Sulayman sent the wazir the following victory
dispatch:658

In the name of God, the Merciful, the Compassionate

I hope that God willing, the previous dispatches I have
sent to the wazir—May God give him strength!—concerning
the accursed Qarmatian and his partisans have arrived.

On / / Tuesday, al-Muharram 6, 291 (Tuesday, November
29, 903), I moved from the place known as al-Qarwanah to a
place known as al-‘Alyanah659 with the entire army of allies.
We advanced in battle order, center, right wing, left wing,
and so on. I had not gone far when a report reached me
indicating that the Qarmatian unbeliever had dispatched
al-Nu‘man, the son of the brother of Isma‘il b. al-Nu‘man, 60
one of his da‘ts, with three thousand horsemen and a large
number of foot soldiers. He had encamped in a place known
as Tmn66! twelve mil {twenty-four km] from Hamah; all
the horsemen and foot soldiers from Ma‘arrat al-Nu‘min and
the region of the Fusays and other regions had joined him. I
kept this information concealed from the officers and every-
body else and did not reveal it. 1 asked the guide who was
with me about the distance between us and that place. He
said that it was six mil (twelve km).

Putting my trust in Almighty God, I ordered the guide to
march against {al-Nu‘man), "and he took everybody along?
We marched until I reached the unbelievers. I found them
arrayed in battle order, and we®3 saw their vanguards. When
they noticed our approach, they moved toward us, and we

658 Although Tabari often refers to and also briefly quotes ‘Abbasid victory dis-
patches (see, for instance, text above, 111, 2141f.}, this is the first long and detailed
example he gives for a literary genre which gained particular importance in Ottoman
times. See ER, s. v. fathname. See also Balawi, Sirat Ahmad b. Tliin, 265f. The long
report on the suppression of internal unrest {text above, III, 1565ff.) represents a
different type of dispatch.

659 Both the locations and the forms of the names of these places are not known.

660 For AbG Muhammad Isma‘il b. al-Nu‘man, see below, n. 704. I have no further
mformauon on his nephew beyond Tabart's text.

6! R: “Tami‘"” The form of the name is uncertain. Map VIII of Dussand, Topographie
historique, shows, “Temania” north of Hamah at a slightly greater distance, but the
two names most probably have nothing to do with each other. See also above, n. 651.

662 The meaning is not quite certain.
663R: “L"
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moved toward them. They were divided into Tsix! squad-
rons. According to information given me by one of their
leaders whom I overpowered, they had put in charge of their
left wing Masriir al-‘Ulaymi, %4 Abd -al-Himl,665 a page of
Hartin al-Ullaysi, Abu al-‘Adhab, Raja’, $afi, and Abi Ya‘la
al-Alawi with one thousand five hundred horsemen. Behind
their left wing, and opposite our right wing, they had set up
an ambush$% with four hundred horsemen. In the center,
they had placed al-Nu‘'min al-‘Ullaysi, the one known as
Abd / / al-Hty, and al-Hm'ry%7 and a number of (command-
ers) like them®68 with one thousand four hundred horsemen
and three thousand foot soldiers. On their right wing, they
had placed Kulayb al-Ullaysi, a man known as al-Sadidse?
al-Ullaysi, al-Husayn "b. 1 al-‘Ullaysi, Abd al-Jarrah al-
‘Ullaysi, Hamdané70 al-‘Ullaysi, and a number of (com-
manders) like them. They had one thousand four hundred
horsemen with them, and they had set up an ambush with
two hundred horsemen. They advanced steadily toward us,
while we were marching toward them in closed formation, 67!
putting our trust in Almighty God. I had urged on the allies,
the pages, and all the other men with promises.

When we were in sight of each other, the squadron on
their left wing attacked, whipping (their horses), and moved
toward al-Husayn b. Hamdan, 62 who was on the flank of
the right wing. Al-Husayn—May God bless him and give
him a good reward!—personally confronted them with all

64 Text: “al-Ullaysi"; read “al-‘Ulaym3i,” as in RC. No further information on the
)armatian officers mentioned here is likely to exist.

65 RC: “al-Jamal

#6 “Reserve force” would be somewhat more to the point. See text below, 2263.

%7 R: “al-Huttl” and “al-Hammuni" The correct forms of the names cannot be
stablished.

%8 Text: btlanihim (1), apparently meant to have the same meaning as abtal
heroes,” is highly dubious. R and, if I am not mistaken, C have nuzara’ihim, as
ranslated above.

9 R: “Abu al-Shadid””

570 Text: “Humayd”; read Hamdiin as in R.

571 Lit., “not dispersing.’

572 Possibly, “al-Husayn...started moving”’ Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 38, in summariz-
ng the victory dispatch, states that al-Husayn was the architect of the victory and
hat he was praised very highly for this by Muhammad b. Sulayman.
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the men who were with him.63 Using their lances, they
broke them in the Qarmatians' breasts, whereupon (the
Qarmatians) withdrew from them. When the Qarmatians
resumed their attack against them, they took their swords,
striking the enemy in their faces. During the first onslaught,
six hundred horsemen of the wicked unbelievers fell. Al-
Husayn's men seized five hundred horses and four hundred
silver necklaces. The Qarmatians turned their backs and
fled, and al-Husayn pursued them. They counter-attacked
incessantly, making onslaught after onslaught. In the course
of these engagements, one group of theirs after the other fell,
until Almighty God had annihilated them. Less than two
hundred of their men escaped.

The squadron on their right wing attacked al-Qasim b.
Simi and Yumn al-Khadimé7¢ and the Banu Shayban and
Bant Tamim who were with them. They confronted them

[2241] with their lances, until // they broke them in the enemy,
and they grappled with each other. A large number of the
wicked were killed. At the time of their onslaught, they were
attacked by Khalifah b. al-Mubaraké’s and Lu'lu’ whose
three hundred horsemen I had deployed flanking Khalifah
and all his men. "They were fighting alongside the Band
Shaybian and the Tamim. 1 A great many of the unbelievers
were killed, and (the government forces) pursued them. The
Bani Shaybin took three hundred horses and a hundred
necklaces from them, and Khalifah’s men took a like number.

Al-Nu‘man and the men with him in the center advanced
toward us. Positioned between the center and the right wing,
I attacked with those who were with me. Khaqan, Nasr
al-Qushiiri, and Muhammad b. Kumushjtr and those with
hims76 on the right wing also attacked, as did Wasif Mashgir,
Muhammad b. Ishiq b. Kundijiq, the two sons of Kay-

673 Text: li-mawdi'ihi “where he stood”; read bi-man ma‘ahi, as in RC.

674 He may be identical with one of the many Yumns mentioned in the sources for
this time, but no certain identity can be established for him.

675 That is, Abi al-Agharr.

676 Read, as in RC, ma‘ahi; text: "with them.
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ghalagh677 *and those with them,* al-Mubarak al-Qummi, 578
Rabi‘ah b. Muhammad,$’ Muhijir b. Tulayg,% al-Muzaffar
b. Hajj, ‘Abdallah b. Hamdan,68! Jinni the Elder, Wasif
al-Buktamiri 82 Bishr al-Buktamiri,683 and Muhammad b.
Qaratughan.63 Flanking the right wing were all those who
had attacked the men in the center as well as those who had
disengaged themselves from the attackers of al-Husayn b.
Hamdin. They continued killing the unbelievers, horsemen
and foot soldiers alike, until they were slain, over a distance
of more than five mil (ten km).685

When I went a half mil beyond the battle lines, I feared
that the unbelievers might be planning a ruse against the
foot soldiers and the train. Therefore 1 halted until they
reached me. I gathered them and the men around me, while
in front of me was the blessed spear, the spear of the Com-
mander of the Faithful 68

1 had // attacked right at the beginning, and so had the
troops, while all the time ‘Isa al-Nushari secured the train,
stationing battle lines behind them with the horsemen and
the foot soldiers according to a plan I had drawn up for him.
He did not leave his position, until all the troops from every
location had returned to me?. I set up my tents at the place

67 Ahmad b. Kayghalagh, who was twice governor of Egypt (Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim,
111, 206f£f., 242ff.), was more prominent than his brother Ibrahim. He was accorded
the honor, rare for a military leader, of a separate biographical notice in Ibn ¢Asikir,
Ta'rikh Dimashq (see the Tahdhib, published in Damascus in 1911, 1, 440f.), quoted
in Ibn Khallikan, Wafayat, V, 63. It is stated there that Ibrahim died in the beginning
of Dhii al-Qa‘dah, 303 {May 7, 916}, but there seems to be no indication of how long
Ahmad survived the final loss of authority in Egypt in 323 (935); however, he is
mentioned once more in Eclipse, 1, 332, sub anno 324.

678 He was killed in 294 {906). See text below, 2271 {(Arib, 15).

679 He may be identical with Abii ‘Adnan Rabi‘ah b. Muhammad. See text below,
2281.

630 R rather implausibly makes him an ancestor of the preceding Rabi‘ah.

681 Al-Husayn's brother Abii al-Hayja' ‘Abdallah b. Hamdan (see above, n. 87) d.
al-Muharram, 317 {March, 929). See Canard, Hamdanides, 341-78.

62 He became the successor of al-‘Abbas b. ‘Amr al-Ghanawi in Diyar Mudar in 305
(917) but proved inadequate and was replaced by Jinni al-$afwani. See ‘Arib, 69;
Eclipse, 1, 56.

683 R: “Yusr

684 1 have no further information about him.

685 See above, n. 93. As stated in the following paragraph, Muhammad b. Sulayman
became concerned about the danger of his men dispersing over a wide area in order
to kill and loot.

686 The caliphal mitrad “spear” served here as a rallying point. Mitrad appears in
combination with ‘alam in the sense of flag.
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where 1 had halted, until everybody had encamped, and
remained there until after the evening prayer, when all the
men were safely quartered. I sent out vanguards, and then I
dismounted and praised God profusely for the victory He
had allowed us to enjoy. Each and every one of the officers
and pages of the Commander of the Faithful as well as the
non-Arabs$%” and others, achieved their goal of assisting this
blessed dynasty and offering it good counsel. God bless them
all!

When the people had gone to rest, I and all the officers
went out to stay outside the camp until morning. We did
this fearing that some ruse might be used (against us). I am
asking God for complete favor and a share of gratefulness.688
I am now—May God give power to our lord the wazir—on
my way to Hamah. Then, with the kind help of Almighty
God, I shall march to Salamyah, since the remaining unbe-
lievers as well as the Unbelievers8 are in Salamyah, where
he arrived three days ago.

I think it is necessary for the wazir to proceed with writing
a letter to all the officers and "all ! the Arab subtribes of the
Bant Shayban, the Taghlib, and the Bani Tamim, com-
mending and rewarding them for what happened in this
battle. For none of them, young or old, has left any of the
goals unattained.6% '

Praised be God for favors granted! It is He whom [ am
asking for full grace.

687 Reference to the ‘ajam "non-Arabs” here, in contrast to the allied Arab tribesmen,
is natural in view of the fact that the officers and pages were at best second-
generation Turks, Daylam, Persians, and so were the contingents of fighting men they
commanded. They were to be treated and rewarded differently from the Arab bedouins.
See below, n. 690.

688 “Gratefulness (shukr),” as understood in Islam, is a two-way street between God
and man.

689 The reference seems to be to the Man of the Mole, who probably was no longer in
the area at the time of writing. The victory dispatch was written just before he was
captured.

60 In addition to stressing the merit of its author, the victory dispatch had as its
primary purpose to recommend promotions and rewards for the officers and men,
whether they were regular or irregular troops. This is most clearly stated in this
paragraph, but it was also hinted at earlier in the dispatch.
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When I proceeded to collect heads, those of Abii al-Himl,
Abii al-‘Adhab, and Abu al-Baghl were found.st // Al-
Nu‘min reportedly was killed. I am, God willing, about to
search for his corpse, take his head, and carry it with the
other heads into the presence of the Commander of the
Faithful.

On Monday, al-Muharram 26, 291 (Monday, December 19,
903), the Man of the Mole was brought into al-Raqqah, appearing
before the people on a Bactrian camel, wearing a silken hood and
a brocade cloak. Al-Muddaththir and al-Mutawwaq were in front
of him on two camels. Al-Muktafi then left his troops behind
with Muhammad b. Sulayman and, accompanied by al-Qasim b.
‘Ubaydallih, he went with the men of his inner circle, the pages,
and the eunuchs from al-Ragqah to Baghdad. He took along the
Qarmatian, al-Muddaththir, al-Mutawwag, and a number of
those captured in battle. This was on Safar 1, 291 (December
24, 903).

When the Caliph arrived at Baghdad, he Treportedly? consid-
ered bringing the Qarmatian into Madinat al-Salam hanging
from a stake$%2 placed upon the back of an elephant. He ordered
the demolition of the arcades of the gates through which the
elephant was to pass, because they were too low for the stake. This
was the case with Bab al-Taq, Bab al-Rusafah, and other gates.
But then al-Muktafi reportedly found this plan objectionable.
Damyanah, the page of Yazman, therefore had a chair made for
the Qarmatian, which was mounted upon the back of the
elephant. It reportedly rose two and a half cubitsé93 above the
elephant’s back. On Monday morning, Rabi' I 2,69 291 (Monday,
January 23, 904), al-Muktafi entered Madinat al-Salam Baghdad.
He was preceded by the captives on camels; they were in fetters
and wore silken cloaks and hoods. Al-Mutawwagq, a lad whose
beard had not yet grown, was in the middle. He had a roundedé%

61 R: "I found those...."

62 Daql “palm trunk.”

693 That is about 1.25 m. The specific form of this “chair (kursi}” cannot be deter-
mined with any precision. See Sadan, Mobilier, 123ff.

64 R: “Rabi‘l, 17

5 Makhriit, here translated “rounded” since it seems to refer to the shape rather
than mean “smooth.
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piece of wood placed in his mouth, which was tied to the back of
his head, as if it were a bridle. This was done because, when he
was brought into al-Raqqah, / / he vilified the people when they
cursed him, and spit upon them. He was dealt with in this
fashion lest he vilify anyone (on this occasion). Al-Muktafi then
ordered the construction of a raised platform at the Old Oratory
on the East Side. It was twenty square cubits wide and ten cubits
high.6% Steps were built to enable him to ascend it.

When al-Muktafi returned to Madinat al-Salim, he left his
troops behind in al-Raqqah with Muhammad b. Sulayman.
Mubammad b. Sulayman now rounded up the officers, qadss,
and police chiefs of the Qarmatian in that region. He took them
and put them in fetters. He and the officers left behind with him
went down to Madinat al-Salam on the Euphrates Road. On
Thursday night, Rabi‘ I 12, 697 291 (February 2, 904), he reached
Bab al-Anbar,5% together with a number of officers, among them
Khagan al-Muflihi, Muhammad b. Ishiaq b. Kundijiq, fand
others \. The officers who were in Baghdad were ordered to go and
meet Muhammad b. Sulayman and escort him into the city. He
entered with some seventy captives in front of him and went to
al-Thurayya where a robe of honor, a gold necklace, and two gold
bracelets were bestowed upon him. All "the officers 1 who arrived
with him received robes of honor, necklaces, and bracelets. They
were given leave to return to their residences; the captives were
ordered to prison.

While the Man of the Mole was in al-Muktafi's prison, he
reportedly took a bowl6? from the table that was brought in to
him. Smashing it, he took a piece and cut one of his veins. He lost

6% An area ten by ten meters wide is not very large, and the five-meter high platform
must have been very crowded. See Balawi, Sirat Ahmad b. Tulun, 269, for a similar
platform erected in connection with the punishment of the followers of al-‘Abbas,
the son of Ibn Tulun. For the Old Oratory, see above, n. 27.

697 R: “in the middle of Rabi 1"

698 See Lassner, Topography, map VI, no. 6.

6% Sukurrajah “bowl]” refers to a small dish to hold side dishes (see Kindermann,
Uber die guten Sitten, 61). The one here was most likely made of glass, rather than
china or wood.
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much blood, but he then tied his hand.”® When the person in
charge of serving him noticed // it, he asked him why he had
done it. He replied, “My blood got all stirred up, and I let it
out’70l He was left alone, until he was well again and his
strength returned.

On Monday, Rabi‘ I 23, 291 (Monday, February 13, 904),
al-Muktafi ordered the officers and pages to be present at the
raised platform he had ordered built. Great throngs went out to
attend. Ahmad b. Muhammad al-Withiqi, who was at the time
the chief of police in Madinat al-Salam, and Muhammad b.
Sulaymain, the secretary of the army, came to the raised platform
and took their seats on it. Brought on camels to the platform were
the captives whom al-Muktafi had brought along from al-Raqqah
and those whom Muhammad b. Sulaymian had brought. There
were also Qarmatians rounded up’® at al-Kafah and imprisoned,
Baghdadis who held Qarmatian beliefs, "and! some friffraff from
other places who were not Qarmatians?, They remained on the
camels, with two armed guards in charge of each one of them;
they reportedly numbered some three hundred and twenty or
three hundred and sixty. The Qarmatian al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh,
known as the Man of the Mole, together with his cousin, known
as al-Muddaththir, was brought upon a mule carrying the two
in a covered litter. A number of horsemen and foot soldiers were
with them. They were brought up to the raised platform and
seated on it. Thirty-four of the captives were now brought forward.
Their hands and feet were cut off, and they were decapitated one
after the other. Each man was seized and spread out face down.
His right hand was cut off and tossed from *the raised platform*
and circulated below, so that the people could see it. Then his left
foot / / was cut off, "then his left hand?, then his right foot, and
whatever was cut off was tossed down. Then he was seated, his
head was stretched and chopped off, and both head and corpse

700 That is, he applied a tourniquet to his forearm (yad) to stop the flow of blood from
the cut vein. :

701 The Man of the Mole apparently attempted suicide, but when he lost courage to
go through with it, he did not want to admit it, because he did not want to appear
fainthearted and, in particular, he did not want to admit to an action that was
highly objectionable from the religious point of view. He described his action
medically as a rather clumsy attempt at bloodletting for a sanguine indisposition.

702 R: humilu “carried (from}”
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were tossed down. A small number of captives made a clamor
pleading and swearing that they were not Qarmatians.

When the execution of those thirty-four individuals who report-
edly included prominent and important men of the Qarmatian
was finished, al-Muddaththir was brought forward. His hands
and feet were cut off, and he was decapitated. Then the Qarmatian
was brought forward. He was given two hundred lashes. Then his
hands and feet were cut off, and he was cauterized,’0 whereupon
he lost consciousness. Firewood was then taken, kindled, and
placed upon his sides and belly. He started to open his eyes, but
then closed them again. When it was feared that he might die, he
was decapitated. His head was raised upon a piece of wood, and
those upon the platform and all the people exclaimed, “God is
great!”

After the Qarmatian was killed, the officers and those present
there left to see what would be done with him, while al-Wathiq1
with a number of his men remained until the second evening
prayer when the fother ! captives who were brought to the raised
platform had been decapitated. Then he left. On the following
morning, the heads of those killed were carried from the Oratory
to the Bridge. The corpse of the Qarmatian was hung at the foot
of the VUpper Bridge Fin Baghdad!. On Wednesday (February 15),
the corpses of those killed were thrown into Mpits 1 dug beside the
raised platform, which were then filled. After several days, orders
were given to demolish the raised platform, and this was done. / /

On Rabi‘II 14, 291 (March 5, 904), al-Qasim b. S1mai arrived at
Baghdad via the Euphrates Road from the region under his
jurisdiction. He was accompanied by one of the Bania al-‘Ullays,
one of the Qarmatian’s men, who had come to him for a guaran-
tee of safe-conduct. His patronymic was Abi Muhammad,’04
and he was one of the da'‘is of the Qarmatian. The reason why he
sought a guarantee of safe-conduct was that the central authori-
ties had corresponded with him and promised to treat him well if

703 Cauterization was the normal procedure after amputation. Here it served the
purpose of prolonging the torture, as it was feared that the Man of the Mole might
die too quickly.

704 As indicated in R and (Arib, 5, as well as Ibn al-Athir, he was Abi Muhammad
Ismi‘1l b. al-Nu'man. See above, n. 660. He was killed in this year.
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he, in particular, were to seek a guarantee of safe-conduct. They
did that because he was the only Qarmatian chieftain left in the
Syrian region. He was a mawla of the Banu al-‘Ullays *and was
called Isma‘il b. al-Nu‘man.* At the time of the battle, *he had
taken refuge with a number of the Bant al-‘Ullays* in some
obscure region and thus escaped. He then wished to seek a guar-
antee of safe-conduct and declare his loyalty, because he was
afraid for his life. He and those with him, some sixty men,
arrived at Madinat al-Salam and were granted guarantees of
safe-conduct. They were well treated and presents of money were
brought to them. He and those with him were sent out to Rahbat
Malik b. Tawq together with al-Qasim b. Sima, and stipends705
were granted to them. After al-Qasim b. Sima arrived with them
in the region under his jurisdiction, they stayed with him for a
while. Then they conspired to betray him. Becoming aware of
their plan, he lost no time doing away with them by putting them
to the sword; some of them, however, he made captives. The
remainder of the Bani al-‘Ullays and their mawlas were deterred
and humbled. After they had stayed for a while in the environs of
al-Samawah, the evil Zikrawayh corresponded with them. He
informed them that it had been revealed to him7% that the man
known as al-Shaykh and his brother would be killed, and that his
imam, who would be revealed to him, would appear after their
death and be victorious. / /

On Thursday, Jumada I 9, 291 (Thursday, March 29, 904),
al-Muktafi married his son Abu Ahmad Muhammad to the
daughter of TAbii al-Husayn' al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah. The dowry
was one hundred thousand dinars.707

705 More precisely, it seems, allotments of food as monthly rations, rather than
money.

706 That is, he had known in advance that his two sons would die and by the same
token he was sure of the future leader who would lead them to victory.

707 For Muhammad b. al-Muktafi, see above, n. 604. ‘Arib, 76, speaks of the sumptu-
ous wedding banquet in honor of the marriage of a daughter of {the by then
deceased) al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah to Muhammad b. al-Muktafi in the year 306
(918-9).
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At the end of Jumada T 7, 291 (April 19, 904), a letter from the
region of Jubba’8 Mreportedly! reached Baghdad. It mentioned
that a flash flood in a (dry) river reached Jubba from the mountain
and inundated about thirty farsakhs (180 km).709 A large number
of people as well as cattle drowned, and the crops were inundated.
Residences’10 and villages were ruined. The bodies of twelve
hundred drowned persons were recovered besides those who were
not found.

On Sunday, Rajab 1, 291 (Saturday, May 19, 904}, al-Muktafi
bestowed robes of honor upon Muhammad b. Sulayman, the
secretary of the army, and a number of distinguished officers,
among them Muhammad b. Ishiq b. Kundajiq, Khalifah b.
al-Mubarak, who was known as Abiu al-Agharr, the two sons of
Kayghalagh, Bunduqah b. Kumushjiir, and others. He ordered the
officers to obey Muhammad b. Sulayman loyally. Still wearing
the robes of honor, Muhammad b. Sulayman left and encamped
in his tent at Bab al-Shammasiyyah. A number of officers who
had been mobilized encamped with him. They were to depart for
Damascus and Egypt in order to seize the provinces from Haran
b. Khumarawayh, for the central authorities had come to realize
that Harun and those with him were weak, having suffered the
loss of men killed by the Qarmatian. On Rajab 6, 291 (May 24,
904), // Muhammad b. Sulayman and the men attached to
him—about ten thousand—left Bab al-Shammasiyyah. He ordered
them to make every possible effort to advance quickly.

On Rajab 27, 291 (June 14, 904), a dispatch arrived from Isma‘il
b. Ahmad who was in Khurasan, and it was read in the two Friday
Mosques of Madinat al-Salam. In it, Isma‘il mentioned that the
Turks had marched against the Muslims with a large army and
many people. There were seven hundred Turkish tents in the
camp, and they were those reserved exclusively for their chief-

708 For Jubba in Khiizistan/al-Ahwaz, the home of the great theologian Abt ‘All
al-Jubba'i, see, for instance, Hamadhani, Takmilah, 17; Hudid al-‘alam, trans.
Minorsky, 130; Sam‘ani, Ansab, 1lI, 186, who speaks of Jubba as a village in
al-Basgrah; ER, s. v. al-Djubba't.

709 Whether this is meant as an area of one hundred and eighty square km or merely
as the length of the area affected, it seems too large a figure.

7I0R: al-nawahi "regions.’
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tains! Isma‘il had given one of his efficers command of an army
and sent him off against them.”1! It had been publicly announced
that people should volunteer to join, and many did. The com-
mander of the army had marched with the *Muslims* who were
with him against the Turks. The Muslims had come upon them
when they did not expect it, and had attacked them in the
morning. A large number of them had been killed, and the rest
had fled. Permission had been given to loot their camp, and the
Muslims had returned to their place safe and with booty.

In Sha‘ban, 291 (June 18-July 16, 904), word arrived in Baghdad
that the Byzantine ruler had sent ten crosses’!2 with one hundred
thousand men against the border towns and that a number of
them had moved on al-Hadath. They had raided and burned, and
they had captured every Muslim they had been able to.

In Ramadan, 291 (July 17-August 15, 904), a dispatch from
al-Qisim b. Sima reached "the central authorities? from al-
Rahbah. In it, he mentioned that the Arab tribesmen of the Bana
‘Ullays and their mawlas, who had been with the Qarmatian and
had then sought and obtained guarantees of safe-conduct from
the central authorities and from himself, had broken (their word)
and betrayed their trust. They had planned to attack al-Rahbah
on the day of fast-breaking [Shawwal 1 (August 16)], while people
were engaged in the holiday prayer, and to kill whomever they
could reach as well as to burn and to loot. “I used a ruse against
them and eventually killed and captured one hundred and fifty
/ / of them, not counting those who drowned in the Euphrates. I
am bringing the captives, including a number of their leaders,
and the heads of the slain!’

711 Text: *him"; R: ilayhim.

712 Ibn al-Athir interprets this to mean that each army unit of ten thousand men had
one cross. Vasiliev, II, 163, apparently following Ibn al-Athir, speaks of ten legions.
On another occasion, (Arib, 34, 11. 12f., mentions Byzantine banners decorated with
crosses of gold and silver.
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At the end of Ramadan, 291 {August 15, 904), a dispatch Mfrom
al-Raqqah’ arrived at Baghdad from Aba Ma‘add”!3 concerning
news reaching him from Tarsts. The dispatch indicated that God
had given victory to a man known as Ghulam Zurafah’!4 in a
raid then undertaken by him against the Byzantines at a city
called Antaliyah’15 located on the seashore—they asserted that it
equaled Constantinople. Ghulam Zurafah had conquered it
forcibly by the sword. He reportedly killed five thousand men
and captured a similar number, while rescuing four thousand
(Muslim) captives. He seized’!6 sixty Byzantine ships and loaded
them with the booty he had made: silver, gold, goods, and slaves.
He estimated the share of every participant in that raid, and it
came to a thousand dinars. The Muslims rejoiced at that. “I have
speedily forwarded this dispatch of mine, so that the wazir will
know about the event. Written on Thursday, Ramadan 10, 291
(Thursday, July 26, 904)"” *The dispatch arrived at Baghdad and
was read in the two Friday Mosques.*

*In this year, al-Qasim b. Sima reached Baghdad with the
captives and the heads of the (slain) Banui ‘Ullays. The captives
numbered some forty, and the heads some sixty. The heads
included that of Abd Muhammad Isma‘il b. al-Nu‘main al-‘Ul-
laysi.*

*On Wednesday, Dhii al-Qa‘dah 6, 291 (Wednesday, September
19, 904), al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah died. On the day after his

713 Text: “Ma‘dan"; read Ma‘add as in R and ‘Arib, 6. The editor of ‘Arib assumes
that the individual was identical with Nizar b. Muhammad. See above, n. 490.

714 Zurafah was presumably the court official who briefly played a significant role
during the caliphate of al-Muntasir. The page (ghulam) of Zurafah is mentioned by
Mas‘adi, Muriij, 11, 318f., ed. Pellat, II, 45. See Canard, Sources arabes, 38. With
reference to Kindi, Wulah, 245, Canard, Sources arabes, 45, n. 3, states that the name
of Ghulam Zurafah was Rashiq al-Wardami, but he also quotes, on p. 404, from
Mas‘idi, Tanbih, 180, that Leon, Ghulam Zurifah, attacked Thessalonica in 290
{903). The data are hard to reconcile, and further clarification is needed. See also
Canard, in Vasiliev, I1, 163, n. 2.

715 Modern Antalya. It is not surprising that the reading Antakiyah appears fre-
quently, as in R (and possibly C) and (Arib. See also Canard, Sources arabes, 18, 56,
167, 259, 270. The indicated location rules out Antioch {Antakiyah), but the compar-
ison with Constantinople appears more applicable to Antioch than Antalya, even
though the latter was an impressive site.

716 R (see also C): wajada “found.”’



The Events of the Year 291 149

death, al-Muktafi appointed al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan?'7 as wazir.
Al-‘Abbas reportedly attended several meetings on that day. He
became extremely nervous after mounting (his horse to return

home), and on the way to his residence from the Caliph’s palace
he asked four times for a drink of water.*

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
b. ‘Abdallah *b. ‘Ubaydallah* b. al-‘Abbas"b. Muhammad'. 7/  [2251]

717 For al-‘Abbis b. al-Hasan, see Sourdel, Vizirat, 359ff. For his death in connection
with the Ibn al-Mu‘tazz affais, see text below, 2282.



The
"Important ! Events of the Year

292

(NOVEMBER 13, 904 - NOVEMBER 1, 905)

®

Among the events was the dispatch, by Nizar b. Muhammad,
of a man from al-Basrah to the central authorities in Baghdad.
The man had reportedly intended to rebel against the central
authorities and had gone to Wasit. Nizar sent someone in search
of him, and he arrested the man in Wasit and had him brought to
al-Basrah. Nizar also seized people there who had reportedly
declared allegiance to the man. He now sent all of them by boat to
Baghdad, and they stopped at the Port of the Basrans.”18 T'Nizar
sent a number of officers to the Port of the Basrans. 1 The man was
mounted upon the Bactrian camel,’!9 while a child, a son of his,
was in front of him on a camel. Accompanying him were thirty-
nine’?0 men on camels, all of them wearing silken hoods Fand
cloaks . Most of them pleaded for help; they cried and swore that
they were innocent and knew nothing of the charges brought
against them. They were led to al-Muktafi's palace by way of al-
Tammarin, 'Bab! al-Karkh, and al-Khuld.”2! Al-Muktafi ordered
them remanded to the prison known as the New Prison and had
them incarcerated there. :

718 This appears to have been the place where boats from al-Bagrah usually stopped
near Baghdad.

719 The use of the definite article here seems to indicate that a particular Bactrian
camel was usually employed for parading suspected heretics and rebels.

70 R and ‘Arib, 7: “thirty-seven.” This also seems to be the reading of B.

721 Al-Tammarin apparently was the street on which the date merchants were con-
centrated. For Bab al-Karkh, see Lassner, Topography, 247, and, for the great palace
al-Khuld built by al-Mansiir on the Tigris, op. cit., 55, 243, map V, no. 5.
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In al-Muharram, 292, (November 13-December 12, 904), the
Byzantine Andronikos’22 raided Mar‘ash and its environs. The
inhabitants of al-Massisah and Tarstis marched out to combat.
Abu al-Rijal b. Abi Bakkar 72 and a number of Muslims were
mortally wounded.

In al-Muharram, 292, Muhammad b. Sulayman reached the
borders of Egypt to fight Harin b. Khumarawayh *b. Ahmad.*
Al-Muktafi dispatched Damyanah, the page of Yazman, from
Baghdad / / with orders to go to Egypt by sea, enter the Nile, and
cut off supplies from the troops in Egypt. He went and entered the
Nile as far as al-Jisr,”2 where he stayed, making things difficult
for the Egyptians.

Muhammad b. Sulayman advanced against them with mounted
troops. When he was close to al-Fustat, he corresponded with the
officers there. The first to come out to him was Badr al-Hammami,
who was the supreme chief. That broke their resistance, and a pro-
cession of Egyptian officers and others followed to seek guarantees
of safe-conduct. When Hariin and those remaining with him saw
that, they advanced against Muhammad b. Sulayman, and battles
reportedly took place between them. Somewhat later, dissension’2
broke out among Harin's men, and they fought one another.
When Harun went out to quiet them, one of the Maghribis
hurled a javelin726 at him and killed him. Informed about his
death, Muhammad b. Sulayman and those with him entered
al-Fustat, took possession of the houses of the Tulinid family
and their associates, and seized all of them; they numbered about
ten men. He put them in fetters, incarcerated them, and confis-
cated their property. He then wrote a victory dispatch (to Baghdad).

2 He is identical with the Patrikios Andronikos who two years later sought a
guarantee of safe-conduct and went to Baghdad. See below, 2276. For the passage, see
Canard, Sources arabes, 19, and, for an analysis of the events involving Andronikos,
see Canard, in Vasiliev, 11, 181ff.; Rydén (above, n. 164)}.

73] have no further mformanon about him.

724 The precise location of “The Bridge (al-Jisr}" cannot, it seems, be determined.

725 Group or tribal sentiment (‘asabiyyah) was understandably strong in the Egyptian
forces which were composed of various ethnic groups, and gave rise to many quarrels
and “dissension.’

726 For zanah “javelin,” the better known, Arabic word sashm “arrow” is used by ‘Arib,

7; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujim, II1, 111 (quoting Sibt Ibn al-Jawz1). Lane, 1273a, refers to .

zanah as a specifically Daylamite weapon.
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The battle took place in Safar, 292 (December 13, 904-January 11,
905). Word was sent to Muhammad b. Sulayman ordering him to
move all the Talunids and the officers associated with them?27
out of Egypt and Syria. Not a single one of them was to be left
behind, and they were all to be sent to Baghdad. Muhammad b.
Sulayman complied (with the order).

On Rabi‘1 3, 292 (January 13, 905), the wall at the head of the
First Bridge on the East Side—it was the wall of a house that had
belonged to ‘Ubaydallah b. ‘Abdallah b. Tahir—fell upon {(the
corpse of) the Qarmatian al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh // which
hung nearby and crushed”8 it. No trace of it was found afterwards.

In Ramadan, 292 (July 7-August 5, 905), a report reached the
central authorities in Baghdad indicating that one of the Egyptian
officers, an officer named Ibrahim and known as al-Khaliji,729
had left Muhammad b. Sulayman and stayed behind at the most
distant borders of Egypt with a number of troops and others
whom he had won over. Marching on Egypt’® in opposition to the
central authorities, he had been joined by a number of people
Tbent upon sedition!, so that his ranks had swelled. When he
reached Egypt (al-Fustat), ‘Isa al-Nushari, who was then in charge
of security there, had intended to engage him in combat, but he
had been unable to do so in view of the large force with al-Khaljji.

727 Maqrizi, Khitat, 1, 322, speaks of twenty descendants of Ibn Ttliin but gives no
numbers for the officers.

78 R: fa-batahahii “flattened.”

729 Tabari also refers to him as Ibn Khaljj; R, like Mas‘Gdi, Murgij, V111, 236, ed.
Pellat, V, 187, uses Ibn al-Khaliji. It appears to be unclear whether Khaliji, or rather
Khalanii, is the correct form. Egyptian historiography refers to him as Muhammad
b. ‘Ali. See Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujam, III, 147, 153-55. This is probably more correct
than Tabart's Ibrahim, which may have been influenced by the Ibrahim al-Khaliji
mentioned earlier, see text above, IIl, 2027. Al-Khaliji started a local Egyptian
resistance movement against the caliphate as represented by its governor ‘Isa
al-Nishari, after the de facto independence of Egypt established by the Tiltnids had
come to an end, According to Egyptian historiography, he enjoyed considerable
popular support. See Kindi, Wulah, 259-63, 267; Ibn Taghribirdi, loc. cit. At the end,
Ibn Taghribirdi felt compelled to reflect upon the irony—not uncommon in national
liberation movements—that the rebellion which was intended to improve the politi-
cal position of Egypt led to even greater destruction than was caused by the ‘Abbasid
reconquest under Muhammad b. Sulaymin. Al-Khaliji disappears from view after
he was captured and brought to Baghdad, see text below, 2267f.

730 That is, al-Fustat.
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As a result, he had drawn away from al-Khaliji, and after evacuat-
ing al-Fustat, he had retreated to Alexandria. Al-Khaliji had then
entered al-Fustat.

Now, in this year, al-Muktafi mobilized Fatik, the mawla of
al-Mu‘tadid, to fight al-Khaliji and establish order in the West.73!
The Caliph attached Badr al-Hammami to Fatik, making him
Fatik's adviser in this undertaking. He also attached to him
a number of officers and many troops. On Shawwal 7, 292 (August
12, 905), robes of honor were bestowed upon Fatik and Badr
al-Hammami when they departed for Egypt on their mission. / /
Ordered to leave quickly, they marched off on Shawwal 12, 292
{August 17, 905).

On Shawwal 15, 292 (August 20, 905), Rustum b. Bardii’32
entered Tarsus as governor of the city and the Syrian border towns.

In this year, the Muslims and Byzantines undertook ransom
negotiations. The first day of the negotiations was Dhii al-Qa‘dah
2, 292 (September 27, 905). The total number of Muslims ransomed
was reportedly about twelve hundred. Following this the By-
zantines reneged (on the arrangements agreed upon) and departed,
and the Muslims went back with their remaining Byzantine
captives. The ransom negotiations and armistice had (originally)
been arranged by Abi al-‘Asha’ir and the qadi Ibn Mukram.733
When that raid of Andronikos against the inhabitants of Mar‘ash
took place and he killed Abii al-Rijil and others, Abt al-‘Asha'ir
was removed, and Rustum was appointed {(governor). The ransom
negotiations were therefore in his hands. The person in charge of

731 Talbi, Emirat, 653, has attempted to relate this reference to the “West (al-Maghrib)"
to the contemporary unrest in Ifrigiyah, but as seen from Baghdad, Egypt is probably
meant here.

732 Rustum is called al-Farghani in Mas'udi, Tanbih, 192. See Canard, Sources
arabes, 406, also 19. His father's name was omitted by ‘Arib, 8. The reason for
Rustum's appointment is given in the following paragraph. He is mentioned last in
299 (911). See text below, 2286.

733 Possibly, {Abdallah b. Ibrahim b. Muhammad b. Mukram, who is mentioned as a
qadi for the years 311-13. See Kindi, Wulah, 481, 483 {also 531-36, from Ibn Hajar,
Raf al-isr); Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujim, 111, 213, 1. 18, He appears knowledgeable about
Byzantine-Christian matters in a story reported in Tanukhi, Nishwar, 1, 52 {there we
find the correct text, as against the edition of Margoliouth, Table-Talk, 30).
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the ransom negotiations for the Byzantines was a man called
Astanah.734

*In this year, Mubarak al-Qummi was sent to the camp of
Muhammad b. Sulayman on two hundred swift camels. Written
orders to arrest Muhammad were sent with him to the officers
who were with Muhammad, and he was arrested.*

*In this year, the floodwaters in Baghdad were exceedingly
high,735 making Baghdadis afraid of drowning. The houses on
both banks of the Tigris were generally destroyed, and the waters
reportedly gushed forth in the shops of the sack merchants’3
in Baghdad.

The Tigris then rose a second time to an even greater height.
The reason for this was that al-Muktafi had constructed a building
at the place’¥ known as al-Hasani, and had reportedly extended
its foundation sixty cubits (thirty m) into the Tigris. When the
high waters reached the building at the time of the flooding, they
did not find an outlet and turned back, thus rising high in
Baghdad and its environs. Many people thought that (the flooding)
resulted from the rising groundwater.

A stupid and foolish Baghdadi invented a dream. He men-
tioned”38 that he had seen the Prophet in his sleep. He said that
God wanted to bring misfortune upon them. “I asked God about
their affair when they had already been taken seven days {(...., and
I was told, '....),7® so order them to go out into the countryside
and call out to God, and He will lift the misfortune from them."”

The populace talked about al-Basrah having been inundated
by this flood. Abu Ja'far (al-Tabari) says: I wrote to al-Basrah
about this flood that affected Baghdad and its environs, from

734 Perhaps, Ustathah, that is, Eustathios (Ustath)?

735 The flood is mentioned briefly in Ibn al-Jawzl, Muntazam, VI, 50; Ibn al-Athir;
Ibn Taghribirdi, 111, 157, who says that it occurred in Jumada I (March 11-April, 9, 905)
and that the waters rose twenty-one cubits.

736 Dakakin ashab al-jawaliq.

737 Probably, the Hasani palace is meant, but “place (mawdi‘)” is used here.

738 The vocalization as a passive is indicated in the manuscript but seems unlikely.

739 The text is corrupt. This is particularly regrettable since some interesting ani-
madversion on the role of God in human misfortune appears to have been made here
by Tabarn.
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above’# the border of ‘Ukbara and further up and down from
the lowest part of Baghdad, and we found no trace of it (in the
region of al-Basrah).*

*In this year, a letter from Bassam al-Kurdi’#! reached Baghdad.
He was stationed in a fortress of his between Byzantine and
Muslim territory and engaged in keeping the truce between the
Muslims and Byzantines. He mentioned that the Byzantine king
had written to him, ordering him to rebuild the bridges over the
Jayhan and improve the road for him, for he planned to march on
Tarsiis. The agent in Tarsis sent (the message) on to the central
authorities.*

*In this year, the emissary of the Byzantine king came to Tarsis
in connection with ransom negotiations.*

*In this year, Tughj b. Juff and his brother Wazar,742 both
officers of Ibn Tiliin, came to Baghdad with all the TtGlanid
officers.*

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
M. ‘Abdallah b. al-‘Abbas b. Muhammad.?

740 The probable geographical reference is, it seems, not based on the course of the
river as “up”stream and downstream, but upon the meaning of above as south and
below as north. It thus signifies flooding south of ‘Ukbara to northern Baghdad and
south into Baghdad.

741 | have no further information about him.

742 On Tughj and his brother Badr, see above, nn. 77 and 155. No interpretation of
the clearly written w’zr here other than as the name of another brother of Tughij is
possible. Wazar seems otherwise unattested as a Persian name. It can, however, easily
be explained as meaning “worker* or the like. In spite of the evidence of R, the
correct form might be Waraz, which is widely attested. See Hinz, Altiranisches
Sprachgut, 255.

The arrival of Tughj in Baghdad with his (unnamed) son and brother is dated on
Monday, Sha‘ban 16, 292 (Sunday, June 23, 905), in Ibn al-‘Adim, Zubdat al-halab, 1,
91. See also Ibn Sa‘id, Mughrib, ed. Tallgvist, text, 7, trans., 22; Ibn Taghribirdi,
Nujam, 111, 146.
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The
Events of the Year

293

(NOVEMBER 2, 905 - OCTOBER 21, 906)

Q

Among the events was a report that arrived at Baghdad on
Safar 24, 293 (December 25, 905). It indicated that al-Khaliji, who
had seized power in Egypt, had attacked Ahmad b. Kayghalagh
and a number of officers near al-‘Arish and routed them ignomin-
iously.743 A number of officers / / stationed in Madinat al-Salam,
among them Ibrahim b. Kayghalagh, were mobilized to go (to
Egypt), and they did so.

On Rab1' I’4 7, 293 (January 6, 906), one of the officers of Tahir
b. Muhammad "b. ‘Amr 1b. al-Layth al-Saffar, who was known as
Abu Qabus,745 left the camp of the Sijistanis’4 and arrived
at Madinat al-Salam seeking a guarantee of safe-conduct. This
was because Tahir b. Muhammad, who was reportedly preoccu-
pied with amusement and hunting, had gone to Sijistan for hunting
and recreation. Power in Fiars was then seized by al-Layth b. ‘Ali
b. al-LaythV47 and Subkara,’#8 the mawla of ‘Amr 'b. al-Layth?,
with al-Layth governing in the jurisdiction which was nominally
Tahir's. They became estranged from Abi Qabiis, and as a result,
Abi Qabus left them and went to the Caliph's court in Baghdad.
I'The Caliph received hind, bestowed robes of honor upon him
and upon a number of the men with him, presented him with
gifts, and honored him. Tahir b. Muhammad 'b. ‘Amr b. al-Layth

743 The battle took place on al-Muharram 3, 293 (November 4, 905). See lbn
Taghribirdi, Nujam, I, 153.

744 R: “Rabi 11"

745 Abil Qabiis al-Khurasini is further mentioned in ‘Arib, 53, sub anno 302 {914-5).
All the Tabari manuscripts have al-Qabiis.

746 That is, Tahir's forces in Sijistin made up primarily of local troops.
(747 Al-Layth was a cousin of Tahir's father. He died in al-Raqqah in 316 (928). See
Arib, 139.

748 The vocalization of this name is not certain. Subkara died in 305 (917-8) in
Baghdad.
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then wrote to the central authorities asking them to return Abu
Qabis to him. He mentioned that he had entrusted him with
some administrative duties in Fars and that Abd Qabis had
collected taxes and had taken the proceeds along with him.
Should Abd Qabiis not be returned to him, Tahir asked that an
accounting be made of the money from Fars which AbG Qabus
had taken along with him and which he had been forced to give
up.’# The central authorities did not grant Tahir any of these
requests.

In this month [Rabi* I, 293 (December 31, 905-January 29, 906)],
word arrived in Baghdad that a brother of fal-Husayn b. 1
Zikrawayh, known as the Man of the Mole, had appeared in
al-Diliyah with some men having come from the Euphrates
Road, and some Arab tribesmen and brigands had joined him. He
marched // on Damascus with them taking the desert road. He
caused trouble in the region and fought its inhabitants. Al-Husayn
b. Hamdan "b. Hamd@in' was mobilized to go out against him,
and he left with a large number of troops. The Qarmatian’s move
on Damascus took place in Jumada 1, 293 (February 28-March 29,
906). Following this, word arrived at Baghdad that he had moved
on Tabariyyah7s0 Its inhabitants refused to let him enter the city,
so he fought them and eventually entered the city. He killed most
of the men and women there and looted the city, following which
he went back to the desert region.

In Rabt 11, 293 (January 30-February 27, 906), word arrived at
Baghdad that the da'7 in the Yemen had moved on the city of
San‘@’. Its inhabitants fought him, but he overcame and killed
them; only a few of them escaped. He then seized power in all the
other cities of the Yemen.75!

749 Tahir suggests that the money he accuses Abli Qabds of having embezzled was
taken away from Abf Qabis in Baghdad in exchange for the friendly reception
accorded him.

750 That is, Tiberias. )

751 See above, n. 487, and, with reference to this passage, van Arendonk, Opkomst,
182, n. 2.
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Resumption of the Report on the Affairs
of Ibn Zikrawayh’s Brother

The source for the following report is Muhammad b. Dawad b.
al-Jarrah: After the death of the Man of the Mole, the son of
Zikrawayh b. Mihrawayh, a man named Aba Ghanim ‘Abdallah b.
$a‘1d,’s2 who was a schoolteacher in a village called al-Zabiqah7s3
in the administrative district of al-FallGjah, was dispatched by
Zikrawayh to circulate among the Kalb tribes and propagandize
for his religious views among them. In order to disguise This
activities, he called himself Nasr. Nobody accepted his propa-
ganda except a man from the Bant Ziyad who was called Migdam
b. al-Kayyal.” He inveigled on his behalf sections of // the
Asbaghites who claimed Fatimid descent, as well as low-class
‘Ullays and vagabonds from all the other Kalb subtribes, and
moved on the Syrian region.

The official of the central authorities in charge of Damascus
and al-Urdunn (Province) was Ahmad b. Kayghalagh. At the
time, he was stationed in Egypt to fight Ibn Khalij,’s5 who had
opposed Muhammad b. Sulayman and returned to Egypt (al-Fustat)
seizing power there. ‘Abdallah b. Sa‘id seized the opportunity {of
Ahmad b. Kayghalagh's absence) to move on the cities of Busra
and Adhri‘at, counties of the Hawran, and al-Bathaniyyah. He
fought their inhabitants and then offered them guarantees of
safe-conduct. When they submitted, he killed their fighting men,
took their women and children captive, and confiscated their
property. ‘Abdallah b. Sa‘id then traveled toward Damascus, where
Ahmad b. Kayghalagh had left behind a garrison of Egyptians
with $alih b. al-Fadl.’6 A number of them went out against
‘Abdallah b. Sa‘id, but (the Qarmatians) overcame them, causing
a bloodbath. Following this, they deceived them by extending

752 For the events concerning this man, see Halm, “Séhne Zikrawaihs," 51.

7583 Yaqit, MuSjam, 11, 905, distinguishes this Zabtqgah from the one at the outskirts
of al-Bagrah. The latter is connected with the Battle of the Camel fought in 36 (656).
See text above, 1, 3122ff. For al-Falliijah, see ER, s. v. al-Fallidja.

754 There does not seem to exist any further information about him. See Halm, loc.
cit.

755 R: “al-Khaliji”

75 1 have found no further information about him other than that which is presented
in Tabari and ‘Anb.
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guarantees of safe-conduct to them. They killed $alih and scattered
his army. However, they had no hope of taking Damascus; for
they had reached it earlier only to be repelled by its inhabitants.
Therefore they moved on Tabariyyah, the capital of al-Urdunn.
They were joined by a number of defectors from among the troops
of Damascus.” Yasuf b. Ibrahim b. Bughiamardi,’s8 Ahmad b.
Kayghalagh's official in charge of al-Urdunn, attacked them, but
they broke his resistance and offered him a guarantee of safe-
conduct. They subsequently betrayed him, and, after killing him,
they looted the capital of al-Urdunn, took the women captive,
and killed a number of its inhabitants.

The central authorities despatched al-Husayn b. Hamdan and
several distinguished officers to pursue them. // Al-Husayn
reached Damascus, after the enemies of God had entered Tabariy-
yah. When they learned about al-Husayn, they turned toward
al-Samawah. Al-Husayn went off to pursue them in the desert of
al-Samawah, while they moved from watering place to watering
place and made them all unusable. Eventually they took refuge at
two watering places known as al-Dim‘anah and al-Halah.7s
Since he had no water, al-Husayn gave up the pursuit and
returned?’s0 to al-Rahbah.

The Qarmatians with that seducer of theirs called Nasr marched
by night on the village of Hit. In the morning of Sha‘ban 20,76! 293
(June 16, 906), at sunrise, they arrived there unexpected. Nasr
looted the city’s suburbs, killed all the inhabitants he could,
burned down the residences, and looted the ships in the Euphrates
port’62 of the city. He reportedly killed about two hundred of the
local inhabitants, men, women, and children, and seized all the
property Fand goods? that he could. He reportedly loaded three
thousand pack animals that were with him with about two

757 R: “a number of people who had escaped from Damascus.’

758 See above, n. 181.

759 Al-Dim‘anah is described by Yaqiit, Mu'jam, 11, 598, as a watering place belong-
ing to the Balr of the Zuhayr b. Janab of the Kalb (see Caskel, Das genealogische
Werk, table 285, I, 221a, 610a). For al-Halah, see Yaqiit, Mu‘jam, 11, 361, s. v. Khalah.
RC: “al-Dimghanah

760 Since he came from Damascus, it would be more accurate to say that he
continued to the Euphrates.

761 R and ¢Arib (11, 1. 10), as apparently also B: “seven” (nights remaining, or
Sha‘ban 22).

762 R has the expected furdatiha. See also Tabari, Introductio etc., DCCC.
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hundred kurr bi-al-mu‘addal’s3 of wheat and all the flour,764
perfume, and stuff’65 that he needed. He stayed the rest of the
day on which he had entered the city, as well as the following day,
and then left for the desert Tafter the evening prayer 1. He obtained
all that (booty) from the suburbs alone, for the inhabitants of the
city itself were protected from him by the city wall. On account of
this Qarmatian, Muhammad b. Ishiaq b. Kundijiq marched to
Hit with a number of officers and a substantial army. After
several days he was followed by Mu'nis al-Khadim.766/ /

The source for the following report is Muhammad b. Dawad:
The Qarmatians came to Hit unexpectedly in the morning, but
God safeguarded the city's inhabitants by means of the city wall.
The central authorities then rushed Muhammad b. Ishiaq b.
Kundajiq against the Qarmatians. When the Qarmatians had
stayed there only three nights, "Muhammad b. Ishiq drew close?.
They fled "from hinl to the two watering places. When he wanted
to pursue them, he found that they had made the watering places
between him and themselves unusable. Camels, water skins, and
provisions were dispatched to him from the center.’6’ Al-Husayn
b. Hamdan was given written orders to proceed against them
from the direction of al-Rahbah, so that he and Muhammad b.
Ishaq could attack them jointly.

When the Kalbites noticed that the army was on their trail,
they decided to assault and murder the enemy of God called Nasr.
One768 of them, a man called al-Dhi'b b. al-Qa’im,’6? was respon-
sible for the killing. He then went to (the Caliph’s) court and

763 On determinations of the weight of kurr mu'addal, see Tabari, Introductio etc.,
CCCLIIL; Lane, 2601b. For kurr, see also Wérterbuch, letter K, 106a. The kurris
commonly described as containing sixty donkey loads. If donkeys or mules are meant
here, the kurr mu‘addal would amount to about fifteen such loads.

764 Burr may be “flour” in contrast to hintah “wheat (grain)” “Linen cloth (bazz)"
cannot be excluded, however, if “perfume” is correct.

765 Saqat occurs next to “rice” in the text above, II1, 1550. It is explained as a kind of
merchandise. See Tabari, Introductio etc., CCXCIIL. It may have a meaning similar
to that of hutam (see below, n. 771). The proximity to “perfume” recalls safat “container
for cosmetics” See Lane, 1372b; $abi', Wuzara’, 22, n. 3; Busse, “Hofbudget,” 24.
However, this word is not likely to be meant here.

766 Text: “al-Khazin"; read al-Khadim as in RC.

767 Probably, al-hadrah refers here to Baghdad.

768 (Arib, 11, 1. 19f., summarizes the rest of the paragraph: “They used his head to
approach Muhammad b. Kunda;j”

769 In Mas'tdi, Tanbih, 374, he is called Aba al-Dhi'b (?).
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used what he had done as a means of approaching (the Caliph)
and seeking guarantees of safe-conduct for the rest of the Kalb. He
was rewarded and credited for what he had undertaken, and his
people were no longer pursued. He remained several days, and
then fled. The vanguards of Muhammad b. Ishiq came upon the
head?70 of the man called Nasr. They cut it off and brought it to
Madinat al-Salam.

The Qarmatians thereafter fought among themselves. This
eventually led to bloodshed. Migdam b. al-Kayyal escaped to the
territory of the Tayyi’ with the things’’! he had seized. A group of
them who disliked what the Qarmatians were doing went to the
Bani Asad, who were staying in the region of ‘Ayn al-Tamr,
and asked them for protection. They sent a delegation to the
central authorities to apologize / / for what they had done and to
ask that (official) approval be given to them so that they could
remain under the protection of the Banti Asad. Their request was
granted.

The remaining wicked adherents of the religion of the Qar-
matian reached the two watering places. The central authorities
now sent written orders to Husayn b. Hamdan to resume the
attempt to uproot them. Zikrawayh dispatched one of his da‘is to
them, a farmer from the Sawad named al-Qasim b. Ahmad b.
‘Ali, who was known as Abt Muhammad’72 and came from the
rural district of Nahr Malhata.”’3 He was sent to inform them that
the action of al-Dhi'b b. al-Qa'im had estranged them from
Zikrawayh774 and that they had become renegades from the (true)
religion. The time had arrived, however, for them to come out.
Forty thousand men had declared their allegiance to him in
al-Kifah, and four hundred thousand in the Kafan countryside.
Their appointed day was the one mentioned by God in His Book

770 In the context, the corpse, with the head still attached, must be meant.

771 Like saqat (above, n. 765}, hutam generally means something like worthless cast-
offs, but the meaning of “hay,” expressly indicated in Dozy, may apply here.

772 There is no further information about him beyond what is found in Tabari.

773 Text: “Talhanah”; read “Malhata,” as found in R and supported by the reading in
C. Aramaic malhatha “salt regions/mines" would be an appropriate name. Tallhanah
seems less likely.

774 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 47, 1. 3, adds, no doubt from a recension of Tabari: “and
made his heart heavy against them” Miskawayh’s text is incorporated in the text of
the Leiden edition.
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in connection with Moses, the man spoken to by God,””5 and
Moses's enemy Pharaoh, where He says: “Your appointed day is a
day of splendor, and it should be that the people will assemble in
the early morning!776 Zikrawayh ordered them to conceal their
business and to make it appear that they were setting out for
Syria, while, in fact, they were to march on al-Ktfah, where they
were to arrive on the morning of the Day of Slaughtering,
Thursday, Dhi al-Hijjah 10, 293 (Thursday, October 2, 906). They
would not be prevented from entering al-Kafah. He would then
appear and fulfill his promise to them which his messengers used
to convey to them. They should bring al-Qasim b. Ahmad with
them.

They obeyed his command??7 and reached the gate of al-Kufah,
just as the people returned from their place of prayer with Ishaq
b. ‘Imran,”’8 the official representing the central authorities
there. The number of those / / who reached the gate of al-Kufah
on that day reportedly consisted of approximately eight hundred?7?
horsemen headed by al-Dandani Zikrawayh’80 b. Mihrawayh,
who was from al-Saw’ar’8! or, according to another report, from
Junbula'. The horsemen had coats of mail and breastplates and a

775 The well-known epithet of Moses, based on Qur. 4:164 and occurring but once in
the standard collections of hadith. See Bukhari, Sahih, in Ibn Hajar, Fath, XVII, 252;
Worterbuch, letter K, 336a.

776 Qur. 20:59.

777 R; ra’yahu “his opinion.”

778 Ishaq b. ‘Imran was removed from his official position in al-Ktifah and its
environs at the end of Ramadan, 303 {(April 7, 916), and he died on Wednesday, Safar
9 (not7), 306 (Wednesday, July 22, 918). See ‘Arib, 58, 76. He was attacked in a
satirical poem by Ibn Bassam al-Bassami (Mas'idi, Muriij, VIII, 259£., ed. Pellat, V,
1974.).

779 R: “two hundred”

780 Text: “al-Dhablani”; read “al-Dandani” as in RC. The same nisbah occurs in
connection with Zikrawayh in Baghdadi, Farq, 267, whose information may, however,
go in some manner back to Tabarl. See also Halkin's translation, Moslem Schisms,
112. For further possible occurrences of Dandan in Qarmatian history, see L.
Massignon, “Esquisse,” 331; Halm, Kosmologie, 5, n. 22, 95; al-Baghdadi, Farq, 266,
trans. Halkin, 108f. The nisbah al-Dandant is listed in Sam‘ani, Ansab V, 383, but
Sam‘ani does not indicate what it refers to. Yaqiit, Mu‘jam, II, 611, refersto a village
Dandanah in the region of Wasit, but the short vowel in the second syllable makes
any relationship to Dandani dubious.

781 According to the text below, al-Saw’ar was located eight km from al-Qadisiyyah. It
was celebrated as the location of a slaughtering contest (mu‘aqarah), in which the
father of the poet al-Farazdaq participated. See Naga'id, for instance, 624, 771, 953,
999, 1080 (Leiden 1905-12). The Naga’id were the source of Yaqiit, Muljam, 111, 430f.
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fine outfit.782 They were accompanied by a number of foot sol-
diers on pack animals. They attacked the ordinary prople they
came upon, despoiling a number of them and killing about
twenty. The people lost no time in going to al-Kufah. They
entered the city and sounded the alarm, whereupon Ishaq b.
Imran rose with his men. About a hundred Qarmatian horsemen
entered the city of al-Ktifah from the gate known as Bab Kindah.783
The people and a number of men from the government forces
gathered and pelted them with stones, fought against them, and
threw parapets’8 upon them. About twenty Qarmatians were
killed, and the Qarmatians were forced from the city. Ishaq b.
‘Imran’ and the troops with him went out and advanced in battle
lines against the Qarmatians. He ordered the inhabitants of
al-Kiifah to be on guard, lest the Qarmatians find them unprepared
and enter the city. On the Day of Slaughtering, the battle between
them was fought uninterruptedly until the time of the afternoon
prayer. Then the Qarmatians were routed and fled toward
al-Qadisiyyah.

The inhabitants of al-Kufah repaired their wall and moat and
joined the men of the central authorities in guarding the city
night and day. Ishag b. Imran wrote to the central authorities
asking for reinforcements. A number of the officers of the central
authorities were mobilized to go out to them , // among them:
Tahir b. ‘Ali b. Wazir, 78 Wasif b. Sawartakin al-Turki,’8 al-Fadl
b. Musa b. Bugha,’8” the eunuch Bishr al-Afshini,’88 Jinni

782 For alah “outfit,” which includes banners, insignia, etc., see Ibn Khaldin,
Mugaddimabh, trans. Rosenthal, 11, 48ff.

783 Presumably, the entrance to the Jabbanat Kindah section of al-Kiifah.

784 The meaning of str “parapets” (?) in this context is quite uncertain.

785 Tahir was entrusted with presenting the insignia of office to the Samanid Ahmad
b. Isma‘il after his father's death (see text below, 2279). In 296, he became involved in
the affair of Ibn al-Mu‘tazz. See ‘Arib, 29.

786 [bn Sawartakin was also involved in the affair of Ibn al-Mu‘tazz. See (Arib, 26;
Eclipse, 1, 7. It is not known whether he was killed on that occurrence, but I know of
no later reference to him.

787 For al-Fadl b. Miisa, see text above, 111, 1930, 1956.

788 Bishr {R: “Yusr”) al-Afshini is identical with Bishr, the mawla of Muhammad b.
Abi al-S3j (whose nickname was Afshin), although the two have received separate
entries in the index of the Leiden edition. The identity is confirmed by the text
below, 2268, where the bestowal of a robe of honor upon Bishr al-Afshini makes
sense only if he was Bishr, the mawla of Ibn Abi al-$aj, who had a leading role in the
event described there. He is also no doubt identical with Bishr the governor of
Tarsus in 302 (see text below, 2291, 2293), who appears in Hamadhani, Takmilah, 15,
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al-Safwani,’8? and Ra'iq al-Khazari.’® A number of the chamber
pages and others were attached to them. On Tuesday, Dhi al-Hijjah
15, 293 (Tuesday, October 7, 906), the first of them left. There was
no commander-in-chief; each one of them commanded his own
men. Al-Qasim b. Sima and other Arab tribesmen from the desert
areas in Diyar Mudar,’! the Euphrates Road, Daqiiqa’, Khanijar,
and other regions gathered to rise up and march against the
Qarmatians, since the men of the central authorities were dis-
persed in the Syrian region and Egypt. Messengers’®2 went with
this order to the Arab tribesmen, and they came.

Following this, word arrived at Baghdad "this year! that those
who had gone to the relief of Ishaq 'b. Imrin! had left him and
his men behind in al-Kiifah to secure the city and had gone out
with their men against Zikrawayh. They went to a place four mil
(eight km) from al-Qadisiyyah known as al-Saw'ar in the desert
along the line (of al-Kufah). Zikrawayh met them there, and they
moved in battle lines against’?3 him on Monday, Dha al-Hijjah
21, 293 (Monday, October 13, 906). TAccording to another report,
the battle took place on Sunday, Dhi al-Hijjah 20. 1 The govern-
ment forces left a distance of about a mil (two km) between
themselves and their train, leaving no fighting men behind with
the train. The battle between them grew fierce. At the begining of
the day, it went against / / the Qarmatian and his men, and they
were almost overcome. However, unbeknownst to the (govern-
ment forces), Zikrawayh had set up an ambush?% behind them.
At midday, (the forces from) the ambush moved against the train
and looted it. When the government forces saw the sword in their
rear, they fled most ignominiously. The Qarmatian and his men

as ‘fsn (1) al-Afshini. He may also be identical with Bishr al-Khadim who was
appointed governor of Damascus and Aleppo by al-Qahir in 321 {933) and who was
killed, it seems, in the same year by the Ikhshidid Muhammad b. Tughj. See Ibn
al-<Adim, Zubdat al-halab, 1, 97.

78 Jinni al-Safwani was entrusted with the security of Diyar Mudar in 305 (917), (see
above, n. 636). He was captured by the Qarmatians in 312 {925} (‘Arib, 124; Eclipse, 1
145), and there is no mention of him thereafter. See also above, n. 360.

790 See text below, 2265, but there does not seem to be further information about him.
An identity with contemporary namesakes cannot be securely established.

791 RB: “Diyar Rabilah/

792 Text: al-rasa’il “messages”; RC: al-rusul “messengers.”

793 R: fa-sadafuhu "they encountered him”

794 See above, n. 666.

’
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put the government forces to the sword "killing thend as they
wished. A number of Khazar and other chamber pages, about one
hundred strong, remained steadfast and fought to the death,
inflicting great losses upon the Qarmatians. The Qarmatians
rounded up and took possession of the train of the government
forces. The only men to escape were those who were saved by the
excellence of their mounts or who were gravely wounded and hid
among the dead and then walked with difficulty to al-Kufah after
the end of the battle. The swift camels in the train which had
been sent by the central authorities along with their men, and
which carried weapons and the outfit, were seized; there were
about three hundred swift camels as well as five hundred mules,
which were also seized. The government forces who were killed
in the battle amounted to one thousand five hundred men, not
counting pages, camel drivers,’% and those in the train. The
booty made in the battle by the Qarmatian and his men added to
their strength. He broke into stores of provisions beside (the
train?) and took food and barley and had it all carried to his
camp on the mules of the government (forces). He then traveled
from the location of the battle about five mil (ten km) along the
line to a place near the one known as Nahr al-Mathniyyah.’% This
was because the stench of the dead bothered them.

The source of the following report is Muhammad b. Dawud b.
al-Jarrah: / / The Arab tribesmen to whom Zikrawayh had sent
messages reached the gate of al-Kafah, just as the Muslims had
returned from their place of prayer together with Ishaq b. ‘Imran.
They dispersed in two directions and entered the houses of
al-Kiifah. Earlier, they had set up a tent for al-Qasim b. Ahmad,
the da‘d of Zikrawayh, saying, “This?¥ is the son of the Messenger of
God.” They shouted, “Revenge for al-Husayn!” meaning al-Husayn
b. Zikrawayh, whose corpse was hung at the gate of the bridge in
Madinat al-Salam. Their battle cry was, “O Ahmad, O Muham-
mad!” meaning the two sons of Zikrawayh who had been killed.798
They displayed white banners, and they thought they might

795 Text: “porters’; read wa-al-jammalin as in RB.

7% The form of the name and the location are unknown.

797 Referring to Zikrawayh as represented by the tent?

798 That is, Yahya (Muhammad) and al-Husayn (Ahmad), here referred to by the
names they claimed for themselves. See text above, 111, 2218, 2220.
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seduce the Kafan mob with those words *they used.*79? Ishaq b.
‘Imran and *the men of his* who were with him speedily moved
against them, repelling them and killing those who stood their
ground. Some 'members of the family of Abii Talib%® were there
Fand fought alongside Ishaq b. Imran, as did some? ordinary
people. :

The Qarmatians withdrew humbled, 8! and on the same day
went to a village called al-‘Ushayrah82 at the outer reaches of the
administrative district of al-Salihin8®8 and Nahr Yisuf adjacent
to the desert. They dispatched to the enemy of God, Zikrawayh 'b.
Mihrawayhl, some people to bring him out of a hole in the
ground in which he had been hiding for many years in the
village of al-Darriyyah.8% The inhabitants of the village of al-Saw'ar
made him spit upon / / their hands,305 calling him the friend of
God, and upon seeing him, they prostrated themselves before
him. A number of his da‘is and intimates were also present. He
told them that their greatest benefactor was al-Qasim b. Ahmad
who had brought them back to the (true) religion after they had
left it; if they would obey his command, he would fulfill the
promises made to them and have them attain their hopes. He
invented myths for them in which he mentioned verses of the
Qur’an, giving them an interpretation different from the one
intended in the revelation. All the Arab tribesmen, mawlas,
Nabataeans,80% and others in whose hearts the love of unbelief
was firmly planted, acknowledged that Zikrawayh was their
foremost chief, their cave, and their refuge. They were certain of

799 R: alladhi azhari, confirmed by C and Miskawayh.

800 The ‘Alid component was always strong in the Kufan population, and having at
least partial support from them in this situation was particularly important for the
government.

801 The word used here {khasi'in) recalls Qur. 2:65, 7:166, where it refers to monkeys.

802 The vocalization is uncertain and based upon a different Dhat al-‘Ushayrah which
occurs in the history of the Prophet. Halm, “Séhne Zikrawaihs,” 52, reads al-‘Ashirah.

803 A1-Salihin or al-Saylahin, listed under al-Saylahiin in Yaqiit, Mujam, 111, 218f.,
where it is described as being located near al-Qadisiyyah. It is mentioned together
with Nahr Yasuf in the text above, 11, 725.

804 The form and vocalization are uncertain. Perhaps, it is to be identified with
Durubba listed by Yaqit, Mu‘jam, 11, 561.

805 See the note in the Leiden edition and Tabari, Introductio etc., CL. Readings such
as yutlifiina “spoiled him by their behavior” or the like, as in the Cairo edition, seem
less likely.

806 That is, the native sedentary rural population.
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victory and the attainment of their hopes. When Zikrawayh traveled
with them, he was not accessible to them; they called him lord
and did not let him go out to those in their camp. Al-Qasim, not
he, was actually in charge and executed matters according to
his807 views over an area extending to the outer reaches of the
administrative region of al-Kufah which is irrigated by the
Euphrates. He let them know that all the people of the Sawad
were coming out to join him. He remained there some twenty
days, during which time he sent out messengers of his in disguise8
among the Sawadis. However, none of them joined him,809 except
those who suffered hard times. They were about five hundred
men with their women and children.

"The central authorities sent parties of soldiers against hinl and
issued written orders to all those whom it had dispatched to
al-Anbar and Hit to secure (those cities); for it was feared that
those Qarmatians who had remained at the two watering places
might return there upon departing for al-Kufah. The central
authorities therefore rushed a number of officers against him,310
among them: Bishr8!l al-Afshini, Jinni al-Safwani, Nihrir al-
‘Umari 812 and Ra'iq, the ranking knight813 of the Commander of
the Faithful, as well as the young pages known as the chamber
pages. They attacked the enemies of God // near the village of
al-Saw'ar killing their foot soldiers?4 and a number of their
horsemen. The Qarmatians let their tents fall into their hands.
They entered them and busied themselves with them, whereupon
the Qarmatians turned upon them and routed them.

The source of the following report is someone who 'mentioned
that he was present in the office of Muhammad b. Dawad 'b.
al-Jarrahl, when some Qarmatians, among them the brother-

%07 Of Zikrawayh or of al-Qasim?

808 Text: mustalhiqin “asking them to join”; read mustakhfin as in R. There seems to
be no manuscript authority for the reading of the Leiden edition.

809 Text: “them”; read bihi "him" as in R.

810 Text: “against them"”; read ilayhi “against him"” as in RC and Miskawayh.

811 R and Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 50, read again “Yusr"

812 Nihrir al-‘Umari (al-‘Amri 7} disappears from history with his capture by the
Qarmatian Abii Tahir, the son of Abi Sa‘id al-Jannibi, on Friday, al-Muharram 22,
312 (Friday, April 30, 924). See Eclipse, 1, 121; Sabi', Wuzara’, 57.

813 This may be the meaning of fata here, rather than “slave”

814 RC: rijalahum “their men! This might be the more original text.
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in-law 815 of Zikrawayh, were brought in to him. The brother-in-
law told him as follows: Zikrawayh was in hiding at my residence,
in a cellar of my house protected by an iron door. We had a
movable furnace, and whenever a search party came to us, we
placed the furnace on the cellar door, and a woman got up to heat
it. Zikrawayh remained in this situation for four years. That was
in the days of al-Mu‘tadid. "He used to say, “I shall not go out as
long as al-Mu'‘tadid is among the living.” ? He was then moved
from my residence to a house which had a room built in behind
its door. When the door of the house was opened, it would cover
the door of the room; thus, a person entering would not notice the
door of the room in which Zikrawayh was. This remained the
situation until al-Mu‘tadid died. He then dispatched da‘is and
worked toward coming out to rebel.

When *the report—I mean,* the report of the battle between
the Qarmatian and the government forces at al-Saw’ar—reached
the central authorities in Baghdad, people considered it an impor-
tant event. The officers mentioned by me were mobilized to go
out to al-Kifah, and Muhammad b. Ishaq b. Kundajiq was made
commander-in-chief. *He was followed next by ‘Allan b.
Muhammad b. Kushmard816é with a large army. Wasif b. Sawar-
takindl” had preceded them earlier with a substantial force.* A
number of Arab tribesmen from the Banu Shayban and the
Namir, about two thousand men, were attached to (Ibn Kundajiq)
and given their allotments.

On Jumada 1 18, 293 (March 17, 906), / / a group of about ten
persons arrived in Baghdad from Mecca. They went to the Caliph’s
court and asked that troops be sent to their land, because they
were afraid that the rebel in the Yemens818 might invade it, as they
thought that he was already nearby.

815 The silf “brother of the sister of the wife” of Zikrawayh (see text above, 111, 2127)
may be identical with al-Muntaqim, although al-Muntaqim is described as the
brother of Zikrawayh's wife. See below, n. 889.

816 There is no reason to doubt the parentage of ‘Allin as indicated here. It would
seem to make him a brother of Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Kushmard (see above, nn.
398 and 657). For the unhappy role ‘Allan played in the following year, see text
below, 2270f. One of ‘Allan's pages is mentioned in ‘Arib, 68, 1. 3, sub anno 305
{917-8).

817 The spelling with S, instead of §, occurs also elsewhere in the Tabari manuscripts.

818 See above, n. 751, and van Arendonk, Opkomst, 219, n. 3.
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On Friday, Rajab 12, 293 (Friday, May 9, 906), a dispatch
which had reached the central authorities was read from the
pulpit in Baghdad. It said that the inhabitants of San‘a’ and other
cities in the Yemen had gathered against the rebel who had seized
power in their country. They fought and routed him, and his
troops fled, whereupon he had withdrawn to some place in the
Yemen.

On Shawwal 3, 293 (July 28, 906), the Caliph bestowed a robe
of honor upon Muzaffar b. Hajj and formally appointed him
governor of the Yemen. Ibn Hajj left on Dhu al-Qa‘dah 5, 293
{August 28, 906), and went to his administrative post in the
Yemen, staying there until he died.819

On MRajab! 23, 293 (May 20, 906), al-Muktafi's tent was taken
out Tand set up! at Bab al-Shammasiyyah in expectation of his
departure for Syria on account of Ibn al-Khalij. But then, on
Rajab 24, 293 (May 21, 906}, a mail pouch Mfrom Egypt Varrived at
Baghdad with a report from Fatik. It indicated that he and the
officers had advanced against al-Khaljji and that many battles
had taken place between them. In the last battle, most of
al-Khaliji's men had been killed, and the rest then fled. They had
overcome them and had taken over their camp. Al-Khaliji had
fled, and eventually entered al-Fustat where he hid in the house
of a local man. The allies then entered al-Fustat, and when they
had established themselves there, Fatik was shown where al-Khaliji
was and those of his partisans who were hiding with him. He had
them arrested and detained on behalf of (al-Muktafi?). Al-Muktafi
wrote to820 / / Fatik ordering him to bring al-Khaliji and those
who were seized®! with him to Madinat al-Salam.

Al-Muktafi's tents which had been taken out to Bab al-Sham-
masiyyah were brought back, and he sent word to return his stores
which had already passed Takrit, which was done. Fatik then
sent al-Khaliji and a number of the men captured with him
from Egypt to Madinat al-Salam with Bishr,82 the mawla of

819 See above, n. 401. For doubts about the chronology offered here, see van Arendonk,
Opkomst, 182, n. 2.

820 R indicates the passive “Fatik received written orders.”

81 R: “and those partisans of his who had been hiding!

822 See above, n. 788.
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Muhammad b. Abi al-S3j. On Thursday, Ramadan 15, 293
(Thursday, July 10, 906), al-Khaliji was brought into Madinat
al-Salam by way of Bab al-Shammasiyyah. In front of him, there
were twenty-one$23 men upon camels, wearing hoods and silken
cloaks, among them, reportedly, the two sons of Binak,824 Abu
Shikal,825 who had come to *the camp of* the central authorities
from the camp of ‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar to ask for a guarantee
of safe-conduct, and the black eunuch Sandal al-Muzihimi.826
*Ibn al-Khalij1827 was carried on a camel, hanging on a stake which
had been placed on it. Behind the back of his head, there was an
artificial hand (mithal kaff). When the camel moved with him,
the hand struck the back of his head.*828 When al-Khaliji came
to al-Muktafi, the Caliph looked him over and ordered that he be
detained in the palace, while the others were to be incarcerated in
the New Prison. He sent them to Ibn ‘Amrawayh8?® who was in
charge of the police in Baghdad. He then bestowed robes of honor
upon his wazir al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan for his skillful handling of
matters leading to this victory. He also bestowed a robe of honor
upon Bishr al-Afshini.830

*In this year, al-Muktafi married the daughter of Khumarawayh
b. Ahmad b. Tulin.83! They were married by Aba ‘Umar Mu-
hammad b. Yasuf.*

823 Mas‘idi, Muriij, VIII, 236, ed. Pellat, V, 187: “twenty-four”

824 The form of the name is uncertain. Binak seems to be the above-mentioned man
who was killed in 264 (877). See text above, 111, 1924. There does not seem to be any
further record of his sons.

85 The form of the name is uncertain, and no further information seems to be
available about him.

82 Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, 111, 100, mentions him sub anno 283 (896} as a mawla of
Muzahim b. Khaqan. Muzahim was a brother of Ahmad b. Khiaqin and a governor
of Egypt. He died there on Monday, al-Muharram 5, 254 (Monday, January 5, 868}
(Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujum, 11, 3381.); in the text above, III, 1693, his death is dated in
Dhd al-Hijjah, 253 (December 867).

827 In this passage, R uses Ibn al-Khaliji throughout.

828 For al-Khaliji’s transportation to Baghdad, see Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, Iil, 154.

829 For Muhammad b. (Amrawayh, see (Arib, 21,23, 30; Eclipse, 1, 4,7, 14. According
to Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujam, 111, 174, he died in Amid in 298 (910-11).

830 See above, n. 788.

81 Apparently, a half-sister of Qatr al-Nada whom al-Mu‘tadid married instead of
his son, the future al-Muktafi, see text above, 1II, 2134. She seems to have been
among the members of the Tillinid family transferred to Baghdad. There may have
been some political motive for the marriage, anticipating developments which, as it
turned out, failed to materialize.
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On Shawwal 5, 293 (July 30, 906}, the head of the Qarmatian
named Nasr, the one who had looted Hit, was brought to Baghdad
on top of a lance.832

On Shawwal 7, 293 (August 1, 906}, word arrived at Madinat
al-Salam that the Byzantines had raided Quirus.833 Its inhabitants
fought them, but the Byzantines routed and killed most of them
as well as the chieftains of the Bani Tamim. They entered the city,
burned down its mosque, and drove away the remaining inhabit-
ants. //

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
lal-Hashimi. !

82 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 51, adds, no doubt following some Tabari recension: “It
was carried around on both sides of Baghdad.” For the episode, see Mas'Gdi, Tanbih,
374, who indicates the correct day of the week {Wednesday).

83 That is, Cyrrhus, approximately sixty km northwest of Aleppo. See Canard,
Sources arabes, 19; Pauly-Wissowa, s. v. Kyrros; Der Kleine Pauly, s. v. Kyrrhos. See
the location indicated on the map between pp. 240 and 241 in Canard, Hamdanides.
Yaqiit, Mu'jam, IV, 199, describes the town as containing impressive ancient ruins.
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(ocTOBER 22, 906 - OCTOBER 11, 907)

@

One of the events was the arrival of Ibn Kayghalagh8® in
Tarsis in order to undertake a raid. He arrived on al-Muharram' 1, 1
294 (October 22, 906). Rustum went on the raid with him; it was
Rustum’s second. They went as far as Salandu, where God gave
them victory, and then reached Alis.835 About five thousand
persons fell into their hands. They killed a great number of
Byzantines and then returned safely.

On al-Muharram 12,8% 294 (November 2, 906), word reached
Madinat al-Salam that the Qarmatian Zikrawayh b. Mihrawayh
had left the place known as Nahr al-Mathniyyah with the inten-
tion of attacking the pilgrims and that he had reached a place
four mil (eight km) from Waqisah.837

834 That is, Ahmad b. Kayghalagh. Note the slightly different account of this episode
in the text below, 2275f.

835 Apparently, the Halys/Alys river, the present Kizil Irmak. See Canard, Sources
arabes, 20. In the text above, 111, 1237 (also 1351), al-Lms is explained as the river of
Seleucia (the ancient Kalykadnos in Cilicia and the present Gék-su), located at about
a day’s distance from Tarsis and the place of ransom negotiations; but see above, n.
174. One manuscript consistently reads 'Ils, and this caused Yaqiit, Mu‘jam, 1, 64, to
quote Tabar's identification, s. v. Alis. Whatever locality may be meant on the first
occurrence in the text above, III, 1237, it has been assumed, on the following pages,
to represent the Halys. See Vasiliev, 1, 146, n. 4, and Marin’s translation, 62, n. 316.

836 (Arib, 14, 1. 6: “al-Muharram 11/

837 The pilgrim stations on the Mecca Road, also referred to as “the Highway,” existed
for the purpose of providing fodder and water for the pilgrim caravans. Many of
those stations were also protected by fortresses, as described in the text above, 111, 486,
and in the narrative here. All this was necessary and required great expenditures
that were born by the government, but, as can be seen here clearly, the “Road”
remained always highly vulnerable.

The names of the desert stations often reflect certain features of the desert terrain.
The places were important in the lives of large numbers of Muslims. Thus their
names were familiar, and most of them are listed in the geographical literature.
However, some minor localities, not situated directly on the Mecca Road but men-
tioned by Tabari in his report, are not easily identifiable. The section of the Mecca
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According to the report of Muhammad b. Dawid, the Qar-
matians went westwards3 in the desert and eventually reached a
watering place called Salmin.8% The region between them and
the Sawad was a waterless desert. The Qarmatian stayed where he
was with the intention of attacking the pilgrims and waited for
the first caravan. It reached Wagisah on al-Muharram 6 or 7, 294
(October 27 or 28, 906). The local people warned the pilgrims,
informing them that they were four mil from the Qarmatians.
So they did not stay but moved on and were saved. Al-Hasan b.
Miisa al-Rabai®0 and Sima al-Ibrahimi8! were in this caravan.
When the caravan persisted in traveling on, the Qarmatian went
to Wiaqisah and asked the people there about it. When they
informed him that the caravan had not stayed there, he suspected
them of having warned it and therefore killed / / a number of the
fodder-sellers there and burned the fodder, while the inhabitants
fortified themselves in their fortress. He stayed there several days
and then left for Zubalah.

According to the report of Muhammad b. Dawiid, the troops
went toward the Springs of al-Taff84 in pursuit of Zikrawayh,
but then departed from there when they learned that he was in
Salmain. ‘Allan b. Kushmard went after Zikrawayh with a special
detachment of cavalry by way of the Mecca Highway. They
encamped at al-Sibal, 33 and ‘Allan then marched toward Wagqi-
sah and encamped there after the first caravan had passed through.

Road dealt with here is located approximately 28°-30° N, 44°-45° E, roughly
one-third the distance between al-Kifah/al-Bagrah and Mecca. Map B in Thilo,
Ortsnamen, for instance, shows Qar'a’, Wiaqisah, Salman, al-‘Aqabah, Zubalah,
Thallabiyyah, and Fayd. On a 1958 map, scale 1:2,000,000, published by the Depart-
ment of the Interior, U. S. Geological Survey, we find Birkat al-‘Aqabah and Zubilah
still ligted. According to various entries in Yaq@it's Mujam, the stations between
al-Kiifah and Wagqgisah were al-Mughithiyyah, al-Zubaydiyyah, and al-Qar‘a’.
Counting up the individual distances indicated, the distance between al-Qadisiyyah
and Waqisah was eighty mil (160 km). See the map showing the pilgrim routes
of Arabia on p. 22 of W. C. Brice (ed.}, An Historical Atlas of Islam (Leiden 1981). On
the Mecca Road, see also ER, Suppl., s. v. Darb Zubayda, and the unpublished
doctoral dissertation by S. ‘A. (A, al-Rashid mentioned in ER, Suppl., s.v. Fayd.

838 Lit., from an eastern direction.

839 See above, n. 837, and Yaqut, Mu'jam, III, 121£.

80R: "b. {Ali" No further information is available for him.

841 He is hardly identical with STma al-Khazari mentioned in Eclipse, I, 46.

842 See Yaqiit, Mu'jam, I11, 539f. It seems that the troops originally went north when
they should have gone south.

843 Both the form and the location of this place are uncertain.
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On the way, Zikrawayh passed groups of the Banu Asad. He took
them and84 their tents along with him on his move toward the
Highway and against the pilgrims returning from Mecca.

On al-Muharram 16, 294 (November 6, 906}, the pigeon post
from al-Kifah brought the news to Baghdad that on Sunday,
al-Muharram 11, 294 (Saturday, November 1, 906), Zikrawayh
had attacked the caravan of the Khurasanians at al-‘Aqabah845 on
the Mecca Road, and that they had fought him energetically. He
had interrogated them asking whether government men were
among them. When they denied it and said that they were
(simply) pilgrims, he told them that he did not want them and
they should go. When the caravan went on its way, he followed
and then attacked it. His men started to prick the camels with
lances and rip them with swords, so that they broke lose and the
caravan got confused. They fell upon the pilgrims and killed
them at will. They killed men and women, took captive the
women they wanted, and seized for themselves what / / there was
in the caravan.

One of the pilgrims who escaped encountered ‘Allan b. Kush-
mard who asked him what had happened, and he told him what
had befallen the Khurasanian caravan. The pilgrim then said:
“There is only a short distance between you and the people.846
Tonight or tomorrow, the second caravan will arrive. When they
see a banner of the central authorities, they will take heart. In
God’s name, show concern for them!” But ‘Allan immediately
turned back and ordered those with him to do likewise, saying, “I
will not expose the government forces to being killed.”

Zikrawayh then came up, and the second caravan arrived.
Using a number of messengers who avoided the Highway, the
central authorities had informed the leaders of the second and
third caravans, and the officers and civilian officials in them, by
letter about what the wicked man was doing to the pilgrims.
They ordered them to be on guard against him and to go toward
Wasit and al-Basrah instead of following the Highway, or to

844 Text: min “from”; Mss. bi-(buytitiha). The correction in the Leiden text seems
unnecessary.

845 See above, n. 837, and Yaqit, Mu'jam, 111, 692, 1. 6.

846 R: baynahu "between him (the Qarmatian)” This suggests that “the people” may
be the Qarmatians rather than the troops and pilgrims in the caravan.
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return to Fayd8¥ or al-Madinah and wait for the troops to join
them. The messages had reached them, but they did not listen
and did not stay and wait.

The people in the second caravan pressed on. It included
al-Mubarak al-Qummi, Ahmad b. Nagr al-‘Uqayli, and Ahmad
b. ‘Ali b. al-Husayn al-Hamadhani.848 The criminals had come to
Wagqisah, and before leaving, they had made the watering places
there unusable, filling the ponds and wells with the corpses of
camels and horses whose bellies were split open. Now they came
to the ‘Aqabah station on Monday, al-Muharram 12, 294 (Sunday,
November 2, 906). The men in the second caravan fought them.
Abii al-‘Asha'ir84 was at the head of the caravan with his men,
while Mubarak al-Qummi was in the rear with his. The fighting
was fierce. Eventually, they routed the criminals, and they were
about // to overcome them when the criminals found the rear
unawares and fell upon them from that direction. They thrust their
lances into the sides and bellies of the camels which (fell upon
the fighters in the caravan and) crushed them. They thus
overpowered them and put them to the sword, killing them to the
last man, except those whom they made slaves. They then
dispatched horsemen several mil beyond al-‘Agabah where they
encountered those who had escaped the slaughter. They granted
them guarantees of safe-conduct, but then returned and killed all
of them. They took captive the women they liked and seized all
the money and goods. Al-Mubarak al-Qummi and his son
Muzaffar80 were killed, and Abu al-‘Asha'ir was captured. The
corpses were collected and stacked, forming a large hill. Aba
al-‘Asha’ir's hands and feet were then cut off, and he was decapi-
tated. The women they did not want were released. Some of the
wounded had fallen among those killed. During the night, they
dragged themselves away; some of them died, a few were saved.
The Qarmatian women always went around among those killed

847 A major station on the Mecca Road, Fayd was used by pilgrims to leave provisions
and things to be picked up on their return journey. See Yaqut, Mujam, 111, 927, and
ER, Suppl., s. v. Fayd.

848 [ have not succeeded in finding further information about him.

849 That is, Ahmad b. Nagr al-‘Ugayli.

850 Al-Mugzaffar b. al-Mubarak al-Qummi appears in connection with the wazir
al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan in $abi’, Wuzara’, 188.
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with their children who offered them water. Those who talked to
them (indicating that they were still alive), they85! finished off.

Reportedly about twenty-thousand fpilgrims? were in the
caravan. All of them were killed, except a small number. These
included those who prevailed over the enemy Tand were thus
saved, although left 1 without provisions, the wounded who had
fallen among those killed and later escaped, and those whom the
Qarmatians made slaves to serve them. The money and splendid
goods seized by the Qarmatians in this caravan were reportedly
worth two million dinars.

One of the craftsmen working in precious metalsss? is the
source for the report that letters from the Egyptian workers in
precious metals had reached them saying, “You will become rich
this year. The family of Ibn Tilun, the Egyptian officers who had
been sent / / to Madinat al-Salam, and people of similar standing
have shipped their Egyptian property to Madinat al-Salam. They
have had gold and silver vessels and jewelry melted down into
ingots!” The ingots were taken to Mecca to be carried with the
pilgrims to Madinat al-Salam. All of it was lost, *and nothing
was recovered.*

While the Qarmatians were killing and looting this caravan on
Monday (Sunday, November 2, 906), the caravan of the Khurasan-
ians reportedly approached. A number of Qarmatians went out
against them and attacked them. They suffered the same fate.

When Zikrawayah had finished with the people of the second
pilgrim caravan, seizing their possessions and allowing their
women to be taken as legal booty, he filled the pools and wells at
al-‘Aqabah with the corpses of people and horses and left
immediately.

The news of his assault on 'the second of 1 the caravans of the
central authorities reached Madinat al-Salam on Friday evening,
al-Muharram 16, 294 (Thursday, November 6, 906), and greatly
disturbed the central authorities and everybody else. The wazir
al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan b. Ayyab mobilized Muhammad "b. Dawad!
b. al-Jarrah, the secretary in charge of the Offices?s3 of the Land

851 Referring, it seems, to the Qarmatian men, and not to the women and children.
852 Darrab usually indicates coiner but here it has probably a more general meaning,
referring to gold and silver workers for whom the influx of the ingots promised more
work. The reporter was no doubt a darrab living in Baghdad.

853 R has the singular.
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Tax and the Estates in the East as well as the Office of the Army,
to go to al-Kiifah and stay there, in order to dispatch troops
against the Qarmatians. Ibn al-Jarrah left Baghdad on al-Muhar-
ram 19, 294 (November 9, 906), carrying with him much money
with which to pay the troops.

Zikrawayh then traveled to Zubalah. He encamped there and
deployed vanguards and rearguards, because he was afraid that
the government forces stationed in al-Qadisiyyah would make
contact with him and also because he was expecting the arrival of
the third caravan which included the money and the merchants.
He then traveled to al-Tha'labiyyah, and then to al-Shuqtiq.854 He
stayed between al-Shuqiiq and al-Bitan#s Fat the edge of the sand
dunesin / / a place known as al-Tulayh,8% waiting for the third
caravan. It included the officers Nafis al-Muwalladi and Salih
al-Aswad.857 (Salih) had with him the umbrella that al-Mu‘tadid
had adorned with precious jewels,88 and the (caravan) chest.
Also included in the caravan were: Ibrahim b. Abi al-Ash‘ath,85
who was chief judge of Mecca F'and al-Madinah and who was also
responsible for the Mecca Road! and the expenditures for its
upkeep, Maymiin b. Ibrahim al-Katib80 who was in charge of
the affairs of the Office of Land Tax Bookkeeping and the Estates,
Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Ahmad, who was known as Ibn
al-Hazallaj, 8! al-Furat b. Ahmad b. Muhammad b. al-Furat 8
al-Hasan b. Isma‘il 83 a relative of al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan, who

854 According to Yaqut, Mu'jam, 111, 309, al-Shuqliq was located after Waqisah on the
Mecca Road.

855 According to Yaqit, Mu‘jam, 1, 661, (al-)Bitin was located after al-Shuqiq and
before al-Tha‘labiyyah.

856 Mas‘udi, Tanbih, 375, 1. 11, refers to this place as al-Tlyh belonging to al-Habir
(below, n. 865). Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, VII, 379, and Ibn al-Jawzi,
Muntazam, V1, 60, 11. 4f., omit the name and refer only to al-Habir. ‘Arib has
al-Khlyj, apparently an error.

857 For Nafis, see above, n. 399. Mas'Gdi, Tanbih, 375, 1. 12, mentions Nafis and
Ahmad b. Sima in this context. I have no further information about $alih al-Aswad.

858 Rather than “jewel” in the singular. For further references to the umbrella as
symbolizing the presence of royal authority, see text above, III, 1555, and Introductio
etc., CCCXVI.

859 | have no further information about him.

860 Abi al-Qasim Maymiin b. Ibrahim al-MadharafT is mentioned in $abi’, Wuzara',
203, 250, as head of the Diwan al-zimam. See Sourdel, Vizirat, 338.

861 See Sabi’, Wuzara’, 184.

862 ] have no record of him. On his father, see above, n. 415.

863 His relationship to the wazir cannot be ascertained.
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was postmaster of the two holy cities, and ‘Ali b. al-‘Abbas
al-Nahiki.84

When the people in this caravan reached Fayd, they learned
about the evil Zikrawayh and his men. They stayed in Fayd
several days and waited for reinforcements to come to them from
the central authorities, as Ibn Kushmard had returned from the
Road to al-Qadisiyyah with the troops which the central authori-
ties had dispatched with him as well as in advance of him and
afterwards. *When the caravan came into contact with the accursed
one in a place called al-Habir,865 which was on al-Muharram 21,
294 (November 11, 906), he confronted them. They fought him all
that day until nightfall, and then he withdrew from them. In the
morning, he came once more to engage them in combat, and they
fought each other. On the third day, the people of the caravan in
al-Habir who were without water became thirsty and, after
fighting, surrendered. He put them to the sword; only a few of
them escaped. The Qarmatians seized the women and everything
in the caravan.*

*In this year, the central authorities dispatched two thousand
and two hundred horsemen of the Banu Shayban to fight the
Qarmatians.*

*In this year,* Zikrawayh went to Fayd where the representative
of the central authorities was a man called / / Hamid b. Firtiz.866
Hamid, together with about a hundred men who were with him
in the mosque,367 sought refuge from Zikrawayh in one of Fayd's
two fortresses, and he garrisoned the other fortress. Zikrawayh
now began to correspond with the inhabitants of Fayd asking
them to surrender their official (Hamid) and the troops among
them.88 The inhabitants of Fayd, however, did not respond to his

864 Al-Nahiki (not al-Nuhayki) appears to be identical with the official mentioned by
Sabi', Wuzara’, 87, where he appears as the person in charge of the important land
tax district of Baduraya.

85 A similar occurrence at al-Habir in the year 312 (924) is mentioned by ‘Arib,
118f,; Yaqiit, Mu'jam, 1V, 951.

The addition in R fills the lacuna correctly assumed in the Leiden edition. It
agrees fully with what is found in Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, I11, 160.

866 | have not succeeded in obtaining further information about him.

87 This appears to imply that the Qarmatians made their move when the people
were at prayer in the mosque.

868 Read fihim as in R and other sources.
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request, and he fought them without result. Me continued: 869
When he saw that he could not do anything with them, he
withdrew to al-Nibij870 and then went to Hufayr Abi Musa al-
Ash‘ari.8”1

On Rabr‘ I 1, 294 (December 20, 906), al-Muktafi mobilized
Wasif b. Sawartakin with a number of officers. They left al-
Qadisiyyah by the Khaffan Road.8”2 On Saturday, Rabi‘ 1 22, 294
(Saturday, January 10, 907}, Wasif encountered Zikrawayh. They
fought all day long, then night intervened between them. They
spent the night on guard against each other. He then returned to
attack them. The government troops caused a great slaughter
among the Qarmatians. They got to the enemy of God, Zikra-
wayh, and when he turned his back, one of the soldiers struck the
back of his head with a sword in such a way that it went through
his brain. Zikrawayh, his lieutenant,8”3 and a number of his
intimates and relatives, among them his son,874 his secretary, and
his wife were taken captive, and the troops took possession of
everything in his camp. Zikrawayh lived five more days and then
died. His belly was split open, *and emptied of its contents.* He
was carried away as he was and *taken to Madinat al-Salam. He
was carried upon a camel. The hood had been placed on his head,
and he was dressed in a brocade cloak. In front of him was his
wife Mu'minah,?#”5 wearing a silken dress and wrap. Also paraded
before him were the umbrella which he had seized and from
which he had removed the jewels, and the captives.* 'The captured
pilgrims who had remained alive while they were in his hands
were returned %76

89 Presumably, Ibn al-Jarrah.

870 See text above, I, 1914; Thilo, Ortsnamen, 76{f., map. Yaqat, Mu'jam, 1V, 736f.,
does not seem to be quite certain about the location of al-Nibaj; he assumes it to be
near Fayd halfway between al-Basrah and Mecca.

81R and Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V1, 60, 1. 10: “Hafar"” See Yaqut, MuSjam, II, 294,
who supports this reading. On the famous early Muslim Abd Miisa al-‘Ash‘ari, see
ER,s. v. al-Ash‘ari, Abd Miisa.

872 Khaffan was located near al-Kiifah. The road passing by it was occasionally used
by the Mecca pilgrims. See Yaqut, Mu'jam, II, 456.

873 It seems that this lieutenant cannot be further identified.

874 It is not clear which of his sons is meant.

875 This appears to be the correct reading, giving the name of Zikrawayh's wife.

876 The concluding words to this account in Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 56, were probably
taken from the Tabari manuscript used by him: “The Qarmatians were then rounded
up, and a number of them asked for guarantees of safe-conduct”
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In this year, Ibn Kayghalagh undertook a raid from Tarsiis. He
made four thousand enemy captives and seized many horses and
cattle as well as goods. One of the Patrikioi came // to him to
seek a guarantee of safe-conduct and became a Muslim. Ibn
Kayghalagh left Tarsiis for this raid on al-Muharram 1, 294
(October 22, 906).877

In this year, the Patrikios Andronikos,88 who was the Byzantine
ruler’s military commander of those living in the border regions,
wrote to the central authorities in Baghdad seeking a guarantee of
safe-conduct. It was granted to him. The Byzantine ruler had sent
men to him to arrest him. So he gave weapons to about two
hundred Muslims being held captive in his fortress879 and left,
sending them out along with some of his sons. They fell at night
upon the Patrikios who had been sent to arrest Andronikos and
killed a large number of his men and looted their camp. In
Jumada I, 294 (February 17-March 18, 907), Rustum had left with
the people of the border regions to rescue Andronikos and had
reached Qiiniyah soon after the incident.880 The Patrikioi learned
that the Muslims were marching against them and turned back.
Andronikos sent his son to Rustum, while Rustum sent his
secretary and a number of sailors88! ({to Andronikos). They spent
the night in the fortress. In the morning, Andronikos took out his
money and goods and left for the Muslim camp with all the
Muslim captives who were with him, those {(Muslims) whoss2
had come to him,83 and the "Christians 188 who agreed with

877 See above, n. 834. This paragraph was used by Ibn ‘Asakir in his biography of
Ahmad b. Kayghalagh (see above, n, 677). It seems quite probable that the Patrikios
mentioned here was, in fact, the Andronikos mentioned in the following paragraph
which may go back to another, better-informed source.

878 See above, n. 722. For the passage, see Canard, Sources arabes, 20f. See also
Mas'idi, Tanbih, 174, which contains information on his son Constantine as well.

879 Presumably referring to the fortress of Quiniyah (Konya). Canard (see Vasiliev, 11,
187} indicates the fortress of Kabala near Konya.

8% Referring, it seems, to the above-mentioned attack by Andronikos upon the
emissary of the Byzantine government.

881 The reading "sailors” is doubted by Canard but seems to be correct.

882 The meaning is not quite clear. Perhaps, minhum wa-man should be corrected to
mim-man to yield the sense: “and the Christians who agreed with his decision and
had joined him”

883 Text: ilayhim “to them”; RB ilayhi. Canard: “ceux qui étaient allés les retrouver”

884 For “Christians,” R has “those
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his decision. The Muslims laid Qiiniyah waste, and then returned
to Tarsis together with Andronikos, the Muslim captives, and
the Christians who were with Andronikos. //

In Jumada 11,885 294 (February 17-March 18, 906), *a battle*
took place between the men of al-Husayn b. Hamdan and a
number of Zikrawayh's men. The latter had fled from the battle
in which Zikrawayh suffered the fate he did, and had taken the
Euphrates Road intending to go to Syria. A number of them were
killed, and a number of their women and children were taken
captive.

In this year, emissaries of the Byzantine king, including the
maternal uncle of his son Leon and the eunuch Basilios,36 accom-
panied by a number of people, arrived at Bab al-Shammasiyyah
with a letter from the king to al-Muktafi asking him to start
ransom negotiations concerning the Muslims held in his terri-
tory and the Byzantines held in Muslim territory. Al-Muktafi was
asked to send an emissary to Byzantine territory to gather the
Muslim captives held there and to reach an agreement (on the
ransom conditions) with him. The eunuch Basilios was to remain
in Tarsis in order to assemble Byzantine captives from the border
regions and convey them, together with the representative of the
central authorities,887 to the place where the ransom negotiations
were to be held. The delegation remained in Bab al-Shammasiyyah
for several days and was then brought into Baghdad. They carried
gifts from the Byzantine ruler and brought along ten Muslim
captives. The gifts were accepted, and the request of the Byzantine
ruler was granted.

In this year, a man who claimed that he was the Sufyani®8 was
seized in Syria. He and a number of people with him were

85R: “Jumada 1"

8% The Byzantine Emperor at the time was Leon V1 (886-912). Canard, Sources
arabes, 21, has no comment on the passage and the identity of the royal personage
meant here. No identification of the eunuch is possible.

887 The reference appears to be to the emissary sent to oversee the ransom negotia-
tions, most likely a ranking member of the judiciary.

888 The expected mahdi, in this case an individual whose claims centered around
pro-Umayyad groups. See ERZ, s. v. Mahdi. R has this entry after the following one.
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brought from Syria to the Caliph’s court. He was reportedly
suffering from delusions.

In this year, the Arab tribesmen on the Mecca Road seized two
men, one of whom was known as al-Haddad, and the other as
al-Muntaqim.88 The one known as al-Muntaqim reportedly was
the brother of Zikrawayh's wife. // Both were handed over to
Nizar in al-Kiifah, and he sent them on to the Caliph’s *court* in
Baghdad. According to the Arab tribesmen, the two had come "to
thenl to call them to rebel against the central authorities.

Mn this year, al-Husayn b. Hamdan sent a man known as
al-Kayyal8% together with sixty of his men from the Syrian Road
to the central authorities in Baghdad. They belonged to Zikra-
wayh's men who had come to al-Husayn for guarantees of safe-
conduct. !

Mn this year, the Patrikios Andronikos arrived in Baghdad. 891

In "Ramadan, 294 (June 15-July 14, 907), 1 a battle took place
*on the Euphrates Road* between al-Husayn b. Hamdan and the
Kalb, Namir, Asad, and other Arab tribesmen who had gathered
against him. They routed him and pursued him as far as the gate
of Aleppo.

In this year, the Arab Tayyi’ tribesmen besieged Wasif b.
Sawartakin in Fayd. Wasif had been sent out as military com-
mander for the pilgrimage season. He was besieged three days
and then went out against them. He attacked them, killing some
of them. Then they fled, and Wasif left "Fayd! with the pilgrims
who were with him.

Leading the pilgrimage *this year* was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
Ma]-Hashimi. !

889 That is, “The Avenger!” See above, n. 815. Nothing seems to be known about the
individual named al-Haddad “The Smith”

80 There is probably no relationship to the aforementioned Migdam b. al-Kayyal
{above, n. 754).

891 Canard, Sources arabes, 21 and 318 (from Mas'iidi, Tanbih, 174}.
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Among the events of this year was the departure of ‘Abdallah b.
Ibrahim al-Misma‘i8” from the city of Isbahan. He left for a
village several farsakhs away, with about ten thousand Kurds
and others reportedly attached to him in an open show of opposi-
tion / / to the central authorities. Badr al-Hammami was ordered
to move against him, and a number of officers and about five
thousand troops were attached to him.

In this year, al-Husayn b. Miisa893 made a surprise attack upon
the Arab Tayyi' Ttribesmen! who were fighting Wasif b. Sa-
wartakin. He reportedly killed seventy of their men and took a
number of their horsemen captive.

On Safar 14, 295 {(November 24, 907), Abt Ibrahim Isma‘l b.
Ahmad, the governor of Khurasan and Transoxania, died. MHis
son!, Ahmad b. Isma‘il 'b. Ahmad'8 took his father's place as
governor and took charge of his official functions. Al-Muktafi
reportedly held an audience on Rabt II 4, 295 (January 12, 908),
during which he personally tied a standard *for him* and handed
it over to Tahir b. ‘Ali b. Wazir. He bestowed a robe of honor upon
Tahir and ordered him to take the standard to Ahmad b. Isma‘l.

892 Al-Misma'i d. Saturday, Rabi‘ II 21, 305 (Saturday, October 11, 917). He had a
reputation as a hadith scholar. See ‘Arib, 69; Eclipse, index (where he is listed
together with his son, below, n. 897). R consistently: “lbrahim b. (Abdallah,” his
son’s name.

293Arib, 18f., has al-Hurr (?) for al-Husayn; R: “al-Hasan.” No identification with
the aforementioned al-Raba‘i (see above, n. 840) is possible, since it is not known
whether al-Raba‘i survived the disaster in 294.

8% The Saminid Ahmad b. Isma‘il was killed in 301 (914). See text below, 2289.
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In this year, Mansur b. ‘Abdallah b. Mansiir al-Katib8% was
sent out against ‘Abdallah b. Ibrahim al-Misma‘i. "He wrote to
al-Misma ? in order to frighten him regarding the conse-
quences of opposing (the central authorities) and then marched
against him. When he reached him, he had a discussion with
him, whereupon al-Misma‘ again became loyal to the central
authorities. Together with Mansiir b. ‘Abdallah, al-Misma' left
with some of his pages to go to the Caliph’s court. He left
someone behind in Isbahan to carry out his administrative func-
tions. Al-Muktafi became reconciled with him, gave him gifts,8%
and bestowed robes of honor upon him and upon his son.8%”

In this year, al-Husayn b. Miisa attacked al-Kurdi®® who had
seized power in the region of Mosul. He overcame al-Kurdi's
men and allowed his camp and property to be looted, but al-Kurdi
himself escaped and sought refuge in al-Jibal. He was never
caught. //

In this year, al-Muzaffar b. Hajj conquered territory that had
been taken over by some rebels in the Yemen. He captured one of
their leaders who was known as al-Hakimi.8%

On Jumadai II 16, 295 (March 23, 908), Khagan al-Muflihi was
ordered to march on Adharbayjan in order to fight Yasuf b. Abi
al-Saj. About four thousand troops were attached to him.

On Ramadan 17, 295 (June 20, 908), the emissary of Abi
Mudar Ziyadatallah Ibn al-Aghlab%0 entered Baghdad, accom-

895 {Abdallah b. Mansiir, who was also a government official (katib), may have been
his father. See text above, III, 1790, sub anno 256 (869-70).

896 Text: wa-wasalahu; R: wa-barrahi.

897 Ibrahim b. (Abdallah b. Ibrahim al-Misma'i d. 315 (927-8), as amir of Firs. See
CArib, 133; Eclipse, 1, 157. ‘Arib, 69, described him as not quite as learned as his
father.

88 The event referred to is the campaign of the Hamdanid AbG al-Hayja' against
Kurdish insurgents. See Canard, Hamdanides, 342f. The government troops mentioned
by Tabarl apparently played a very minor role in this campaign.

89 The “rebels” (Kharijites) seem to be the same Qarmatians mentioned earlier, but
no precise identification of al-Hakimi appears to have been suggested so far.

900 Ziyadatallah 11, the last of the Aghlabid rulers of Ifrigiyah, was unable to cope
with the Kutimah Berber revolt fanned by the Fatimids and had to flee his country
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panied by Fath al-Ajami%! He carried gifts to deliver to al-
Muktafi.

In Dhi al-Qa‘dah, 295 (August 2-31, 908), the ransom negotia-
tions between the Muslims and the Byzantines were completed.%02
Three thousand men and women were ransomed.

On Dhii al-Qa‘dah 12, 295 (August 13, 908),%3 al-Muktafi
bi-llah died. *After he died, the oath of allegiance was given to
Ja‘far b. al-Mu‘tadid.* Al-Muktafi's caliphate lasted six years, six
months, and nineteen days. On the day he died, he was thirty-two
years old, *less one month.9¢ According to another report, he was
thirty-three years old.* He was born in 264 (September 13,
877-September 2, 878). His patronymic was AbG Muhammad. His
mother was a Turkish slave girl called Jijak.95 He was of medium
size, handsome, of a delicate complexion, with Ta full head of !
beautiful hair and a luxurious beard.

in the following year. For the final collapse of the Aghlabid dynasty and Ziyadatallah's
death somewhere in Palestine between 911 and 917, see Talbi, Emirat, 668ff.

The embassy sent to al-Muktafi was a futile attempt to obtain support from the
government in Baghdad. An incomplete list of the gifts sent on this occasion is found
in Mas‘@idi, Muraj, VIII, 245f., ed. Pellat, V, 191. Ziyadatallah had sent lavish gifts
earlier to al-Muktafi in 291. They are listed by Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha‘ir, 47. 1bn
al-Zubayr’s list was derived from two sources, the Continuation of Tabariby Abu
Muhammad al-Farghani and the History of Wazirs by (Ali b. al-Fath al-Mutawwagq
{Mutawwiq) (Sezgin, GAS, 1, 376). For other sources on this embassy and the possible
confusion between the gifts sent in 291 and those sent in 295, see Talbi, Emirat, 645f.
%01 No further identification seems possible for this individual.
9m See text above, 111, 2277. For this fida’ al-tamam, see Canard, Sources arabes, 21
and 406 (from Mas‘adi, Tanbih, 192f.).

903 (Arib indicates the date of al-Muktafi's death as Saturday night, Dhii al-Qa‘dah
13 (the night of Friday, August 13, to Saturday, August 14). Mas'tdi, Muraj, VIII,
214, ed. Pellat, V, 176f., expresses astonishment about the discrepancies found
regarding the date; he himself indicates Sunday, Dhi al-Qa‘dah 13.

904 If the dates of his birth and death are given here correctly, he was, in fact, not yet
thirty-two when he died. Khatib, Ta'rikh Baghdad, XI, 318, says that he was thirty-
one years old.

905 His mother died before he became caliph. Her name may be Turkish ¢icek “flower”
(see also ER, V, 619a, s. v. lakab)}, but its form is not certain; khnjw, found in later
authors depending on Tabari, is an easy corruption of the clearly shown jyjkin R.
See, however, the curious and no doubt erroneous statement in Eutychius, Annales,
text, 74, that al-Muktafi's mother Bkhtjknh was a daughter of al-Qasim b. (Ubaydallah
b. Sulayman.
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"The Caliphate of al-Mugtadir bi-1lah'

Q

He is%6 Ja'far b. *Abi al-‘Abbas* al-Mu‘tadid bi-llah *b. Ahmad
al-Muwaffaq bi-llah*. When the oath of allegiance was given to
him, he received the name of al-Mugqtadir bi-llah. He was then
thirteen years, one / / month, and twenty oneldays old. He was
born on Friday night, Ramadan 22, 282 (Friday, November 14,
895). His patronymic is Abd al-Fadl. His mother is a slave girl
called Shaghab.

TOn the day the oath of allegiance was given to him, the
treasury reportedly contained fifteen million dinars. Yo7

After the oath of allegiance had been given to al-Muqtadir,
al-Muktafi's corpse was washed, and the funeral prayer was said

for him. He was buried somewhere in the house of Muhammad
b. ‘Abdallah b. Tahir.

On the second day of Mina [Dhu al-Hijjah 12, 295 (September
12, 908)], a battle took place between ‘Ajj b. Hajj and the troops,%08
in which a number of the troops were killed for wounded!. The
reason for this was their demand for the expected bonus on the
occasion of the oath of allegiance given to al-Mugtadir. The
people who were at Mina fled to Bustan Ibn ‘Amir.% At Mina, the

906 Text: thumma biiyi‘a (mentioned before in RB); R: wa-huwa.

907 The statement is found only in C and ‘Arib, 22, who quotes Tabari. Since the
point here is to criticize the financial difficulties into which al-Mugqtadir soon
managed to embroil himself, it is indeed hard to assume that it was in the text
during the early years of al-Mugqtadir's reign. Not surprisingly, later historians give
different figures such as, for instance, eight million dinirs and twenty-five million
dirhams, a much smaller sum. See Mas‘iidi, Muriij, VIII, 225, ed. Pellat, V, 181.
Cf. also Ibn al-Zubayr, Dhakha'’ir, 220f.

908 The troops here are probably not the ordinary military contingent under the
command of the governor of Mecca but rather the numerous men who accompanied
the pilgrim caravans. See text above, III, 2110, for the disturbance in Mecca sub
anno271.  _

99 R: “Bani ‘Amir”’
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troops looted the tent of Abii ‘Adnin Rabr‘ah b. Muhammad,si0
one of the military commanders of the pilgrim caravans.

On the way back, those *pilgrims* who returned Mfrom Meccal
suffered greatly! from thirst caused by the shortage of water. A
number of them reportedly 'died from thirst. I have heard someone
tell that a man would urinate into his cupped hand and drink
the urine 911

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
Fal-Hashimi 1

910 See above, n. 679.
911 The last sentence is found only in B.
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One of the events was the agreement reached by a number of
officers, civilian officials, and qadis to depose al-Mugqtadir.
They debated who should replace him, and they agreed upon
(Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tazz.912 They discussed the matter with him,
and he gave them his consent on condition / / that there would
be no bloodshed or fighting. They told him that the power would
by handed over to him peacefully and all the troops, officers, and
civilian officials who were standing behind them were agreeable
to the choice. He therefore solemnly accepted. Leaders in this
affair were Muhammad b. Dawid b. al-Jarrah and the gadi Aba
al-Muthanna Ahmad b. Ya'qiib.913 Muhammad b. Dawtd b.
al-Jarrah agreed "'with a number of officers 1 to murder al-Mugqtadir
Fand give the oath of allegiance to ‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tazz.

~Abbis b. al-Hasan *had earlier agreed with a number of
officers to murder al-Mugtadir and give the oath of allegiance to
(Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tazz.*9!4 But when he saw that he would get
along with al-Mugqtadir *as he liked*, he changed his mind
concerning the plan. The others immediately pounced upon
al-‘Abbas and killed him. Badr al-A%ami 15 al-Husayn b. Ham-
din,6 and Wasif b. Sawartakin were in charge of the killing.
This was on Saturday, Rabi‘ I 19, 296 (Friday, December 16, 908).

912 The great poet and littérateur and caliph for one day. See ER2, s. v. Ibn al-Mu‘tazz.
The terseness of Tabari's report on this most dramatic event is surprising. We are not
even told that Ibn al-Mu‘tazz lost his life in the process; this, of course, was generally
known. The brevity may not be due to an editorial decision aimed at avoiding
offending the victorious party, as much as embarrassment at the naiveté of a great
man of letters mixing in politics. See also below, n. 920.

913 Abii al-Muthanna appears to be mentioned only in connection with this event.
See Sabi', Wuzara', 101, 256.

914 Text: “shared their view.’ .

915 No further information is available about him.

916 For al-Husayn's role in this affair, see Canard, Hamdanides, 324ff.
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The following morning, on Sunday, al-Muqtadir was deposed
by the officers, civilian officials, and qadis of Baghdad. They gave
the oath of allegiance to ‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tazz and named him
al-Radi bi-11ah.97 Muhammad b. Sa‘id al-Azraq,918 the secretary
of the army, administered the oath of allegiance to the officers. He
put them under oath and had their names called out.919

On the same day, a fierce battle lasting from morning to midday
was fought between al-Husayn b. Hamdan and the palace pages.

On the same day, the troops brought together by '"Muhammad?
b. Dawiid in order to give the oath of allegiance to Ibn al-Mu‘tazz
scattered and left him. The reason for this was that the eunuch
called Mu'nis transported some of the palace pages up the Tigris
in barges. When they were opposite the house in which Ibn //
al-Mu‘tazz and Muhammad b. Dawad were, they shouted at
them, showered them with arrows, and then dispersed. The troops,
officers, and civilian officials who were in the house fled, as did
Ibn al-Mu‘tazz. Some of those who had given the oath of alle-
giance to Ibn al-Mu'tazz joined al-Muqtadir, offering the excuse
that it had not been possible for them to come to him (earlier).
Others went into hiding and were subsequently seized and killed.
The populace looted the house of Ibn Dawtud and al-‘Abbas b.
al-Hasan. Ibn al-Mu‘tazz was among those seized.920

917 Other throne names allegedly bestowed upon Ibn al-Mu‘tazz are mentioned ir:
other sources.

918 See Sabi’, Wuzara', 165, where it is stated that al-Azraq died in the prison of
Mu'nis.

919 Each officer was called by name when he was put under oath, apparently in order
to publicize the extent of Ibn al-Mu‘tazz’s following.

920 (Arib, 28, quotes Tabari as follows: “Nothing has ever been seen more remarkable
than the affair of Ibn al-Mu'tazz and al-Mugqtadir, for both the inner circle of
notables and the common people (that is, everybody} had agreed to prefer Ibn
al-Mu‘tazz and accept him and to depose al-Mugqtadir because of his youth (still, the
latter won out). ‘God’s command is definitely determined (Qur. 33.38)!" De Goeje,
the editor of {Arib (preface, VII1), took this as an indication that the available text of
Tabari was defective. It is, however, somewhat unusual for Tabari to reflect on
contemporary events in this manner. Possibly, (Arib’s reference to Tabari here is an
oversight, or it goes back to another source, and not the History. Ibn Taghribirdi,
Nujiam, 111, 165, 11. 5-9, credits Tabari with the remark, made at the time, that the
revolt of Ibn al-Mu‘tazz was doomed to failure. He did, however, not suggest that this
remark occurred in the History.
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On Saturday, Rabi‘ I 26, 296 (Friday, December 23, 908), snow
fell in Baghdad from early morning to the time®! of the afternoon
prayer. There was an accumulation of about four fingers (about
nine cm or almost four inches) in the houses22 and on the roofs.
Nothing like it had reportedly ever been seen in Baghdad.

On Monday, Rabi‘ I 28, 296 (Sunday, December 25, 908), the
gadi *Abi ‘Umar* Muhammad b. Yasuf, Muhammad b. ‘Amra-
wayh, Abii al-Muthanna, Ibn al-Jassas, and al-Azraq, the secretary
of the army, and a number of others were handed over to Mu'nis
al-Khazin. He let Abu al-Muthanna stay in the Caliph’s palace
and transferred the others to his own residence. Some ransomed
themselves, while others were killed. Still others had someone
intercede for them and were released.

In this year, a battle was fought betwen Tahir b. Muhammad
b.‘Amr b. al-Layth and Subkara,?3 the page of ‘Amr b. al-Layth.
Subkara took Tahir captive and sent him as well as his brother
Ya'qiib b. Muhammad? to the central authorities in Baghdad. / /

In this year, al-Qasim b. Sima was sent in pursuit of Husayn b.
Hamdan b. Hamdun together with a number of officers and
troops. In pursuing him, he went as far as Qirqisiya, al-Rahbah,
and al-Daliyah. He wrote to al-Husayn's brother, ‘Abdallah b.
Hamdan b. Hamdin, asking him to search for his brother.
‘Abdallah and al-Husayn met in battle at a place called al-A‘ma%25
between Takrit and al-Sawdaganiyyah on the western bank of the
Tigris. ‘Abdallah was routed, and al-Husayn contacted (the central
authorities) seeking a guarantee of safe-conduct. This was granted
to him. On Jumada II 22, 296 (March 18, 909), al-Husayn b.
Hamdan arrived in Baghdad and took up residence at Bab Harb.92

921 Text: qadr; R: wagqt.

922 Scil., in the courtyards and gardens of the larger houses.

923 The manuscripts here always add the definite article to the name.

924 Both Tahir and Ya‘qiib were brought to Baghdad in the following year. They are
mentioned as having received robes of honor in 310 (922-3). See ‘Arib, 8, 29; Eclipse,
1, 16, 83. See also the pedigree in Zambaur, 201.

925 No further information seems to be available for al-A‘ma and al-Sawdaqaniyah
{form uncertain).

926 See Lassner, Topography, 278.
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"The next morning! he went to the Caliph's palace. A robe of
honor was bestowed upon him, and he was appointed governor of
Qumm and Qashan.

On Jumada II 23, 296 (March 19, 909), a robe of honor was
bestowed upon Ibn Dulayl al-Nasrani,%7 the secretary and
emissary of Ytisuf b. Abi al-Saj. "Yasuf b. Abi al-Saj himself was
officially appointed governor ! of al-Maraghah and Adharbayjan.
Robes of honor were sent to him, and he was ordered to proceed to
the region under his jurisdiction.

On Sha‘ban 15, 296 (May 9, 909), a robe of honor was bestowed
upon Mu'nis al-Khadim, and he was ordered to go to Tarsiis for
the summer campaign. Mobilized for this purpose, he left with a
considerable force and a number of officers, chamber pages, *and
troops.*

Leading the pilgrimage in this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
Fal-Hashimi 7.

927 There is no further information available for him. See Canard, Sources arabes, 21f.
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Events of the Year

297

(SEPTEMBER 20, 909 - SEPTEMBER 8, 910)

@

One of the events was the summer campaign in Byzantine
territory undertaken by Mu'nis al-Khadim and a considerable
force from / / the border town of Malatyah. Mu'nis was accom-
panied by Abii al-Agharr al-Sulami. At the end of 296 (September
19, 909), he overpowered the Byzantines and took several non-
Muslims captive. The report on this event reached the central
authorities in Baghdad on al-Muharram 6, 297 (September 25,
909).928

In this year, al-Layth b. ‘Ali b. al-Layth "al-Saffar ! came with
an army to Fars and seized power there driving out Subkara. This
was after the central authorities had appointed Subkara governor,
subsequent to his sending Tahir b. Muhammad to them as a
captive.929 Al-Mugqtadir ordered Mu'nis al-Khadim to go to Fars
in order to fight al-Layth b. ‘Ali. Mu'nis went there in Ramadan,
297 (May 14-June 12, 910).

TAlso! in this year, in Shawwal (June 13-July 11, 910), al-
Mugtadir sent al-Qasim b. Sima with a large body of troops on
the summer campaign in Byzantine territory.930

In this year, a battle took place between Mu'nis al-Khadim and
al-Layth b. ‘Ali b. al-Layth. Al-Layth was routed and later taken
prisoner. A large number of his men were killed. Many others

928 See Canard, Sources arabes, 22.
929 See above, n. 924.
930 See Canard, Sources arabes, 22.
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applied to Mu'nis for guarantees of safe-conduct. The government
forces then entered al-Nubandajan where al-Layth93! had seized
power.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
[2286] Tb. ‘Abdallah b. ‘Ubaydallah b. al-‘Abbas b. Mubhammad®. / /

931 R: “the central authorities,”
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298

(sEPTEMBER 9, 910 - AUGUST 28, 911)

@

One of the events was al-Qasim b. Sma'’s summer campaign in
Byzantine territory.

In this year, al-Mugqtadir sent Wasif Kaimah al-Daylami with
an army and a number of officers *to Fars* to fight Subkara, the
page of ‘Amr b. al-Layth.

Fin this year, a battle took place between Subkara 'and Wasif
Kamah, in which Wasif routed Subkara driving him out of the
region under his jurisdiction in Fars. Wasif and his men then
entered Fars. A MargeTnumber of Subkara’s men applied to Wasif
for guarantees of safe-conduct; Subkara’s commander-in-chief
who was known as al-Qattal?32 was taken captive. Subkara fled
with his money and stores to Ahmad b. Ismail "b. Ahmadl.
Ahmad seized him and everything he had with him, and then
arrested and incarcerated him.

In this year, a battle took place between Ahmad b. Isma‘il b.
TAhmad and al-Muhammad b.7 ‘Ali b. al-Layth93 in the re-
gion of Bust and al-Rukhkhaj. Ahmad b. Isma‘il took Muham-
mad captive.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik.

932 Al-Qattal is first mentioned sub anno 297 (909-10). See Eclipse, 1, 17f. He was
released from prison in 302 (914-5}, and he is mentioned once more in the following
year. See (Arib, 49, 57.

933 Another cousin of the father of Tahir and Ya‘qiib, he was released from prison in
302 (914-5). See ‘Arib, 49.



[2287]

The
Events of the Year

299

(aucusT 29, 911 - AuGUST 17, 912)

?

One of the events was the summer campaign undertaken from
the region of Tarstis by Rustum b. Bardu who was in charge of
the border region 'for Bunayy b. Nafis.9 He was accompanied by
Damyanah.’ Rustum laid siege // to the fortress of Malih
al-Armani.? He then left it and burned the suburbs of Dha
al-Kila‘.936

In this year, a messenger of Ahmad b. Isma‘il 'b. Ahmad!
brought a letter from Ahmad to the central authorities in Baghdad.
In it, Ahmad reported that he had conquered Sijistan and that his
men had entered (the province) and driven out al-Saffar's men.
Al-Mu‘addal b. Ali b. al-Layth?7 had come to him with those of
his men who were with him to seek a guarantee of safe-conduct.
At the time, al-Mu‘addal was staying in Zaranj, and he went to
Ahmad b. Isma‘il who was staying in Bust and al-Rukhkhaj. Ibn
Isma‘il sent him and his family and those with him to Harat. The
distance between Sijistan and Bust and al-Rukhkhaj was sixty
farsakhs (360 km). The mail pouch with the report on this event
reached the central authorities in Baghdad on Monday, Safar
10, 299 (Monday, October 7, 911).

934 Bunayy b. Nafis first appears in the sources sub anno 296 (Eclipse, 1, 12). He is
mentioned as having been a son-in-law of the Stewardness Fatimah whose funeral
he attended in 298 (Hamadhani, Takmilah, 9; Eclipse, 1, 20). He appears again in 311
and 316-7 (‘Arib, 111, 143; Eclipse, 1, 105, 183, 192; Hamadhani, Takmilah, 59) and,
for the last time, in 320 (932) {‘Arib, 172). See also $abi’, Wuzara’, and Canard,
Sources arabes, 153.

935 Nothing is heard of Malih al-Armani after the defeat he suffered in 318 (930) (or
the following year, see Canard, Sources arabes, 153). See {Arib, 36, 146; Canard,
Sources arabes, 22, 61, and Vasiliev, 11, index.

9% R: “Dhii al-Kula'" See Honigmann, Ostgrenze, 67; Mas'udi, Tanbih, 178.

937 See Zambaur, 200f., who vocalizes al-Mu‘addil. The information found in the
Ta’rikh-e Sistan is essentially the same as that in Tabari (information provided by E.
Yarshater).
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Mn this year, al-‘Utayr, one of Zikrawayh's men, arrived in
Baghdad to seek a guarantee of safe-conduct. He was accompa-

nied by al-Agharr,938 another of Zikrawayh's officers. 1

On Dha al-Hijjah 4, 299 {July 22, 912), ‘Ali b. Muhammad b.
al-Furat®® fell out of favor. He was detained, and his"housesand
lthe houses of ! his people were sequestered. All of his and their
possessions which were found were seized, and his houses and
those of the sons of his brothers?0 and their families®! were
looted. Muhammad b. ‘Ubaydallah "b. Yahya 1b. Khagan%2 was
appointed wazir.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik. / /

938 No further information seems to exist for him.

939 His dates are 242-312 (855-924). For his brother, see above, n. 415.

940 (Ali's prominent brothers were Ahmad and Ja‘far, but this does not mean that the
dual akhawayhi should be read here. Only a few of the presumably numerous
nephews are listed in Sourdel, Vizirat, 747.

941 R: “his family”

%42 D, 312 (924-5). See ER, s. v. Ibn Khakan (3).
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(AucusT 18,912 - AuGUST 6, 913)

?

One of the events was the arrival in Baghdad of a messenger
from the official in charge of Barqah with a report concerning a
rebel who had come out against him.93 Bargah belongs to the
administrative region of Egypt, extending four farsakhs west94 of
it and beyond that to the administrative region of the Maghrib.
He had overpowered the rebel’s army and killed a number of his
men. The messenger had with him strings with the ears and
noses of those killed, as well as several of the rebel’s banners.

In this year, the people of Baghdad suffered from many illnesses
and diseases. Dogs and wolves had reportedly contracted rabies5
and sought out humans, horses, and cattle. When they bit a man,
it caused his death.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik
lal-Hashimi. !

943 “Rebel (khariji)’—a term used also with reference to the Qarmatians in the
Yemen —refers here to the Northwest African Fatimids of ‘Ubaydallah al-Mahdi,
whose son led the expedition against Barqah. See also the events reported in the
following years and, below, n. 971.

944 Lit,, “behind " According to this statement, the province of Barqah began twenty-
four km beyond the borders of Egypt and extended vaguely west.

945 RC: kanat, which is erroneous. The words used for animals probably included a
wider range than is indicated in the translation.
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301

(aucusT 7, 913 - JuLy 26, 914)

@

One of the events was al-Mugqtadir's dismissal of Muhammad
b. ‘Ubaydallah from the wazirate. Al-Muqtadir incarcerated him
as well as his sons ‘Abdallah and ‘Abd-al-Wahid9%% and appointed
‘Ali b. Isa b. Dawiid b. al-Jarrah as his wazir.

In this year, Ttoo, ! there was much pestilence in Baghdad,
including a type that was called hnyn, // and another called
mas(h)ira.5 The former was benign, but the latter was a lethal
plague.

In this year, a man reportedly known as Abu Muhammad
al-Hallaj, 98 a prestidigitator, was brought into the house of the

946 Muhammad was dismissed on al-Muharram 10 (August 16) {Safadi, Wafi, X1, 95,
11. 7£.). His son ‘Abdallah was wazir for a little over a year in 312-3 (924-5). He died
in 314 (926-7). See Sourdel, Vizirat, 433ff., and ER, s. v. lbn Khakan (4). Sabi,
Wuzara', 284f., 302, 306, has some more details about what happened to ‘Abdallah
and ‘Abd al-Wihid when their father was appointed and when he was deposed. {Abd
al-Wahid was reportedly released on Thursday night, Jumada 11 9, 301 {January 10,
914), a Monday (!). ‘Abdallah, was released on Friday, Shawwal 1, 301 (Saturday,
April 30, 914).

%47 For hnyn, see Tabari, Introductio etc., CCV. It is hardly to be corrected to
khunan “rheum,” known in particular as a disease of camels.

For masira (or, as in R: mashira), see Tabari, Introductio etc., CDLXXIX, where
reference is made to Syriac mashra (see Brockelmann, Lex. Syr2, 408a) which trans-
lates Greek erysipelas.

948 This passage was translated and discussed by Massignon, Passion?, 1, 504f. In view

of the importance which al-Hallaj was to assume shortly afterwards, this earliest
testimony has particular significance. Massignon seems to be right in his assumption
that its author was indeed Tabari and that it is not a later interpolation. See above,
Foreword, xvii f.

Al-Hallaj was seen by Tabari, and no doubt by most of the religious and political
leadership in Baghdad at the time, as a fanatic and troublemaker. When he gained
support among men highly placed in the government, his Rasputin-like influence
was considered more and more dangerous. The sad fate he suffered was thus hardly
due to religious intolerance; it resulted from the struggle of the government to
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wazir ‘Ali b. Is3, accompanied by a companion.%# I have heard a
number of people express the opinion90 that he claimed divine
lordship.95! He and his companion were hung for three days from
the beginning of each day until midday. They were then taken
down and remanded to prison.

THe%52 remained in prison for a long time. A number of people,
among them Nasr al-Qushuri, were seduced by him. Eventually,
people became unruly and cursed those who were finding fault
with him, and his hands and feet were cut off. Following that, he
was decapitated and cremated. !

In this year, al-Husayn b. Hamdan "b. Hamdiin' undertook
the summer campaign. A dispatch arrived at Baghdad from
Tarstus which indicated that he had conquered many fortresses
and killed a large number of Byzantines.953

In this year, Ahmad b. Isma‘il b. Ahmad, "the master of Khurasin
and Transoxania, ' was killed by the most intimate of his Turkish
pages. This page and two other pages with him entered Ahmad’s
tent and murdered him. Then they fled and were never caught.

maintain its position in view of the numerous agitators working against it. For a
contemporary, the affair of al-Hallaj was but one of many similar problems, and did
not loom large in comparison with the Qarmatians, the Fatimids, even the pro-
Umayyads. Once al-Halldj was dead, opinion could, and did, change rapidly.
Massignon was inclined to believe that “Abli Mas‘'tid,” as a patronymic of al-Hallaj

not usually used for him, was the original reading of musha'widh, “prestidigitator,
conjurer” He was right, however, to hesitate with this view (see Passion?, 1, 504},
“Abl Mas'id” appears to be an attempt by later generations to soften the harsh but
common epithet. Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg, VIIl, 57, for instance, appears to
indicate this when he says, “as some have said, he was a musha‘widh, while others
have said that he was dealing with supernatural verity (sahib haqiqah).

949 See Massignon, Passion?, 1, 513, for a discussion of the reports on al-Hallaj's first
encounter with the law. The man with al-Hallaj was al-Karnaba‘i. See Passion?, 1,
513, and the mostly speculative references to that individual listed in Passion?,
index, IV, 214b.

950 R: man yadhkuru “mention

951 See the interesting speculations on the implications of this supposed claim to
divinity in Massignon, Passion?, I, 342ff.

952 The passage referring to the year 309 {922) when al-Hallaj was executed is found
only in C. See above, Foreword, xvii f.

953 See Canard, Sources arabes, 22f.
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In this year, discord broke out between Nasr b. Ahmad b.
Isma‘il b. Ahmad9+4 and the paternal uncle of his father, Ishaq b.
Ahmad.95 The pages, / / civilian officials, and a number of officers
of Ahmad b. Isma‘il were with Nasr as were his father's money,
horses, and weapons. After his father was killed, Nasr fled to
Bukhara, while Ishaq b. Ahmad was in Samargand sick with an
attack of podagra. (The latter) called upon the people in Samar-
qand to give the oath of allegiance to him as their leader. Both
Nasr and Ishaq sent letters to the central authorities in Baghdad
claiming control over the region (previously) under the juris-
diction of Isma‘il b. Ahmad.?% Ishaq reportedly dispatched his
letters to ‘Imran al-Marzubani®¥ for delivery to the central
authorities, while Nagr b. Ahmad . Isma‘il? similarly dis-
patched his letters to Hammad b. Ahmad.8 Both ‘Imran and
Hammad did what (they were asked to do).

On Sha‘ban 15, 301 (March 16, 914), a battle took place between
Nasr b. "Ahmad b. 1 Isma‘il and his Bukharis and Ishiq b. Ahmad,
the paternal uncle of his father, and his 'Samarqandis?. "Nasr
and his men routed Ishaq and the Samarqandis! and the men of
those regions that had attached themselves to them. They dis-
persed and fled leaving Ishiq. This battle between them took
place at the gate of Bukhara. After the Bukharis routed Ishaq b.
Ahmad and his men, they advanced on the Samargandis, and
another battle took place between them, in which the Bukharis
again overpowered the Samarqandis, routing them and causing a
bloodbath among them. The Bukharis now forced their way into
Samarqand and took Ishag b. Ahmad captive. They appointed a

954 Nagr d. 329 (940-1). See Hamadhani, Takmilah, 120;Eclipse, 11, 7.

955 Ishdq’s capture is reported by Hamadhani, Takmilah, sub anno 302. See Zambaur,
202f.

956 R: “Ahmad b. Isma‘il,” which is an error.

957 Possibly, the Marzubani who is mentioned by Ibn al-Athir sub anno 287 as the
representative of Isma‘il b. Ahmad in the capital. It may be noted that the father of
the famous littérateur al- Marzubam who was born around this time was called
(Imran (b. Miisi), but it does not seem possible to connect him with the above-
mentioned individual. R: “Ibn al-Marzuban,"” but again, it is not possible to connect
him with the individual mentioned by Mas'Gdi, Muriij, VIII, 267, ed. Pellat, V, 201.

9581 have not succeeded in finding additional information about him.
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son of ‘Amr b. Nasr b. Ahmad9? to take over his administrative
duties *in Samarqgand.* / /

In this year, Ibn al-Basri's®0 Maghribis entered Barqah, and
the official appointed by the central authorities was driven out.

Abtu Bakr Muhammad b. ‘Ali b. Ahmad b. Abi Zunbir al-
Madhara'i%! was appointed to take charge of the administra-
tion and land tax of Egypt.

In this year, Abii Sa‘id al-Jannabi, the (Qarmatian) rebel in the
region of al-Bahrayn and Hajar, was killed, reportedly by one of
his eunuchs.

In this year, there were many illnesses and diseases in Baghdad
causing great mortality among the city’s inhabitants. Most of this
reportedly took place in al-Harbiyyah%2 and among the people of
the suburbs.

In this year, an officer®3 of Ibn al-Basri arrived in Alexandria
with Berbers and Maghribis. In this year, too, a dispatch from

959 If this son of ‘Amr (RB: “‘Umar”) was a grandson of the above-mentioned Nasr b.
Ahmad, he must have been very young at best. If he was a grandson of the elder Nasr
b. Ahmad, the brother of Isma‘il, his relationship to the younger Nasr b. Ahmad
would have been that of a third cousin.

90 That is, the Fatimid ‘Ubaydallah. According to Fatimid sources, the official,
Ahmad b. Salih, fled. The Fatimid troops entered Barqah on Rajab 7, 301 (February
6, 914). A relief attempt later in the year, under Ahmad b. §alih, was frustrated.

%1 D. 345 {957). See Gottschalk, Die Madara’ijjun, 79-116. RB: “Akhi Zunbtr”

%2 Northwest of the Round City, See Lassner, Topography, 68, 254, n. 26.

963 That is, Habasah. According to Fatimid sources, Habasah and his men did not
enter Alexandria before 302. See below, no. 972.
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Takin,%* the governor of the central authorities, arrived in Baghdad
from Egypt, asking for reinforcements.

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik.

964 Takin al-Khagsah AbG Mangsiir Takin b. (Abdallah al-Harbi al-Khazari, a mawla
of al-Mu'tadid, grew up during al-Mu‘tadid's reign and became an officer (see also
above, n.1307). He was first appointed governor of Egypt as the successor of sa
al-Niishari near the end of 297 (August, 910) (‘Arib, 34; Ibn al-Athir). His request
for reinforcements was an unpleasant surprise for al-Muqtadir and his advisers,
since they had not taken the Fatimid threat seriously earlier (‘Arib, 51). Takin's
first term as governor of Egypt came to an end on Thursday, Dhii al-Qa‘dah 14,
303 (Thursday, May 31, 915). He was reappointed in the fall of 307 (919). He
remained in office until Sunday, Rabi 1 13, 309 (Sunday, July 22, 921), ahd was
reinstated for a few turbulent days later that month. His longest tenure was the last
one which began at the turn of the years 311 and 312 (March-April 924}, and
ended with his death on Saturday, Rabi' I 16, 321 (Saturday, March 16, 933). See, for
instance, Hamadhani, Takmilah, 75; Kindi, Wulah, 281; Eclipse, I, 258; Safadi, Wafi
X, 386; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujam, I, 171-73, 195-97, 200, 210-37; Bacharach, “The
career of ...al-1khshid," 5894f.
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302

(rury 27, 914 - jury 16, 915)

Q@

One of the events was the dispatch of Ibn ‘Abd al-Baqi%5 with
two thousand horsemen to Tarsiis for the summer campaign.
The wazir ‘Ali b. 1sa sent him there to support Bishr,%6 the
eunuch of Ibn Abi al-S3j, who was governor of Tarsiis on behalf
of the central authorities. They were unable to go on the summer
campaign but undertook a winter campaign in severe cold and
snow.%7 / /

In this year, the ‘Alid al-Hasan b. ‘Ali al-Utrish%8 seized power
in Tabaristin and then moved from Amul to S(h)alis.%9 While
he was staying there, Su‘liik,%70 the master of al-Rayy, sent an
army against him. It was, however, unable to hold its own [in
S(h)aliis}, and al-Hasan b. ‘Ali returned. "People had never seen

965 Aba {Umayr ‘Ad1 b. Ahmad b. (Abd al-Bagqi, the master of Adana, was removed
by al-Mu‘tadid in 288 (901) {Mas‘udi, Muruj, VIIi, 198, ed. Pellat, V, 168) but soon
again became the leading personality in the border region. He continued to play this
role beyond 334-5 (945-6), when Mas'iidi was finishing his Murij (11, 318, ed. Pellat,
11, 44). See Canard, Sources arabes, 37f., 42, 69, 78, 407. See also above, n. 178.

966 See above, n. 788.

97 See Canard, Sources arabes, 23, for this passage and the later one reporting the
results of the campaign.

968 The Zaydi ruler al-Utriish died in 304 (917). According to Zambaur, table D, n. 4,
his Husaynid pedigree was Hasan b. {Al1 b. Hasan b. ‘Al1 b. ‘Umar (the brother of the
imam Zayd) b. ‘Ali Zayn al-‘Abidin. See lbn Khaldin, Mugqaddimah, trans.
Rosenthal, I, 363.

99 The main entry in Yaqut is Shalts, while the geographical coordinates are given
under Silis (Mu'jam, 111, 237 and 13}. Yaqit indicates the distance between Amul
(Tabari’s native city) and Shalus as twenty farsakhs (120 km).

970 Miskawayh, Tajarib, V, 102 (=Eclipse, 1, 36}, has Akha $u'liik; ‘Arib, 51, 11. if.,
speaks of Ahmad b. ‘Al7 known as Su'liik. Here apparently Akhi Su‘lik Ahmad b.
(All is meant; he is often referred to as Akhu Su‘luk. He was killed by Yisuf b. Abx
al-S3j in 311 (924). See Hamadhani, Takmilah, 43, referring to Ahmad b. Su‘lik;
Eclipse, 1 117; Sabi’, Wuzara', 55f. His brother seems to have been Muhammad b. (Al
Sullik (or b. Su'lk). See Eclipse, I, 39 (where Muhammad is described as a cousin of
the ruler of Khurasan) and 45.
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anything like al-Utruish’s justice, his exemplary way of life, and
the way he established truth. %71

In this year, Ibn al-Basri’'s man Habasah9”2 entered Alexandria
and seized power. He reportedly arrived there by sea in two hundred
ships.

In this year, Habasah, Mbn al-Basri's man, ! arrived at a place
called Saft,%73 a day’'s journey from al-Fustat. He later fell back
and withdrew,97¢ encamping between al-Fustat and Alexandria.

In this year, Mu'nis al-Khadim went to Egypt to fight Habasah.
He was well equipped with men, weapons, and money.

On Jumada I 23, 302 (December 14, 914}, al-Husayn b. ‘Abdallah,
who was known as Ibn al-Jassas, was arrested with his two
sons, %5 and all their property was confiscated. He was put in
fetters and incarcerated.

On Jumada I 24, 302 (December 15, 914), a battle took place Fin
Egypt ' between the government forces and Habasah and his men.

971 “Established truth” seems here to reflect a Shi'ite notion. The sentence, found in
C and Ibn al-Athir, may have been intentionally omitted by the scribe of the
prototype of RB. If Tabari in fact used it, it was probably an expression of local pride.
He would hardly have endorsed a Shiite pretender in such glowing terms for any
other reason.

972 His name is Habasah b. Yusuf (al-‘Uyiin wa-al-hadd’iq, ed. Dawid, I, 257;
Stern, Studies, 111). The Fatimid troops entered Alexandria on Safar 2, 302 (August
27, 914}, see Stern, Studies, 112. Some vacillation is shown in the sources with
respect to the vocalization of the name (see, for instance, Dhahabi, Mushtabih, 208
and n. 4; Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujiim, 111, 172, n. 4). Ibn al-Athir, Kamil, ed. Tornberg,
VIII, 67, and Magqrizi, Itti‘az , 42, state that he was killed by (Ubaydallah al-Mahdi
soon after his return from Egypt, while Ibn Taghribirdi, Nujum, 111, 184, says that he
was killed during the infighting mentioned below. Cf. also Dhahabi, Duwal, 1, 134.
All this seems mere speculation, even if it is very likely. The Fatimid sources
published by Stern, Studies, 112, 1. 9f.,, and 114, 11. 11 ff., do not fully solve the
problem of Habasah's fate, but they provide another clue by referring to his friction
with al-Qa'im, al-Mahd's son. ‘Arib, 68, refers sub anno 305 to what appears to have
been the events of 301 and 302, presumably confusing two different Fatimid attacks
on Egypt. Cf., further, Eutychius, Annales, text, 79f.

973 Or: “a way station called Saft” Cf. Yaqit, Mu'jam, 111, 97.

974 The text does not make it clear whether Habasah turned south after leaving Saft,
or north toward Alexandria. The latter appears to be more likely.
975R: “four of his children.” A son called Abu ‘Ali Ahmad b. Abi ‘Abdallah
al-Husayn appears in Tanukhi, Nishwar, 1, 29 (=ed. Margoliouth, Table-Talk, 18);
Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI, 211. See also Rosenthal, Humor, 13, n. 2. Hamadhani,
Takmilah, 15, has more details about the incident, but he does not mention the
names of the sons.
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A number of men on both sides were killed or wounded. One day
later, another battle took place with about the same results. Then
Min Jumada 11, 302 (December 22, 914-January 19, 915), 7 a third
battle took place. On Jumada II 15, 302 (January 5, 915), a dispatch
arrived at Baghdad with the news that a battle had taken place / /
between the government forces and the Maghribis, in which the
latter were routed.

In this year, a dispatch from Bishr, the official in charge of
Tarsiis on behalf of the central authorities, reached Mthe central
authorities in' Baghdad. In it, Bishr mentioned his campaign in
Byzantine territory. He mentioned the fortresses he had conquered
there, the booty he had made, and the captives he had taken. He
had also taken one hundred and fifty Patrikioi captive, and the
total number of those captured was about two thousand.

FOn Rajab 19, 302 (February 7,915), 1a report arrived at Baghdad
from Egypt with news that the government forces had met Habasah
and the Maghribis in battle and that the Maghribis had suffered
defeat. Seven thousand of them were either killed or taken captive;
the rest fled in disarray. 'The battle had taken place on Thursday,
Jumada II 29, 302 (Thursday, January 19, 915).7

In this year, Habasah and the Maghribis with him departed
from Alexandria to return to the Maghrib. Before that, Habasah
had reportedly discussed guarantees of safe-conduct with the
representative of the central authorities in Egypt and letters Thad
been exchanged between thend. Habasah's departure was report-
edly caused by a disagreement that had arisen among his men at
the place from which he had come.976

In this year, Yanis al-Khadim977 attacked the Arab tribesmen in
the region of Wadi al-Dhi’ab and its environs. He caused a
bloodbath, reportedly killing seven thousand of them. He looted
their tents and found an uncountable amount of money and

976 This seems to mean that dissension broke out among Habasah's officers at his
home base in Ifrigiyah.

977 R: “Mu'nis,"” clearly a mistake. For Wadi al-Dhi'ib, see above, n. 41. Ibn al-Athir
adds that the bedouins belonged to the Bani Shayban



The Events of the Year 302

goods belonging to merchants who had been waylaid and robbed
by them.

On Dh al-Hijjah 6, 302 (June 22, 915), Bid‘ah, the mawlah of
* Arib, the mawlah of* al-Ma'mun, died.78 / / '

Leading the pilgrimage this year was al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik.

On Dhu al-Hijjah 22,979 902 (July 6, 915), the Arab tribesmen
went out from al-Hajir, %0 three farsakhs (eighteen km) from the
desert, against the pilgrims returning from Mecca.%8! They waylaid
them and seized all their cash *and whatever goods they wanted.*
They also drove away all their camels "that they wanted! and
reportedly seized’82 two hundred and eighty free women, not
counting the male and female slaves seized.

978 Cf. {Arib, 54; Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, V1, 129; Safadi, Wafi, X, 99; Stigelbauer,
Sdngerinnen, 18-31, 49-53. Bid‘ah was so successful in her profession as an enter-
tainer that she left a large fortune. She retained great artistic ability to the end of her
life. See Sabi', Wuzara’, 215. (Arib, 54, speaks of her living unmarried for sixty years.
This may mean that she died sixty years old, or rather, that she lived for sixty years
after puberty. Her mentor, the famous songstress (Arib {often vocalized (Urayb) is
said to have lived from 181 (797-8) to 277 (890-1) (see the editor's footnote in
Tantkhi, Nishwar, 1, 270f., ed. Margoliouth, Table-Talk, 131ff.), so that there was
plenty of time for Bid‘ah, her client {(mawlah), to have worked with her, regardless of
the date of her birth. For another reference to Bid‘ah in Tanukhi, see Nishwir, 1, 89
(which has the correct text as against ed. Margoliouth, Table-Talk. 50). Bid‘ah was
in contact with Ibrahim b. al-Mudabbir on behalf of ‘Arib. See Aghani, XIX, 125f.,
Aghani3, XXII, 181-83.

1t is worth noting that this trivial item in fact concludes a majestic work that
deals with events that are among the greatest in world history.
979 The date is given here according to the days of the month, but R indicates the
number of nights remaining to the end of the month. Ibn al-Jawzi, Muntazam, VI,
128, introduces the episode with a reference to the ‘Alid who attacked the pilgrims in
conjunction with the Bana Salih b. Mudrik al-Ta'1. See also Madelung, “Fatimiden
und Bahraingarmaten,” 48.
980 See text above, 11, 288.
981 R: “Mecca Road.;
982 R: min al-nisa’, supplying the words missing in the edition.
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The index contains all proper names of persons, places, tribal and other
groups, as well as topographical data, occurring in the introduction,
the text, and the footnotes. However, as far as the footnotes are con-
cerned, only those names that belong to the medieval or earlier periods
are listed.

The definite article, the abbreviation b. (for ibn, son} and bt. (for
bint, daughter), and everything in parentheses are disregarded for the
purposes of alphabetization. Where a name occurs in both the text and

the footnotes on the same page, only the page number is given.

A

al-‘Abbas (b. ‘Abd al-Muttalib)
52

al-‘Abbas b. Ahmad b.Tdlin
142 n. 696

al-‘Abbas b. ‘Amr al-Ghanawi
78,79, 83, 86-88, 106, 139 n. 682

al-‘Abbas b. al-Hasan b. Ayyub
(al-wazir) 72n.370, 149, 170,
175 n. 850, 176, 177, 189, 190

al-‘Abbas b. Muhammad b. ‘Ali
{(al-Hashimi) 117 n. 589

al-‘Abbasah (bt. Ahmad b.
Tulun} 20 n. 107

(Abbasid(s), Hashimite(s) xiv,
7 n. 39, 51 n. 266, 57 n. 299,
58 n. 305, 60 n. 314, 76 n. 390,
104 n. 520, 122, 124, 136 n. 658

‘Abdallah b. al-‘Abbas 55 n. 288

‘Abdallah b. Ahmad b. Ibrahim,
see Ibn Hamdun al-Nadim

‘Abdallah b. Ahmad b. Hanbal
47 n. 245

‘Abdallah b. Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. Isma‘l b. Ja'far
116

(Abdallah b. Dawud
(al-Hashimi) 69 n. 357

‘Abdallah b. al-Fath 74, 76, 95,
118

‘Abdallah Ghulam Nun 120

‘Abdallah b. Hamdan b.
Hamdiin, Abu al-Hayja' 15
n. 87, 139, 184 n. 898, 191

‘Abdallah b. al-Haytham b.
‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tamir
(al-Mu‘ammar) 84

‘Abdallah b. al-Husayn (al-
Hamadhani) 9

‘Abdallah b. Ibrahim al-Misma‘i
183, 184

(Abdallih b. Ibrahim b.
Muhammad b. Mukram, see
Ibn Mukram

(Abdallah b. 1sa b. Mihrawayh
al-Muddaththir, see al-
Muddaththir

‘Abdallah b. Kinanah (Banu)
114 n. 565

‘Abdallah b. Mansur al-Katib
184 n. 895

‘Abdallah b. Muhammad b.
Isma‘il b. Ja'far 114

‘Abdallah b. Muhammad b.
‘Ubaydallah b. Yahya b.
Khagan 199

‘Abdallah b. al-Muhtadi, see
Ibn al-Muhtadi

‘Abdallah b. al-Mu‘tazz, see
Ibn al-Mu‘tazz

‘Abdallah b. Sa'id, Abu Ghanim
Nasr, see Nasr
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‘Abdallah b. al-Ziba'ra,
al-Ziba‘ra

‘Abdallah b. al-Zubayr 54 n.
286

‘Abd al-Hamid b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz,
Abi Khazim (Hazim), see
Abu Khazim

‘Abd Manaf (Banu) 53

‘Abd al-Wahid b. Muhammad b.
‘Ubaydallah b. Yahya b.
Khaqan 199

‘Abd al-Wahid b. al-Muwaffaq
112

‘Abdus (physician)

Abhar 14

Abriin (brother of Kayghalagh)
104

Abii ‘Abdallah al-Hasani 24

Abi ‘Abdallah b. Muhammad b.
Isma‘il b. Ja'far 114

Abi al-‘Adhab 137, 141

Abi ‘Adnan, see Rabi‘ah b.
Muhammad

Abu al-Agharr Khalifah b. al-
Mubarak al-Sulami 13, 81,
82,90, 113, 118, 127, 128, 138,
146, 193

Abi Ahmad b. al-Muktafi, see
Muhammad b. al-Muktafi

Abu al-‘Asha’ir Ahmad b. Nagr
al-‘Uqayli 119, 120, 153, 175

Abd al-‘Asha'ir Nasr (b. Ahmad
b. Tulun} 32n. 165

Abu al-Baghl 141 i

Abi Dulaf (al-Qasim b. ‘Isa) al-
9ili 9 n. 52, 38 n. 206, 67

Abu al-Fadl (b. Zikrawayh) 135

Abi Hafs 37

Abu al-Hasan (Baghdadi
physician) 123, 126

Abu Hashim b. Sadaqah al-Katib
66

Abi al-Hayja', see ‘Abdallah b.
Hamdan b. Hamdin

Abt Hayyan al-Tawhidi 6 n. 33

see Ibn

101 n. 512

Abi Hazim, see Abu Khizim

Abt al-Himl (al-Jamal) 137,
141

Abu al-Hty 137

Abd Ja'far, see al-Tabari

Abi Ja'far Muhammad b. Hariin
(al-Hashimi) 98 n. 495

Abi al-Jarrah al-‘Ullays1 137

Abi al-Karadis b. Ahmad b.
Tulun 20n. 107

Abu Khazim (Hazim) ‘Abd al-
Hamid b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz
(al-qad1) 29 n. 150, 100, 101,
107, 108, 111, 119

Abu Khubzah 135

Abu Layla, see al-Harith b,
‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi Dulaf

Abu Ma‘add {Ma‘dan, al-Dabbi)
97 n. 490, 148. See also Nizar
b. Muhammad

Abi Muhammad, see Isma‘l b.
al-Nu‘man; al-Muktafi;
al-Qasim b. Ahmad b. ‘Al

Abu Miisa al-Ash‘ari 179 n. 871

Abi al-Musafir (Fath b.
Muhammad b. Abi al-Saj) 75

Abu al-Muthanna, see Ahmad
b. Ya‘qub

Abu Nasr 37 n. 198

Abu (al-)Qabas (al-Khurasani)
156, 157

Abi al-Rijal b. Abi Bakkar
151, 153

Abu Sa‘id al-Jannabi xviii, 77,
83, 86-88, 98, 128, 167 n. 812,
202

Abu Said al-Khuwiarizmi 119,
120

Abu al-Saj (Dewdad), see
Déwdad (Abu al-Saj)

Abu Shikal 170

Abu Sufyan b. Harb  52-54, 55
n. 288, 57, 58 n. 303, 62

Abi Tahir b. Abi Sa‘d al-
Jannabi 167 n. 812



Abu Talib 7, 166. See also
Talibites

Abu Thabit 83, 84

Abi ‘Umar, see Muhammad
b. Yusuf b. Ya'qub

Aba Yala al-‘Alawi 137

Adana 33 n. 178, 204 n. 965

Adharbayjan 72, 94, 97, 184,
192

Adhkutakin 78 n. 404

al-Adhkutakini, see Khafif

Adhri‘at 158

‘Adib. Ahmad b. ‘Abd al-Baqi
33 n. 178,204

Adtarbad 109

Afamiyah (Apamea)

Africa 3n. 14

Afshin, see Muhammad b. Abi
al-Saj

Aghani 207 n. 978

al-Agharr 197

Aghlabid(s} 184 n. 900

Ahmad (Banu) 60

Ahmad b. Abba, see
Muhammad b. Abba

Ahmad b. al-‘Abbas 86

Ahmad b. ‘Abdallah b.
Muhammad b. Isma'il b.
Ja'far, Abu al-‘Abbas
(=al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh)
116, 122

Ahmad b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi
Dulaf 4,5,9, 39

Ahmad b. ‘Ali b. al-Husayn
al-Hamadhani 175

Ahmad b. ‘Ali (Akhi) Su‘uk,
see Su‘lik

Ahmad b. al-Husayn b. ‘Abdallah
b. al-Jagsas 205 n. 975

Ahmad b. 1sa b. (al-)Shaykh 3,
8,73,87

Ahmad b. Isma‘l b. Ahmad
{Samanid) 163 n. 785, 183,
195, 196, 200, 201

131, 132

Index 221

Ahmad b. Kayghalagh 104 n.
523, 139 n. 677, 146, 156, 158,
159, 172, 180

Ahmad b. Khagan 170 n. 826

Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Abi
al-Asbagh, see Ibn Abi
al-Asbagh

Ahmad b. Muhammad b.
Ahmad, see Ibn al-Hazallaj

Abhmad b. Muhammad b.
al-Furat 1n.5,80,117 n. 862,
197 n. 939

Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Kush-
mard (Qushmard, Kumushjiur)
78, 135, 168 n. 816

Ahmad b. Muhammad al-Tan
14, 89, 99

Ahmad b. Muhammad b. Yahya
al-Wathiql 77, 82, 87, 143,
144

Ahmad b. Muhammad al-
Zaranji 78

Ahmad b. Nasr al-‘Uqayli, see
Abi al-‘Asha'ir Ahmad

Ahmad b. Salih 202 n. 960

Abhmad b. Sima 177 n. 857

Ahmad b. Sim‘%n 108

Ahmad b. al-Tayyib al-Sarakhsi
48, n. 247

Ahmad b. Thawr, see
Muhammad b. Thawr

Ahmad b. Tughin al-‘Ujayfi
11, 32-34, 41

Ahmad b. Tulun 23, 30 n. 159.
See also Tulunids

Ahmad b. al-Walid 132

Ahmad b. Ya‘qiib, Abii al-
Muthanna (al-qadi} 189, 191

Ahmadabadh 71

al-Ahwaz 35, 45, 94, 95, 105,
146 n. 708

al-Ajfur 70

‘Ajj (Uij) b. Hajj 78 n. 401, 96,
187
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Akhu Su‘luk, see Su‘luk

al-‘Alawi, see Muhammad b.
Zayd

Aleppo (Halab) 9, 107 n. 538,
118, 127, 128, 134, 164 n. 788,
182

Alexandria (al-Iskandariyyah)
153, 202, 205, 206

‘Ali (b. al-Mu‘tadid), see
al-Muktafi

(Al b. al-‘Abbas (al-Hashimi)
117 n. 589

‘Al1 b. al-‘Abbas al-Nahiki 178

‘Ali b. Abi Talib 7 n. 38, 24,
56,91, 114, 129, 130

‘Ali b. Ahmad al-Madhara7 32

‘Alib. al-A‘rabi 83

‘Ali b. al-Fadl 96 n. 487

‘Ali b. al-Fath al-Mutawwa/iq
185 n. 900

‘Ali b. ‘Isa b. Dawud b. al-Jarrah
80, 118, 199, 200, 204

‘Ali b. Muhammad b. Ab1
al-Shawirib, see Ibn Abi
al-Shawarib

‘Ali b. Muhammad b. al-Furit
1n.5,197

‘Al1 b. Muhammad b. al-Kayyis
48 n. 245

‘Ali b. al-Mu‘tadid, Aba
Muhammad, see al-Muktafi

‘Alid(s), Talibid(s) 7 n. 39, 25
n. 137,29, 57 n. 297, 64, 91 n.
462, 92, 96, 114 n. 565, 166 n.
800, 204, 207 n. 979. Shi‘ah,
Shi‘ites 104 n. 520, 205 n.

_ 971. See also Fatimid(s)

Alis (Halys, Alys, Kizil Irmak)
172

‘Allan b. Muhammad b.
Kushmard 168, 173, 174, 178

al-‘Alyanah 136

al-A‘ma 191

Amid 42n. 128,73,75-77, 170
n. 829

‘Amir b. ‘Isa al-Anqam 131

‘Ammar (b. Yasir) 56

‘Amr b. al-Hamiq 57

‘Amr b. al-Layth al-Saffar 2,
10, 29, 39-41, 44 n. 224, 64, 70,
77, 84-86, 91, 92, 95, 96 n. 482,
103, 104, 156, 170, 191, 195

‘Amr b. Nasr b. Ahmad

_ (Simanid) 202

Amul 204

‘Anah 135 n. 654

al-Anbar 78,79, 167

Andronikos {Patrikios) 151,
153, 180-182

‘Angd’ 131 n. 638

Antakiyah (Antioch) 91, 148 n.
715

Antaliyah (Antalya) 148

al-‘Aqabah (Birkat al-‘Agabah)
173 n. 837, 175, 176

‘Arafah 18 n. 101

‘Arib (‘Urayb, songstress) 207

‘Arib (historian) xv, xviii, xix,
and passim in the notes

al‘Arish 156

Armenia 12n. 69,72

Arrajan 95

Artah 91

Asad (Banu} 87, 113, 161, 174,
182

al-Asbagh (Banu), Agbaghites
115, 116, 158

Al-‘Ashirah, see al-‘Ushayrah

Ashnas (ghulam Isma‘l b.
Ahmad) 95

Astanah (Eustathios 7) 154

al-Atharib 91

‘Ayn al-Tamr 79, 161

‘Ayn Zarbah 89, 90

al-‘Ayni (historian) 14 n.78

al-Azdi (historian) 135 n. 654

al-Azraq, see Muhammad b.
Sa‘id
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B

Bab al-‘Ammah (Baghdad) 40
n. 213

Bab al-Anbar (Baghdad) 142

Bab Harb (Baghdad) 191

Bab al-Karkh (Baghdad} 150

Bab Kindah (al-Kufah) 163

Bab al-Muhawwal (Baghdad)
123

Bab al-Rusafah (Baghdad) 141

Bab al-Shammasiyyah (Baghdad)
29, 88, 90, 100, 127, 146, 169,
170, 181

Bab al-Taq (Baghdad) 43, 46,
141

Babylonia (Babil) 69

Badr (battle of) 52, 59

Badr (mawla al-Mu‘tadid), Abu
al-Najm 1, 23-25, 29 n. 150,
34-36, 38, 41, 64, 70, 82, 95, 96,
104-111, 113

Badr (ghulam al-Ta'1) 89,92,93

Badr b. Abi al-Agbagh 8n. 45

Badr al-AYjami 189

Badr al-Hammami 11, 115,
122, 128, 151, 153, 183

Badr b. Juff 30, 155n. 742

Badr al-Qudami 76

Baduraya 178 n. 864

Baghdad xxi and passim. See also
Bab ... ; Bridge(s}); Bustan
Bishr b. Hariin; Dar .. . ; East
Side; al-Harbiyyah; al-Hasan1
Palace; al-Karkh; al-Khuld
Palace; Madinat Abi Ja‘far
al-Mansiir; Madinat al-Salam;
New Prison; Old Oratory;
Prison(s); al-Rusafah; al-Shar-
qiyyah; al-Tammarin;
al-Thurayya Palace; West Side;
al-Yasiriyyah

al-Baghdadi (heresiographer)
115 n. 575; 162 n. 780

Baghras 91

Bahr (Bandi) 159 n.759

223

al-Bahrayn 10n. 53,77, 82, 83,
128, 202

Bakr b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi
Dulaf 9, 23, 34, 35, 38, 39,
42,64,67,72

Bakr b. Wa'il (Banu} 38 n. 206

al-Bakri (geographer) 37 n. 196,
131 n. 638

Ba‘labakk 122

Balad 123

al-Baladhuri 54 n. 285, 57 n.
297

Bal‘ami xvi

al-Balagsun 11

al-Balawi (historian) 32 n. 165,
34 n. 181, 136 n. 658, 142 n. 696

Balboura 14n.78

Balis 91

Balkh 85

Banu ..., see second element

Baraz al-Ruz 82

Bardha‘ah 85

Barqah 198, 202

Bashir (ghulam Tughj) 118

Basilios 181

al-Basrah, Basran(s} 71 n. 364,
72,77, 82, 83, 86, 87,98, 111,
132 n. 644, 146 n. 708, 150, 154,
155, 158 n. 753, 173 n. 837, 174,
179 n. 870. See also Prison(s)

Bassam al-Kurd1l 155

al-Bassami, see Ibn Bassam

Basurin 21

al-Bathaniyyah 158

Batn Daman 91

Berber(s) 31, 115, 184 n. 900, 202

Bid‘ah (songstress) 207

Binak 170

Birkat al-‘Aqabah, sece
al-‘Aqabah

al-Biruni 20 n. 111, 59 nn. 310,
311

Bishr al-Afshini (mawla
Muhammad b. Abi al-Saj
Afshin) 163, 167, 169, 170,
204, 206



The Return of the Caliphate to Baghdad

Bishr al-Buktamiri 139

Bishr b. Harun 7

Bishr al-Khadim (= Bishr al-
Afshini?) 164 n. 788

al-Bitan 177

Bridge(s) (Baghdad) 7, 39, 43
(Baradan Bridge), 45, 82, 73,
111, 144, 152

Bukhara, Bukhari(s) 201

al-Bukhari 162 n. 775

Buktamir b. Tashtamir 15 n.
85,22

Bulghars 31 n. 162, 164

Bunayy b. Nafis 196

Bunduqah, see Muhammad b.
Kumushjur

Busra 158

Bust 195, 196

Bustan Bishr b. Haran (Baghdad)
7

Bustan Ibn ‘Amir (Mecca) 187

Buzurjsabar 42

Byzantine(s) xxi, xxii, 18,
31-33, 65,73, 74, 84,91, 97,
120, 133, 147, 148, 151,
153-155, 171, 172, 180, 181,
185, 193, 195, 200, 206

C
Camel (battle of) 158 n. 753
Caria(n) 11 n. 64
Caspian 24 n. 13}, 25n. 137
Cigek, see Jijak
Cilicia(n} 33 n. 174, 83 n. 428,
172 n. 835
Constantine (son of Andronikos)
180
Constantinople 31, 84, 148
Cyrrhus, see Qurus

D
Dabbah (Banu) 86
Dabil (Dvin) 12
Dalfa’ 67

al-Daliyah (Daliyat Ibn Tawgq)
135, 157, 191

Damascus 26, 107 n. 538, 113-
115, 118, 119, 121, 122, 128,
146, 157-159, 164

Damyanah (ghulam Yazman)
34,41,73,91, 141, 151, 196

Dandanah 162 n. 780

al-Dandani, see Zikrawayh b.
Mihrawayh

Daquqa’ 164

Dar al-‘Ammah (Baghdad) 40

Dar al-Khilafah (Baghdad) 40
n. 213,43 n. 221

Darb al-Salamah (Darb
al-Hadath) 83

al-Darriyyah 166

David (Dawuad) 54

Dawsar 91

Dawid, see David

Dawud b. ‘Al (al-Z3hir]) 15n.
88

Dawud b. Daylam (physician)
101 n. 512

Dawiid b. Isa b. Masa
(al-Hashimi) 69 n. 357

Daylam(ites) 25n. 137, 60, 117,
140 n. 687, 151 n. 726

Dayr al-(A?ﬁl 109 n. 547

Dayr al-Za'faran 21

Dedan, see Wadi al-Qura

Déwdad, Abu al-Saj 94 n. 471

Déwdad b. Muhammad b. Abi
al-Saj 9 n. 48, 94, 97

al-Dhablani, see Zikrawayh b.
Mihrawayh al-Dandani

al-Dhahabi 39 n. 209, 54 nn.
282, 284, 285, 55 nn. 288, 290,
56 n. 294, 57 n. 297, 89 n. 449
103 n. 516, 205 n. 972

Dhait al-‘Ushayrah 166 n. 802

al-Dhi'b b. al-Qa'im 160, 161

Dhu al-Kila® 196

al-Dim‘anah 159
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al-Dinawar 4,11, 14

al-Dinawari (historian) 59 n.
310

Diyala River 108, 109

Diyar Mudar 13, 76, 86 n. 438,
88, 103, 115, 139 n. 682, 164

Diyar Rabiah 20n. 112,21, 72,
76, 84, 103, 164 n. 791

Dujayl 32,42 n.217

Dura-Europos 135 n. 654

Durubba 166 n. 804

Dvin (Dwin), see Dabil

E

East Side (Baghdad) 4 n. 27, 41,
45, 46, 82, 98, 99, 142, 152

Eclipse passim. See also
Miskawayh

Egypt{ians) 2n.8, 11 n. 62,20
n. 107, 30, 31, 44, 73, 76, 86,
89 n. 449, 113 n. 563, 115, 116,
121, 127, 139 n. 677, 146, 151-
153, 156, 158, 164, 169, 170 n.
826, 176, 198, 203, 205, 206

Elaiusa 33 n. 174

Elias Bar Shinaya 15n. 88

Euphrates 78, 115, 135 n. 654,
147, 159, 167. Euphrates Road
135, 142, 144, 157, 164, 181, 182

Eustathios, see Astanah

Eutychius 26 n. 142, 44 n. 224,
185 n. 905, 205 n. 972

F

al-Fadl b. ‘Abd al-Malik al-
Hashim1 117, 133, 149, 155,
171

al-Fadl b. Musa b. Bugha 163

al-Fadl b. Sahl 6n. 33

al-Fallajah 158

al-Farghani (historian) xiv, xv,
185 n. 900

Fars 35, 86, 94-96, 105, 107, 119,
156, 157, 184 n. 897, 193, 195

Fath al-Ajami 185

Fath b. Muhammad b. Ab1 al-S3j,
see Abu al-Musafir

Fath al-Qalanisi {ghulam al-
Muwaffaq) 23

Fatik (mawla al-Mu‘tadid) 72,
153, 169

Fatimah (bt. Muhammad) 60

Fatimah (Stewardess) 196 n. 934

Fatimid(s) of Northwest Africa
and Egypt 113 n. 563, 114 nn,
565, 570, 122 n. 611, 129 n.
629, 184 n. 900, 198, 200 n.
948, 202 n. 960, 963, 203 n.
964, 205 n. 972. Qarmatian
Fatimids 115. Fatimid descent
158

Fayd 70n. 358, 173 n. 837, 175,
178, 179 n. 870, 182

al-Firk 83

Funduq al-Husayn 91

al-Furat b. Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. al-Furat 177

al-Fusays (Banu) 131, 135

al-Fustat  151-153, 158, 169, 205

G

Ghalib al-Nasrani (physician)
42

Gharib al-Jabali 106

Ghulam Nun, see ‘Abdallah
Ghulam Niin

Ghulam Zurafah (Rashiq
al-Wardami or Leon ?) 148

Gok-su (Kalykadnos} 172 n. 835

H

Habasah (b. Yasuf} 202 n. 963,
205, 206

al-Habir 177 n. 856, 178

al-Hadath 147

al-Haddad 182

al-Hadi ila al-Haqq (Yahya) 96
n. 487

Hafar Abi Misa al-Ash‘ari, see
Hufayr. ..

225
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Hajar (al-Hasa} 82, 87, 202

al-Hajir 81 n. 418, 207

al-Hakam b. Abi al-‘As 54

al-Hakimi 184

al-Halah (al-Khalah) 159

Halab, see Aleppo

al-Hallaj xv n. 11, xvii, 199,
200 nn. 948, 949, 952

Halys, see Alis

Hamadhan 14

al-Hamadhani {historian)
passim

Hamah 122, 135, 136, 140

al-Hamawi (historian) 71 n.
366

Hamdan b. Hamdun 15, 17, 20,
21,27,28

Hamdanid(s) xxi, 15 n. 87, 184
n. 898

Hamdan (Humayd) al-‘Ullaysi
137

Hamid b. al-‘Abbas 86

Hamid b. Firaiz 178

Hammad b. Ahmad 201

Hamzah al-Isfahani (historian)
xviii, 69 n. 355, 71 nn. 365, 366

Hanifah (Banu} 37 n. 196

al-Haramayn, see Mecca;
al-Madinah

Harat 196

al-Harbiyyah (Baghdad) 202

al-Harith b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi
Dulaf, Abu Layla 67-71

al-Harrah 59

Harun b. Khumarawayh b.
Ahmad b. Tulun 11 n. 61,
32,73,76, 113, 115, 146, 151

Harun b. Muhammad (b. al-
‘Abbas ... b. al-Mansur), Aba
Bakr 98

Harun b. Muhammad (b. Ishaq
b. Miisa) al-Hashimi 5

Harun al-Rashid 117 n. 589

Haran al-‘Ullays1 137

Harun al-Waziqi al-Shari
(Kharijite} 10 n. 58, 13 n. 75,
15, 20 n. 114, 27-29

al-Hasa, see Hajar

al-Hasan b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz
al-Hashimi 117 n. 589

al-Hasan b. ‘Ali, see al-Utriish

al-Hasan b. ‘Ali b. Abi Talib
55 n. 287, 60

al-Hasan b. ‘Ali Kdrah 15, 20
n. 114,21, 89, 91, 97, 106

al-Hasan b. Ismal 177

al-Hasan b. Musa al-Raba‘i
173, 183 n. 893

al-Hasan b. Sahl 6 n. 33

al-Hasan b. ‘Umar al-Taghlibi
17 n. 99

al-Hasan b. Zayd b. Muhammad
(al-‘Alawi) 24 n. 131

al-Hasani, see Abu ‘Abdallah

al-Hasani Palace (Baghdad) 4,
101, 103, 154

al-Hasaniyyah 17

Hashim (Bana), Hashimites 60,
122, 124. See also ‘Abbasid(s)

Hassan b. Thabit 59 n. 311

Hawran 158

Hilal b. Badr (mawla al-
Mu'tadid) 106 n. 533, 107

Hims 116, 122, 130, 134

Hisham b. ‘Abd al-Malik 115

Hit 79, 159, 160, 167, 171

al-Hm'ry 137

Hudud al‘alam 146 n. 708

Hufayr Abi Musa al-Ash‘ar
179

Hujr b. ‘Adi 57

Hulwan 72

al-Hurami, see Najah; Rashiq;
Safi

al-Hurr b. Musa, see al-Husayn
b. Musa .

al-Husayn b. ‘Abdallih b. al-
Jassas, see Ibn al-Jassas



al-Husayn b. ‘Ali b. Ab1 Talib
60

al-Husayn b. ‘Amr al-Nasrani
15, 76, 103, 121, 126

al-Husayn b. Hamdan b.
Hamdin 17 n. 96, 21, 27-29,
128, 137-139, 157, 159-161, 181,
182, 189-191, 200

al-Husayn b. Musa 183, 184

al-Husayn b. al-Qasim b.
(Ubaydallah 121 n. 603

al-Husayn b. al-‘Ullaysi 137

al-Husayn b. Zikrawayh (Man of
the Mole; the Qarmatian; the
Commander of the Faithful)
116, 122, 123, 127-136, 140 n.
689, 141-147, 152, 157, 158, 165

1

Ibadite(s) 10n. 53

Ibn al-‘Abbas, see Hamid;
Ahmad

Ibn ‘Abd al-Baqi, see ‘Adib.
Ahmad; Yahya

Ibn ‘Abd al-Barr 57 n. 297, 58
n. 303

Ibn ‘Abd Rabbih 59 n. 310

Ibn Abi al-‘Anbas, see
Ibrahim b. Ishaq

Ibn Abi al-Asbagh (Ahmad b.
Muhammad) 8, 14. See also
Badr b. Ab1 al-Asbagh

Ibn Abi Dulaf 22, 31. See also
Ahmad b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz; Bakr
b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz; al-Harith b.
‘Abd al-‘Aziz; ‘Umar b. ‘Abd
al-‘Aziz

Ibn Abi al-Qaws (al-Faws,
al-Fawaris) 99

Ibn Abi al-Rabi‘ al-Kurdi 120

Ibn Abi al-Saj, see Dewdad;
Muhammad; Yasuf

Ibn Abi al-Shawarib, ‘Ali b.
Muhammad 29 n. 150, 39, 42

Index 227

Ibn Abi Tahir Tayfur, see
‘Ubaydallah b. Ahmad

Ibn Abi Usaybiah 1n.5,42n.
218, 100 n. 505, 101 n. 512

Ibn Abi (Akhi) Zunbur al-
Madhara'i, see Muhammad
b. ‘Ali b. Ahmad

Ibn al-‘Adim {historian) 107 n.
538, 131 n. 639, 155 n. 742, 164
n. 788

Ibn ‘Amrawayh, see
Muhammad b. ‘Amrawayh

Ibn ‘Asakir 139 n. 677, 180 n.
877

Ibn al-Athir xv and passim in
the notes

Ibn al-Baghmardi (Bughamardi),
see Ja'far; Yusuf b. Ibrahim

Ibn Banu 128

Ibn al-Basri, see ‘Ubaydallah
al-Mahdi

Ibn Bassim al-Bassami 43, 111
n. 552,162 n.778

Ibn al-Dayah 32 n. 167

Ibn Duhaym 131

Ibn Dulayl al-Nasrani 192

Ibn al-Fath, see ‘Abdallah b.
al-Fath

Ibn al-Furat, see Ahmad b.
Muhammad; ‘Ali b.
Muhammad

Ibn Hajar 56 n. 294, 57 n. 297,
153 n. 733,162 n. 775

Ibn Hajj, see al-Muzaffar b.
Hajj

Ibn Hamdiin al-Nadim 10 n.
55, 45

Ibn Hasanaj, see Rumi b.
Hasanaj

Ibn al-Hazallaj, Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. Ahmad 177

Ibn Hisham 56 n. 294 :

Ibn al-Ikhshad 71, 74, 79, 83

Ibn al-Ilmad 39 n. 209
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Ibn Jarir, see al-Tabari _

Ibn al-Jarrah, see ‘Alib. ‘{sa b.
Dawud; Muhammad b.
Dawud

Ibn al-Jassas, al-Husayn b.
‘Abdallah 2, 3, 19, 26, 191,
205

Ibn al-Jawz1 (historian) passim
in the notes

Ibn Justan al-Daylami 112

Ibn Kallab 65, 83, 84

Ibn Kathir (historian} 45 n. 233,
55 n. 287, 66 n. 346, 121 n. 604

Ibn Kayghalagh, see Ahmadb.
Kayghalagh; Ibrahim b.
Kayghalagh

Ibn Khaldun 68 n. 353, 80 n.
414, 104 n. 520, 163 n. 782,
204 n. 968

Ibn Khalij, see al-Khaljji

Ibn Khallikan 3 n. 15, 85 n.
435, 95 n. 473, 103 nn. 514,
518, 104 n. 519, 139 n. 677

Ibn Khagan, see ‘Abdallah;
‘Abd al-Wahid; Ahmad;
Muhammad b. ‘Ubaydallah b.
Yahya; Muzahim

Ibn Kumushjiir, see Ahmad b.
Muhammad; Muhammad b.
Kumushjur

Ibn Kundaj(ik}, see Ishag;
Muhammad b. Ishaq

Ibn Kushmard, see Ahmad b.
Muhammad b. Kushmard;
‘Allan b. Muhammad

Ibn Mikal, see Muhammad b.
al-Shah

Ibn al-Mudabbir, see Ibrahim
b. Muhammad

‘Ibn al-Muhandis 90

Ibn al-Muhtadi, ‘Abdallah
(‘Ubaydallah) 6

Ibn al-Muhtadi, Abu al-Husayn
6 n. 32 (same as preceding ?)

Ibn Mukram (= ‘Abdallah b.
Ibrahim b. Muhammad ?)
153

Ibn al-Mu'tazz (‘Abdallah b.
al-Mu‘tazz, al-Rad1 bi-11ah)
xiii, 13 n. 75, 15n. 88, 19 n.
103, 70 n. 359, 72 n. 370, 84 n.
431,90 n. 454, 96 n. 484, 99 n.
499, 101 n. 511, 149 n. 717,
163 nn. 786, 787, 189, 190

Ibn al-Nadim xv,6n. 34,7 n.
39,15n. 88

Ibn al-Najjar (historian) 48 n.
245

Ibn al-Nughayl 90

Ibn al-Qifti, see al-Qifti

Ibn Sa'id (historian) 41 n. 216,
155 n. 742

Ibn Sawartakin (Sawartakin),
see Wasif

Ibn Sima Unuf 15

Ibn Taghribirdi (historian)
passim in the notes

Ibn Tahir, see Muhammad b.
‘Abdallah

Ibn Tawq, see al-Daliyah;
Malik b. Tawq

Ibn Thawabah, see
Muhammad b. Ja'far

Ibn Tughan, see Ahmad

Ibn Tulin, see Tulunids

Ibn Turunjah, see Muhammad
b. Haran

Ibn al-Yatm 41

Ibn Zayd, see Muhammad b.
Zayd al-‘Alawi

Ibn al-Ziba‘ra (‘Abdallah) 59
nn. 310, 311

Ibn Zikrawayh, see Yahya

Ibn al-Zubayr (historian) 2 nn.
7,12,3n. 14, 19 n, 106, 20 n.
107,26 n. 143,74 n. 382, 77 n.
391, 96 n. 482, 185 n. 900, 187
n. 907



Index

Ibrahim b. ‘Abdallah al-Misma4
183 n. 892, 184

Ibrahim b. ‘Abd al-Wahhab
al-Yatim 41 n. 216

Ibrahim b. Abi al-Ash‘ath 177

Ibrahim b. Ahmad al-Madhara"
26

Ibrahim b. Ishaq b. Abi al-‘Anbas
(al-qad1) 100 n. 506

Ibrahim b. Kayghalagh 104 n.
523, 139 n. 677, 146, 156

Ibrahim al-Khaliji, see
al-Khaliji

Ibrahim b. Muhammad b.
al-Mudabbir 4, 207 n. 978

Ifrigiyah 153 n. 731, 184 n. 900,
206 n. 976

‘il {Bana) 38 n. 206

Ikhshidid(s) 13n.77,164 n.788

‘Imran al-Marzubani 201

Iraq 14 n. 82,25n. 137, 36, 80
n. 414, 111 n. 552, 115 n. 572

Irqah 132

‘Isa (b. Maryam) 44, 54

1sa b. Mihrawayh 116

9sa b. Misa (al-Hashimi) 5 n.
31

‘Isa al-Nushari 2, 35, 38, 42, 69,
86, 106, 108, 139, 152, 203 n.

964

(sa b. al-Shaykh ‘Abd al-Razzaq

_3n. 17

4sa b. Ukht Mihrawayh, see
al-Muddaththir

Isbahan 15, 31, 35, 39, 42, 67,
69, 86, 107, 183, 184

Ishag b. Ahmad (Samanid) 201

Ishig b. Ayyiab 20, 21, 84

Ishaq al-Farghani 113

Ishag b. Imran 162-166

Ishaq b. Kundaj 3n. 18,8

al-Iskandariyyah (al-Iskandaru-
nah, Alexandrette) 91. See
also Alexandria

Isma‘il b. Ahmad (Samanid) 2,
11, 70, 84, 85, 91, 92, 95, 104,
112, 117, 118, 146, 147, 183, 201

Isma‘fl b. Muhammad
al-Munshi’' 9

Isma‘l b. al-Nu‘man, Abu
Muhammad al-‘Ullays1 136,
144, 145, 148

Israelites 54

J
al-Jabal, al-Jibal 14, 22, 31, 42,
64, 70, 96, 107, 108, 184
Jabbanat Kindah (al-Kufah)
163 n. 783
Jabir b. Harun 7 n. 40
Ja‘far b. Baghlaghaz 64
Ja'far b. al-Bighmardi 34 n. 181
Ja‘far b. Humayd al-Kurdi 129
Ja‘far b. Muhammad b. al-Furat
197 n. 940
Ja‘far b. Muhammad b. Hafs 83
Ja'far b. al-Mu‘tamid (Abu
al-‘Abbas al-Mufawwi/ad)
10
Ja'far b. Si‘r (Sa'd) 89
al-Jahiz 59 n. 310, 311
Jahnash 82
al-Jannabi, see Abu Sa‘id
al-Jawsaq {Samarra) 120
Jayhian 89, 155
Jaysh b. Khumarawayh b. Ahmad
b. Talin 30-32
al-Jazirah 8, 72,91, 117
Jazirat Ibn ‘Umar 17 n. 99
Jesus, see ‘Isa (b. Maryam)
al-Jibal, see al-Jabal
Nijak (Cigek) 185
Jinni al-Safwani, al-Jinni the
Elder 70, 139, 163, 164, 167
al-Jisr (Egypt) 151
Jubba 146
al-Jubba'i, Abu ‘Ali 146 n. 708
Juhaysh, see Jahnash

229
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Junbula' 88, 162
Jurjan 92

K

Kabala 180 n. 879

Kaésoun, see Kaysum

Kalb (Banu), Kalbites 113, 114,
158, 159 n. 759, 160, 161, 182

Kalwadha 83 n. 425

Kalykadnos, see Gok-su

Kanisat al-Sawda’ 89

al-Karaj 15,22

Karamah b. Murr 65

al-Karkh (Baghdad) 46

Karkh Juddan (Karkh Samarra ?)
16

al-Karnaba't 200 n. 948

Kayghalagh 104 n. 523, 138,
139, 146

Kaysum (Kaesoun) 97

al-Kayyal 182. See also Migdam
b. al-Kayyal

Khaffan Road 179

Khafif al-Adhkutakini 78, 79,
106

Khafif al-Samarqandi 1, 43, 89

Khalaf b. Ahmad b. Banu 128
n. 626

al-Khalanji, see al-Khaliji

Khalifah b. Khayyat (historian)
57 n. 297

Khalifah b. al-Mubarak, see
Abi al-Agharr

al-Khaliji (Ibrahim; Muhammad
b. ‘Ali; al-Khalaniji; Ibn
al-Khaljj) 152, 153, 156, 158,
169, 170

al-Khalil b. Raymal 72

al-Khandaq, see Trench

Khanijar 164

Khagan al-Muflihi 30, 89, 106,
113, 138, 142, 184

Kharijite(s) 10, 15, 27-29, (184
n. 899)

Kharluq (Khalugq, Khallakh)
Turks 11 n.65

al-Khatib al-Baghdadi 12 n. 71,
19n. 104,23 n. 128,33 n. 178,
39 nn. 208, 209, 42 n. 217, 98
n. 495, 100 n. 506, 101 n. 511,
117 n. 589, 185 n. 904

Khatan 11

Khazar(s) 165

Khazraj (Banu) 59

Khindif 60

al-Khuld Palace (Baghdad) 150

Khumarawayh b. Ahmad b.
Tualun 2, 3,11, 14, 18, 22, 26,
34 n. 180, 41, 44, 74 n. 382, 85,
170. Bt. Khumarawayh, see
Qatr al-Nada

Khurasan(ians) 2,70, 92, 96,
112, 146, 174, 176, 183, 200,
204 n. 970

Khusaf 91

Khuwarizm 40

al-Khuzaymiyyah 70 n. 358

Khizistain 94 n. 472, 146 n. 708

al-Kind1i (historian) 11 n. 61,
32 nn. 165, 172, 41 n. 216,73
n. 381, 148 n. 714, 152 n. 729,
153 n. 733, 203 n. 964

Kizil Irmak, see Alis

Konya, see al-Quniyah

Koron, see Qurrah

al-Kufah, Kiifan(s) 8 n. 45, 14,
24, 30, 65,70 n. 358,71, 79, 81
n. 418, 88 n. 445, 99, 100 n.
506, 113, 114, 135, 143, 161-
168, 173 n. 837, 174, 177, 179
n. 872, 182. See also Bab
Kindah; Jabbanat Kindah;
Masjid ‘Abd al-Qays; Masjid
al-Sahlah

Kulayb al-Ullaysi 137

Karah, see al-Hasan b. ‘Ali
Kurah

Kurd(s) 15n. 88, 16, 17, 21, 22,
68, 108, 183, 184 n. 898

al-Kurdi 184

Kutamah Berbers 184 n. 900



Index 231

L

Labid 81 n.418

Ladhiqiyyah (Laodicea)
639

(al-)Lamis (Lamos, Lamas-su)
33,172 n. 835

al-Layth b. ‘Al b. al-Layth 156,
193, 194

Leon VI 31 nn. 163, 164, 181

Leon (ghulam Zurafah), see
Ghulam Zurafah

Lisan al-Arab 38 n. 206

Lu'lu’ (ghulam Ibn Talun) 23,
30 n. 159

Lu'lu’ (ghulam al-Muktafi)
109, 111, 138 (?)

Lycia(n) 11n. 64

131 n.

M
Ma‘arrat al-Nu‘man
al-Madhara’,

122, 136
see Ibrahim b.

Ahmad; Muhammad b. ‘Al1 b.

Ahmad b. Abl Zunbar

al-Ma'din (Ma‘din al-Nuqrah/
al-Naqirah, Ma‘din al-
Qurashi) 81

al-Madinah (Medina) 6, 24, 25
n. 137, 59, 81 n. 418, 97 n. 490,
175, 177, 178

Madinat Abi Ja'far (al-Mansir),
Round City (Baghdad} 12n.
71, 39, 42, 110, 202 n. 962

Madinat al-Salam (Baghdad)
8, 13,27, 29, 34, 47,70, 76,
79-82, 88, 105, 106, 110, 119,
121, 128, 134, 141-143, 145,
146, 156, 161, 165, 169-172,
176, 179

Maghrib(ites) 31, 80 n. 414,
151, 153 n. 731, 198, 202, 206

Makkah, see Mecca

Makniin (ghulam Raghib) 79

Malakopea 14n.78

Malatyah 85, 90

" Man of the Mole,

Malih al-Armani 196

Malik b. Tawg 135 n. 654

Maluriyah 14

al-Ma'mun 48, 207

see al-Husayn
b. Zikrawayh

al-Manqabah 78

al-Mansur 5n.31,12n.71,98
n. 495, 117 n. 589, 150 n. 721.
See also Madinat Abi Ja'far

Mansur {Ibn Ukht ‘Tsa al-
Nushari) 106

Mangiir b.‘Abdallah b. Mansar
al-Katib 184

Mansiir b. Muslim, Abu Talhah
25

al-Magqrizi 54 nn. 284, 285, 60
n. 314, 88 n. 444, 100 n. 503,
116 n. 582, 152 n. 727, 205 n.
972

al-Maraghah 9, 23, 75 n. 385,
192

Mar‘ash 90, 151, 153

Mardin 3,17

Marw  xviii

Marwan b. al-Hakam,
Marwanids 54, 61, 62

al-Marzubani, see Imran

Masjid ‘Abd al-Qays (al-Kufah)
14 n. 80

Masjid al-Sahlah (al-Kafah) 14

Maskin 42

Masriir b. Ahmad (Qarmatian
da'i) 131,132

Masrur al-Balkhi 11

Masriur al-‘Ulaymi (al-‘Ullaysi)
137

al-Massisah  89-91, 151

al-Mas'adi (historian) passim
in the notes

Mawan 81 n. 418

al-Mawsil, see Mosul

Maymun b. Ibrahim al-Katib
{(al-Madhara't) 177
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Mecca 24, 25n. 137, 52, 81, 96,
97 n. 490, 110, 168, 173 n. 837,
174, 177, 178, 179 nn. 870, 872,
187 n. 908, 188, 107. Mecca
Road (Highway) xxii, 17, 30,
31 n. 161, 44 n. 224, 70 n. 358,
80, 81 n. 418, 172 n. 837, 173-
178, 182, 207 n. 981. See also
Bustan Ibn ‘Amir; Mina

Medina, see al-Madinah

Mina (Mecca) 187

Migdam b. al-Kayyal
182 n. 890

Miskawayh (historian)
in the notes

al-Misma'i, see ‘Abdallah b.
Ibrahim; Ibrahim b. ‘Abdallah

Moses (Miisa b. Imran) 162

Mosul (al-Mawsil) 8, 15, 17,
19-21, 27, 72, 108 n. 542, 120,
123, 184. Mosul Road 10, 97,
119, 120, 127

al-Mu‘addal (al-Mu‘addil) b. ‘Al

. b.al-Layth 196

Mu'awiyah b. Abi Sufyan  46-
48, 50 n. 264, 53, 55, 56, 58, 62

al-Mubarak al-Qummi 139,
154, 175

Mudar (b. Ahmad b. Talun} 32
nn. 165, 167

al-Muddaththir (‘Abdallah b.
Isa b. Mihrawayh; ‘Isa b. Ukht

158, 161,

passim

Mihrawayh 7} 116, 135, 141,
143, 144

Muflih 132

al-Mughithiyyah 173 n. 873

Muhajir b. Tulayq 139

Muhammad (Prophet} 16, 43,
49, 51-58, 60-62, 129, 132, 154

Muhammad b. Abba (Abu
Ja'far) 11

Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b.
Dawud, Abu ‘Abdallah
al-Hashimi Utrujjah 5 n. 31,
69, 74, 80, 93

Muhammad b. ‘Abdallih b.
Muhammad b. Isma‘il b.
Ja'far 104

Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b.
Tahir 7 n. 40, 25, 81, 101, 187

Muhammad b. ‘Abdallah b.
Yahya 114

Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Hamid
al-Katib 4, 83

Muhammad b. ‘Abd al-Wahid,
Abi al-Hasan (al-qadi) 88 n.
444

Muhammad b. Abi al-S3j Afshin
9,13,72,75, 85, 86, 88, 94,
97,163 n. 788, 170, 204

Muhammad b. Ahmad b. 1sa b.
{al-}Shaykh 73, 75, 76, 81

Muhammad b. ‘Ali, see al-

_Khalj1

Muhammad b. ‘Ali b. Ahmad b.
Abi Zunbar al-Madhara'l
202

Muhammad b. ‘Ali b. al-Layth
195

Muhammad b. ‘Al (b.) Su‘lik
204 n. 970

Muhammad b. ‘Amr al-Balkhi
40

Muhammad b. ‘Amrawayh
170, 191

Muhammad b. Dawid b.
al-Jarrah 80, 158, 160, 165,
167, 173, 176, 177, 179 n. 869,
189, 190

Muhammad b. Harin 92, 104,
111, 112, 117

Muhammad b. Harun (b.
al-‘Abbas b. ‘Isa b. al-Mansir),
Ibn Turunjah 5n. 31, 12

Muhammad b. al-Hasan b. Sahl,
see Shaylamah

Muhammad b. Hisham 77

Muhammad b. Ishaq b.
Kundaj(ik) 3, 30, 106, 109,
138, 142, 146, 160, 161, 168



Muhammad b. Isma‘l b. Ja‘far
114

Muhammad b. Ja‘far b.
Thawabah 29 n. 150

Muhammad b. Kumushjiur
Bunduqah 30, 78 n. 398, 89,
105, 138, 146

Muhammad b. al-Muktafi, Aba
Ahmad 121, 145

Muhammad b. Qaratughan
139

Muhammad b. al-Qasim b.
‘Ubaydallah 121 n. 603

Muhammad b. Sa‘id al-Azraq
190, 191

Muhammad b. al-Shah b.
Mikal 1

Muhammad b. Sulayman
al-Katib 30, 133, 134, 136,
137 n. 672, 139 n. 685, 141-143,
146, 151, 152, 154, 158

Muhammad b. Thawr 10

Muhammad b. Tughj (al-
Ikhshid) 13 n. 77, 164 n. 788

Muhammad b. ‘Ubaydallah b.
{Abdallah b. Tahir 111n.552

Muhammad b. ‘Ubaydallah b.
Yahya b. Khiagan 197, 199

Muhammad b. Ward al-‘Agtar
24,25

Muhammad b. Yasuf b. Ya‘'qub,
Abii ‘Umar al-qadi 19 n. 104,
42, (437), 100, 101, 106-111,
119, 170, 191

Muhammad b. Zayd al-‘Alawi
(al-Daf ila al-Haqgq; al-Qa'im
bi-al-Haqq) 14, 29, 64, 91,
104, 111, 112

al-Muhtadi 7 n. 39

al-Muktafi, Abi Muhammad
‘All  xiii, xiv, 3, 14, 15, 23,
29 n. 150, 35, 37, 66 n. 345,
73,76, 81 n. 417, 89, 101, 103-
185 passim, 187

Index 233

Mu'minah (wife of Zikrawayh)
168 n. 8151, 179, 182 ?

Mu'nis al-Khadim (al-Muzaffar)
79 n. 411, 89, 160, 190, 192-
194, 205

Mu'nis al-Khazin (al-Fahl) 79,
89, 112, 113, 160 n. 766, 191,
206 n. 977

Munkar and Nakir (angels) 111

al-Muntagim 168 n. 815, 182

al-Muntasir 148 n.714

al-Mugqtadir, Ja'far xiii, xiv,
xvi, 20 n. 114, 25, 66 n. 346,
89 n. 449, 185, 187-207 passim

Masa (b. ‘Imran), see Moses

Maushgir, see Wasif

Muslim (author of Sahih) 55
n. 288

al-Mu‘tadid  xiii, xiv, xviii,
xix, xxi, 1-101 passim, 103-
105, 107 n. 536, 108 n. 539, 113,
115, 118, 153, 168, 170 n. 831,
177, 203 n. 964, 204 n. 965

al-Mu‘tamid 11 n. 68, 20 n. 109

al-Mutawakkil 19 n. 103, 42 n.
218

al-Mutawwaq 116, 127, 135,
141

al-Muwaffaq, Aba Ahmad
al-Nasir 4, 6, 20 n. 109, 23,
24, 30 n. 159, 33 n. 175, 41, 42
n. 218, 65,73,79, 105, 112

al-Muwalladi, see Nafis

al-Muzaffar b. Hajj 78, 119,
139, 169, 184

al-Muzaffar b. al-Mubarak
al-Qumm1 175

Muzahim b. Khagan 170n. 826

al-Muzahimi, see Sandal

N
Nabataeans 166
Nafis al-Muwalladl 78, 177
Nahawand 15
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al-Nahiki, see ‘Ali b. al-‘Abbas

Nahr al-Dhahab 127 n. 624
Nahr al-Husayn (al-Hasan) 72
Nahr Malhata (Talhanah) 161
Nahr Ma'qil 72

Nahr al-Mathniyyah 165, 172
Nahr al-Rayhan 83

Nahr Yisuf 166

al-Nahrawan 24

Na'im, see Shaghab

Najah (ghulam Ahmad b. Gsa b.

Shaykh) 87
Najah al-Hurami 16
Namir (Banu) 168, 182
Naga’id 162 n. 781
al-Nasir, see al-Muwaffaq
Nagir al-Dawlah 15n. 87

Nasr, Abu Ghanim ‘Abdallah b.

Sa9d 158-161, 171

Nasr b. Ahmad (b. Asad,
Samanid) 2, 202 n. 959

Nasr b. Ahmad b. Isma‘il b.
Ahmad (Samanid) 201, 202
n. 959

Nasr al-Qushuari 20, 85 n. 437,
138, 200

al-Na‘arah 91.

Naysabur (Nisabar) 10, 25 n.
137,29,64,77, 84

Nazwa 10n. 53

New Prison (Baghdad) 10, 13,
108, 150, 170

al-Nibaj 81n. 418, 179

Nihrir the Elder 106

Nihrir al-‘Umari (al-‘Amri)
167

Nihrir the Younger 108

Nile 151

Ninawa 79. Niniveh 79 n. 412

Nisabur, see Naysabir

Nizar b. Muhammad 97, 150,
182. See also Aba Ma‘add

al-NUbandajan 194

al-Nughayl 84, 90

al-Nu‘man (b. akhi Isma‘il b.
al-Nu'min) 136, 138, 141

al-Nu‘man b. Bashir al-Ansari
35n. 185

al-Nu‘man al-‘Ullaysi 137

al-Nu‘maniyyah 108

al-Nugrah, see al-Ma'din

al-Nishari, see Isa

0]
Ogretmis, see Ukratmush
Old Oratory (Baghdad) 4, 142,
143
Ottoman(s) 136 n. 658
Oxus 84. See also Transoxania

P

Palestine 185 n. 900. See also
al-Urdunn

Palmyra Road 114

Persian(s} 140 n. 687

Pharaoh 162

Pisidia 14n.78

Port of the Basrans (Baghdad)
150

Prison(s) of Baghdad 65, 81,
142, al-Mu‘tadid's prison 25,
66, 103, see also New Prison;
of al-Basrah 111

Prophet, see Muhammad

Q

al-Qadisiyyah 162 n. 781, 163,
164, 166 n. 803, 173 n. 873,
177-179

al-Qahir 164 n. 788

al-Qa'im bi-amr Alldh b.
‘Ubaydallah al-Mahdi 198
n. 943, 205 n. 972

al-Qa'im bi-al-Haqq, see
Muhammad b. Zayd al-‘Alawi

Qalamyah Gate (Tarsus) 83

al-Qalanisi, see Fath

al-Qali 59 n. 311

Qar‘a’ 173 n. 837

Qarmat 113



Qarmatian(s} xiii, 66, 77, 78
nn. 398, 399, 82, 83, 86-88, 92,
93, 96 n. 487, 99, 104 n. 520,
113, 114, 118, 119, 123, 125-
128, 129 n. 628, 134-136, 138,
141-147, 152, 157-168, 171-179,
184 n. 899, 198 n. 943, 200 n.
948, 202. See also al-Husayn
b. Zikrawayh

al-Qarwanah 136

Qashan 192

al-Qasim b. Ahmad b. ‘Ali, Abi
Muhammad (al-da‘9) 161,
162, 165-167

al-Qasim b. al-Fadl 55 n. 287

al-Qasim b. Sima al-Farghani
15 n. 86, 117, 138, 144, 145,
147, 148, 164, 191, 193, 195

al-Qasim b. ‘Ubaydallah b.
Sulayman, Abu al-Husayn
(al-wazir) 39, 43, 44, 100,
101, 103-105, 107-109, 120, 121,
126, 128, 133, 134, 140, 141,
145, 148, 185 n. 905

al-Qatif 77, 128

Qatr al-Nada (bt. Khumarawayh)
3, 19, 20 nn. 107, 108, 22, 85,
170 n. 831

al-Qattal 195

Qazwin 14, 104 n. 523

al-Qifti xv

Qinnasrin 76

Qirqisiya 191

al-Quda‘i 30 n. 159

Qumm 14, 192

Quniyah (Konya) 84, 180, 181

Quraysh{ites) 53 n. 273, 60 n.
314

Qurrah (Koron) 65

Qurus (Cyrrhus} 171

Qushayr {(Bani) 37 n. 196

Qutrabbul 42, 107 n. 538

R
al-Raba‘i, see al-Hasan b. Musa
Rabi‘ah (b. Ahmad b. Taldn)
32 n. 167

Index

Rabi‘ah b. Muhammad (Abu
‘Adnan ?) 139, 188

Radhin 42

al-Radi bi-llah, see Ibn
al-Mu‘tazz

Rafi‘ b. Harthamah 4, 5, 15, 29,
39-41, 92

Raghib (mawla al-Muwaffaq)
33,41,65,73,79

al-Rahbah, Rahbat Malik b.
Tawq 135, 145, 147, 159, 160,
191

Ra'iq al-Khazari 164, 167

Raja' 137

al-Raqqah 76,78, 79, 91, 97,
103-105, 118, 123, 128, 133-135,
141-143, 148, 156 n. 747

Rashid (mawla al-Muwaffaq)
4,11

Rashiq al-Hurami (al-Aysar)
85

Rashiq al-Wardami, see
Ghulam Zurafah

al-Rayy 5, 14, 15, 23, 25, 35, 37
n. 197, 64, 67 n. 349, 104, 107,
112, 113, 117, 118

Rudhmastan 92

al-Rukhkhaj 195, 196

Rumi b. Hasanaj 30

Rundaq (Zaydan) al-Sadi 106,
111

al-Rusafah (Baghdad) 47 n.
245, 85

al-Rusafah (Rusafat Hisham)
115

Rustum b. Bardu (al-Farghani)
153, 172, 180, 196

S

al-Sabi’ (historian) passim in
the notes

al-Sadid al-‘Ullaysi 137

al-Safadi (historian) 25 n. 139,
26 n. 141, 69 n. 357, 110 n. 550,
199 n. 946, 203 n. 964, 207 nn.
978, 979
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al-Saffah 5n. 31, 117 n. 589

Saffarids 2n.6

Safi 137

Safi al-Hurami 103

al-Safiyah 109

Saft 205

Sa‘id b. al-Asfar b. ‘Abd al-A‘la
82

Sa‘id b. Ghalib al-Nasrani
(physician) 42 n. 218

Sa‘id b. Makhlad 20, 22

Sa‘id b. Yaksin 45

al-Sa“idi, see Rundiq

Salamyah 122, 140

Salandia 74,172

Salih al-Amin 1,7,73, 111 n.
552

Salih al-Aswad 177

Salih b. al-Fadl 158, 159

Salih b. Mudrik al-Ta'1 70, 82,
207 n. 979

al-Salihin (al-Saylahiin) 166

al-Salihiyyah 153 n. 654

Salman 173

al-Salt b. Malik 10 n. 53

Salas, see Shalas

Samandd 74 n. 384

al-Sam‘ani (historian)
146 n. 708, 162 n. 780

Samanid(s) 2n.9, 11 n.65,70
n. 362

Samarqand, Samargandi(s)
201, 202

Samarra 15, 26, 39,42 n. 217,
107 n. 538, 120, 121. See also
al-Jawsaq

al-Samawah 114, 145, 159

Samonas 31 n.64,33n.177

Samyun 33

San‘a’ 96,97, 157, 169

Sanbil 94

Sandal al-Muzahimi 170

Sarakhs 92 n. 464

Sassanian(s) 19 n. 103

al-Sawad 88, 93, 113, 115, 161,
167,173

2n.8,

al-Saw'ar 162, 164, 166-168

al-Sawdaqaniyyah 191

Sayf al-Dawlah 15n. 87

Sayhan 74 n. 384

al-Saylahiin, see al-Salihin

al-Saymarah 23

Sebuktegin 115 n. 575

Seleucia 172 n. 838

Selindi, Selinti 74 n. 384

al-Shabushti 20n. 111

Shaddad 17

Shaft‘ (al-khadim) 67, 68

Shaghab (Na‘im) 25, 187

al-Shah b. Mikal 1n.3

Shahrazur 120

Shalus, Salus 204

Shamam(i) 36 n. 196

al-Sharqgiyyah (Baghdad) 46,
100 n. 506, 107

Shayban (Bani) 7, 8,78, 138,
140, 168, 178, 206 n. 977

Shayban (b. Ahmad b. Tuliin)
32 n. 167, 170

al-Shaykh, see Yahyab.
Zikrawayh

Shaylamah, Muhammad b.
al-Hasan b. Sahl 6,7

Shibl (ghulam Ahmad b.
Muhammad al-Ta’i) 99

al-Shirazi (katib al-Husayn b.
‘Amr) 126, 127

al-Shuqaq 177

Sib Bani Kima 109

al-Sibal 173

Sibt Ibn al-Jawz1 (historian) 33
n. 176, 151 n. 726

Siffin 56 n. 294, 91

Sijistan(1s}) 95, 96, 156, 196

Sima al-Ibrahimi 173

Sima al-Khazari 173 n. 841, 174

Sima al-Sharabi 15n. 86

al-Sinn 7

Slavs 31

Soloi 33 n. 174

Stylianos 31 n. 164



Index

Subkara (mawla ‘Amr b.
al-Layth) 156, 191, 193, 195

Subuk al-Daylami 115, 118,
132 n. 644

Subuk al-Muflihi 132

al-Sufriyyah 15n. 88

al-Sufyani 181

Su‘lak, Ahmad b. ‘Ali, Akhu
Sulik 204. See also
Muhammad b. ‘Al

Sumaysat 13

Suren 21n.117

Symeon 31 n. 164. See also
Samyun

Syria(ns) 23 nn. 126, 128, 72,
73,76,78,91, 113, 115, 116,
118, 122 n. 611, 127, 145, 152,
153, 158, 162, 164, 169, 181,
182. Syrian Road 182

T

al-Tabari, Abu Ja'far
Muhammad b. Jarir  passim

Tabaristan 14, 23-25, 64, 72,
92, 104, 112, 204

Tabariyyah (Tiberias) 157, 159

al-Taff (Springs of) 173

Taghlib (Bana)} 15 n. 88, 140

Tahir(ids) 23, 25 n. 139, 81

Tahir b. ‘Ali b. Wazir 163, 183

Tahir b. Muhammad b. ‘Amr b.
al-Layth 94-96, 105 n. 525,
119, 156, 157, 191, 193

al-Tal, see Ahmad b.
Muhammad

al-Ta'if 54 n. 282

Takin al-Khagsah 23 ?, 203

Takrit 120, 169, 191

Talas (Taraz) 11n.65

Talhdnah, see Nahr Malhata

Talibid(s), see ‘Alid(s)

Tamim (Banu} 113, 138, 140,
171

al-Tammarin (Baghdad) 150

al-Tanukhi 1n.5,3n.16,7n.
39, 25 n. 137, 70 n. 363, 88 n.
444, 153 n. 733, 205 n. 975,
207 n. 978

Tarabzin 14 n.78

Tarabulus (Tripoli) 132 n. 645

Tarayun 14

Taraz, see Talas

Tarif al-Makhladi 46

Ta’rikh-e Sistan 196 n. 937

Tarsus (Tarasus) 10, 14, 31, 32,
33 nn. 174, 178, 34, 41, 44, 66
n. 346,71,74,78 n. 401, 79, 83,
84, 90, 91, 97, 119, 120, 148,
151, 155, 172, 180, 181, 192,
196, 200, 204, 206. See also
Qalamyah Gate

al-Tawhidi, see Abii Hayyan

Tawq b. Malik 135 n. 654

Tayyi’ (Band) 70, 81, 113, 161,
182, 183

Telme/issos 11 n. 64

Thabit b. Qurrah xiv

Thabit b. Sinan (b. Thabit)
xvi, 42 n. 218

al-Tha‘labiyyah 70 n. 358, 173
n. 837, 177

Thessalonica 148 n. 714

al-Thurayya Palace (Baghdad)
43, 65, 66, 71, 88, 142

Tiberias, see Tabariyyah

Tigris 8 nn. 41, 43, 21, 22, 28,
77, 86, 100, 108, 150 n. 721,
154, 190, 191. Tigris Ford 27,
28, 46

Tihamah 36

Tinnis 73 n. 381

Tmn‘ 136

Transoxania 2, 70, 84, 183, 200

Treasury (Bayt Mal) of ‘Al1 b.
Abi Talib 91

Trench (al-Khandagq, battle of)
52

Tsamandos 74 n. 384
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Tughj b. Juff 13n.77, 14, 30,
113, 115, 118, 119, 155

al-Tulayh 177

Talunid(s) 23,32n.170,44,73
n. 381, 76 n. 390, 128, 151, 152,
155, 170 n. 831, 176

Turk(s, Turkish) 11, 60, 140 n.
687, 146, 147, 200

Turk b. ‘Abbas 13

Tus 40, 66 n, 346

Tyriaeon 14 n.78

U

‘Ubaydallah b. al-‘Abbas b.
Muhammad (al-Hashimi)
117 n. 589

‘Ubaydallah b. ‘Abdallah b.
Tahir 23, 25n. 139, 39, 152

Ubaydalliah b. Ahmad b. Abi
Tahir Tayfur (historian)
xiv, 48 n. 247

Ubaydallah al-Mahdji, Ibn
al-Bagri (Fatimid) 198 n. 943,
202, 205

‘Ubaydallah b. al-Muhtadi, see
Ibn al-Muhtadi

‘Ubaydallah b. Sulayman b.
Wahb 1, 23, 25, 31, 34, 35, 43
n. 222, 44, 46, 48 n. 247, 63, 64,
70, 80, 81, 83 n. 424

al-Ubullah 87, 88

Udah 81n. 418

Uhud (battle of) 52, 54, 59

al-‘Ujayfi, see Ahmad b.
Tughan

‘Uii, see ‘Aji

‘Ukbara 42 n. 217, 155

Ukratmish (Ogretmis) al-Turki
104, 112

al-‘Ula, see Wadi al-Qura

al-‘Ullays b. Damdam b. ‘Adi b.
Janab (Banu) 114, 116, 144,
145, 147, 148, 158

‘Uman 10

‘Umar b. ‘Abd al-‘Aziz b. Abi

Dulaf 9, 15, 22, 31, 34, 35,
39,67,71

Umayyad(s) xiv, 44 n. 224, 48
n. 245, 50 n. 264, 51-55, 60 n.
314, 61 (Marwanids), 181 n.
888, 200 n. 948

Umm Habibah (bt. Ab1 Sufyan)
58

Umm al-Qasim bt. Muhammad
b. ‘Abdallah 25

‘Urayb, see ‘Arib

al-Urdunn 158, 159

al-‘Ushayrah 166

(al-)Utayr (Qarmatian da‘j)
130, 197

Utrujjah, see Muhammad b.
‘Abdallih b. Dawad

Utrunjah 12n.71

al-Utrush, al-Hasan b. ‘Ali
204, 205

al-‘Uyun wa-al-hada’iq 32 n.
165, 47 n. 242, 88 n. 444, 99 n.
499, 205 n. 972

w

Wadi Butnan 127

Wadi al-Dhi'ab 8 n. 41, 206

Wadi al-Qura (al-‘Ula, Dedan)
31 n. 161

Wa'il (Banu} 38

Waki® 100 n. 506

al-Waqidi 52 n. 271

Wagqisah 172, 173, 175, 177 n.
854

Waraz 155 n. 742

Wasif (khadim Ibn Abi al-Saj)
13, 85, 86, 88-90, 98

Wasif (al-khadim al-Nasrani)
42, 43

Wasif al-Buktamiri 139

Wasif Kamah {al-Daylami) 70,
195

Wasif Mishgir 20, 21, 27, 28,
35, 38, 138

Wasif Qatarmiz 73, 74



Index

Wasif b. Sawartakin (Sawartakin)

al-Turki 163, 168, 179, 182,
183, 189
Wasit 15 n. 84, 86, 88 n. 445,

106, 108, 127, 150, 162 n. 780,
174

al-Wathiq 7 n. 39

al-Withiqi, see Ahmadb.
Muhammad b. Yahya

Wazar b. Juff 155

al-Waziqi see Harun al-Waziqi

West Side (Baghdad) 7, 41

Y

Ya'fur (Banu) 96, 97

Yahya b. ‘Abd al-Baq1
(al-Thaghri al-Adhani) 33

Yahya b. Zayd 114 n. 569

Yahya b. Zikrawayh, al-Shaykh,
Abu al-Qasim 114-116, 119,
121, 122, 145, 165

al-Yamamah 83

Yanis al-Khadim al-Muwaffaqi
105, 206

Yanis al-Musta’'min 108

Ya‘qiib b. Muhammad (b. ‘Amr
b. al-Layth) 191

Ya‘qub al-Saffar 85 n. 435

Yaqut (geographer) passim in
the notes

Yarmik 54 n. 282

al-Yasiriyyah (Baghdad) 99

Yazid al-Khayr (b. Abi Sufyan)
53 n. 279

Yazid b. Mu‘awiyah 53, 58-60,
62

Yazman 34 n. 180, 91, 14}, 151

Yemen 78 n. 401, 96 nn. 484,
487, 157, 168, 169, 184, 198 n.
943

Yumn al-Khadim 138

Yusr al-Afshini, see Bishr
al-Afshini

Yasuf b. Abi al-Saj 9 n. 48, 10,
23, 89 n. 446, 94, 97, 184, 192,
204 n. 970

239

Yasuf (b. Ibrahim} b.
al-Baghmardi (Bughamardi)
34,41, 159

Yusuf b. Ya‘qub, Aba
Muhammad (al-qadi) 19, 29
n. 150, 42 n. 217, 43 ?, 63, 64,
100, 101 n. 509, 111, 119

Yasuf b. Ya'qub, Abi ‘Umar,
see Muhammad b. Yisuf b.
Ya‘qub

VA

Zab [river(s)] 8,17

al-Zabuqah 158

Zakariyya' b. Yahya 21

Zamanti-su 74 n. 384

Zanj 6

Zanjan 9, 14

Zaranj 196

al-Zaranji (al-Zarniji), see
Ahmad b. Muhammad

Zayd (b. Muhammad b. Isma‘1l
al-‘Alawi) 29

Zayd (b. Muhammad b. Zayd
al-‘Alawi) 92

Zaydan al-Sa‘idi, see Rundiq

Zaydis 24 n. 131, 96 n. 487,

204 n. 968

al-Zazz 67

Zikrawayh b. Mihrawayh,
al-Dandani 113, 144, 145,

158, 161, 162, 164-168, 172-174,
176, 178, 179, 181, 182, 197

Zirak b. al-‘Abbas, see Turk b.
al-‘Abbas
Zirak al-Turki 13 n.72, 32

Ziyad (Banu) 158

Ziyad b. Sumayyah/‘Ubayd/
Mu‘awiyah (Ziyad b. Abihi)
57, 58 n. 303

Ziyadatallah III (Aghlabid) 184

Zubalah 173,177

al-Zubaydiyyah 173 n. 873

Zuhayr b. Janab {Banu) 159 n.
759 .

Zurafah 148 n.714
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